Effects of Coral Bleaching on Coral Reef Fish

Assemblages

Nicholas A J Graham

A Thesis submitted to Newcastle University for the Degree of Doctor

of Philosophy

School of Marine Science and Technology

Supervisors: Professor Nicholas V C Polunin Professor John C Bythell

Examiners: Professor Matthew G Bentley Dr Magnus Nyström

First submitted: 1st July 2008 Viva-Voce: 1st September 2008

Abstract

Coral reefs have emerged as one of the ecosystems most vulnerable to climate variation and change. While the contribution of climate warming to the loss of live coral cover has been well documented, the associated effects on fish have not. Such information is important as coral reef fish assemblages provide critical contributions to ecosystem function and services. This thesis assesses the medium to long term impacts of coral loss on fish assemblages in the western Indian Ocean. Feeding observations of corallivorous butterflyfish demonstrates that considerable feeding plasticity occurs among habitat types, but strong relationships exist between degree of specialisation and declines in abundance following coral loss. Furthermore, obligate corallivores are lost fairly rapidly following decline in coral cover, whereas facultative corallivores are sustained until the structure of the dead coral begins to erode. Surveys of benthic and fish assemblages in Mauritius spanning 11 years highlight small changes in both benthos and fish through time, but strong spatial trends associated with dredging and inter-specific competition. In Seychelles, although there was little change in biomass of fishery target species above size of first capture, size spectra analysis of the entire assemblage revealed a loss of smaller individuals (<30cm) and an increase in the larger individuals (>45cm). This represents a lag effect where fishery production cannot be assured for the long term. A targeted before (mid-1990s) – after (2005) sampling program of coral reef benthos and fish assemblages in 7 countries across the Indian Ocean demonstrated changes in size structure, diversity and trophic composition of the reef fish community have followed coral declines in both fished and protected areas. The thesis highlights the pivotal role that loss of reef structural complexity plays in the effects of bleaching on fish assemblages and that coral reef management needs to radically adapt to address climate change issues.

Table of Contents

1 GENERAL INTRODUCTION	1
1.1 CLIMATE WARMING AND IMPACTS ON CORAL REEF BENTHOS	2
1.2 SHORT-TERM IMPACTS OF BLEACHING ON FISH	8
2 ECOLOGICAL VERSATILITY AND THE DECLINE OF C	CORAL
FEEDING FISHES FOLLOWING CLIMATE DRIVEN COR	AL
MORTALITY	21
2.1 Abstract	
2.2 INTRODUCTION.	22
2.3 Methods	24
2.3.1 Study sites	24
2.3.2 Substratum availability	25
2.3.3 Feeding observations	
2.3.4 Chaetodon density surveys	
2.3.5 Coral food quality	29
2.3.6 Temporal change in coral feeding fish densities	30
2.4 Results	
2.4.1 Substratum availability	31
2.4.2 Feeding observations	
2.4.3 Corallivore density surveys	35
2.4.4 Coral food quality	35
2.4.5 Temporal change in coral feeding fish densities	
2.5 DISCUSSION.	40
2.6 ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS.	46
3 CORAL MORTALITY VERSUS STRUCTURAL COLLAP	'SE AS
DRIVERS OF CORALLIVOROUS BUTTERFLYFISH DEC	LINE47
3.1 Abstract	47
3.2 INTRODUCTION.	48
3.3 Methods	
3.4 Results	53
3.5 DISCUSSION.	57
3.6 ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS.	60

4 ANTHROPOGENIC STRESSORS, INTER-SPECIFIC	
COMPETITION AND ENSO EFFECTS ON A MAURITIAN COR	AL
REEF	61
4.1 Abstract	61
4.2 INTRODUCTION	62
4.3 Methods	64
4.3.1 Study site and sampling techniques	64
4.3.2 Data analysis	67
4.4 Results	70
4.5 DISCUSSION	81
4.6 ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	86
5 LAG EFFECTS IN THE IMPACTS OF MASS CORAL BLEACH	ING
ON CORAL REEF FISH, FISHERIES, AND ECOSYSTEMS	87
5.1 Abstract	87
5.2 INTRODUCTION	88
5.3 Methods	90
5.3.1 Study sites	90
5.3.2 Assessment of fish assemblage and benthic community structure	91
5.3.3 Establishment of fishery target species and size of first capture	93
5.3.4 Data analysis	93
5.4 Results	95
5.5 DISCUSSION	104
5.6 ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	110
6 CLIMATE WARMING, MARINE PROTECTED AREAS AND T	ΉE
OCEAN-SCALE INTEGRITY OF CORAL REEF ECOSYSTEMS	112
6.1 Abstract	112
6.2 INTRODUCTION	113
6.3 Methods	116
6.3.1 Effect size	117
6.3.2 Bayesian meta-analysis	119
6.4 Results	122
6.5 DISCUSSION	133
6.6 ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	139
7 GENERAL DISCUSSION	140

APPENDIX B: REPRINTS OF PUBLISHED CHAPTERS	193
APPENDIX A: CONTRIBUTIONS DURING PhD	187
REFERENCES	157
7.3 MANAGEMENT AND RESEARCH DIRECTIONS	153
7.2 CONCEPTUAL MODELS	148
7.1 CURRENT STATE OF KNOWLEDGE	140

List of Figures

Figure 1.1. Meta-analysis of a	short-term (<3 years) response of 55 fish species to
declines in coral cover. D	Y-axis metric is change in species abundance divided by
level responses represen	bata from 17 studies are included in the analysis. Species
studies. Only studies rep	t mean values, calculated from a minimum of four
in the analysis. Data on	borting a 10% or greater decline in coral were included
were surveyed in before	a species was only included if 5 or more individuals
mean value with 95% co	disturbance counts. Species names are highlighted if
consistency of responses	onfidence interval fails to intersect zero, indicating
(2006)	s among locations. Figure adapted from Wilson et al.
Figure 1.2. Meta-analysis of a	responses of fish functional groups to two types of
disturbance. Y-axis meta	ric is change in fish group abundance divided by change
in coral cover. Biologica	al disturbances represent those disturbances that reduce
live coral cover, but do	not impact the structural complexity of the benthos.
Structural disturbances of	cause a reduction in both live coral cover and structural
complexity. Error bars a	re 95% confidence intervals calculated from the data of
ten or more studies. Ada	upted from Wilson et al. (2006)
Figure 2.1. Benthic resource Archipelago. *** P<0.0	availability at Diego East and Diego Central, Chagos 01, ** P<0.0132
Figure 2.2. Feeding selectivit	y of <i>C. trifascialis</i> , <i>C. trifasciatus</i> and <i>C. auriga</i> at
Diego Central and Diego	b East, Chagos Archipelago. Data only presented for the
four coral genera most p	breferentially consumed. Black bars indicate percent
resource availability, op	en bars indicate percent feeding bites on that resource. +
symbol indicates positiv	re selectivity
Figure 2.3. Mean density of a *** P<0.001, ** P<0.01	orallivores present in Diego Central and Diego East. , * P<0.05
Figure 2.4. Box and whisker	plots of C:N ratios for four coral genera. Box indicates
median value, lower and	l upper quartiles. Whiskers indicate range up to 1.5
times the box. Outliers i	ndicated with an asterix
Figure 2.5. Change in density obligate specialists, obli before and after the 199	y of <i>C. trifascialis</i> , <i>C. trifasciatus</i> and <i>C. auriga</i> and gate generalists and facultative feeders in Seychelles 8 bleaching event
Figure 3.1. Change in abunda	ince of (a) obligate corallivores and (b) facultative
corallivores in response	to loss of live coral loss. Solid line represents significant
trend	
Figure 3.2. Change in abunda	ance of (a) obligate corallivores and (b) facultative
corallivores in response	to reduced reef structural complexity. Solid line
represents significant tre	end
Figure 4.1. Map of the study ten sampling stations, di lane. Adapted from Ade	site, indicating location in Mauritius, proximity of the rection of transects and location of dredged water ski roud et al. 199866
Figure 4.2. Correlation-based transformed and normal	Principal Components Analysis of $log(\chi + 1)$ ised environmental data

Figure 4.3. Percent cover of total live coral in (a) each year by transect and (b) each year by position from the shore
Figure 4.4. Funnel plots of (a) average taxonomic distinctness and (b) variation in taxonomic distinctness of each sampling station (belt transects) within each year with mean and 95% confidence limits from expected values using master taxonomy aggregation file
Figure 4.5. (a) Non-metric Multi-Dimensional Scaling (MDS) plot of fish assemblages at each of the ten stations (belt transects) within each of the five sample years based on Bray-Curtis similarity measures. (b) Bubble plots for <i>Stegastes lividus</i> and (c) <i>Stegastes nigricans</i> over species MDS sample points indicating patterns driven by their presence. Abundance at each sample station given below station name (scale of bubbles: 0-20). Bubble plots for cover of (d) branching coral, (e) dead substrate and (f) plating coral indication which patterns in the species MDS are driven by these benthic variables. Percent cover at each station given below station name (scale of bubbles: 0-100%)
Figure 4.6. Regressions of <i>Stegastes lividus</i> density against fish species richness per station (belt transects) overall and for each year separately. <i>R</i> ² and regression analysis results given on plots
Figure 5.1. Change in (a) structural complexity, (b) complex corals (coral cover) and (c) simple corals (coral cover) between 1994 and 2005 for three habitat types (carbonate, granite, patch) and two management scenarios (fished, protected)
Figure 5.2. Change in biomass of fishery target species above size at first capture between 1994 and 2005 for (a) whole fishery target species assemblage, (b) mixed diet feeders, (c) piscivores, and (d) herbivores in three habitat types (carbonate, granite, patch) and under two types of management (fished, protected)
Figure 5.3. (a) Change in the slope of size spectra of the fish assemblage for individual survey sites. Sites falling above the 1:1 trend line had a lower slope value in 2005. (b) Mean change in slope of size spectra of the fish assemblage by habitat type (carbonate, granite, patch) and management status (fished, protected)
Figure 5.4. Change in log abundance of individual size classes of fish for (a) the entire assemblage, (b) mixed diet feeders, (c) piscivores, (d) herbivores, (e) corallivores, and (f) planktivores by habitat type (carbonate, granite, patch). Plots in left hand column are fished sites, plots in right hand column are protected sites. Size of first capture range indicated on plot (a) for fishery target species. Maximum size detected indicated with vertical dashed line on plots (e) and (f)
Figure 6.1. Change in coral cover at sites across the western Indian Ocean. Green and red symbols represent increases and decreases in coral cover respectively. Symbols with solid borders are sites in NTAs; Seychelles data include two NTAs, Kenya includes four, Tanzania two and the Chagos archipelago is a defacto NTA. Data represent 66 sites across the region. Numbers in key (size of

	bubble) are percent changes between mid 1990s and 2005. Map produced using ESRI data and ArcGIS 9
Figu	re 6.2. Change in coral cover and reef structural complexity. (<i>A</i>) Change in live coral cover at meaningful biogeographical aggregations and by management strategy. Three habitat types in Seychelles each replicated in the two NTAs. Kenyan protected represents four NTAs. Bootstrapped 95% confidence intervals indicate whether mean change departs significantly from zero. Locations ordered by magnitude of coral decline. (<i>B</i>) Correlation between change in live coral cover and change in structural complexity across the region. • Mafia Island, \diamond Seychelles, \blacktriangle Chagos, \blacksquare Maldives, \blacklozenge Kenya, Δ Tanzania.
Figu	re 6.3. Change in fish groups in response to coral decline. Continuous model
	Bayesian meta-analysis of relationships between decline in coral cover and change in (A) species richness of fish assemblages, and (B) abundance of obligate corallivores, (C) herbivores, (D) mixed diet feeders, (E) planktivores. Scale as converted to percent change indicated in top right panel. Linear trend lines only presented where significant model fits were recorded. Green symbols indicate sites in NTAs, blue symbols indicate sites in fished areas. Inner dashed line represents 95% credible interval on the regression and outer dashed line represents the 95% prediction interval. \bullet Mafia Island, \diamond Seychelles, \blacktriangle Chagos, \blacksquare Maldives, \blacklozenge Kenya, \triangle Tanzania, \Box Réunion, \circ Mauritius. Movement of points along the x-axis among panels reflects model-structured uncertainty present among studies. 129
Figu	re 6.4. Change in small bodied fish in response to coral decline. (<i>A</i>) Continuous
	model Bayesian meta-analysis of relationship between decline in coral cover and change in fish <20 cm maximum attainable size. Green symbols indicate sites in NTAs, blue symbols indicate sites in fished areas. Inner dashed line represents 95% credible interval on the regression and outer dashed line represents the 95% prediction interval. • Mafia Island, \diamond Seychelles, \blacktriangle Chagos, • Maldives, • Kenya, \triangle Tanzania, \Box Réunion, \circ Mauritius. (<i>B</i>) Percent contribution of five trophic groups to the starting (mid-1990's) abundance of fish <20 cm maximum attainable body length across the region. Black = planktivores, dark grey = piscivores (barely present on plot; 0.05%), white = Mixed diet feeders, grey = herbivores, light grey = obligate corallivores
Figu	re 7.1. Reef plan view photographs indicating A. the short-term impacts of
	bleaching, where live coral is lost, but structural complexity maintained and fish diversity can remain high, and B. a longer-term scenario of bleaching, where the structure has eroded into a rubble bank, and reef fish diversity and abundance declined
Figu	re 7.2A. Conceptual representation of an undisturbed functioning reef ecosystem
Figu	re 7.2B. Conceptual representation of the short-term impacts of coral bleaching to a reef ecosystem. Diagonal hashing in boxes represents increases in cover or abundance. Dashed lines represent original size of box to indicate extent of decline in cover or abundance

List of Tables

Table 2.1. Bite rate and dietary composition of three species of butterflyfishes on two reefs with differing benthic composition in the Chagos Archipelago
Table 3.1. Change in total butterflyfish species abundance within each habitat type (17,248m ²) and change in species richness of facultative and obligate groups
Table 3.2. Results of univariate analysis of covariance on densities of obligate and facultative corallivores for both the coral decline and structural complexity decline models. Values given are F ratios (probability results given in brackets. ** $P < 0.01$; * $P < 0.05$; ns = not significant
Table 4.1. Reef fish species richness from presence / absence timed swim data at level of whole assemblage (S) and within selected families
Table 4.2. Analysis of Similarity (ANOSIM) outputs for the fish sampling stations. Global and pair-wise test results given for each of the three factors in the design.
Table 4.3. SIMPER outputs for greatest pair-wise differences in year and transect identified by ANOSIM. Species that contributed 60% of the overall difference are listed in descending order of most contribution
Table 5.1 . Change in biomass and results of univariate three-factor crossed analysis of variance for primary, important and occasional target fish species above size at first capture
Table 6.1. Mean coral cover before (mid-1990s) and after (2005) the 1998 bleaching event across the Indian Ocean. Sites aggregated at representative geographic scales that consider location, management and habitat type. Three habitat types in Seychelles each replicated in the two NTAs. Kenyan protected represents four NTAs. Number of sites per location given in brackets. Note, Tanzania, Mafia Island, received no-take status in 2000
Table 6.2 . Continuous model Bayesian meta-analysis parameter estimates from the best-fitting models (see Table 3) for reef fish metrics in the western Indian Ocean. Estimates for groups with equivalent model fits are provided for both models. Values in parentheses are standard deviations; values in square brackets are 95% credible intervals.
Table 6.3 . Model-selection results for continuous model Bayesian meta-analysis in the western Indian Ocean using the Bayesian Information Criterion (BIC). Models include a null model of no relationship (M_0), a model including a relationship between changes in coral cover and reef fish metrics (M_c), and a fish-coral model that allows for differences between protected and unprotected sites (M_{cp}). Models highlighted in bold have the greatest support, given the data; models with BIC differences of <2 are considered to have equal support132

Acknowledgements

I would like to start by thanking my supervisors Nick Polunin and John Bythell. I have worked with Nick now for 6 years and throughout he has been a source of encouragement and motivation. He has always welcomed my ideas with positivity, sought to find solutions to problems, and never appeared dismissive. I have learnt much academically through the opportunity of working with Nick, made many more contacts and learnt how to balance an academic career with a personal life. John's excellent analytical mind, and attention to thoroughness have been invaluable during all aspects of this PhD. His excellent guidance through the C:N ratio analysis of Chapter 2 was particularly helpful for someone who fears chemistry and labs. Many thanks to you both for all your time and support.

This thesis was funded principally through a Fisheries Society of the British Isles PhD studentship. Further funding for research expenses came from the Leverhulme Trust, Western Indian Ocean Marine Science Association – Marine Science for Management Program and National Geographic. Other funding partners involved with co-authors, specific field trips or historical data collection are acknowledged in individual chapters. Much logistical support was welcomed from Seychelles Fishing Authority, with particular thanks to Jan Robinson, Seychelles Centre for Marine Research and Technology-Marine Parks Authority and Nature Seychelles. Logistical support and permissions for other field work are acknowledged in individual chapters.

I have been fortunate to work with, collaborate, and visit many excellent coral reef scientists during the course of this PhD. Shaun Wilson has been a close collaborator throughout and my work has greatly benefited from his many excellent ecological insights, and brilliantly foolish sense of humour. Tim McClanahan has also been a close collaborator throughout from whom I have learnt a great deal about applied science, interdisciplinary science and scaling up of questions and ideas. Many thanks for your support, collaboration and for hosting me in Mombasa several times. Charles Sheppard welcomed me along on the Chagos expedition in 2006, a trip for which many scientists owe Charles much gratitude for funding and facilitating a trip to such a special location. Morgan Pratchett, Terry Hughes, Geoff Jones, Phil Munday and many others hosted me at the ARC Centre of Excellence for Coral Reef Studies, James Cook University during January 2007 and have been collaborators on ideas and reviews on the topic of this thesis. Aaron MacNeil spent 3 years of his life learning complex statistical analytical techniques which resulted in an extremely robust analysis of Chapter 6. His enthusiasm and energy through many iterations enabled a robust outcome. Many thanks. Many other scientists have been extremely supportive, instructive and willing to collaborate with this work. To those listed as co-authors in the footnotes to chapters and many others, I thank you very much. Finally Dr Magnus Nyström and Professor Matt Bentley spent a great deal of time reading the thesis and gave me an excellent viva, for which I am very grateful.

My continued motivation during the last 3 years has been greatly helped by a great selection of friends both within the department and outside. To name a few, many of whom are members of team Zizzou, - Aileen Mill, Aaron MacNeil, Shaun Wilson, Rebecca Fisher, Tim Daw, Greig Wilson, Saoud Al-Habsi, Dickon Howell, and all the

rest of the Nick Polunin's students, past and present. My family has also been extremely supportive and are slowly becoming more informed with the complexities of coral reef ecology and conservation than the average environmentalist.

Finally, the love and support of Christina and Jacob has lightened my life. Jacob, after a long day of battling with complex statistical analyses, it is a relief to realise that spiderman and power rangers are far more important. Christina, thank you for your patience, for believing in me and for being my rock. I love you both.

Chapter 1

General introduction

There exists an extensive literature on the effects of natural disturbances in structuring ecological communities. Indeed, many ecological theories, including the intermediate disturbance hypothesis (Connell 1978), have their foundations in research related to disturbance regimes. Such research and knowledge is well founded in the study of shallow coastal, marine habitats, with natural disturbances such as storms, rainfall, temperature anomalies and diseases, playing key roles in the structuring and dynamic nature of many of these habitats (Connell 1978; Dayton 1971; Sousa 1979; Thistle 1981).

Anthropogenic disturbances have also affected the structure and dynamics of shallow marine habitats for at least the past two centuries (Jackson et al. 2001; Pandolfi et al. 2003), and the intensity and frequency of such disturbances are increasing exponentially. Indeed, anthropogenic stressors are becoming the dominant drivers of community structure in many systems (Hughes et al. 2003; Nyström et al. 2000; Polunin 2008). This is leading to concerns over the long-term persistence of a variety of ecosystems, including kelp forests (Steneck et al. 2002), seagrass beds (Duarte 2002), mangrove forests (Alongi 2002) and coral reefs (McClanahan 2002). A range of anthropogenic disturbances threaten coastal ecosystems, including overfishing, nutrient input, sedimentation, land reclamation and dredging. However, climate

change is rapidly emerging as the most substantial threat for many ecosystems (Walther et al. 2002; Hughes et al. 2003; Hoegh-Guldberg et al. 2007; Polunin 2008).

1.1 Climate warming and impacts on coral reef benthos

Although the climate has been warmer in the past, the current rate of increase in global temperatures is unmatched in the last 1000 years (Houghton 2005) and likely in the last 420,000 years (Hoegh-Guldberg et al. 2007). Global atmospheric concentrations of carbon dioxide, methane and nitrous oxide now far exceed preindustrial values determined from ice cores (IPCC 2007). This has led to an average temperature increase of ocean sea surface water of 0.74°C over the last century, with projected increases in temperature of ~0.2°C per decade over the next two decades (IPCC 2007). Ecological communities respond to climate change in various ways, including range shifts, habitat modifications, invasions of new species, changes in trophic interactions, and changes in physiological performance (Perry et al. 2005; Walther et al. 2002; Munday et al. 2008; Polunin 2008). Although these changes are impacting many systems, coral reefs have emerged as one of the most vulnerable and threatened ecosystems to climate variability and change (Hoegh-Guldberg 1999; Hughes et al. 2003; Sheppard 2003; Hoegh-Guldberg et al. 2007).

Coral reefs are impacted by climate change in a variety of ways. Warming climatic conditions are leading to an increase in the frequency and severity of hurricanes (Webster et al. 2005), which can have large impacts on reefs (Halford et al. 2004). Increased concentrations of dissolved CO_2 are resulting in a more acidic ocean chemistry, which leads to slowed deposition of calcium carbonate skeletons (Kleypas et al. 1999). This is expected to slow extension rates and lead to weaker, less dense

carbonate skeletons of scleractinian corals (Hoegh-Guldberg et al. 2007). However, perhaps the greatest impact of climate change on coral reefs to date, and predicted to be a main determinant of change in the future, is 'coral bleaching'. Scleractinian corals exhibit a restricted thermal tolerance, closely adapted to local temperature conditions. If temperatures rise above the normal summer maximum (i.e. threshold) for a given region, a breakdown of the symbiosis between the single-celled algae (zooxanthellae), that provide corals with most of their energy, and their coral hosts occurs; so called 'coral bleaching' (Brown 1997). The bleaching response involves a loss in colour of the symbionts and results from a reduction in the number of zooxanthellae, either through in situ degradation, expulsion from the host animal cell, or through detachment of the animal cell itself (Brown 1997; Douglas 2003). If temperatures remain above a threshold for several weeks, the coral is unable to meet nutritional requirements through feeding alone, cannot retrieve or maintain sufficient densities of zooxanthellae, and mortality can occur (Brown 1997; Hoegh-Guldberg 1999, 2004).

Such thermally-induced mortality events can occur over large spatial scales, whereby vast areas of live coral are mostly lost (Hoegh-Guldberg 1999; Hughes et al. 2003; Hoegh-Guldberg et al. 2007). Regional bleaching events occurred in 1979, 1982, 1987, 1991 and 1994 (Hoegh-Guldberg 1999). However, by far the most spatially extensive and severe bleaching event to date, was caused by the 1998 El Niño event. All coral reef regions of the world were affected, resulting in the loss of 16% of the world's coral cover (Wilkinson 2000). The severity of the event varied geographically, with the western Indian Ocean being one of the most severely impacted regions (Goreau et al. 2000), where the El Niño event interacted with the

warm portion of the Indian Ocean Dipole (Saji et al. 1999). Coral cover in this region declined by an average of 46%, with some locations, such as the inner Seychelles, Maldives and Chagos archipelago losing as much as 90% of shallow water coral cover (Goreau et al. 2000; Wilkinson 2000; Linden et al. 2002; Sheppard 2003). Subsequent bleaching events have occurred in the Pacific in 2000 and 2002 (Berkelmans et al. 2004), mild events in the Indian Ocean in 2003 and 2005 (McClanahan et al. 2007a) and a severe event in the Caribbean in 2005 (Donner et al. 2007; Oxenford et al. 2008). However, the 1998 event remains the most geographically extensive and severe on record (Hoegh-Guldberg 2004).

The severity and spatial extent of bleaching events have been increasing (Hoegh-Guldberg 1999). Initial attempts to predict future coral bleaching events indicated extremely bleak outlooks for the future persistence of coral reefs. Models of change in sea temperatures predicted coral bleaching on the scale of the 1998 event would become a yearly phenomenon by 2040 (Hoegh-Guldburg 1999). Indeed, predictions of the 'extinction' of coral reefs between 2020 and 2040 have been made for the Indian Ocean (Sheppard 2003). These predictions are now thought to be a little pessimistic, due to the potential for corals and their symbionts to exhibit some degree of acclimatization and adaptation to warming (Hughes et al. 2003). Furthermore, empirical data and spatial modelling suggest predictable patterns in location specific bleaching stress (McClanahan et al. 2007b; Maina et al. 2008). However, recent models still suggest bleaching could be an annual or biannual event within 20-30 years (Donner et al. 2005), and if acclimatization of corals and symbionts does occur, this will only reduce the impact of bleaching events becoming ever more frequent and

severe, the recovery interval between episodes is shrinking, further reducing the ability of reefs to rebound to coral dominated states. Coral bleaching appears increasingly to be the dominant threat to the future of coral reefs, and a major management and conservation concern. Targeted policies to manage reefs in the face of climate change will require a thorough understanding of the ecological responses and ramifications of climate induced coral mortality (Walther et al. 2002).

Although coral bleaching can be devastating to a coral reef, the vulnerability of a given reef to bleaching can depend on background temperature variation (McClanahan & Maina 2003), water flow (Nakamura et al. 2003; McClanahan et al. 2005) and water depth (Sheppard & Obura 2005). Furthermore, the bleaching response is highly species / genus specific (Baird & Marshall 1998; Marshall & Baird 2000; McClanahan 2004; McClanahan et al. 2004, 2007a). Certain species of coral are extremely thermally sensitive, and are among the first to bleach and die during a temperature anomaly. These genera include Acropora, Pocillopora, Stylophora and Millepora (Marshall & Baird 2000; McClanahan et al. 2007a). Conversely, genera such as Galaxea, massive Porites and Psammocora tend to be fairly resistant to bleaching (Marshall & Baird 2000; McClanahan et al. 2007a), although they will still bleach under severe conditions. Although there is some variation, these genus specific patterns generally hold across regions in the Indo-Pacific (McClanahan et al. 2004, 2007a). This means that reefs are not totally disappearing, but there is a reduction in coral cover and a change in composition from coral communities dominated by Acropora and other branching and physically complex genera to those dominated by Porites, Galaxea and other largely massive and encrusting coral functional forms (Hughes et al. 2003; McClanahan et al. 2007a). As the former types of corals provide most of the 3-dimentional habitat that many other organisms depend on (Bellwood et al. 2004; Jones et al. 2004), the change is one toward a less desirable state.

Following coral bleaching events, a large amount of space can become available on the coral reef benthos, which is rapidly colonised by epilithic and turfing algae (Diaz-Pulido & McCook 2002). This algae may or may not develop into erect macroalgae depending on site specific nutrient loads (Hunter & Evans 1995; Fabricius et al. 2005) and herbivory (Smith et al. 2001; Mumby et al. 2006). If the bleaching event is severe, local herbivore stocks may be swamped by the amount of free space made available for algal growth (Williams et al. 2001) and the reef may progress on a trajectory toward erect macroalgal dominance and a stable change in state (Mumby et al. 2007a). Conversely, if the spatial impacts of disturbance are smaller, herbivory is sufficient and spatial pockets of live coral remain, recovery back to a coral dominated state may be fairly rapid (Halford et al. 2004; Mumby et al. 2007a; Sheppard et al. 2008).

If a reef does not recover its coral cover, or if a large proportion of branching and plating corals died, dead reef structures may erode to coral rubble in the medium (5-10 years) or longer-term (Sheppard et al. 2002; Graham et al. 2006). The mechanisms for this collapse of reef structure can include physical erosion (Scoffin 1993) and bioerosion (Hutchings 1986) and will be partly dependent on the original composition of the coral community (Done et al. 1996). The result is much reduced structural complexity of the reef matrix. If the resultant rubble is not consolidated or removed from the reef, it can become a hindrance to coral recovery (Fox et al. 2003; Victor

2008). Conversely this process of removing fragile dead reef structures can be critical to the recovery process in some situations (Bellwood et al. 2004).

The changing composition and structure of benthic communities on reefs has now been studied at multiple spatial scales and is increasingly well understood (Gardner et al. 2003; Bruno & Selig 2007; Hughes et al. 2007a; McClanahan et al. 2007a). However, given the substantial changes occurring in coral reef benthos described above, there is a growing need to assess the secondary effects on other components of the ecosystem, which to date have received scarce attention (Walther et al. 2002; Wilson et al. 2006; Pratchett et al. 2008a, b). One of the most important groups to assess are the reef fish, because they provide crucial ecosystem functions on coral reefs (Bellwood et al. 2004; Mumby et al. 2007a), are the main focus of tourist attention (Williams & Polunin 2000), provide protein and other ecosystem services to the burgeoning human populations of many tropical countries (Russ 1991; Moberg & Folke 1999), represent over a quarter of all fish species (Spalding et al. 2001) and are the most species dense vertebrate communities on Earth (Jones et al. 2002).

At the start of this PhD there was a limited amount of information on the impacts of bleaching, or disturbance in general, on fish. The majority of studies that had been conducted were limited in both time and space. Here I provide a review of what was known about these short-term responses of fish to coral loss. The thesis Discussion (Chapter 7) will update how that knowledge has been furthered in the previous 3 years, both through the work of this thesis and the increase in studies assessing the topic in general.

1.2 Short-term impacts of bleaching on fish

One of the key reasons why fish species may be vulnerable to the short-term impacts of coral loss is if they have a component of their life history that is specialised towards dependence on live coral. This can be through feeding requirements, habitat choice or settlement site. Currently, much more is known about the first two types of specialisation. Jones et al. (2004) estimated that, from a selection of 538 species of fish in 20 families, only ~11% were obligately associated with live coral for diet or shelter. Conversely ~65% of fish species they surveyed preferentially settled into live coral from the plankton. It is, however, unclear how much live coral larval fish need to successfully settle, and the impacts of feeding and habitat specialisation are much better understood.

Obligate corallivores (those fish that will only feed on live coral polyps) have been shown to be among the first species to decline in abundance following disturbances such as crown-of-thorn starfish outbreaks (Sano et al. 1987) or hurricanes (Halford et al. 2004). This trend also holds true for the short term impacts of coral bleaching. A number of studies have reported declines in abundance of obligate coral feeding butterflyfish (Shibuno et al. 1999; Adjeroud et al. 2002; McClanahan et al. 2002; Sheppard et al. 2002; Spalding & Jarvis 2002; Sano 2004), the coral feeding filefish *Oxymonacanthus longirostris* (Shibuno et al. 1999; Kokita & Nakazono 2001; Spalding & Jarvis 2002; Sano 2004) and the coral feeding wrasse *Labrichthys unilineatus* (Sheppard et al. 2002; Sano 2004). Indeed, a meta-analysis of studies investigating the short-term impacts of coral loss on reef fish species abundance indicated consistent and significant declines in 7 of the 9 species of obligate corallivore studied (Figure 1.1).



Figure 1.1. Meta-analysis of short-term (<3 years) response of 55 fish species to declines in coral cover. Y-axis metric is change in species abundance divided by change in coral cover. Data from 17 studies are included in the analysis. Species level responses represent mean values, calculated from a minimum of four studies. Only studies reporting a 10% or greater decline in coral were included in the analysis. Data on a species was only included if 5 or more individuals were surveyed in before disturbance counts. Species names are highlighted if mean value with 95% confidence interval fails to intersect zero, indicating consistency of responses among locations. Figure adapted from Wilson et al. (2006)*.

^{*} Figure adapted from a review article by Wilson et al. (2006), on which the author of this thesis is second author.

Assessments of the initial impacts of coral loss, or where the extent of coral loss was not large, have suggested some sub-lethal responses to coral loss can occur in obligate corallivorous fish, prior to, or in the absence of, any decline in abundance. Pratchett et al. (2004) found the abundance of Chaetodon lunulatus did not decline in abundance following a reduction in coral cover from 33.4% to 15%. However, in response to the loss of their preferred corals, the fish responded by a shift in the types of corals they fed upon. This led to an overall reduction in the physiological condition of the fish as measured using hepatocyte vacuolation of the liver, which gives an indication of lipid stores (Pratchett et al. 2004). The authors concluded that such reduction in condition would likely reduce growth rates, reproductive potential and possibly lead to population declines (Pratchett et al. 2004). Kokita & Nakazono (2001) monitored a population of the filefish Oxymonacanthus longirostris through a mass coral bleaching event in Okinawa, Japan. During the course of the study the fish demonstrated reduced growth rates, reduced reproductive outputs and ultimately reductions in abundance (Kokita & Nakazono 2001). A further possible sublethal response in corallivores, which is likely related to a reduction in availability of preferred food sources, is a break-down of previously strong feeding territories (Tricas 1989a). Such a breakdown of rigid territorial behaviour was documented on a severely bleached reef in the inner Seychelles (Samways 2005). Both butterflyfish species studied, Chaetodon trifascialis and C. trifasciatus, increased feeding excursions beyond territory boundaries, which is likely to result in increased intraand inter-specific competition (Samways 2005).

Although the obligate corallivores are probably the best studied group of fish in terms of responses to disturbance, various key questions remain unanswered. For example,

it seems likely that the degree of feeding specialisation would be related to extend of decline following coral loss. However, although comparison between species that consistently display greatest declines (Figure 1.1) and which have more specialised diets (Pratchett 2005) indicates such patterns may exist, few studies have formally quantified such trends. This is because detailed information on degree of specialisation has been lacking until recently and still is for many species and / or coral reef regions. Furthermore, why some species are more specialised than others is very poorly understood (Pratchett 2005). It is also clear that while obligate corallivores may decline following live coral mortality, the response of facultative corallivores is likely to be much more variable (Wilson et al. 2006) and may be linked to other processes and changes in the reef system.

Coral dwelling fish were the other group identified by the meta-analysis of Wilson et al. (2006) to show consistent declines in abundance following coral loss (Figure 1.1). All 7 species included in the analysis displayed declines in abundance following coral mortality, and 3 of those declines were consistent across all studies included in the analysis. Species of damselfish (Lindahl et al. 2001; Booth & Beretta 2002; Shibuno et al. 2002; Spalding & Jarvis 2002), gobies (Munday 2004) and hawkfish (Sheppard et al. 2002) are known to spend a large part of their post-settlement life in certain species or growth forms of live coral and all these species can exhibit declines in abundance following coral loss. Up to 40-50% of damselfish species are known to associate with live coral (Wilson et al. 2008a) and certain species, such as *Plectroglyphidodon dickii*, *P. johnstonianus* and *Pomacentrus moluccensis*, have particularly strong associations with certain types of coral and consistently decline following coral mortality (Figure 1.1; Wilson et al. 2006). The degree of specialisation in coral dwelling gobies has been measured in Papua New Guinea (Munday et al. 1997) and the patterns of decline and threat of extinction to these fish is tightly related to this specialisation and initial population size (Munday 2004).

The degree of settlement specialisation of reef fish is poorly understood. Jones et al. (2004) estimated that 65% of reef fish species require live coral at settlement and attributed substantial declines in fish species richness in Kimbe Bay, Papua New Guinea, to this requirement. However a study of damselfish indicated only species that dwell in live coral as adults, preferentially settle into this habitat (Öhman et al. 1998). Furthermore, a study of a damselfish assemblage through a bleaching event on the Great Barrier Reef indicated that following coral mortality, recruitment declined most for those species that associate with live coral as adults (Booth & Beretta 2002). How much coral is required, whether certain species of coral are favoured and for how long fish require live coral are all unclear. A deeper understanding of the settlement requirements of a range of coral reef fish is clearly necessary.

The planktivore trophic group included in underwater visual census counts is diverse and often includes species from the damselfish, fusilier, wrasse and bigeye families. It is also notable that several species of damselfish that dwell in live coral (Wilson et al. 2006, 2008a), for example *Chromis atripectoralis* and *Dacyllus carneus*, feed on plankton (Froese & Pauly 2008). Many studies group these fish together with other planktivores that are not coral dwellers, thus resulting in a high diversity of responses to disturbance within this group. Spalding & Jarvis (2002) found that the response of planktivores 1 year after the 1998 bleaching event in the southern and granitic islands of the Seychelles was varied. Eleven of the 14 species sampled declined in abundance, but only 1 of those species displayed a significant decline. A non-significant increase at 3 of 5 sites surveyed across the Chagos archipelago, 3 years after the 1998 bleaching event, was driven by schooling fusilier species (Sheppard et al. 2002). However, this family is not benthic associated and is known to be highly variable in underwater visual surveys (Graham et al. 2003). Other studies have also generally shown no significant changes in planktivore abundance following coral mortality, but high variability at the species level, with declines usually associated with those species that dwell in live coral (Lindahl et al. 2001).

Herbivores, or epilithic algal matrix feeders, have been promoted as a particularly important functional group on coral reefs (Bellwood et al. 2004). As corals and algae compete for space on coral reefs, herbivores are thought to be a key group that control algal growth and allow settlement and dominance of coral dominated states (Bellwood et al. 2004). Following coral mortality, the newly available space is rapidly colonised by epilithic and turfing algae, and may or may not develop into erect macroalgae depending on local nutrient loads and herbivore stocks (Diaz-Pulido & McCook 2001). As the space, and therefore the algal resource, increases following a bleaching event, the expectation is that herbivores will increase in abundance and biomass to maintain the increased algal biomass in a cropped state (Sheppard et al. 2002). Some studies of the short-term impacts of bleaching on fish assemblages have reported increases in herbivore abundance and biomass (Shibuno et al. 1999; Lindahl et al. 2001; McClanahan et al. 2002; Sheppard et al. 2002), while others have indicated no change (Riegl 2002; Sano 2004; Spalding & Jarvis 2002). When data from these studies were combined in a meta-analytical framework, there was an indication of increases in about half of the species, with declines in the other half, but a great deal

of variation between studies resulting in no consistent changes for any individual species (Figure 1.1). The short time following disturbance that the majority of these studies represent may limit the extent to which demographic changes can occur, and there is a need to understand changes in herbivore populations in response to coral mortality over greater temporal scales. Studies of other disturbances, that were conducted 5-7 years after coral loss, indicated little effect of increased turf algal cover on herbivore abundance (Hart et al. 1996), but identified faster growth rates and larger sizes of certain species (Hart & Russ 1996).

Invertebrate feeding and mixed diet, or omnivorous, fish species may also be expected to respond positively to coral mortality, as a great amount of space is made available for benthic meso-invertebrates to inhabit. Although there are examples of increased dominance of this group of fish in the assemblage following disturbance (Riegl 2002), the majority of studies indicate no overall change in abundance through time (Lindahl et al. 2001; Sheppard et al. 2002; Spalding & Jarvis 2002; Sano 2004). Variation in response at the species level is high (Spalding & Jarvis 2002), with roughly half of the species displaying declines in abundance (several significantly), with other species increasing in abundance to the extent of some of the epilithic algal matrix feeders (Figure 1.1.; Wilson et al. 2006).

Most piscivores on reefs are relatively large and not dependent on live coral for refuge. The most likely impact of a bleaching event on these fish would be through indirect trophic effects, such as a reduction in abundance of their prey. Such predatorprey coupling on reefs may be weak at aggregated family levels (Jennings & Polunin 1997), but stronger at the species level (Graham et al. 2003) or size based

14

aggregations (Dulvy et al. 2004). The short-term impacts of bleaching indicate no measurable impact on these piscivores (Riegl 2002; Sheppard et al. 2002; Spalding & Jarvis 2002), but the time-scales are likely too short to identify any trophic cascading impacts. Furthermore, medium-sized piscivores, such as rock cods, which are more dependent on habitat for ambush predation, are poorly surveyed in underwater visual census. The only piscivores to display declines in abundance following coral mortality are some species of small bodied hawkfish that dwell in live corals and feed on fish recruits and juveniles (Sheppard et al. 2002).

At the assemblage level, the majority of short-term studies indicate very little impact in overall abundance and species richness of the fish assemblage following coral mortality (Riegl 2002; Sheppard et al. 2002; Spalding et al. 2002; Downing et al. 2005; McClanahan 2006). This is probably because most changes are associated with declines of species dependent on live coral for food, shelter or settlement, which make up a relatively small proportion of the assemblage. However, there is some evidence for small decreases in both variables (Sano 2004) or increases in abundance, largely attributed to movement of herbivores in an experimental transplant experiment (Lindahl et al. 2001). A longer-term study in Papua New Guinea, of four focal families, indicated that fish species richness declined with substantial declines in coral cover, and attributed that decline to 65% of the fish assemblage requiring live coral at settlement (Jones et al. 2004). When multiple studies were examined in a metaanalysis, small declines in coral cover actually resulted in increases in fish species richness, likely due to increased habitat heterogeneity, but larger declines (>20%) led to a 20-30% reduction in species richness (Wilson et al. 2006). Apart from the loss of larval settlement sites (Jones et al. 2004), the longer-term impacts of bleaching leads to the erosion of the reef structural framework (Sheppard et al. 2002; Graham et al. 2006). A number of the studies of the short-term impacts of bleaching speculated that such erosion of 3-dimentional structure would greatly increase the impact of the bleaching event beyond those species directly dependent on live coral for key life history stages (Shibano et al. 1999; Lindahl et al. 2001; Riegl 2002; Sheppard et al. 2002; Spalding & Jarvis 2002). The additional impacts of loss of structural complexity have been indicated from long-term studies of crown-ofthorn starfish impacted reefs (Sano et al. 1987) or through experimental manipulation of the reef benthos (Lewis 1997; Syms & Jones 2000). To better understand the additional consequences of loss of structural complexity, Wilson et al. (2006) compared the impact of disturbances that resulted in loss of live coral, but maintained structural complexity (short-term impacts of bleaching and crown-of-thorns starfish outbreaks), to the impacts of disturbances that caused both the loss of live coral and structural complexity (storms and experimental manipulations). The decline in abundance was consistently greater for five functional groups of fish following the disturbances that included loss of structural complexity (Figure 1.2). These results are likely because the structural matrix of reefs is extremely important for small bodied fish (Munday & Jones 1998) and most reef fish associate with refuge holes at some stage in their life history to avoid predation (Hixon & Beets 1993; Dulvy et al. 2004). This analysis suggests that, if a reef does not recover its coral cover, the longer-term impacts of bleaching are likely to be far more severe and affect more functional groups than the short term impacts.



Figure 1.2. Meta-analysis of responses of fish functional groups to two types of disturbance. Y-axis metric is change in fish group abundance divided by change in coral cover. Biological disturbances represent those disturbances that reduce live coral cover, but do not impact the structural complexity of the benthos. Structural disturbances cause a reduction in both live coral cover and structural complexity. Error bars are 95% confidence intervals calculated from the data of ten or more studies. Adapted from Wilson et al. (2006)*.

^{*} Figure adapted from a review article by Wilson et al. (2006), on which the author of this thesis is second author.

Along with understanding the ecological ramifications of coral bleaching, it is important to understand the socio-economic impacts. Coral reefs provide a wealth of ecosystem goods and services to human societies (Moberg & Folke 1999), with one of the most tangible activities being fisheries (Pet-Soude 2000). As with the studies investigating the impacts of bleaching on fish in situ, the studies assessing impacts on fisheries have generally been conducted shortly after bleaching events have occurred (within 3 years), limiting the ability to detect long-term trends. Grandcourt and Cesar (2003) detected no negative trends in most of the principal target families of reef fish in the inner Seychelles up to 3 years following the 1998 bleaching event. There was a declining trend in Siganidae, however the decline began prior to 1998 and was not thought to be associated with the coral mortality. Kenyan fishery yields declined by 8% following the 1998 bleaching event, however this was associated with a 17% increase in effort, making it difficult to ascribe any causality to the coral mortality event (McClanahan et al. 2002). This lack of short-term detectable impact on fisheries following coral bleaching has also been highlighted from other regions (Pet-Soude 2000). Most reef-associated fisheries target larger fish in the assemblage, and so the impacts of coral mortality will likely take some time to affect these species and individuals. It is possible that a loss of structural complexity and prey fish abundance could ultimately impact fishery target species, but such understanding will require data over greater temporal scales and using various fishery dependant and independent approaches.

The studies of the short-term impacts of bleaching on fish and fisheries indicate a number of research priorities. There is a great need to understand the impacts of bleaching on fish, fisheries and associated goods and services at much greater spatial and temporal scales. The mechanisms of fish decline following coral mortality are not clear; they need to be refined within coral dependent and other groups. It seems likely that if the structural complexity of the reef collapses it will have greater impacts on the fish assemblage, but the dynamics of this are poorly understood. There is very limited knowledge of the importance of live coral as a fish settlement site. As herbivores are such an important functional group on reefs (Bellwood et al. 2004), it is important to understand how they will respond to the longer-term impacts of bleaching. Most studies to date have focussed on abundance, biomass and diversity metrics, whereas changes in the size structuring of the fish assemblage may provide important insights. As reefs are increasingly threatened by multiple disturbances (Nyström et al. 2000; Hughes et al. 2003; Wilson et al. 2006) it is important to understand the interactions among differing disturbances and coral bleaching. Perhaps one of the greatest research needs is to understand if local-scale management can protect reefs against such a global-scale problem (Knowlton & Jackson 2008). The information for this will come from a greater understanding of the impacts and mechanisms for change, but there is also a pressing need to assess the effectiveness of current management frameworks in protecting or promoting recovery from such disturbance.

This thesis aims to address several of these unanswered questions, considering impacts on fishes at the species, functional, size and community levels, over both local and regional spatial scales. Chapter 2 improves understanding of the degree of specialisation of corallivorous butterflyfish in the Indian Ocean and assesses their associated patterns of decline. The chapter also investigates why certain coral prey are targeted more frequently by these fish. Chapter 3 uses obligate and facultative

19

corallivores to better understand the loss of live coral versus loss of structural complexity as driving mechanisms of decline in reef fish assemblages. The analysis also enhances understanding of the spatial and temporal patterns of decline and likely recovery trends of reef fish. Chapter 4 investigates the impacts of coral bleaching versus local impacts on a reef flat in Mauritius. The importance of local disturbances and the structuring processes of competition are elucidated. Chapter 5 reveals that a stable fish biomass above size at first capture in the Seychelles has resulted in no impacts on the fishery to date. However, large changes in the size structure of the fish assemblage suggest a lag effect whereby impacts on the fishery and the ecosystem as a whole are yet to be manifest. Finally, Chapter 6 analysed data from 66 sites, in 7 Indian Ocean countries over a decade. Bayesian meta-analysis is used to assess changes in benthic composition and structure and associated reef fish assemblages. The study explicitly tests the ability of local management, in the form of no take areas, to reduce impacts and enhance recovery from large scale bleaching events. It also assesses the ability of herbivore stocks to increase in abundance to control algal cover.

Chapter 2

Ecological versatility and the decline of coral feeding fishes following climate driven coral mortality¹

2.1 Abstract

Coral reefs are under threat due to climate mediated coral mortality, which affects some reef coral genera more severely than others. The impact this has on coral reef fish is receiving increasing attention, with one focal area assessing impacts on fish that feed directly on live coral. It appears that the more specialised a species of corallivore, the more susceptible it is to coral declines. However data are sparse for the Indian Ocean, and little is known about why some corals are preferentially fed upon over others. Here I assess feeding specialisation in three species of coral feeding butterflyfish in the Chagos Archipelago, central Indian Ocean, assess the food quality of the coral genera they target and document patterns of decline in the Seychelles following a severe coral mortality event. *Cheatodon trifascialis* was the most specialised coral feeder, preferentially selecting for *Acropora* corals, however, when *Acropora* was scarce, individuals showed considerable feeding plasticity, particularly for the dominant *Pocillopora* corals. *C. trifasciatus* also preferentially fed on *Acropora* corals, but fed on a much more diverse suite of corals and also displayed some selectivity for *Porites. C. auriga* is a facultative corallivore and consumed

¹ Published as: Graham NAJ (2007) Ecological versatility and the decline of coral feeding fishes following climate driven coral mortality. Marine Biology 153:119-127

~55% live coral, which lies within the wide range of coral dependence reported for this species. C:N ratio analysis indicated *Lobophyllia* and *Acropora* have the highest food quality, with *Pocillopora* having the lowest, which conforms with diet selection of corallivores and helps explain preferential feeding. Obligate specialist feeders displayed the greatest declines through coral mortality in the Seychelles with obligate generalists also declining substantially, but facultative feeders showing little change. Clearly a greater understanding of the species most vulnerable to disturbance, their habitat requirements and the functional roles they play will greatly assist biodiversity conservation in a changing climate.

2.2 Introduction

The decline of coral dominated reef systems and a change in coral composition from diverse and often *Acropora* dominated reefs, to less structurally complex encrusting and massive coral dominated reefs (McClanahan et al. 2007a) is being driven increasingly by coral bleaching, mediated by climate change (Hoegh-Guldberg 1999; Sheppard 2003). The impacts of coral decline on the wider ecosystem has received increasing attention, with the effects on fish being especially well investigated (reviewed by Wilson et al. 2006). While in the medium-term (5-10 years post disturbance) the diversity and abundance of a wide range of species can be affected (Jones et al. 2004; Garpe et al. 2006; Graham et al. 2006), in the short-term (< 3 years post disturbance), the impacts appear limited to species that specialise on coral for diet, recruitment or habitat purposes (Williams 1986; Kokita & Nakazono 2001; Wilson et al. 2006; Munday et al. 1997). However, even for specialised fish, the full effects can take some time to reach fruition (Pratchett et al. 2004), and seem to vary
according to the degree to which the fish are specialised (Munday 2004; Pratchett et al. 2006).

Corallivorous fish can vary in their dependence on live coral and although the majority of species feed mainly on scleractinian corals (Hourigan et al. 1988), their diet may include hard corals, soft corals, gorgonians, sponges, algae, polychaetes and crustaceans (Pratchett 2005). Many feeding studies of corallivores have assessed hard coral as a single category (Reese 1975; Harmelin-Vivien & Bouchon-Navaro 1981, 1983; Bouchon-Navaro 1986; Zekeria et al. 2002), however, other studies have partitioned feeding patterns at the scale of genera or species of coral, which enables the degree of specialisation to be elucidated (Cox 1994; Irons 1989; Pratchett 2005; Berumen et al. 2005). Assessing the degree of specialisation of species enables a continuum of ecological versatility to be assessed against resource availability or through disturbance (Munday 2000, 2004), or a greater number of broad categories of feeding or functional groups to be assessed (Pratchett et al. 2006).

Although data on the extent of ecological versatility in coral feeding fish is increasing, we have little knowledge as to why some species are specialists, sometimes preferentially targeting only one species of coral, whilst other species feed on a far broader range of prey. Furthermore, although our understanding of the degree of feeding specialisation and resource partitioning among corallivores has greatly advanced in the Pacific (Pratchett 2005; Berumen et al. 2005) and this has enabled a better understanding of declines in corallivores following disturbances (Pratchett et al. 2006) or switches in assemblage composition following reorganisation of benthic resources (Berumen & Pratchett 2006), whether these patterns and trends transcend

into the Indian Ocean is not clear. Indeed geographical variation in feeding preferences of corallivores has been reported for specialist feeders (Irons 1989) and faculatative coral feeders (Pratchett 2005; Harmelin-Vivien & Bouchon-Navaro 1983), indicating a need to broaden the geographical extent of such studies.

Here I assess, in the central Indian Ocean, the degree of specialisation in three species of coral feeding butterflyfishes representing specialist, generalist and facultative corallivores. I assess how this specialisation changes between habitats with differing dominance and diversity of corals available. To assess whether feeding selection is related to nutritional value, I assess the food quality of the four dominant corals selected by the fish. Finally, to assess the impact of coral loss on species with differing dependency on coral resources, patterns of temporal change in abundance of corallivores were examined through a major coral mortality event in the Seychelles.

2.3 Methods

2.3.1 Study sites

The study was conducted at two locations: diet analysis and associated work was conducted at Diego Garcia atoll in the Chagos Archipelago, central Indian Ocean, while temporal change in corallivore density was assessed in the granitic islands of the Seychelles. Although it would have been preferable to conduct the feeding study and change in abundance through disturbance at the same location, the two locations have very similar coral communities. Indeed, in an assessment of coral species diversity across the entire Indian Ocean, Sheppard (1998) showed that Chagos, the granitic Seychelles and the Maldives clustered together into a distinct group in terms of species similarity and that the Seychelles and Chagos were particularly similar. In Diego Garcia, two sites were selected for substrate assessment, corallivore density counts, feeding selectivity and coral food quality assessments. One reef (Diego East; 7°14.359'S, 72°26.411'E) was in a sheltered bay in the north east corner of the atoll and, although hosting a fairly diverse coral assemblage, was dominated by *Pocillopora*. The second reef (Diego Central; 7°14.534'S, 72°24.636'E) was a large platform patch reef in the north central section of the atoll, which was less diverse and dominated by *Acropora*. Both reefs were between 1-3m depth and all observations were conducted on snorkel. Change in density of corallivores was assessed through a major bleaching event in the Seychelles. Data were collected in 1994 and 2005, spanning the 1998 bleaching event. For full details of study sites see Jennings et al. (1995) and Graham et al. (2006).

2.3.2 Substratum Availability

To determine whether feeding preferences were influenced by the availability of potential food resources, substratum availability was quantified. At both Diego East and Diego Central the benthos along five randomly placed 10m transect lines was quantified using the line intercept method, whereby the distance of tape occupied by each substratum category was quantified. These data were converted into percent covers of each category and means plotted with standard errors per site. Differences in cover by genera were assessed using one-way ANOVA. *Acropora* cover had to be Log₁₀ transformed to meet the assumptions of the test.

2.3.3 Feeding observations

Feeding observations were conducted for three species of chaetodontid butterflyfish, one obligate specialist coral feeder, *Chaetodon trifascialis*, which is expected to consistently favour certain prey items, whether these items are common or rare, one obligate generalist coral feeder, C. trifasciatus, which is expected to feed on a wider variety of prey items, in closer proportions to those available in the environment and one facultative coral feeder, C. auriga, which is expected to feed on coral, but also injest other non-coral prey (Hourigan et al. 1988). The range and proportional consumption of various prey items targeted by each individual was recorded during 3 minute observation periods (following Pratchett 2005). The majority of individuals continued to feed during observation, however observations were discontinued if the fishes were disturbed by the observer. No intra-specific aggressive interactions were noted during feeding observations. Coral prey were identified to the genus level (16 genera were fed upon during the study), and other prey items included soft coral, sponge, epilithic algae, coralline algae and consolidated reef pavement. Reefs were surveyed in a zig zag pattern from one end to the other to try to ensure the same individual was not observed twice. All observations at both sites were made between 10am and 2pm, with no bias for time between sites. Between 20 and 30 individuals were surveyed per species per site (Table 2.1).

Table 2.1. Bite rate and dietary composition of three species of butterflyfishes on tworeefs with differing benthic composition in the Chagos Archipelago.

	n	Mean No. of bites per 3 min observation	% hard coral consumed	No. of coral genera consumed
Acropora dominated				
C. trifascialis	26	13.0	100%	1
C. trifasciatus	26	16.7	97%	4
Pocillopora dominated				
C. trifascialis	30	17.8	100%	4
C. trifasciatus	27	14.4	97%	14
C. auriga	20	6.5	55%	5

As data were collected on selection of resource units by individual animals, but resource availability was assessed at the population level, resource selection functions (\hat{W}_i) were calculated following Manly et al. (1993) using the formula:

$$\hat{W}_i = u_{i+}/(\pi_i u_{++})$$

where u_{i+} is the number of bites taken on food type i by all individuals, π_i is the proportion of that food type in the population and u_{++} is the total number of bites taken on all substrate types by all individuals (Manly et al. 1993). Bonferroni corrected 95% confidence intervals were calculated such that any function where the mean and confidence intervals were higher than 1 indicated selection, and if lower than 1 indicated avoidance. Data are presented as percent availability of resource verses percent number of bites for each area, with selection or avoidance indicated with a + or – symbol. Data are only presented for the four most common coral genera consumed (*Acropora, Lobophyllia, Pocillopora* and *Porites*) which represented 93% of corals consumed in Diego Central and 56% in Diego East. The non-coral substratum categories were combined and selectivity of this category also presented.

2.3.4 Chaetodon density surveys

The density of each of the three target butterflyfish and any other species of butterflyfish at the same locations as the benthic and feeding observations at both Diego East and Diego Central was quantified. The density of each species was recorded along 5 randomly placed 50*4m belt transects in each of the two study sites (following Berumen et al. 2005). Overall differences in the assemblages between the two study sites was assessed by MANOVA and differences at the species level using one-way ANOVA.

2.3.5 Coral food quality

Eight samples of each of the four most commonly eaten coral genera (Acropora, Lobophyllia, Pocillopora and Porites) were taken at random from the field sites and dried on land. Every effort was made to ensure the most common species of each genera was consistently sampled. Once dried, the samples were ground with pestle and mortar and placed in plastic vials for transport. On return to the lab the corals were placed in an oven at 50°C to ensure they remained dry. Each sample was then further ground into a powder, before being decalcified using 5% HCL to remove the skeleton. This solution was then freeze dried and the resultant solid residue was ground into a powder and placed in glass vials. Carbon, hydrogen and nitrogen values were obtained by testing each sample on a Carlo Erba 1108 Elemental Analyser controlled with CE Eager 200 software, and weighed using a Mettler MT 5 Microbalance (e.g. Wilson 2000). Two runs were performed on each sample and an average taken. C:N ratios were then calculated for each sample run. C:N ratio's are a measure of food quality, a low value infers higher nitrogen to carbon, which indicates there is more protein present for growth (Purcell and Bellwood 2001; Wilson et al. 2003).

A one-way ANOVA was used to test for differences in C:N ratios among the four coral genera. The ANOVA was performed both with and without a clear outlier for the *Acropora* results, this data point displaying nearly double that of the median for the group. Normality of data was examined with histograms and normal probability plots of the residuals and homogeniety of variances were tested with Levene's test.

2.3.6 Temporal change in coral feeding fish densities

In both 1994 and 2005 the density of 134 species of diurnally active, non-cryptic reef fish were surveyed at 21 sites, spanning three different habitat types (carbonate fringing reefs, granitic rocky reefs with coral growth, and patch reef habitats on a sand, rubble or rock base), in the Seychelles, with sixteen 7m radius point counts at each site conducted at the bottom of the reef slope (for full details see Jennings et al. 1995; Graham et al. 2006). In the present study, only the density data of corallivores are considered, which includes 13 species from the families Chaetodontidae, Monocanthidae and Labridae. Benthic data was also collected at each of the study sites, quantifying percent cover of different growth forms of live coral and other non-coral benthic categories (Jennings et al. 1995; Graham et al. 2006).

Density of the three species of chaetodontid for which feeding observations were made were analysed individually and all species were also assigned to three main feeding strategies based on the literature (McIlwain & Jones 1997; Allen et al. 1998; Kokita & Nakazono 2001; Pratchett 2005; www.fishbase.org). Three species were classified as obligate specialist coral feeders (*Chaetodon trifascialis, Labrichthys unilineatus* and *Oxymonocanthus longirostris*), four species as obligate generalist coral feeders (*Chaetodon melannotus, C. meyeri, C. trifasciatus* and *C. zanzibarensis*) and six species as facultative coral feeders (*Chaetodon auriga, C. guttatissimus, C. kleinii, C. lineolatus, C. lunula* and *C. xanthocephalus*). From the current literature, the similar findings of this study as compared to those in the Pacific and the clear patterns observed in the data, these groupings appear to be robust. Change in density of the individual species and aggregated feeding groups was assessed with a two-factor crossed ANOVA design with factors year and habitat type, however as habitat alone was not significant for any comparison, the data are presented for year only. Normality of data was examined with histograms and normal probability plots of the residuals and homogeniety of variances were tested with Levene's test. Aggregated level obligate generalists and specialist groups required log₁₀ transformation to meet the assumptions of the test.

2.4 Results

2.4.1 Substratum Availability

The two sites had similar live coral cover (55% Diego East and 52% Diego Central), but the dominance and diversity of coral genera varied greatly (Figure 2.1). Diego East was dominated by *Pocillopora*, with a mean cover of 34% compared to 2.2% for Diego Central ($F_{1,9} = 21.23$, P < 0.01). Conversely Diego Central was dominated predominately by *Acropora* colonies, with a mean cover of 49% compared to 4.4% in Diego East ($F_{1,9} = 69.43$, P < 0.001). Cover of other live coral genera and non-coral substrate did not vary significantly, however the richness of coral genera was greater for Diego East (Figure 2.1).



Figure 2.1. Benthic resource availability at Diego East and Diego Central, Chagos Archipelago. *** P<0.001, ** P<0.01.

2.4.2 Feeding observations

The greatest bite rates in Diego Central were recorded for *C. trifasciatus*, whereas in Diego East, *C. trifascialis* had the highest rates and *C. auriga* had considerably lower bite rates than the other two species (Table 2.1). *C. trifascialis* took 100% of bites from live coral at both sites, while *C. trifasciatus* took 97% and *C. auriga* took 55% (Table 2.1). In the lower diversity site, Diego Central, *C. trifascialis* took all its bites from *Acropora* colonies, principally *Acropora tenuis*, the dominant species at the site, but also *Acropora clathrata*. *C. trifascialis* consumed four genera of coral, while *C. trifascialis* consumed 14 genera and *C. auriga* consumed 5 genera, a considerable proportion of its bites from non-coral substrata (Table 2.1).

Selectivity analysis shows that *C. trifascialis* is preferentially selecting *Acropora* and avoiding other available genera in Diego Central (Figure 2.2). *C. trifasciatus* displays a similar trend, however there is also evidence for selectivity on *Porites* spp. (Figure 2.2). In Diego East *C. trifascialis* is preferentially selecting *Acropora*, but also taking a large proportion of bites on *Pocillopora* colonies. While *C. trifasciatus* appears to have a much more general diet, it is only selecting preferentially for *Acropora*. *C. auriga* appears to have a very general diet, and does not select for any resource in greater proportion to its availability (Figure 2.2).



Figure 2.2. Feeding selectivity of *C. trifascialis*, *C. trifasciatus* and *C. auriga* at Diego Central and Diego East, Chagos Archipelago. Data only presented for the four coral genera most preferentially consumed. Black bars indicate percent resource availability, open bars indicate percent feeding bites on that resource. + symbol indicates positive selectivity.

2.4.3 Corallivore density surveys

The overall assemblage structure of corallivores between the two sites varied significantly in terms of density (MANOVA, Wilks = 0.017, $F_{3,6}$ = 28.45, P < 0.01) (Figure 2.3). *C. trifascialis* had a greater density in Diego Central ($F_{1,9}$ = 28.77, P < 0.001) while *C. trifasciatus* and *C. auriga* had higher densities in Diego East ($F_{1,9}$ = 22.43, P < 0.001 and $F_{1,9}$ = 6.94, P < 0.05 respectively). Although not significant, the remaining species all displayed higher densities in the more diverse Diego East site (Figure 2.3).

2.4.4 Coral food quality

The lowest C:N ratios, and therefore highest food quality, were for *Acropora* and *Lobophyllia* coral genera, while *Pocillopora* had the highest C:N ratio (Figure 2.4). ANOVA results indicate this difference is significant ($F_{3,30} = 4.25$, P < 0.05), with the only pairwise difference between *Lobophyllia* and *Pocillopora* (P < 0.01). However if the analysis is re-run with the clear outlier for *Acropora* (Figure 2.4) removed, the trend is considerably stronger ($F_{3,29} = 7.86$, P < 0.001), and *Acropora* is also different from *Pocillopora* in pairwise tests (P < 0.01).



Figure 2.3. Mean density of corallivores present in Diego Central and Diego East. *** P<0.001, ** P<0.01, * P<0.05.



Figure 2.4. Box and whisker plots of C:N ratios for four coral genera. Box indicates median value, lower and upper quartiles. Whiskers indicate range up to 1.5 times the box. Outliers indicated with an asterix.

2.4.5 Temporal change in coral feeding fish densities

Between 1994 and 2005 total live coral cover declined by an average of 73% at the sites studied in the Seychelles, with complex branching and plating corals declining by 95% to a new base level of 1% cover across the study area (Graham et al. 2006, 2007). Change in densities of the three focal Chaetodontids through this major bleaching event indicates the most specialist species (*C. trifascialis*) declined the most ($F_{1,41} = 11.16$, P < 0.01), followed by the generalist obligate coral feeder (*C. trifasciatus*) ($F_{1,41} = 9.47$, P < 0.01), while the facultative corallivore (*C. auriga*) did not show any decline (Figure 2.5). Habitat was not a significant factor for any of the species, however *C. trifasciatus* displayed a significant year*habitat interaction term, which was due to a greater decline in carbonate and patch reef habitats than granitic reef habitats ($F_{2,41} = 3.36$, P < 0.05). If all the corallivores in the assemblage are assigned to the above three feeding categories, the obligate specialist feeders show a 98% decline ($F_{1,41} = 120.11$, P < 0.001), the obligate generalist coral feeders display a 73% decline ($F_{1,41} = 24.51$, P < 0.001) and the facultative coral feeders show a 32% decline ($F_{1,41} = 4.20$, P = 0.048)(Figure 2.5).



Figure 2.5. Change in density of *C. trifascialis*, *C. trifasciatus* and *C. auriga* and obligate specialists, obligate generalists and facultative feeders in Seychelles before and after the 1998 bleaching event.

2.5 Discussion

Here I have shown that although there may be greater feeding plasticity than previously documented in some species of corallivore, there are obvious differences between obligate specialist, obligate generalist and facultative feeders, which may in part be due to the quality of food. Similar to a previous study (Pratchett et al. 2006), the degree of specialisation is reflected in the extent of decline in density following mass coral bleaching. The obligate specialist feeders were severely impacted in this study, with a potential local extinction of *Labrichthys unilineatus* (Graham et al. 2006).

The number of bites taken per 3 minute observation varied among species and between the two study reef sites. Although bite rates of *C. trifasciatus* did not change markedly between reefs, *C. trifascialis* took a greater number of bites at Diego East (the *Pocillopora* dominated reef) than Diego Central (the *Acropora* dominated reef). Although the sample sizes were not large, this could reflect abundance of preferred resources, with greater feeding rates required when preferred corals are not in abundance (Bowen et al. 1995). *C. trifascialis* are known to defend their territories aggressively (Reese 1975, 1981), so it is interesting that feeding rates were higher at the site where a greater number of other species were present and thus potentially a greater number of aggressive interactions may be expected. The lack of a difference in bite rates in *C. trifasciatus* was also noted before and after coral decline at Trunk Reef, Australia for *C. lunulatus* (closely related Pacific species) (Pratchett et al. 2004, but see Irons 1989). The lowest numbers of bites per observation were recorded for *C. auriga*, which again could reflect nutritional value of food items, this species often targeting polychaete worms and other invertebrates (Bouchon-Navaro 1986).

Both C. trifascialis and C. trifasciatus preved on a greater number of coral genera in the more diverse *Pocillopora* dominated habitat, although *C. trifasciatus* was clearly the more generalist feeder and both species preferentially selected for Acropora corals. C. trifascialis is a highly specialised coral feeder, almost always selecting Acropora, often Acropora hyacinthis (Pratchett 2005, 2007), although the preferred species can vary geographically (Reese 1981). However, some plasticity in feeding has been observed when Acropora cover is very low (Irons 1989; Samways 2005), as is apparent in the current study. Feeding plasticity has also previously been documented between reefs of varying coral availability for C. baronessa and C. lunulatus at Lizard Island, Great Barrier Reef (Berumen et al. 2005). When preferred corals were not in abundance, the physiological condition of the fish, as measured by hepatocyte vacuolation in the liver, declined (Berumen et al. 2005). A decline in physiological condition was also noted for C. lunulatus following declines in cover of Acropora corals, which resulted in declines in abundance, but a shift in diet away from Acropora (Pratchett et al. 2004). It is possible that C. trifascialis may have lower fitness and fecundity in Diego East due to sub-optimal diet, however analyses such as those described above would be required to ascertain this. Interestingly, C. trifasciatus selected for Porites corals in Diego Central and took a greater proportion than available in Diego East, albeit taking very few bites from them overall. C. trifasciatus (now C. lunulatus) has been shown to feed primarily on poritid corals in Hawaii at sites where poritid and montiporid corals dominate (Cox 1994), suggesting that selectivity for Porites may be common in this species.

In this study *C. auriga* individuals took \sim 55% of bites from live coral. There appears to be a great deal of biogeographic variation in the feeding patterns of this species,

with studies in Australia finding live coral made up just 4% of its diet (Pratchett 2005), ~61% in French Polynesia (Harmelin-Vivien & Bouchon-Navaro 1983) and ~29% in the Red Sea (Harmelin-Vivien & Bouchon-Navaro 1981; Bouchon-Navaro 1986). The species is clearly a facultative coral feeder, but whether the variation in coral dependence is a spatial or temporal artefact is yet to be elucidated.

As can be seen with *Acropora* in the Diego Central site, selection functions do not always perform well when data are aggregated. In this study data were collected on selection of resource units by individual animals, but resource availability was assessed at the population level. Although the selection function chosen largely accounts for this (Manly et al. 1993), there is still a problem with resources in low availability, particularly when they are clumped in distribution, and/or the animals are territorial. In such situations assessment of resource availability within the specific boundaries of an individual territory may produce clearer results (however there are inherent problems in assessing butterflyfish territory size, as described by Reese (1981)). For example the low cover of *Lobophyllia* in Diego East was clumped, but when it did occur in a fishes territory, they took the majority of their bites from it. This coral has the fleshiest polyp and so potentially offers the greatest nutritional return per bite effort. Although *Lobophyllia* was recorded in the random benthic line intercept transects, because it only occurred in the territory of several fish, the selection function did not indicate positive selection.

There was an overall difference in species abundance between the two sites, with *C*. *trifascialis* having a significantly greater density in the *Acropora* dominated Diego Central, and all other species present being in greater density in the more diverse

Diego East. C. trifascialis is known to be very territorial and actively defend its territory from intruders (Reese 1975), suggesting that this species may dominate in such mono-specific Acropora rich areas (Pratchett 2005) inhibiting the presence of other species. Even competitively similar species can display inverse relationships in terms of abundance (Reese 1981). It has been suggested that competitively subordinate species may have a broader diet to avoid competition with more specialised aggressive species (Pratchett 2005). C. trifascialis lives as a solitary individual and defends a specific territory, whereas other species, such as C. trifasciatus and sometimes C. auriga occur in heterosexual pairs (Reese 1975, 1981). There is also variation in territory size, with C. trifascialis and C. trifasciatus utilising fairly small territories, whereas C. auriga forages over a wider area (Reese 1975). It appears C. trifascialis dominates over other species where Acropora is in abundance, as has been described in previous studies (Reese 1981; Pratchett 2005), and thus other species are in greater number on more diverse reefs, not dominated by Acropora, where coexistence is more likely achieved through partition of food resources (Zekeria et al. 2002).

One possible explanation for differences in feeding specialisation could be variation in food quality. C:N analysis indicated that *Lobophyllia* and *Acropora* tissue has a lower C:N ratio, thus greater food quality, than *Pocillopora* corals. If this is the case it could help explain why many corallivores preferentially feed on *Acropora* corals (Pratchett 2005), i.e. selecting for protein rich resources (Bowen et al. 1995). It could also help explain why species in habitats with low availability of preferred corals have been shown to have reduced physiological condition (Pratchett et al. 2004; Berumen et al. 2005). However the latter studies assessed lipid stores in the liver which equate to short-term energy needs more than the C:N ratios examined here, which give an indication of protein availability and energy for growth (Bowen et al. 1995). Whether the same corals found to have low C:N ratios in the present study also have high lipid content remains to be tested.

Methodological variation in C:N ratios should be minimised when techniques are standardised within a study, so one would hope the results presented here are comparable. As only one species per genera was assessed in the current study, it is not clear how much variation there is within genera of corals compared to among them. This is clearly an area for future research. However, given that in the current study area, certain species of coral dominated within a genera, and it was these that were both preyed upon by the fish and assessed for C:N ratios, the results are robust for the purpose of feeding selectivity.

It is clear from previous studies that coral tissue is a valuable food source (e.g. Bythell 1988; Rotjan & Lewis 2005), with algal and related food sources likely being of less nutritional value (Wilson 2000; Rotjan & Lewis 2005, but see Wilson et al. 2003 for variation) and invertebrates, such as polychaete worms having higher nutritional value (Rotjan & Lewis 2005). The higher nutritional value of invertebrates such as polychaetes may help explain why the feeding rates of *C. auriga* are less than obligate coral feeders. There will obviously be other reasons why species preferentially choose certain coral prey, which may involve resource partitioning (Zekeria et al. 2002; but see Pratchett 2005), functional jaw morphology (Motta 1988), morphology of corals (Tricas 1989b) and presence of nematocysts (Gochfield 2004). It is likely that all these factors contribute to the final selectivity of fish.

Declines in density of corallivores between 1994 and 2005 in the Seychelles further highlight the importance of specialisation when assessing the vulnerability of fish to disturbance (Munday 2004; Pratchett et al. 2006; Wilson et al. 2006). In this study C. trifascialis and the aggregated obligate specialist feeders showed the greatest declines, followed by C. trifasciatus and the obligate generalists and C. auriga and the aggregated facultative feeders showed little change. This directly corresponds to predictions based on feeding selectivity, and the fact that Acropora, the preferred food of many specialists, is among the most vulnerable taxa of corals to coral bleaching and other disturbances such as crown-of-thorns starfish outbreaks and storms (McClanahan et al. 2004, 2007a; Wilson et al. 2006). Pratchett et al. (2006) also found obligate coral feeding butterflyfish declined on the Great Barrier Reef following extensive coral mortality, but facultative and non-coral feeders did not. This study furthers this knowledge by highlighting the distinction between obligate specialist and obligate generalist feeders, and also includes species from the monocanthid and labrid families. Declines in density of coral feeders in the Seychelles were greater in Marine Protected Areas than fished areas (Chapter 5 & Graham et al. 2007), suggesting this management option offered no insurance against the disturbance. Clearly when disturbances are so severe and spatially extensive, specialist species have little refuge.

There is a growing literature highlighting the vulnerability of specialist fish to disturbance (reviewed by Wilson et al. 2006), suggesting that measures of feeding (Pratchett 2005) or habitat (Munday et al. 1997) specialisation will be important criterion to predict which species are vulnerable to extinction on reefs (see Munday 2004). Indeed, in the Seychelles, where the 1998 coral bleaching event devastated

reefs, there is evidence of the local extinction of four specialist species (Graham et al. 2006). Local extinction of coral specialists has also been documented from Papua New Guinea following extensive coral mortality (Jones et al. 2004; Munday 2004). If we are to manage and conserve biodiversity in a changing climate, a greater understanding of the species most vulnerable to disturbance, their habitat needs and the functional roles they offer to the rest of the ecosystem will be imperative.

2.6 Acknowledgements

The Chagos Research Expedition of 2006, funded largely by the FCO, London, and organised by Charles Sheppard enabled this work to take place. Funding for both work in Chagos and Seychelles was also received from the Leverhulme Trust, the Fisheries Society of the British Isles and the Western Indian Ocean Marine Science Association. Many thanks to Simon Jennings, Shaun Wilson, Jerker Tamelander and Bob Crawford for assistance in the field and for providing data. Thanks to John Bythell, Nick Polunin and Shaun Wilson for assistance in the lab, ideas and for critical evaluation of the manuscript.

Chapter 3

Coral mortality versus structural collapse as drivers of corallivorous butterflyfish decline²

3.1 Abstract

Climate change is a key threat to biodiversity and ecosystem function. Understanding the spatial and temporal scales at which drivers of species decline operate and the attributes of species most vulnerable to decline is a key challenge to ecologists and conservationists. Coral reefs have emerged as one of the ecosystems most threatened by climate impacts, where both reef corals and associated fish assemblages can be severely altered. Here we assess the effects of coral loss versus structural complexity collapse on obligate and facultative coral feeding butterflyfishes. The abundance of the obligate coral feeding group declined markedly in response to live coral mortality ($r^2 = 0.48$), which represents rapid declines, but showed no further loss once the physical matrix of the reef eroded. Conversely, the facultative feeding group showed no decline in response to live coral loss, reflecting their feeding versatility; however they did decline once the structure of the reef began to erode ($r^2 = 0.26$). While coral dependant fishes are highly vulnerable to coral loss caused by climate-induced coral bleaching, the structural collapse of dead coral colonies may have significant, but

² Submitted as: Graham NAJ, Wilson SK, Pratchett MS, Polunin NVC, Spalding MD (in review) Coral mortality versus structural collapse as drivers of corallivorous butterflyfish decline. Biodiversity and Conservation. NAJ Graham collected and analysed data, interpreted results and wrote the paper.

more variable, impacts across a wide range of fishes. If conservation and mitigation planning are to be effective, there is a clear need to better understand the mechanisms of reef structural collapse and the dynamics of system recovery following large-scale disturbance.

3.2 Introduction

Climate change has emerged as one of the greatest threats to the world's ecosystems (Walther et al. 2002) and the impacts this is having on biodiversity is of key concern (Thomas et al. 2004; Balmford et al. 2005). To enable suitable management and mitigation plans to be developed for species preservation, it is necessary to identify the key drivers of species decline, the temporal and spatial scales over which they operate and the attributes of individual species that render them more or less susceptible to environmental disturbance (Sala et al. 2000; Dulvy et al. 2003).

One of the ecosystems most vulnerable to climate change effects are coral reefs (Hughes et al. 2003; Hoegh-Guldberg et al. 2007), which are suffering widespread loss of live coral due to coral bleaching; a decoupling of the symbiotic relationship between the energy providing dinoflagellates and the host corals (Brown 1997). Associated with this loss in coral cover is a considerable reorganisation of the coral genera present (McClanahan et al. 2007a) and ultimately, through biological and physical processes, a reduction in the structural complexity of the reef matrix (Sheppard et al. 2002; Graham et al. 2006). Understanding the impacts of such large-scale disturbance to coral reef benthos on associated organisms is in its infancy (Pratchett et al. 2008b). It is clear that species richness and abundance of certain groups of fishes may decline following coral loss (Sano et al. 1987; Jones et al. 2004;

Garpe et al. 2006; Graham et al. 2006; Wilson et al. 2006), that specialist species are most vulnerable (Munday 2004; Pratchett et al. 2006; Wilson et al. 2008a) and that loss of recruitment habitat (Feary et al. 2007a) or structural complexity (Graham et al. 2006, Chapter 5 & Graham et al. 2007a) may lead to long-term declines. However, an unequivocal understanding of these drivers, which species they effect and the spatial and temporal scales over which they operate is clearly necessary.

Corallivorous butterflyfish are an ideal group of fish to test these ideas as they display varying degrees of specialisation or versatility in dependence on live coral for food (Irons 1989; Cox 1994; Berumen et al. 2005; Pratchett 2005; Chapter 2 & Graham 2007; Berumen & Pratchett 2008). The extent of feeding specialisation by butterflyfish has been shown to relate to vulnerability to disturbance, with more specialised obligate coral feeders declining substantially more following coral loss than versatile facultative coral feeders (Pratchett et al. 2006; Chapter 2 & Graham 2007). Butterflyfish are also small bodied, with maximum total lengths typically <20 cm, which has been highlighted as a key attribute of fish, making them vulnerable to collapse of the reef structural matrix (Graham et al. 2006; Chapter 5 & Graham et al. 2007a; Pratchett et al. 2008a). Such collapse generally occurs some time (5-10 years) after the initial live coral loss and so the associated impact on the fish assemblage is likely to be delayed compared to the impacts of live coral loss.

Here we assess the impacts of loss of live coral cover versus loss of the structural complexity of reefs on obligate and facultative coral feeding butterflyfish. This study was conducted in the inner Seychelles, which was devastated during the 1998 bleaching event, with a loss of >90% live coral cover (Sheppard 2003). By 2005 reefs

in the inner Seychelles were showing very little coral recovery and variable collapse of structural complexity (Graham et al. 2006).

3.3 Methods

The study was conducted in the inner islands of the Seychelles. Benthic and fish data were collected before (1994) and after (2005) the devastating 1998 bleaching event from 21 sites, comprising 3 different habitat types; carbonate fringing reefs, granitic rocky reefs with coral growth and patch reef habitats on a sand, rubble or rock base. At each site 16 randomly selected underwater point counts of 7m radius were surveyed along the bottom of the reef slope (5-13 m depth). S. Jennings collected all 1994 data (Jennings et al. 2005) and N. Graham and S. Wilson collected 2005 data (Graham et al. 2006). Benthic cover of functional forms of hard corals, soft corals, macroalgae, sand, rock and rubble was estimated visually and checked for accuracy against the line-intercept method (Wilson et al. 2007). Structural complexity of the benthos was quantified at each site using a 6 point visual scale which captures complexity comparable to a range of other techniques (Wilson et al. 2007). All adult butterflyfishes (>5cm TL) within each 7m radius station were counted and recorded to species. All butterflyfishes were then categorised into obligate coral feeding or facultative coral feeding groups based on the literature (Harmelin-Vivien 1989a; Pratchett 2005; Chapter 2 & Graham 2007) and Fishbase (Froese & Pauly 2007)(Table 3.1). Full details of survey techniques and a study map can be found in Jennings et al. (1995).

Table 3.1. Change in total butterflyfish species abundance within each habitat type $(17,248m^2)$ and change in species richness of facultative and obligate groups.

		Carb	onate	Grai	nitic	Patcl	n reef
Species	Category	1994	2005	1994	2005	1994	2005
Chaetodon melannotus	Obligate	21	1	6	0	3	0
Chaetodon meyeri	Obligate	3	0	1	2	0	0
Chaetodon trifascialis	Obligate	31	0	15	9	24	0
Chaetodon trifasciatus	Obligate	139	8	43	34	70	27
Chaetodon zanzibariensis	Obligate	8	4	6	8	9	0
Change in species richness	Obligate	-2		-1		-3	
Chaetodon auriga	Facultative	19	26	24	29	32	6
Chaetodon guttatisimus	Facultative	2	0	8	12	10	4
Chaetodon kleinii	Facultative	3	4	9	4	15	9
Chaetodon lineolatus	Facultative	1	0	0	0	2	0
Chaetodon lunula	Facultative	9	4	6	7	10	6
Chaetodon xanthocephalus	Facultative	16	0	11	6	5	6
Change in species richness	Facultative	-1	3	0	1	-	1

To account for varying initial values (Côté et al. 2005), we calculated change in coral cover, structural complexity and abundance of butterflyfish between 1994 and 2005 using the following equation:

$$\% difference \Delta = \left[(A_a - A_b) / A_b \right] \times 100 \tag{1}$$

Where A_b and A_a were mean values at sites in 1994 and 2005 respectively. Because percent differences can have a strong right-tailed distribution, i.e. a maximum potential decline of 100%, but potentially limitless increases, we transformed data following Kaiser et al. (2006):

$$Y = \log_{e}(1 + [\Delta/101])$$
(2)

The transformation approximately normalises the error distribution and stabilises its variance. The data are balanced around zero and a common maximum decline and increase of -4.6 and +4.6 is imposed (Kaiser et al. 2006).

The relationship between loss of live coral cover and loss of structural complexity was assessed using correlation analysis. The influence of the change in live coral cover versus change in structural complexity on fish groups was assessed using analysis of covariance, where habitat type was a categorical predictor and change in coral cover or structural complexity a covariate. Data were tested for normality and homogeneity of variances by inspecting residual plots and Levene's test respectively, and no transformations were necessary.

3.4 Results

Declines in coral cover in the inner Seychelles as a result of the 1998 bleaching event were immediate and substantial (Sheppard 2003), whereas declines in reef structural complexity took much longer to become manifest. The reef began to erode in 2003 (Engelhardt 2004) and by 2005 the 21 sites studied were in varying degrees of collapse (Graham et al. 2006). Changes in fish abundance observed during this study may be due to either the short-term effects of coral loss or longer-term effects of structural collapse. Importantly, there was no collinearity between the loss of live coral at each site and the reduction of structural complexity (r = 0.177, P = 0.443), ensuring that the two drivers could be assessed as independent variables.

Obligate coral feeders show substantial declines at the species level, although slightly less severe in the granitic habitat (Table 3.1). Conversely, facultative feeders showed more moderate declines and considerable stability in the granitic reef habitat (Table 3.1). Species richness followed similar trends, with generally greater and more consistent declines for obligate coral feeders (Table 3.1). The obligate corallivore group displayed strong patterns of decline associated with loss of live coral cover (r^2 = 0.48) whereas facultative corallivores showed no relationship (Table 3.2, Figure 3.1). Conversely change in structural complexity did not explain any patterns of decline for obligate corallivores, but did explain declines in facultative corallivores (r^2 = 0.26) (Table 3.2, Figure 3.2). Habitat was only a significant factor for obligate corallivores in the structural complexity change model and this was due to a greater decline in abundance in carbonate reef habitats than granitic rocky reef habitats (Table 3.2). **Table 3.2.** Results of univariate analysis of covariance on densities of obligate and facultative corallivores for both the coral decline and structural complexity decline models. Values given are *F* ratios (probability results given in brackets. ** P < 0.01; * P < 0.05; ns = not significant.

	Coral cov	ver model	Structural complexity model		
Fish group	Habitat effect	Coral decline covariate	Habitat effect	Structural loss covariate	
	(2, 17 df)	(1, 17 df)	(2, 17 df)	(1,17 <i>df</i>)	
Obligate corallivores	3.21 (ns)	10.80 (**)	4.88 (*)	0.77 (ns)	
Facultative corallivores	1.30 (ns)	0.09 (ns)	1.45 (ns)	6.28 (*)	



Figure 3.1. Change in abundance of (a) obligate corallivores and (b) facultative corallivores in response to loss of live coral loss. Solid line represents significant trend.



Figure 3.2. Change in abundance of **(a)** obligate corallivores and **(b)** facultative corallivores in response to reduced reef structural complexity. Solid line represents significant trend.

3.5 Discussion

We have shown that declines in obligate coral feeding butterflyfish are mainly associated with loss of live coral, whereas declines in facultative coral feeding butterflyfish are mainly associated with loss of structural complexity. This suggests that loss of obligate coral feeders are likely to be fairly rapid following extensive coral mortality, although some delays associated with feeding on sub-optimal prey may occur (Pratchett et al. 2004). In comparison, abundance change of obligate corallivores relative to loss of structure was more variable and non-significant. This is most likely because by the time reef structure starts to erode and collapse the majority of decline has already occurred.

The failure to detect any relationship between change in abundance of facultative corallivores and change in coral cover highlights the high level of feeding versatility in these species, many of which satisfy their dietary requirements by feeding on algae and motile invertebrates (Harmelin-Vivien & Bouchon-Navaro 1981; Harmelin-Vivien 1989a; Pratchett 2005). However facultative corallivores did decline in response to a reduction in structural complexity, reflecting their reliance on the shelter provided by the reef matrix. Small bodied species are known to be vulnerable to structural complexity loss (Graham et al. 2006) likely because they generally inhabit narrower niches and are more reliant on the reef matrix to avoid predators (Munday & Jones 1998). The weaker relationship and smaller decline in abundance and species richness of facultative feeders may be associated with variable collapse in structure among sites, or because the impacts of reduced structure are not as devastating as a complete loss of dietary resources (i.e. for obligate feeders). This suggests that facultative feeders, although escaping declines immediately following coral loss, may

decline in a longer time frame and from a different driver (structural loss). However, their loss is likely to be less substantial than that of obligate feeders (Pratchett et al. 2006; Chapter 2 & Graham 2007).

An alternative explanation for a delayed decline in facultative corallivores is that these species recruit to live coral, and high coral mortality eventually reduces replenishment rate of adult stocks (*sensu* Jones et al 2004). For facultative coral feeding butterflyfish this explanation seems unlikely, as most species recruit preferentially to non-coral habitats (Pratchett et al. 2008c). It is feasible, however, that a loss of fine scale habitat complexity has reduced refuge space for juvenile fish, which would contribute to long term declines in adult populations (Chapter 5 & Graham et al. 2007a).

Our results suggest that obligate corallivores should be impacted more rapidly than facultative corallivores when subjected to disturbances such as coral bleaching, which result in rapid coral mortality, but delayed loss of habitat structural complexity. Furthermore, the spatial scales over which the impact is realised differ. Mass coral bleaching is generally devastating to coral cover over wide spatial scales (Hughes et al. 2003), although some depth refuge of live coral can occur (Sheppard & Obura 2005). Conversely, the collapse of habitat structure can be spatially variable (Graham et al. 2006), which likely results in more patchy reductions in abundance of species effected by structural loss. Thus, the more specialised obligate coral feeding species are more vulnerable to population declines and local extinctions due to both more substantial responses to disturbance and because the disturbance is manifested more uniformly and is spatially extensive.
Although predicting and understanding effects of bleaching on live coral loss and reorganisation has greatly increased (Sheppard 2003; Hoegh-Guldberg et al. 2007; McClanahan et al. 2007a, c), the same is not true for loss of structural complexity. The mechanisms for collapse of reef structural complexity following live coral mortality can include physical erosion (Scoffin 1993) and bioerosion (Hutchings 1986) and will be partly dependant on the original composition of the coral community (Done et al. 1996). As collapse of this matrix appears to be a major determinant of secondary impacts on fish assemblages (Garpe et al. 2006; Graham et al. 2006; Chapter 5 & Graham et al. 2007a; Wilson et al. 2006), a greater understanding of the mechanisms behind differential collapse of reef structures following coral mortality and how this can be predicted will be of great benefit to conservation planning.

The patterns of decline in obligate and facultative corallivores identified in this study beg the question as to the dynamics of any recovery in their populations following benthic recovery. One may hypothesize that the obligate feeders may recover more rapidly as live coral cover returns to a reef more rapidly than the structure it provides. However, if the declines observed for obligate feeders are great, an allee effect may operate whereby the broodstocks of adults are not sufficient to facilitate a rapid recovery. Conversely, although the structural complexity of the reef may take longer to regenerate, facultative feeders may more readily respond to any such recovery as their population decline is less severe and more variable. Previous studies have shown that recovery of fish species richness and abundance of some groups may track recovery of the benthos (Sano 2000; Halford et al. 2004), however for butterflyfish, if the composition of corals that recover is different to the pre-disturbance composition, the resultant assemblage of butterflyfish may also be radically different (Berumen & Pratchett 2006). With climate change leading to an altered and depauperate composition of corals on reefs (Hughes et al. 2003; McClanahan et al. 2007a), it is imperative to understand how fish groups will respond to such changes.

Understanding the likely composition and functional capacity of fish assemblages on reefs in a changing climate is a key conservation question. Such information is imperative to inform biodiversity preservation and to understand the likely trajectories of coral reef ecosystems through continued and multiple disturbance regimes. Coral reefs provide a variety of critical goods and services to human societies (Moberg & Folke 1999) and so further understanding of the drivers of decline, the spatial and temporal scales over which they operate, and projections of how these services are likely to change, are key research priorities.

3.6 Acknowledgements

Funding for this work was received from the Leverhulme Trust, the Fisheries Society of the British Isles and the Western Indian Ocean Marine Science Association. Many thanks to Simon Jennings for providing data and John Bythell for useful discussions and ideas.

Chapter 4

Anthropogenic stressors, inter-specific competition and ENSO effects on a Mauritian coral reef ³

4.1 Abstract

Much of the western Indian Ocean suffered widespread loss of live coral in 1998 and interest is now focused on the indirect effects of this coral loss on other components of the ecosystem, in particular fishes. However, it is just as important to identify changes in fish assemblages at locations that did not suffer coral mortality in order to understand local versus regional drivers. We surveyed benthic and fish communities on a reef flat in Mauritius five times between 1994 and 2005. The design allowed for comparison through time, along the coast and between inshore and offshore reef locations. The benthic community demonstrates a clear trend along the coast which is likely to be in response to a dredged water ski lane, but little change through time. Branching *Acropora* colonies dominate much of the live coral and best explain patterns in the fish assemblage (p<0.01). Few changes in overall fish species richness through time were identified, and observed changes were within fishery target families rather than species reliant on live coral. Departure from expected levels of taxonomic distinctness suggests degradation in the community associated with the

³ Published as: Graham NAJ, McClanahan TR, Letourneur Y, Galzin R (2007) Anthropogenic stressors, inter-specific competition and ENSO effects on a Mauritian coral reef. Environmental Biology of Fishes 78:57-69. NAJ Graham collected post-disturbance data, analysed and interpreted data and wrote the manuscript.

dredged ski lane. Non-metric multi-dimensional scaling of the fish assemblage demonstrates a similar pattern to that seen in the benthos; greater differences along the coast (Global R = 0.34) than through time (Global R = 0.17) and no trend between reef positions. SIMPER analysis identified two species of *Stegastes* as the main drivers of trends in the MDS plot and the most dominant of these, *S. lividus*, appears to be reducing species richness of the remaining fish community. The study highlights Mauritius as a regional refugia of thermally-sensitive corals and specialised fish, suggesting a need for careful management.

4.2 Introduction

Coral reefs globally are suffering increasingly frequent events of thermally induced bleaching and associated mortality (Hoegh-Guldberg 1999, Sheppard 2003). Loss of live coral cover at this scale is expected to affect other components of the ecosystem (Walther et al. 2002), and studies of such impacts are growing in number. Much attention is focused on likely ramifications for reef-associated fish assemblages. The majority of studies to date have been on the scale of a few months to years and indicate limited community change aside from species directly dependant on live coral or algae for food or shelter (Kokita and Nakazono 2001, Lindahl et al. 2001, Booth and Berretta 2002, Chabanet 2002, McClanahan et al. 2002, Sheppard et al. 2002, Spalding & Jarvis 2002, Sano 2004), whereas the longer term effects may be much greater (Jones et al. 2004, Graham et al. 2006). This may be due to lag effect associated with changes in physiological condition of fish (Pratchett et al. 2004) and collapse of the physical structure of the reef matrix (Graham et al. 2006, Chapter 5 & Graham et el. 2007a). Understanding such effects and processes will clearly be essential for future use and management of affected reef systems.

When trying to understand the effects of bleaching on fish assemblages, it is just as important to assess change through the same time period at locations that did not suffer badly from bleaching, as it is to study sites where severe mortality occurred. This acts as a control for bleaching effects where other drivers in fish community dynamics can be identified in a region over the same time period. Ecological processes such as variable recruitment (Doherty & Williams 1988, Letourneur et al. 1998a, Doherty et al. 2004), predation (Hixon 1991, Graham et al. 2003) or competitive interactions (Robertson 1996, Letourneur 2000, McClanahan 2000a) could be driven by natural processes and influence fish assemblages. They may also be driven by changes in habitat associated with effects such as eutrophication (McCook 1999), sedimentation (Rogers 1990), or fishing (Jennings at al. 1995, McClanahan & Graham 2005), or actions that may cause physical damage to the habitat (Brown et al. 1990, Adjeroud et al. 1998). Identifying such processes and collecting baseline data at a location that has escaped much of the thermal damage characterised at other sites, will provide information for future monitoring and management, particularly when future effects of bleaching at regional scales are expected to be significant (Sheppard 2003).

The warm phase of the El Niño Southern Oscillation (ENSO) event of 1998 resulted in the greatest global bleaching event on record (Hoegh-Guldberg 1999) and was particularly devastating to the western Indian Ocean (WIO) (Goreau et al. 2000) where it interacted with the warm portion of the Indian Ocean dipole (Saji et al. 1999). However, the effects varied greatly, with some locations, such as the Maldives and the inner Seychelles suffering 75-99% mortality, whereas other locations, such as Réunion and South Africa suffering low to negligible damage (Goreau et al. 2000, Obura 2005). Bleaching in Maurtius was also minimal with less than 10% coral cover affected in 1998 (Moothien Pillay et al. 2002, Turner & Klaus 2005), and 24% in 2004 (McClanahan et al. 2005). After these two events coral cover is still dominated by thermally sensitive genera such as *Acropora* and overall cover appears to have risen since a broad survey in 1992 (McClanahan et al. 2005).

This study assesses changes in benthic and fish communities on a narrow reef flat in north-west Mauritius that escaped much of the bleaching mortality experienced by other locations in the WIO in 1998. Temporal and spatial trends through a period 1994-2005, thus spanning the 1998, 2003 and 2004 bleaching events, are studied, aiming to identify any change in benthic and fish community structure. Alternative hypotheses are considered and, using a suite of multivariate tools, a case is built for the most plausible explanations for the observed trends.

4.3 Methods

4.3.1 Study site and sampling techniques

Mauritius is located in the southwestern Indian Ocean, 200 km east of Réunion Island, and 800 km east of Madagascar, between latitudes 19.58 and 20.31°S, and longitudes 57.18 and 57.46°E. The study was conducted in the northwest coast of the island (Figure 4.1), which is sheltered from the dominant southeast trade winds. The study site, Pointe aux Piments, is located 10 km north of the capital, Port-Louis, this part of the coast being developed with hotels. The fringing reef, dominated largely by branching *Acropora* corals, is approximately 250 m wide and 1-2 m deep along this section of the coast, and largely used for recreational purposes. Within the study area

a dredged water ski lane has been in active use since 1995 (Figure 1). Fishing pressure around Mauritius is high ($\sim 1600 \text{ t yr}^{-1}$ from lagoons and reefs) and is thought to exceed maximum sustainable yields (Turner & Klaus 2005).

Data were collected on benthic and fish communities at 10 stations over a 10 year period, where samples were collected in 1994, 1995, 1996, 1997 and 2005. The design allowed for comparison through time, along the coast and between inshore and offshore locations. Five transects (T1-T5) perpendicular to the shore, each had a landward (A) and seaward (B) sampling station, where a 50m transect tape was laid down parallel to the shore in a southerly orientation (Figure 1). The study site comprised approximately 1 km of shoreline, each transect being separated by 200-350 m. Land sampling stations (A) were located 50 m from the shore, whereas sea stations (B) were ~200 m from the shore.



Figure 4.1. Map of the study site, indicating location in Mauritius, proximity of the ten sampling stations, direction of transects and location of dredged water ski lane. Adapted from Aderoud et al. 1998.

Full fish censuses were carried out by snorkel along 50*2m belt transects at each of the 10 sampling stations. Fish were identified to the species level (within 29 families) and abundance estimated. The discrete group sampling technique was used, whereby fish in different families and mobility groups were surveyed during different passes of the transect (4 in total) to account for varying behaviours (Harmelin-Vivien et al. 1985). This process was repeated 3 times for each station and an average abundance for each species attained. A presence/absence survey was also conducted around each station area during a 30-minute timed swim. Although fish counts were conducted by three different observers over the 5 sampling years, all observers were highly experienced and inter-observer variation is expected to be minimal (Williams et al. 2006, McClanahan et al. 2007d). After a fish census was complete the benthos along the same 50m transect line was quantified using the line intercept method (Loya 1978), whereby the distance of tape occupied by the following substratum categories was quantified: live branching coral, live plating coral, live other coral and dead substratum. These data were converted into percent covers of each category for each of the 10 stations surveyed within each year. Data were collected during peak daylight hours. Surveys in 1994, 1996 and 2005 were during the Austral winter, whereas surveys in 1995 and 1997 were during the Austral summer, however analysis of 1994-1997 data indicated little seasonal variation (Galzin, R. unpublished data).

4.3.2 Data analysis

Due to the multi-species nature of the data and the design of the survey, the most appropriate analyses were multivariate (Clarke & Warwick 2001a). To assess patterns in benthic data from all stations in all years we used correlation-based principle components analysis. Data were log(x+1) transformed to account for some right

skewness detected in draftsman's plots and normalised. Eigenvectors were overlaid on the resultant plot to identify direction and contribution of the different variables to the patterns and to identify any correlation between variables. Percent total live coral was also quantified for each transect and landward and seaward sampling stations cross the 5-year period. Two-way ANOVAs were used to assess differences through time associated with both trends along and away from the shore. Normality of data was examined with histograms and normal probability plots of the residuals. Homogeniety of variances were tested with Bartlett's test. Where a significant difference was found, Tukey's test identified those samples driving the differences.

Presence / absence fish diversity data from timed swims was pooled to the year level to represent the reef as a whole. Overall species richness (S) and richness within key families was calculated for each year.

We examined the taxonomic diversity of the fish assemblage for each station and year. Average taxonomic distinctness (AvTD) was calculated by assessing the degree to which species in a sample are taxonomically related, measuring the average path length between every pair of species based on a taxonomic tree (Clarke & Warwick 1998). Variation in taxonomic distinctness (VarTD) was assessed by measuring the evenness to which the taxa were spread across the tree (Clarke & Warwick 2001b). Funnel plots were constructed for both variables with expected mean and 95% confidence limits constructed from a simulation distribution using random subsets of the master taxonomy list (constructed following Helfman et al. (1997)). Any departure from expected values could thus be identified, where low AvTD and low to normal VarTD indicates degraded locations (Clarke & Warwick 2001b).

related to our study design were tested using two-way crossed ANOVAs with the factors year and transect, as these were identified as the key sources of variation by Analysis of Similarities (ANOSIM).

Fish assemblages within each station in each year were compared using non-metric multi-dimensional scaling (MDS) based on Bray-Curtis similarity measures. Species abundance data were square-root transformed to down weight abundant species. Differences between years, transects and reef position (A-B) were tested using ANOSIM, which is a non-parametric permutation procedure. After identification of which transects and years (the 2 significant factors) differed the most (ANOSIM pairwise test output), SIMPER analysis was run on the data matrix. SIMPER decomposes Bray-Curtis dissimilarities between all pairs of samples to identify those species that contribute most to differences (Clarke & Warwick 2001a).

As SIMPER identified *Stegastes lividus* followed by *Stegastes nigricans* as the species contributing most to the significant trends in the MDS plot for both year and transects along the shore, bubble plots were used to overlay relative abundance of both of these species enabling identification of the trends they were contributing to. As these species are both highly aggressive and territorial (Randall et al. 1997, Letourneur 2000), the influence that their abundance has on species richness of the rest of the fish assemblage was tested using linear regression analysis.

In order to link the benthic and fish data, bubble plots were used to overlay relative value of benthic variables on the fish species MDS plot. This allowed identification of any trends driven by the benthic variables. The BEST BIO-ENV routine was then run

using Spearman rank correlation between benthic Euclidean distance and fish species Bray-Curtis similarity matrices to identify the benthic variable or group of variables that best explained the patterns in the fish species MDS plot (Clarke & Warwick 2001a). The significance of this result was tested using a permutation test.

4.4 Results

The benthos at this location in Mauritius experienced very little change through the 10-year study period. Principal Components Analysis indicates a trend along the shore line, from Transects 1 and 2 to Transects 4 and 5, but little change with time (Figure 4.2). The main factors influencing this pattern along PC1 (~57% of variation) are higher cover of live branching and plating corals towards the southern end of the study site, or away from the ski lane, and higher cover of dead substratum towards the north (Figure 4.2). Percent cover of other live substratum (mainly massive corals) appears to be driving patterns along PC2, however this cover was often low. These trends are further highlighted by looking at overall percent live coral cover. The decline along the coast in a northerly direction is significant ($F_{4,37} = 13.9$, p<0.001), Tukey's test indicating that T1 differs from T4 and T5, and T2 differs from T3, T4 and T5, whereas no such trend is found through time (p = 0.70)(Figure 4.3a). The greater cover at near shore locations compared to seaward locations (A-B) in 1994 was not nearly as great in subsequent years, and the overall difference between sites A and B and through time is not significant (p = 0.15 and p = 0.85)(Figure 4.3b).



Figure 4.2. Correlation-based Principal Components Analysis of $log(\chi + 1)$ transformed and normalised environmental data.



Figure 4.3. Percent cover of total live coral in (a) each year by transect and (b) each year by position from the shore.

The timed swim presence / absence surveys demonstrate remarkable stability in overall fish species richness through time (Table 4.1). Stability is consistent in nearly all the key families involved, including those dependant on live coral such as the chaetodontids. Notable declines in number of species are seen for lethrinids, lutjanids (though both were already in low number) and in particular serranids, all of which are common fishery target species (Table 4.1).

Conversely, at the level of stations, a number of samples depart negatively from the expected values of AvTD, suggesting some samples may be taxonomically depauperate (Figure 4.4a). The only significant decline in the ANOVA model was for the factor year ($F_{4,25} = 3.22$, p = 0.03) and Tukey's pair-wise comparisons indicates that this was influenced by lower values in 1997 versus 2005 (p = 0.03). Much less departure from expected values is noticed for VarTD (Figure 4.4b), however a weak significant difference is detected for the factor transect ($F_{4,25} = 2.95$, p = 0.04), which is driven by a difference between Transect 1 and 3 (p = 0.04).

The fish species MDS plot indicates a very similar pattern to that found in the benthic PCA, some difference in years, but an overall trend along the coast from T1 and T2 to T4 and T5 (Figure 4.5a). Samples from T1 and T2 are located in the bottom left side of the plot for all years, with samples from more northerly transects located to the top and right of the plot. This pattern is highlighted by the ANOSIM results, with significant differences for Year and Transect, but not Position on the reef (Table 4.2). Pair-wise testing identified 1994 departing from all other years and 2005 from 1996 and 1997. Pair-wise tests for Transect identified T1 departing from T4 and T5, and T2 from T4 (Table 4.2).

 Table 4.1. Reef fish species richness from presence / absence timed swim data at

 level of whole assemblage (S) and within selected families.

	1994	1995	1996	1997	2005
Total species richness (S)	104	102	110	99	101
Acanthuridae	7	9	8	8	7
Balistidae	2	1	2	1	3
Chaetodontidae	8	9	8	11	10
Holocentridae	3	4	5	4	3
Labridae	19	22	21	24	20
Lethrinidae	3	3	2	2	2
Lutjanidae	1	0	2	0	0
Monacanthidae	4	5	5	3	5
Mullidae	6	5	4	5	7
Pomacentridae	13	13	12	12	14
Scaridae	7	7	9	7	6
Serranidae	7	3	4	4	1
Siganidae	1	1	1	0	1



Figure 4.4. Funnel plots of (a) average taxonomic distinctness and (b) variation in taxonomic distinctness of each sampling station (belt transects) within each year with mean and 95% confidence limits from expected values using master taxonomy aggregation file.



Figure 4.5. (a) Non-metric Multi-Dimensional Scaling (MDS) plot of fish assemblages at each of the ten stations (belt transects) within each of the five sample years based on Bray-Curtis similarity measures. (b) Bubble plots for *Stegastes lividus* and (c) *Stegastes nigricans* over species MDS sample points indicating patterns driven by their presence. Abundance at each sample station given below station name (scale of bubbles: 0-20). Bubble plots for cover of (d) branching coral, (e) dead substrate and (f) plating coral indication which patterns in the species MDS are driven by these benthic variables. Percent cover at each station given below station name (scale of bubbles: 0-100%).

Table 4.2. Analysis of Similarity (ANOSIM) outputs for the fish sampling stations.Global and pair-wise test results given for each of the three factors in the design.

Factor	Global R	Significance	Pair-wise test
Year	0.167	P<0.01	1994 diff to all,
			2005 diff to 1996 & 1997
Transect	0.335	P<0.01	T1 diff to T4 & T5
			T2 diff to T4
Position	0.022	ns	

SIMPER analysis, for the two years and transects that differed the greatest from one another, highlighted that *Stegastes lividus* followed by *S. nigricans* were contributing by far the greatest to the observed differences (Table 4.3). Pomacentrids and more mobile scarids, acanthurids and wrasses make up the majority of the remaining species contributing 60% of the differences (Table 4.3). The trends driven by *S. lividus* and *S. nigricans* are highlighted by the bubble plots (Figure 4.5b and c), the former being more dominant in the southerly sites that have greater live coral cover (Figure 4.3a), whereas the latter is more dominant in the northerly sites. Furthermore, and likely exacerbating the patterns, is that the abundance of *S. lividus* but not *S. nigricans* is negatively correlated with overall fish species richness, though the trend is not consistently significant among all years (Figure 4.6).

Bubble plots overlaying percent cover of benthic variables on the fish species MDS further highlight these trends; samples to the bottom left of the plot being dominated more by live branching and plating corals (Figure 4.5d and f), whereas samples to the right of the plot have a greater cover of dead substratum (Figure 4.5e). Rank correlation of benthic variables to the fish species data indicates that the best single and significant (BioEnv Rho statistic: p<0.01) benthic variable driving the patterns in the fish data is the percent cover of live branching coral (r = 0.36).

Table 4.3. SIMPER outputs for greatest pair-wise differences in year and transect identified by ANOSIM. Species that contributed 60% of the overall difference are listed in descending order of most contribution.

Year (1994 & 20	05)	Transect (T1 & T4)		
Species	% Contribution	Species	% Contribution	
Stegastes lividus	10.64	Stegastes lividus	12.03	
Stegastes nigricans	10.07	Stegastes nigricans	10.84	
Dascyllus aruanus	4.77	Scarus psittacus	6.56	
Chromis viridis	4.21	Dascyllus aruanus	4.78	
Chlorurus sordidus	4.18	Chlorurus sordidus	3.92	
Ctenochaetus striatus	4.15	Scarus scaber	3.36	
Halichoeres scapularis	2.78	Ctenochaetus striatus	3.26	
Stegastes limbatus	2.65	Chromis viridis	3.18	
Scarus scaber	2.55	Halichoeres scapularis	2.79	
Acanthurus triostegus	2.41	Calotomus spinidens	2.69	
Gomphosus caeruleus	2.03	Thalassoma hardwickii	2.36	
Zebrasoma scopas	2.02	Stegastes limbatus	1.91	
Acanthurus nigrofuscus	1.95	Stethojulis bandanensis	1.76	
Stethojulis bandanensis	1.86	Epinephelus merra	1.68	
Chrysiptera unimaculata	1.82			
Oxymonacanthus longirostris	1.79			
Parupeneus macronema	1.43			



Figure 4.6. Regressions of *Stegastes lividus* density against fish species richness per station (belt transects) overall and for each year separately. R^2 and regression analysis results given on plots.

4.5 Discussion

Coral and fish communities appear to have experienced very little change over 10 years at this location in Mauritius, in contrast to other studied sites in the western Indian Ocean (Lindahl et al. 2001, McClanahan et al. 2002, Sheppard et al. 2002, Graham et al. 2006, Chapter 6 & Graham et al. 2008). Indeed the dominant trend at the study location appears to be along the coast, rather than through time. This suggests that the benthic community has changed very little through the 1998 ENSO event and the more minor 2003 and 2004 bleaching events. Unfortunately, reefs were not sampled between 1997 and 2005, which raises the question as to what happened during this sampling hiatus. The 1998 ENSO event resulted in less than 10% of coral colonies bleaching in Mauritius (Moothien Pillay et al. 2002). The 2003 bleaching event was most evident on the southwest of the island and a cyclone was implicated in the recovery of bleached corals (Turner & Klaus 2005, Ahamada et al. 2004). In 2004, 24% of corals bleached (McClanahan et al. 2005), however recovery was again high (Ahamada et al. 2004) and coral cover was higher than surveys conducted in 1992 (McClanahan et al. 2005). Although we can not discount the possibility of rapid recolonisation and recovery of the reef with the predominant fast growing Acropora colonies, the above studies and the remarkably similar cover estimates through time suggest a minor influence from bleaching events. Furthermore, Acropora is one of the most susceptible genera to thermal stress in the region (McClanahan et al. 2001, 2004) and has experienced large declines in many other locations (Goreau et al. 2000, McClanahan 2000b, McClanahan et al. 2001, Sheppard et al. 2002). Indeed, branching and plating corals now make up less than 1% of the benthos in the inner Seychelles, a decline of over 95% (Graham et al. 2006). Study and protection of this apparent refugia of sensitive, habitat forming corals in Mauritius is important given

predictions of further widespread degradation of the region in coming decades (Sheppard 2003).

The observed trend in benthic composition along the coast within the study location is most likely due to the dredged water ski lane that has fragmented the reef flat in this section, likely still results in increased sediment loads and is subject to high recreational use. The disparity between near shore and sea (A-B) stations that was quite apparent and a dominant driver of trends in 1994 (Adjeroud et al. 1998) is not as great on a temporal scale. Given the dominance of the reef flat by fast growing branching *Acropora* corals, it is possible that this may be due to some recovery following completion of the ski lane (1993-1994).

Although overall species richness of the reef fish assemblage has remained stable through this time period, the richness is fairly low compared to studies in nearby islands such as Réunion (Letourneur 1996a), Madagascar (Harmelin-Vivien 1989b) and Mayotte (Letourneur 1996b, Chabanet 2002). This is likely due to the surveys being restricted to the reef flat and because the reef is narrow along this section of the coast (Adjeroud et al. 1998), although reef flats of a similar width in Réunion had higher species richness (Letourneur 1996a). It could also be due to anthropogenic stress on the system through past dredging of the water ski lane and ongoing effects of fishing and recreational use. Indeed, many samples depart from expected values of taxonomic distinctness, and common fishery target species, in the families Lutjanidae, Lethrinidae and Serranidae, are missing. The years driving the main difference in taxonomic distinctness were 1997 and 2005, with 1997 having lower values. Although coral cover was lowest in this year, the magnitude was small and it is hard to ascribe

causation to this trend. Indeed, the stability of species richness from the presence / absence survey within families that often feed on (Chaetodontidae) or dwell in (Pomacentridae) live coral indicates that these patterns are likely not driven by ENSO effects on the benthos, in contrast to other locations in the region (Spalding & Jarvis 2002, Graham et al. 2006). As samples from all years demonstrated departure from expected values, it is more likely that long-term effects are causing the trends.

The overall pattern in the fish community from MDS analysis is remarkably similar to that for the benthos, with the greatest differences identified along the coast (Global R = 0.34) as opposed to time (Global R = 0.17). This lends further support to our conclusion that the ecosystem has remained stable through the ENSO event and other factors are likely responsible for the observed changes. The heavy fishing pressure in Mauritius (Turner & Klaus 2005) and the apparent loss of diversity in key fishery target groups, of which many species are piscivores, may be driving trends related to predation pressure. Studies of predator control on reefs indicate trends both at the level of single species (Graham et al. 2003), aggregated by size class (Dulvy et al. 2004), and evidence suggesting there is a direct relationship between gape size of the predator and size of prey (Mumby et al. 2006). Recruitment has also been shown to drive variation in fish assemblages on reefs (Doherty & Williams 1988), particularly following mass-events (Letourneur et al. 1998a). Given the time between surveys and the narrow spatial scale over which the study has been conducted, variable recruitment could influence the small temporal patterns detected, but is unlikely to be driving the larger trends along the coast. Given that the availability of habitat types has not altered a great deal, competition for resources among fish species may be expected to have remained stable through this time period. However changes in certain dominant species, such as *Stegastes*, could well be causing changes in the rest of the assemblage.

The coastline adjacent to the study site has experienced rapid development for tourism in the last 10-15 years, and this is likely to be exerting stress on the reef ecosystem. Along the 1-km stretch of coast, two large hotel complexes actively use the reef for water sports activities. High use of reefs for snorkelling and diving can have detrimental effects (Hawkins et al. 1999, Zakai & Chadwick-Furman 2002). In this case, however, the greatest effect is likely to be from the dredged water ski lane through the middle of the reef flat. Increased pollution, sedimentation and changes in current regimes are all likely to be effecting both the coral and fish assemblages, and may be partly responsible for the changes through time. However, the greatest effects of the ski lane appear to be along the coast in the survey area.

Both the benthic and fish communities display the strongest patterns along the coast from Transects 1 and 2 to Transects 4 and 5, with greater live coral to the south end of the study site away from the dredged area. Branching coral is likely to be causing the observed patterns in the fish assemblages given that it was best at predicting the patterns in the fish assemblage structure and because it provides important three-dimensional structure (Bellwood et al. 2004). Furthermore, this habitat is critical at the early life history stage when fish settle from the plankton; 65% settling directly into live coral (Jones et al. 2004).

The two species of *Stegastes* were influencing the greatest difference along the coast and through time in the MDS plots. Although the preferred habitat of both species is branching coral (Randall et al. 1997), it appears that *Stegastes lividus* dominates the area of the reef where branching coral is most abundant. This may be explained by *S. lividus* growing to a larger maximum size than *S. nigricans* (Randall et al. 1997); size of individual correlating to size of territory and dominance over more favourable habitats in this genus (Robertson 1996, Letourneur 2000). If the relationship between *S. lividus* abundance and overall fish species richness is causal, this one species of small reef fish appears to account for a large portion of the variation in fish species richness; benthic variables and *Stegastes nigricans* demonstrates no measurable control. Although the competitive dominance of larger species of *Stegastes* over abundance of other *Stegastes* species in the same area has been identified (Robertson 1996), and the influence of territorial pomacentrids on behaviour and foraging of individual species of other reef fish is well documented (e.g. Jones 2005), we believe this influence on the species richness of an entire fish community has not been demonstrated before.

Dominance of space by branching coral and *Stegastes lividus* clearly contributes to the patterns in the MDS plot but not necessarily in the direction one may expect from previous positive relationships between coral cover and fish species richness (Bell & Galzin 1984). Areas of high cover of live branching coral in Mauritius are dominated by large numbers of *S. lividus* and their territorial behaviour may actually reduce species richness, such that the relationship between coral cover and fish species richness is negative. Consequently, mono-specific stands of branching coral result in an ecosystem that is more susceptible to competitive dominance by fewer species (Almany 2004). Indeed, dominance of a reef by one main taxa of coral will not necessarily promote high species diversity, rather a range of different taxa and habitat

types is expected to provide more niches and a more diverse ecosystem (Almany 2004). This will be particularly true for small-bodied species of reef fish that are closely reliant on habitat for shelter and food and are often specialised (Munday & Jones 1998).

The western Indian Ocean has suffered the greatest effects from coral bleaching in the Indo-Pacific (Goreau et al. 2000) and future bleaching is predicted to result in the 'extinction' of these reefs in coming decades (Sheppard 2003). However, various locations in the southern western Indian Ocean, including Mauritius, currently seem to be a refuge from coral bleaching, demonstrating "protection" from serious thermal stress (Obura 2005) and host high coverage of thermally sensitive corals that still support specialist fish species. This study has demonstrated minimal community change through time on a coral reef in Mauritius, and identified other factors likely to be driving trends. Such data and future monitoring in these areas of bleaching refugia will be important to understand natural variation in fish communities and associated management implications.

4.6 Acknowledgements

This work was funded by the Leverhulme Trust, Eppley Foundation, the Marine Science for Management Program (MASMA) of the Western Indian Ocean Marine Science Association and the Fisheries Society of the British Isles. Many thanks to Hotel Victoria, in particular Hervé Doboscq for field support. We are grateful to Mehdi Adjeroud, Gilbert Poli, Bernard Salvat, Michel Porcher and Nyawira Muthiga for assistance with field studies. We thank the Mauritius Institute of Oceanography and Director, Dr. Bhikajee, for permission to undertake the work.

Chapter 5

Lag effects in the impacts of mass coral bleaching on coral reef fish, fisheries, and ecosystems⁴

5.1 Abstract

Recent coral bleaching episodes have led to wide-scale loss of reef corals and raised concerns over the effectiveness of existing conservation and management efforts. The 1998 bleaching event was most severe in the western Indian Ocean where coral declined by up to 90% in some locations. Using fisheries-independent data, we assessed the long-term impacts of this event in the Seychelles on fishery target species, the overall size structure of the fish assemblage, and the effectiveness of two marine protected areas (MPAs) in offering resilience to fish communities. Fishery-target species above size retained in fish traps showed little change in biomass between 1994 and 2005, indicating no current effect on fishery yields. Biomass remained higher in MPAs, indicating they are still effective in protecting fish stocks. However, the size structure of the fish communities, as described with size-spectra, changed in both fished areas and MPAs, with a decline in smaller fish (<30 cm) and an increase in larger fish (>45 cm). We believe this represents a time-lag response, due to fish that were lost to natural mortality and fishing no longer being replaced by

⁴ Published as: Graham NAJ, Wilson SK, Jennings S, Polunin NVC, Robinson J, Bijoux JP, Daw TM (2007) Lag effects in the impacts of mass coral bleaching on coral reef fish, fisheries, and ecosystems. Conservation Biology 21:1291-1300. NAJ Graham collected post-disturbance data, analysed and interpreted data and wrote the paper.

juveniles following the bleaching event. This effect is expected to be greater in terms of fisheries productivity and, because congruent patterns are observed for herbivores, suggests no long-term resilience in the MPAs. Corallivores and planktivores declined strikingly in numerical abundance, particularly in MPAs, which was associated with a similar pattern of decline in their preferred corals. We suggest that climate-mediated disturbances, such as coral bleaching, be at the fore of conservation planning for coral reefs.

5.2 Introduction

Coral reefs and their associated communities are threatened by anthropogenic and natural disturbances including overharvesting, sedimentation, pollution, disease, and warming waters (Hughes et al. 2003; Bellwood et al. 2004; Wilson et al. 2006). Although multiple stressors often act in synergy, climate-driven coral bleaching has emerged as one of the greatest threats to coral reef ecosystems (Hughes et al. 2003; Sheppard 2003). The 1998 bleaching event was the most severe on record, and in the most heavily affected region, the western Indian Ocean, coral cover declined by up to 90% (Sheppard 2003). Recovery from such severe disturbances is likely to be slow and affect other reef associated organisms.

The short-term effects of bleaching on fish are mainly manifest in species that specialize on live coral for diet, shelter, or recruitment habitat (reviewed by Wilson et al. 2006). In the medium- to long-term, declines in coral feeders can continue (Pratchett et al. 2006), but the greatest impacts occur if the physical matrix of the reef collapses, reducing overall species richness (Garpe et al. 2006; Glynn 2006, Graham et al. 2006). The medium to long-term impacts of bleaching on the size structure of

fish populations and assemblages are currently unknown (Wilson et al. 2006). These impacts are important because they determine the future viability of populations and assemblages and thus interact with fisheries management and conservation measures that may have been proposed or implemented prior to a bleaching event.

Assessments of the impacts of mass bleaching on fisheries and associated socioeconomic factors are currently limited to fisheries-dependant data and are considered small in relation to the direct impacts of fishing (McClanahan et al. 2002; Grandcourt & Cesar 2003). However, such assessments have all been made within 5 years of bleaching events. Because loss in structural complexity of the reef framework, which can take over 5 years (Wilson et al. 2006), is likely to affect small individuals and because these may take some time to recruit to the fishery, a lag effect may exist before the full impact of coral bleaching on reef fisheries is realised.

To conserve and manage reefs in the face of unpredictable disturbance, scientists and managers are increasingly proposing that no-take marine protected areas (MPAs) can increase resilience of the reef ecosystem (Hughes et al. 2003; Bellwood et al. 2004). Although it is clear that MPAs cannot prevent coral bleaching, the expected ecological communities in MPAs (e.g. a greater biomass, density and size of herbivorous fishes in regions where herbivores are fished) should promote coral recovery, thus providing spatial resilience in the form of populations that can reseed depleted areas (Hughes et al. 2003). There is some evidence of an initial build-up of fish biomass in MPAs even during habitat degradation (Hawkins et al. 2006), however both abundance and diversity may subsequently decline (Jones et al. 2004) and it is unclear how the size-structure of the fish assemblage may respond.

Using fisheries-independent data collected across the inner granitic islands of the Seychelles, we assessed the medium to long-term effects of mass coral bleaching on target reef fish above size retained in fish traps; overall size structure of the whole assemblage and particular feeding groups; and effectiveness of existing no-take MPAs in offering spatial resilience to the disturbance.

5.3 Methods

5.3.1 Study sites

The inner granitic islands of the Seychelles lie on the Mahé Plateau, a shallow, extensive, submarine platform that reaches mean depths of 44-65 m. The fringing reefs of the islands are typically shallow; the reef slope terminates at 6-13 m (Jennings et al. 1995). The 1998 bleaching event reduced live coral cover from 27 to 3%, an overall reduction of approximately 90%. Furthermore, coral mortality extended throughout the depth range of the coral reefs in this area. Recovery has been extremely slow, with collapse in the physical complexity of the reefs accelerating since 2003 (Engelhardt 2004) and mean coral cover attaining only 7.5% by 2005 (Graham et al. 2006). Other than climate-mediated bleaching mortality of corals, Seychelles reefs have experienced relatively little change in other stressors over the study period (Graham et al. 2006).

We conducted reef surveys in seven areas, around Mahé, Praslin and associated islands, which included most of the shallow fringing reef around the inner islands (for map see Jennings et al. 1995). Five fished areas were subject to similar levels of fishing intensity, whereas the other two areas were long-standing MPAs. Sainte Anne

Marine National Park was gazetted by the Government of Seychelles in 1973 as it is suitably located for tourist use, whereas Cousin Island Special Reserve was established by Birdlife International who bought the island in 1968 to protect an endangered species of bird (Jennings et al. 1996). Both MPAs are within the same geographic area as the other sites and have similar bathymetry and habitat types. There are significant differences in the diversity and biomass of fish between the two MPAs and the five fished areas but not within the MPAs or fished areas per se (Jennings et al. 1995). Spatial studies of MPA effects are expected to reflect the outcome of temporal studies (Russ et al. 2005); therefore, we believe that the higher levels of diversity and biomass in the MPAs reflect the effect of protection from fishing. Studies conducted within other reef systems have also highlighted the disproportionate effect of small amounts of fishing on fish communities and the more subtle impacts of further increases in fishing effort (Jennings & Polunin 1997; Hawkins & Roberts 2004). For these reasons, we assessed the interaction between bleaching impacts and management by comparing the two MPAs with the five fished areas before and after coral bleaching in 1998.

5.3.2 Assessment of fish assemblage and benthic community structure

We surveyed 21 sites, covering over 50,000 m² of coral reef habitat, at the same time of year in 1994 and 2005. Three sites were surveyed in each of the seven areas of coast described above, to include one site in each of three statistically different habitat types (Jennings et al. 1995); carbonate fringing reefs, granitic rocky reefs with coral growth and patch reef habitats on a sand, rubble or rock base. At each site 16 replicate 7 m radius point counts were completed using underwater visual census along the base of the reef slope. This technique maximised area coverage and replication, yet allowed for detailed searching for territorial species so that it provided a quantitative estimate of the number of fish of varying sizes and behaviour. We separated replicates by a random number of fin kicks with the proviso that each count was separated by a minimum of 15 m; thus a \sim 0.5-km stretch of reef was covered at each site.

The numerical abundance and size of 134 species of reef-associated, diurnally-active, noncryptic fish (>8 cm) was estimated within each count area. The time taken to complete a count varied depending on the number and diversity of fish present. Size estimation of fish was to the nearest centimetre, validated by estimating the lengths of a random selection of PVC pipes before the first count at each site. Length estimates were not consistently shorter or longer than actual lengths in both 1994 and 2005, with a mean error of 8 to 35 cm pipes of 3.1% and 2.2% respectively. Fish counts in 1994 were conducted by S.J. and in 2005 by N.A.J.G. Although small errors can exist among observers (Thompson & Mapstone 1997), bias among experienced divers has been shown to be the smallest component of variation in fish counts (Williams et al. 2006; McClanahan et al. 2007d). We converted data on fish counts to biomass with published length-weight relationships (Letourneur et al. 1998b; Froese & Pauly 2006). Species were assigned to feeding groups (herbivores, piscivores and mixed diet feeders; species consuming animal and plant material or fish and invertebrates) based on dietary literature and Froese and Pauly (2006).

After a fish count was complete, we assessed the benthic composition and structural complexity of the count area. Percent cover of benthic categories (live branching, plating, massive, corymbose and encrusting coral, soft coral, macroalgae, rock, rubble, sand and dead branching coral) was estimated visually and found to be

accurate when assessed against the line-intercept method (no significant difference, MANOVA $F_{6,35} = 0.56$, P = 0.76)(Wilson et al. 2007). We assessed structural complexity of the benthos with a 6 point visual scale and tested the accuracy of this method with the linear verses contour chain method; the two methods were highly correlated (linear regression r = 0.85 P < 0.001)(Wilson et al. 2007).

5.3.3 Establishment of fishery target species and size of first capture

Fish species that are targeted by the local artisanal fishery were assigned to three groups: primary targets, important targets, and occasional targets (Grandcourt 1999). There is a strong relationship between body depth of retained fish and the maximum width of trap meshes (Munro et al. 2003). In Seychelles the minimum hexagonal mesh diameter that is legal is 4 cm, but fishers often use trap meshes larger than this and fish are able to squeeze through meshes smaller than their specific body depth (Robichaud et al. 1999). We calculated size at first capture from length frequency data of 5651 trap-caught fish between January 1992 and June 1994 (SFA, unpublished data). Ninety-five percent of fish in the sample had a body depth of over 6.0 cm. Data on target fish species from the 1994 and 2005 reef surveys were filtered to exclude individuals with a body depth of < 6 cm for species level and aggregated feeding group analyses to assess the impact of the bleaching event on the dominant inshore trap fishery.

5.3.4 Data analysis

Along with structural complexity, we categorized live corals into two groups; (1) complex; branching, plating, and corymbose functional forms, which offer the most structure for other organisms to live in (Jones et al. 2004) and are generally the

favoured corals for diet and habitat specialists (Munday 2004; Pratchett 2005) and (2) simple; massive and encrusting functional forms which offer limited structure for other organisms to live in (Jones et al. 2004). We assessed differences between years, habitat types, and management status (fished versus protected) with three-way crossed fixed-effects orthogonal analysis of variances (ANOVAs). Homogeniety of variances was assessed with Levene's test, and normality of the data was assessed with histograms and normal probability plots of the residuals. Counts of complex corals were square root transformed to meet assumptions. Tukeys post-hoc test was used to identify where differences occurred among habitats.

Changes in the biomass of individual species and aggregated feeding groups of fishery targets above size at first capture were also assessed with the same ANOVA design. At the species level, we used log transformation to meet the assumption of homogeneity of variances for a number of species. Ten species that still failed to meet assumptions could not be analysed (Table 5.1).

The overall size structure of the assemblage at each site (including size below first capture) was described using the slope of the abundance-size relationships of the assemblage (Dulvy et al. 2004; Graham et al. 2005). Slopes of the size spectra were calculated from linear regressions of $\log_{10} (x + 1)$ numbers per size class (5 cm) on the rescaled \log_{10} midpoint of each length class. Centring the independent variable provides values of mid-point height (community abundance) that are comparable among spectra. A steepening of the slope can be the result of a decrease in the number of large fish, an increase in the number of small fish, or both. Change in the slope and
midpoint height of the size spectra were assessed with the same ANOVA design described above.

To assess what was driving the observed trends in slopes of the size spectra, changes in the numerical abundance of fishes in individual size bins of 5 cm between 1994 and 2005 were assessed for the entire assemblage and for five key feeding groups: mixed diet feeders, piscivores, herbivores, corallivores and planktivores. To partition any effects of marine protection and habitat type, we plotted data separately by management status and within this by habitat type.

5.4 Results

Structural complexity of the benthos declined between years ($F_{1,30} = 19.94, p < 0.001$), but did not vary with habitat or protection (Figure 5.1a). The cover of live complex corals fell by over 95% (Figure 5.1b)($F_{1,30} = 100.22, p < 0.001$), with the greatest reductions on carbonate habitats (significant interaction: $F_{2,30} = 3.71, p < 0.05$) and greater reductions on reefs in MPAs than fished areas ($F_{1,30} = 7.30, p < 0.05$). The greater impact in MPAs resulted from a higher initial cover of complex corals within MPAs in 1994, which declined to a similar base level (<1%) in 2005, irrespective of whether the site was in an MPA or fished. Cover of simple corals remained relatively stable between 1994 and 2005, with no significant factors in the model (Figure 5.1c).



Figure 5.1. Change in (a) structural complexity, (b) complex corals (coral cover) and(c) simple corals (coral cover) between 1994 and 2005 for three habitat types(carbonate, granite, patch) and two management scenarios (fished, protected).

The biomass of individual target fish species above size at first capture showed variable trends between years; some increased, some decreased, and over 70% did not change significantly (Table 5.1). The entire target assemblage and mixed diet feeders showed greater biomass in MPAs than in fished areas ($F_{1,30} = 28.29$, p < 0.001 and $F_{1,30} = 14.44$, p = 0.001 respectively), but no trends between years or among habitat types (Figure 5.2a, b). Piscivore biomass did not differ among habitats, but differed between years ($F_{1,30} = 4.69$, p < 0.05) and with protection ($F_{1,30} = 16.65$, p < 0.001). A significant year-protection interaction term ($F_{1,30} = 5.49$, P < 0.05) showed that the main change between years was associated with a decreased biomass in MPAs (Figure 5.2c). Herbivore biomass was greater in 2005 ($F_{1,30} = 4.67$, p < 0.05) and in MPAs ($F_{1,30} = 11.65$, p = 0.002) and had no interaction or habitat effect (Figure 5.2d). These results indicate that although there were some small changes between years for certain groups, MPAs continued to support a higher biomass of targeted reef fish than fished areas (Figure 5.2).

Table 5.1. Change in biomass and results of univariate three-factor crossed analysis

of variance for primary, important and occasional target fish species above size at first

capture.^a

	Size at	Piomoco	Piomasa		Voor	Habitat	Drotoction
Species	capture	(g) 1994	(g) 2005	Δ	(1,30 df)	(2,30 df)	(1,30 df)
Drimory Torgota							
	25 5	41.41	2407		0.75	2.01	11 20***
Aprion virescens	25.5cm	4141	3497	-	0.75	2.01	11.30***
	20.1cm	100	0	-	2.10	0.65	0.17
Chiorurus soraiaus	19.2cm	/0/3	/309	+	0.11	0.75	0.03
Luijanus bonar	18.9cm	966	1308	+	1.63	1.74	1.83
Scarus ghobban	16./cm	1137	2708	+	4.79*	2.73	6.93*
Scarus rubroviolaceus	18./cm	8/1	5079	+	4.16*	0.35	0.32
Siganus sutor	15.4cm	338	0	-	2.79	1.12	0.56
Important targets							
Acanthurus tennentii ^b	15.3cm	332	2307	+	1.06	0.34	0.08
Anyperodon leucogrammicus ^b	24.2cm	287	37	-	3.64	0.27	0.09
Calotomus carolinus ^b	16.0cm	79	1211	+	3.78	0.03	2.67
Cephalopholis argus ^b	20.9cm	3063	988	-	9.44**	0.32	1.32
Cephalopholis miniata	21.4cm	75	259	+	2.50	1.39	0.03
<i>Cetoscarus bicolour</i> ^b	17.3cm	410	0	-	15.45***	0.20	4.14
Cheilinus fasciatus ^b	19.0cm	219	66	-	4.95*	0.13	0.05
Cheilinus trilobatus	17.7cm	1963	1281	-	1.67	0.55	2.91
Chlorurus gibbus	17.5cm	1282	1138	-	0.07	2.59	0.96
Ctenochaetus striatus	13.8cm	3703	1035	-	6.57*	0.25	5.24*
Epinephelus fasciatus	22.3cm	59	159	+	1.46	0.18	0.07
Epinephelus merra ^b	22.1cm	58	32	-	0.27	2.36	2.00
Leptoscarus vaigiensis	21.8cm	77	478	+	1.45	4.01*	0.70
Lethrinus enigmaticus	16.7cm	13	52	+	0.52	0.96	0.36
Lethrinus harak	18.4cm	2594	2659	+	0.03	0.67	2.90
Lethrinus lentjan ^f	16.7cm	27	93	+	3.03	3.36* ^{, c}	7.61**
Lethrinus mahsena	15.9cm	119	68	-	0.70	0.18	0.02
Lethrinus nebulosus ^b	17.2cm	139	734	+	8.43**	1.62	3.52
<i>Lethrinus obsoletus</i> ^b	18.3cm	1381	421	-	4.20*	0.08	12.71***
Lethrinus olivaceus ^b	20.8cm	70	254	+	0.92	0.11	1.64
Lutjanus fulviflamma ^b	20.2cm	1206	692	-	1.31	3.19	5.45*
Lutjanus gibbus ^b	16.2cm	1257	684	-	0.28	1.07	0.31
Lutjanus kasmira	18.5cm	29	9	-	0.02	1.07	0.02
Lutjanus rivulatus	16.1cm	133	51	-	0.00	0.31	0.00
Macolor niger ^g	16.6cm	478	158	-	3.93	4.02* ^{, c}	0.09
Monotaxis grandoculis	15.7cm	325	723	+	0.93	0.43	0.07
Mulloidichthys flavolineatus ^b	25.5cm	366	31	-	1.82	0.26	3.43
Parupeneus barberinus ^b	21.9cm	1200	529	-	0.64	1.05	1.57
Parupeneus ciliatus ^b	21.8cm	1006	797	-	0.37	0.43	0.11
Parupeneus cyclostomus ^b	22.7cm	196	50	-	1.69	1.13	0.00
Parupeneus macronemus	21.4cm	410	139	-	2.46	1.52	0.10
Parupeneus rubescens ^b	20.2cm	17	25	+	0.24	0.40	1.57
Plectorhinchus orientalis	20.8cm	823	610	-	0.70	1.21	1 44

Plectorhinchus schotaf ^b	18.7cm	397	721	+	0.14	0.06	0.14
Scarus caudofasciatus	17.2cm	117	642	+	1.92	1.07	0.19
Scarus falcipinnis ^b	17.4cm	200	291	+	0.01	0.49	0.50
Scarus frenatus ^h	19.1cm	1882	660	-	15.66***	1.17	13.57***
Scarus globiceps	18.3cm	189	667	+	0.74	0.34	0.07
Scarus niger ^{i, j}	17.6cm	3692	5583	+	3.67	2.45	3.16
Scarus prasiognathos	17.8cm	1080	4357	+	5.43*	2.54	0.46
Scarus psittacus	19.4cm	574	840	+	0.42	0.75	3.72
Scarus scaber ^b	19.4cm	784	192	-	4.92*	4.90** ^{, d}	0.02
Scarus tricolour	20.5cm	570	338	-	0.47	0.70	4.50*
Scarus viridifucatus	17.5cm	48	42	-	0.00	0.15	1.10
Siganus argenteus ^b	18.1cm	1482	3238	+	2.63ns	0.33	3.46
Siganus puelloides ^{b, h}	16.4cm	2114	922	-	17.93***	0.84	1.78
Siganus stellatus ^k	14.9cm	477	589	+	0.09	4.33*	9.82**
Occasional targets							
Acanthurus leucosternon	12.1cm	886	393	-	0.45	1.96	0.43
Acanthurus lineatus ^b	14.1cm	247	278	+	0.28	3.43* ^{, e}	1.69
Acanthurus nigrofuscus	15.1cm	511	484	-	0.06	0.43	0.02
Aethaloperca rogaa ^b	17.3cm	210	784	+	0.61	0.35	4.68*
Chlorurus atrilunula ^b	18.4cm	731	2187	+	4.01	1.37	1.40
Ctenochaetus binotatus	13.2cm	20	42	+	0.40	0.24	0.72
Ctenochaetus strigosus ^b	12.8cm	1045	382	-	7.51**	1.41	3.01
Epinephelus caeruleopunctatus	23.2cm	110	227	+	2.51	1.60	2.07
Hipposcarus harid ^b	18.9cm	3621	3160	-	2.91	0.31	2.38
Scolopsis frenatus ^{b, h}	20.7cm	2922	2303	-	7.70**	1.22	0.76

^a Values given for year, habitat and protection are F ratios. Probability results: *** p < 0.001; ** p < 0.01; * p< 0.05; no asterisk, not significant. Cephalopholis urodeta, Diagramma pictum, Epinephelus hexagonatus, E. spilotoceps, E. tukula, Lethrinus rubrioperculatus, L. argentimaculatus, Lutjanus monostigma, Oxycheilinus diagrammus and Paracanthurus hepatus were not analysed as assumptions could not be met due to too many zero's in counts.

 ^b Log₁₀ transformation necessary,
 ^c Tukey's output: Co>Gr, ^d Tukey's output: (Co=Gr)>Pa, ^e Tukey's output:Gr>(Co=Pa),
 ^f Significant year*habitat interaction due to higher biomass in carbonate reefs in 2005, but lower biomass in granite and patch reefs.

^g Significant year*habitat interaction due to a greater biomass in granite reefs than carbonate and patch reefs in 1994, but similar in 2005.

^h Significant year*protection interaction due to a greater decline in biomass in protected than fished areas between years,

¹ Significant three-way interaction due to greater changes in carbonate reefs than granite and patch reefs for both year and protection,

^j Levene's test could only be passed at 0.036, so significance was set at 0.03 for this species.

^k Significnat three-way interaction due to a greater biomass in granite and patch reefs than carbonate reefs in protected areas, particularly in 2005.



Figure 5.2. Change in biomass of fishery target species above size at first capture between 1994 and 2005 for (a) whole fishery target species assemblage, (b) mixed diet feeders, (c) piscivores, and (d) herbivores in three habitat types (carbonate, granite, patch) and under two types of management (fished, protected).

The slope of the size spectra became less steep from 1994 to 2005 in all but one fished granite site (Figure 5.3a). This trend between years ($F_{1,30} = 18.90$, p < 0.001) did not vary among habitats and was not affected by management status (Figure 5.3b). The height of the size spectra did not differ between years or among habitats; however, there was an effect of management status ($F_{1,30} = 17.53$, p < 0.001) that showed a greater abundance of fish in MPAs.

The decreasing steepness of the size spectra slope was a result of a relative decline in smaller fish (<30 cm) and increase in larger fish (>45 cm) in the assemblage. This trend was consistent for both fished areas and MPAs (Figure 5.4a). Different size classes in the mixed diet group showed various trends, and there was no common pattern apparent (Figure 5.4b). The piscivores also responded variably; however, medium size classes (20-50 cm) tended to decline, especially in MPAs (Figure 5.4c). The herbivores declined in smaller size classes (<30 cm) and increased in larger size classes (>40 cm) in both fished areas and MPAs (Figure 5.4d). Corallivores and planktivores consistently and markedly declined, which was greatest in MPAs (Figure 5.4e, f). Although there was some variation, particularly for the mixed diet feeders and piscivores, the trends were generally similar among habitat types.



Figure 5.3. (a) Change in the slope of size spectra of the fish assemblage for individual survey sites. Sites falling above the 1:1 trend line had a lower slope value in 2005. (b) Mean change in slope of size spectra of the fish assemblage by habitat type (carbonate, granite, patch) and management status (fished, protected).



Figure 5.4. Change in log abundance of individual size classes of fish for (a) the entire assemblage, (b) mixed diet feeders, (c) piscivores, (d) herbivores, (e) corallivores, and (f) planktivores by habitat type (carbonate, granite, patch). Plots in left hand column are fished sites, plots in right hand column are protected sites. Size of first capture range indicated on plot (a) for fishery target species. Maximum size detected indicated with vertical dashed line on plots (e) and (f).

5.5 Discussion

We document an impending recruitment failure to reef-fishery size classes in the Seychelles following a major coral bleaching event. This is because the decline in juvenile abundance (<30 cm) in the assemblage will ultimately lead to declines in adult abundance, as is consistently shown in fisheries (Hilborn & Walters 1992). Although our data predict this effect will happen, the lack of time series data and knowledge of the growth trajectories of individual species prevent us from projecting the likely time-span over which this effect will impact larger size classes. Our data also highlight a potential decline in the resilience of coral communities within MPAs due to the decline in smaller size classes of herbivorous fishes in these management areas.

There were only minor changes in the biomass of target species available to the Seychelles artisanal trap fishery following the 1998 mass bleaching event. However, these small changes belie apparent system-wide failures of recruitment to fished size classes that are expected to have long-term impacts on the viability of populations, assemblages, and the fishery. Our results suggest that the current biomass and reef fishery are maintained primarily by the growth of fishes that had already recruited to the reefs at the time of the bleaching event, and/or before topographic structure was reduced, and have now grown sufficiently to reach fishable size. This corroborates other evidence for there being no short-term change in yield associated with mass bleaching (McClanahan et al. 2002; Grandcourt & Cesar 2003).

The surveyed MPAs still supported a higher biomass of target species above size of first capture than fished areas. The greater size-spectra height in the Seychelles MPAs

is consistent with the expected effects of reduced fishing mortality on abundance (McClanahan & Graham 2005). However, the reduction in slope of the size spectra was consistent across all but one site and similar for both the fished areas and MPAs suggesting the same drivers are affecting the size distribution of fish in these areas and are unrelated to fishing pressure.

Plotting each individual size class bin by its change in numerical abundance highlights that the change in the slope of the size spectra was driven by both an increase in large individuals (>45 cm) and a decrease in smaller individuals (<30 cm). Because fishing pressure has not changed, the most likely drivers for the increase in larger-bodied fishes are increased growth and/or survivorship. The decline in smallerbodied individuals could be driven by various processes. We consider consistently high mortality of small and juvenile fish in the years since the bleaching event the most likely explanation, based on the expectation that the larger fishes have retained their abundance and have good feeding conditions, and that many smaller species and individuals are most dependent on refuge availability and live coral (Munday & Jones 1998; Dulvy et al. 2004; Graham et al. 2006). Furthermore, the diversity and numerical abundance of fish 10-30cm in length was correlated with structural complexity in 2005 (Wilson et al. 2007) and showed marked decline between 1994 and 2005 following a loss in structure. While the existence of several years of high larval supply prior to the bleaching event and several years of poor larval supply postbleaching could also account for the patterns we observed, the latter possibly as a result of reduced live coral as a settlement cue, we consider this unlikely when the effects are manifest for all species and at a large spatial scale. Based on the size-based analyses, we predict a time lag effect whereby the full effects of the bleaching on the fringing-reef fishery species and the fish assemblage as a whole are yet to be realised.

The MPAs seem to offer no long-term resilience to the populations and assemblages. Although the MPAs may meet short-term conservation objectives by reducing fishing mortality on larger fish, future replacement by small fish may be insufficient to maintain abundance over the long-term. The collapse of the physical structure of Seychelles reefs accelerated as recently as 2003 (Engelhardt 2004), so the longer-term consequences of this process are yet to manifest in larger size classes. The lag effect of reduced replenishment will likely be longer in MPAs than in fished areas because mortality rates are likely to be lower and age structures of the populations therefore extended. However, greater predator biomass inside the MPAs could result in higher rates of predation mortality on smaller individuals (Graham et al. 2003; Mumby et al. 2006), ultimately increasing the severity of the lag impact.

The effects on assemblage productivity and hence on fishery yield are expected to be even more substantial than the effects on biomass because the production to biomass (P/B) ratios of smaller individuals and species are higher. Therefore a community of a given biomass that is dominated by larger species will be relatively less productive (Kerr & Dickie 2001). The observed changes in the size-spectra therefore suggest that total production will fall faster than biomass, owing to a decline in abundance of smaller fish and smaller size classes.

The responses of mixed diet feeders and piscivores varied among size classes. Some of the families that make up these groups, for example lethrinids and lutjanids, are generalist in their juvenile habitat use and often associate with soft-bottom habitats (Dorenbosch et al. 2005). Therefore, they may not be as reliant on the reef structure for predator evasion. Within the piscivores there was a decline in the number of fishes in medium size classes (20-50 cm), which was most pronounced in the MPAs. The consistent nature of this decline among habitats suggests a deterministic driver. Piscivores on coral reefs tend to select prey according to their gape size (Mumby et al. 2006) and reef fish predator-prey dynamics are highly size structured (Dulvy et al. 2004), so it is likely that the substantial decline in smaller size classes of the assemblage, which was most evident for the MPAs, may have reduced prey availability for medium-sized Piscivores and thus caused an indirect decline in their numbers.

Of the indirect effects of bleaching that we have identified, one of the most significant for the reef ecosystem as a whole is likely to be the substantial decline in smaller size classes of herbivorous fishes in both fished and protected areas. The surveyed assemblage consisted mainly of surgeonfishes (Acanthuridae) and parrotfishes (Scaridae), but also some rabbitfishes (Siganidae) and two species of damselfishes (Pomacentridae). Separate plots of the changes in size classes over time of acanthurids, scarids, or species that span a large number of size classes showed the same patterns of reduction in small size classes. Many of these species use the reef for habitat as juveniles (Dorenbosch et al. 2005), and because the trend was consistent among habitats and management strategies, it is likely that habitat degradation, which leads to greater competition and predation (Hixon & Jones 2005), is the cause of decline in smaller sizes. Acanthurids can live over 25 years and scarids live 5-20 years (Choat & Robertson 2002), so individuals currently contributing to the increase in numerical abundance of large size classes likely recruited prior to the 1998 bleaching event or the collapse of the reef framework in 2003 (Engelhardt 2004). When disturbances are extensive and occur over large spatial scales, increased abundance of large herbivores can result from faster growth rates (Hart & Russ 1996) and potentially higher survivorship associated with greater food abundance. However, fewer fish in smaller size classes are surviving to replace adults, and a subsequent decline in overall biomass of herbivores seems likely. Herbivores are common targets of the trap fishery in the Seychelles (Grandcourt 1999), and yields have remained stable through the bleaching event (Grandcourt & Cesar 2003), despite the increase in larger fish we identified. This is consistent because the decline in small-sized fish extends up to 30 cm, resulting in no substantial increase in biomass above size at first capture.

Herbivores are important to the resilience of coral reefs because they control algae and promote coral recovery (Bellwood et al. 2004; Mumby et al. 2006). Our results suggest that mass bleaching and the loss of structural complexity may ultimately lead to a reduction in the abundance of herbivores, including larger size classes, and as such, resilience of reefs may decline over the long-term. Because the trend is also apparent in the sampled MPAs, our data suggest the MPAs offer no long-term refuge from the impacts of coral bleaching.

What are the consequences for reef fisheries? In Seychelles 50-60% of trap fishing effort occurs close to the shore and within the depth range of the data collected in this study (T.D., unpublished data), suggesting that a future decline in biomass of target species will affect the trap fisheries. However, given that a substantial portion of trap

fishing grounds lie on deeper shoals and submerged reefs of the Mahé Plateau, there is potential for a degree of spatial mobility in the fishery if declines in target-species biomass are restricted to the shallow fringing reefs. If other locations suffer coral mortality and collapse on the scale of the Seychelles, target species assemblages will likely respond in the same way. In locations where the topography does not allow for a diversity of demersal fishery habitats and depths and the entire demersal fishery is restricted to the inshore reef (e.g. Fiji; Jennings & Polunin 1997), the long-term impacts of bleaching on fishers could be more substantial.

The corallivores and planktivores demonstrated very large and consistent declines between years. Corallivores are well known to suffer declines and even local extinctions as a result of mass mortality of corals (Graham et al. 2006; Wilson et al. 2006; Pratchett et al. 2006, Chapter 2 & Graham 2007). The planktivores in our study were principally coral dwelling damselfish, which suffer large declines through coral mortality (Wilson et al. 2006). Furthermore, both groups have small body size, suggesting they are more reliant on the reef matrix to avoid predation (Munday & Jones 1998). The decline in both cases was greatest in the MPAs. Corallivore numbers declined from a mean of 31.7 to 5.3/site in fished areas and from 74.5 to 2.7/site in MPAs. Similarly, planktivore numbers declined from a mean of 90.3 to 44.4/site in fished areas and from 279.8 to 11.2/site in MPAs. These declines are associated with the greater cover of the complex coral category in the MPAs prior to the bleaching event, which is the preferred habitat of many specialist fish (Munday 2004; Pratchett 2005). The result is a subsequent homogenization of the MPAs and fished areas in terms of benthic cover and composition, and the numerical abundance of small specialized fish species post-bleaching.

In recent decades conservation of marine resources on coral reefs has focused on the use of MPAs. Previous studies have highlighted that reef fish diversity and abundance can be compromised in MPAs following coral mortality (Jones et al. 2004), and here we provide evidence that the size structure of fish assemblages are subject to the same long-term effects in MPAs and fished areas. Because future bleaching events seem inevitable (Sheppard 2003), the implementation of methods to ameliorate climatemediated disturbance should be treated as a priority in conservation and management plans for coral reefs. We recognise that some areas are less susceptible to climateinduced disturbance and some show greater recovery and therefore support the notion that MPAs should increasingly be sited in areas of resistance or resilience to bleaching to build up spatial resilience in the system (West & Salm 2003). In Seychelles the reefs north of Praslin and south of Mahé, and the granitic habitats in general are currently displaying the most recovery and the most stable fish populations (Graham et al. 2006) and would be suitable locations for future MPAs. Marine protected areas are not the only management tool available, however, and it is important to manage areas outside MPAs to minimise other stressors, such as overfishing and nutrient enrichment, to create conditions where a recovery may be possible if brood stocks are available.

5.6 Acknowledgements

This work was supported through grants from the British Overseas Development Administration (now DFID), the Leverhulme Trust, the Western Indian Ocean Marine Science Association, and the Fisheries Society of the British Isles. We thank the Seychelles Centre for Marine Research & Technology-Marine Parks Authority,

110

Seychelles Fishing Authority, and Nature Seychelles for technical and logistical assistance.

Chapter 6

Climate Warming, Marine Protected Areas and the Ocean-Scale Integrity of Coral Reef Ecosystems⁵

6.1 Abstract

Coral reefs have emerged as one of the ecosystems most vulnerable to climate variation and change. While the contribution of a warming climate to the loss of live coral cover has been well documented across large spatial and temporal scales, the associated effects on fish have not. Here, we respond to recent and repeated calls to assess the importance of local management in conserving coral reefs in the context of global climate change. Such information is important, as coral reef fish assemblages are the most species dense vertebrate communities on earth, contributing critical ecosystem functions and providing crucial ecosystem services to human societies in tropical countries. Our assessment of the impacts of the 1998 mass bleaching event on coral cover, reef structural complexity, and reef associated fishes spans 7 countries, 66 sites and 26 degrees of latitude in the Indian Ocean. Using Bayesian meta-analysis we show that changes in the size structure, diversity and trophic composition of the reef fish community have followed coral declines. Although the ocean scale integrity

⁵ Published as: Graham NAJ, McClanahan TR, MacNeil MA, Wilson SK, Polunin NVC, Jennings S, Chabanet P, Clark S, Spalding MD, Letourneur Y, Bigot L, Galzin R, Öhman MC, Garpe KC, Edwards AJ, Sheppard CRC (2008) Climate warming, marine protected areas and the ocean-scale integrity of coral reef ecosystems. PLoS ONE 3(8): e3039. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0003039. NAJ Graham collected data from 3 of the locations, coordinated collaborations and data compilation, analysed the data with MA MacNeil, interpreted the results and wrote the manuscript.

of these coral reef ecosystems has been lost, it is positive to see the effects are spatially variable at multiple scales, with impacts and vulnerability affected by geography but not management regime. Existing no-take marine protected areas still support high biomass of fish, however they had no positive affect on the ecosystem response to large-scale disturbance. This suggests a need for future conservation and management efforts to identify and protect regional refugia, which should be integrated into existing management frameworks and combined with policies to improve system-wide resilience to climate variation and change.

6.2 Introduction

Coral reefs are one of the ecosystems most threatened by climate variability and change (Walther et al. 2002; Hughes et al. 2003; Hoegh-Guldberg et al. 2007). Reef corals, the building blocks of carbonate reefs, have a restricted thermal tolerance, resulting in 'bleaching' events (loss of symbiotic algae) when sea surface temperatures rise above a given threshold (Brown 1997). This has contributed to widespread loss of live coral cover (Goreau et al. 2000; Gardner et al. 2003; Bellwood et al. 2004; Bruno & Selig 2007), the restructuring of benthic community composition (McClanahan et al. 2007a) and has resulted in dire predictions for the future persistence of coral-dominated ecosystems within decadal time scales (Hoegh-Guldberg 1999; Sheppard 2003). There is now a need to understand resultant large-scale implications for other components of the ecosystem, which, to date, have received limited attention or been the focus of local studies (Jones et al. 2004; Graham et al. 2006; Pratchett et al. 2008a). Assessing ecosystem trends and patterns at regional scales is necessary if informed management choices are to be made that will mitigate the effects of large-scale climate disturbance. Importantly, there is a

need to test key paradigms, such as the ability of no-take areas (NTAs) to enhance recovery from climate change impacts (Hughes et al. 2003), and the potential for herbivorous fish to increase in abundance following coral mortality and functionally compensate for increased algal coverage (Wilson et al. 2006).

At large scales, remote pristine areas may have a greater capacity to absorb climate impacts and maintain a coral dominated and diverse ecosystem (Sandin et al. 2008). However, most coral reef NTAs are small and embedded in heavily fished and degraded environments (Bellwood et al. 2004; McClanahan et al. 2007e). Assessing the importance of local management for conserving coral reefs in the context of global change has been identified as a key research challenge for coral reef scientists (Knowlton & Jackson 2008). Although there are expectations that NTAs will promote resilience and faster recovery from climate disturbance (Worm et al. 2006), site-specific studies suggest this may not be the case (Jones et al. 2004; Chapter 5 & Graham et al. 2007a; McClanahan 2008), and the effectiveness of such management needs to be assessed across regional spatial scales.

Grazing by herbivores, by creating space for invertebrate larval settlement, is thought to be key to maintaining reefs in a coral dominated state (Hughes 1994; Bellwood et al. 2004; Mumby et al. 2006). However, it is increasingly evident that the majority of herbivorous fish in the Indo-Pacific will crop turf algae, but feed less on or avoid erect macroalgae once it has developed (Bellwood et al. 2006a; Ledlie et al. 2007). Following large-scale disturbances that open up large amounts of space on reefs, such as mass coral bleaching, herbivores may become swamped by the biomass of the new algal resource (Williams et al. 2001) and reefs can progress on a trajectory to macroalgal dominance (Mumby et al. 2007a). It is therefore important to assess whether herbivorous reef fish increase in abundance following large-scale coral loss and thus have the ability to prevent reefs from becoming dominated by erect macroalgae.

Coral mortality through climate induced bleaching was particularly severe in the Indian Ocean in 1998, with ~45% of coral cover lost across the region (Hoegh-Guldberg 2004), although the effects were spatially variable (Goreau et al. 2000; McClanahan 2007a). We assess the longer-term effects of this event in fished areas and NTAs across 7 countries, 66 sites and 26 degrees of latitude. Specifically, we conducted a targeted research program whereby the original investigators who collected comprehensive benthic and fish assemblage data from Maldives, Chagos, Seychelles, Kenya, Tanzania, Mauritius, and Réunion in the mid-1990s repeated their surveys post-bleaching, in 2005. We use continuous model Bayesian meta-analysis to quantify effects of changes in live coral cover and physical complexity of reefs on the diversity, size structure, trophic structure and abundance of reef fish. The Bayesian approach not only structures the inherent uncertainty in monitoring data from multiple sources, but also allows belief statements to be made regarding future change (Clark 2005). With ever more frequent bleaching events predicted (Sheppard 2003), quantitative predictions regarding how fish will respond to future declines in coral cover over large spatial scales are needed to guide regional conservation planning, adaptation and mitigation strategies.

6.3 Methods

We identified all field studies that had comprehensively surveyed reef fish assemblages and associated benthic composition and structure from the western Indian Ocean region from 1990 to before the 1998 coral bleaching event (majority 1994-95). This resulted in eight separate large-scale studies (across seven countries). Original investigators returned to their study locations in 2005 to repeat the surveys, using field protocols identical to those used in the original surveys. The protocols were standardised within, rather than among study locations as it is more robust to quantify effect sizes in this way and then standardise when comparing among studies. Where the original investigator could not return, an experienced surveyor from the team repeated the work. An associated field study workshop for the project, which involved many of the researchers from the region, found experienced observer bias to be a very small component of the variation in fish counts (McClanahan et al. 2007d). All reef surveys were conducted on the reef flat or shallow reef slope. The abundance of all diurnally active, non-cryptic, reef-associated fish was assessed during each survey, however methods varied among study locations from point counts of differing dimensions to belt transects of differing dimensions. Replication also varied from 3 to 16. This resulted in a survey area per site of $\sim 200 \text{m}^2$ to $\sim 2500 \text{m}^2$. Benthic quantification also varied in spatial scale and from visual estimates to line intercept transects, but the results are expected to be comparable (Wilson et al. 2007). Estimates of change in live coral cover were calculated and plotted on a map by country and management strategy and at a more aggregated level with 95% confidence limits. Measures of structural complexity also varied and included visual assessments of reef topography, the linear versus contour method and measures of reef height. However these measures were found to be strongly correlated (Wilson et al. 2007) and these correlation coefficients were used to standardise them to a common scale. The relationship between percent change in coral cover and percent change in structural complexity was assessed by correlation analysis. The presence of variation in field methods is routine in meta-analytical studies, and thus the choice of effect size calculation and variance weighting is integral to the comparability of study results (Côté et al. 2005).

6.3.1 Effect size

Meta-analysis frequently employs unitless effect size metrics to standardize the information present among accumulated studies. The potential to observe changes in a before and after comparison can be greatly influenced by initial values at a given location; sites with larger initial values have a greater scope to reveal change than those with low values (Côté et al. 2005). To achieve a comparable metric at all locations and to account for initial cover / values, we calculated effect sizes as the percent change between the mid 1990s and 2005 (Kaiser et al. 2006);

$$\% difference \Delta = \left[\left(A_{a,i} - A_{b,i} \right) / A_{b,i} \right] \times 100 \tag{1}$$

where A_b and A_a were mean values at sites in the mid 1990's and 2005 respectively. We did not account for study duration (Côté et al. 2005) as we made the informed assumption that the greatest changes occurred in 1998 and our measures in the mid-1990's are an appropriate estimate of pre-bleaching conditions. Furthermore as sampling date was standardised for post-1998 surveys, any incorporation of duration could unduly bias effect sizes based on pre-disturbance study dates. Finally, we are estimating a magnitude of change, rather than a rate of change. See Côté et al. (2005) for use of rate of change metrics. We calculated individual effect sizes for change in coral cover, structural complexity, fish species richness, and fish density in four functional groups for which data were available at the majority of sites (obligate corallivores, herbivores, planktivores, and mixed-diet fishes assigned using regional fish identification guides, published literature and http://www.fishbase.org), for four size classes of fish species (maximum attainable size <20 cm, 21-40 cm, 41-60 cm, and >60 cm) and for the same four functional groups listed above within the <20 cm maximum attainable size category. Herbivores include all those species that feed on algae and or detrital aggregates from the epilithic algal matrix. Because percent-change losses have a strongly right-tailed distribution, i.e. a maximum potential decline of 100%, but a potentially limitless increase, we transformed all of the Δ^T values to be balanced around zero following Kaiser et al. (2006):

$$\Delta^T = \log_{\mathcal{O}}(1 + [\Delta/101]). \tag{2}$$

This transformation prevents overestimates of increases and underestimates of declines, where a maximum potential decline has a value of -4.6 and a maximum increase +4.6. The transformation approximately normalises the error distribution and stabilises its variance (Kaiser et al. 2006). Raw data were available for many of the original studies, allowing us to estimate average effect-sizes at some locations. Because data were collected from the same sites but not the same transects, we estimated effect-size means and variances at these sites using non-parametric bootstrapping of the before and after observations (R=9999) (Efron & Tibshirani 1993) with (1) and (2), by randomly matching before-after pairs at each iteration. This

generated sample means and expected variance ranges for many, but not all, of the study locations.

6.3.2 Bayesian meta-analysis

We evaluated evidence for a regional relationship between coral cover and reef fish using an area-variance weighting scheme implemented in a Bayesian meta-analysis framework. The use of area surveyed as a weighting scheme in coral reef metaanalyses has become widespread because actual variance will depend on individual measurement size and replication (Côté et al. 2005). The Bayesian approach allowed us to model the hierarchical structure of the data, estimate the magnitude of regionalscale effects, and to specify a level of uncertainty about individual study estimates. By sharing information among studies, this approach maximized the strength of inferences made across the entire range of meta-data used, allowing us to make probability statements about the likelihood of reef fish declines given potential future changes in coral conditions. Although we tested five different ecologically meaningful response trajectories (asymptotic, quadratic, logistic, linear and exponential), we found no model-based evidence for non-linear responses based on Bayesian Information Criterion (BIC) scores among candidate models. We therefore quantified the regional fish community response between the mid 1990s and 2005 using a null model (intercept-only; M₀) and exchangeable linear model (M_c) of coral effect size β_{coral} ,

$$\Delta_{f,j}^{T} \sim N(\theta_{f,j}, \sigma_{jf}^{2}), \qquad (3)$$

$$\Delta_{c,j}^{T} \sim N(\theta_{c,j}, \sigma_{jc}^{2}), \qquad (4)$$

$$\sigma_{j}^{2} = \begin{cases} \left[\frac{\log(area_{\max})}{\log(area_{j})} \right] \sigma_{j^{*}}^{2}, & \text{if original data unavailable} \\ \left[\frac{\log(area_{\max})}{\log(area_{j})} \right] \sigma_{j^{b}}^{2}, & \text{if original data available} \end{cases}$$
(5)

$$\theta_{f,j} \sim N(\beta_0 + \beta_{coral}(\theta_{c,j}), \sigma_{\theta}^2), \tag{6}$$

where Δ_{fj}^{T} is the study point estimate of the fish effect size θ_{fj} from the *j*th study; Δ_{cj}^{T} is the study point estimate of coral effect size $\theta_{c,j}$ in the *j*th study; σ_{j}^{2} is the study fish or coral variance that is assumed known; $\sigma_{j^{*}}^{2}$ is the maximum of the known (bootstrap estimated) site-level variances for fish or coral among the studies used; *area_{max}* is the maximum reef area surveyed; σ_{jb}^{2} is the bootstrap-estimated site-level variance for sites where raw data was available; and σ_{θ}^{2} is the estimated regional variance. The area-weighted σ_{j}^{2} 's were likely to be conservative because they were scaled down from the largest known study variance, expressing an equal or greater level of uncertainty than any of the known sample variances, thus weighting the variance based on the area of reef surveyed.

This continuous meta-analysis model was fully-specified by non-informative prior distributions for the estimated parameters,

$$\beta_0 \sim N(0, 1000)$$
 (7)

$$\sigma_{\theta}^2 \sim U(0,1000) \tag{8}$$

$$\beta_{coral} \sim N(0,1000) \tag{9}$$

In addition to the coral effects model, we included a NTA model to estimate the effects of fishery protection on changes in coral and fish metrics. This protection model (M_{cp}) included a modification of equation (6) to include a dummy variable (*status*) that allowed the slopes ($\beta_{protection}$) and intercepts (β_{prot0}) of the coral relationship to vary between NTAs and fished areas:

$$\theta_{f,j} \sim N(\beta_0 + \beta_{prot0}(status) + \beta_{coral}(\theta_{c,j}) + \beta_{coral}(\theta_{c,j}) * \beta_{protection}(status), \sigma_{\theta}^2).$$
(10)

Priors for all slopes and intercepts were as specified by equation (9). We implemented both regional models using the PyMC Markov-Chain Monte Carlo (MCMC) toolkit for the Python programming language. Meta-analytical models were run for 20 000 iterations with a 10 000 iteration burn-in period. We evaluated model convergence using Geweke's method (Efron & Tibshirani 1993). Model goodness-of-fit (GOF) was assessed using the deviance simulation methods in PyMC, where ideal models yield GOF values near 0.5, providing evidence of equivalence between simulated and observed deviance (Gelman et al. 2004). Our Bayesian meta-analyses had GOF scores between 0.46 and 0.50 for all fish metrics, confirming good model fits for estimating effect-size relationships, and model convergence was deemed adequate in every instance (Gelman et al. 2004). Site-level posterior distributions shrunk towards the regional mean, where the extreme high- and low-value effect sizes had a reduced effect on the overall estimates. Relative evidence for each model was evaluated using the Bayesian Information Criterion (BIC) (Schwartz 1978) and the uncertainty surrounding each posterior parameter estimate. From the area of highest posterior density in the posterior distribution of each model parameter we obtained Bayesian credible intervals (CI) that defined a 95% probability of a given parameter lying within the CI range. During each MCMC simulation we also sampled from the full conditional of the model and data to construct predictive intervals (PI) that defined a 95% probability of future observations being within the PI range. The PI interval values allowed us to make probability statements about the response of fish assemblage groups to future coral depletion.

6.4 Results

Change in hard coral cover across the region between the mid 1990s and 2005 varied geographically (Figure 6.1). The changes reported here represent the combined effects of coral loss in 1998 and any subsequent recovery to 2005. The greatest declines were apparent through the low latitude island states of Maldives, Chagos, and Seychelles. Kenyan and Tanzanian nationally protected sites experienced moderate declines, while Mauritius and Réunion sustained the smallest declines, and coral cover increased in Kenvan and Tanzanian fished sites (Figure 6.1). Assessing change in coral cover at relevant scales, that consider location, management and habitat type, indicates that 10 of our 19 study locations exhibit declines that depart significantly from zero (Figure 6.2A). The study incorporated nine no-take areas (NTAs) across four countries (two in Seychelles, four in Kenya, two in Tanzania and the long-term de-facto protection of reefs of the Chagos archipelago (Sheppard 2000)). A greater proportion of NTAs (71 %) than fished (42 %) locations showed significant declines in coral cover over the study period. Based on bootstrapped 95% confidence limits, there was no evidence to suggest the percent change in coral cover differed between NTAs and fished areas, and in some cases declines were significantly greater in NTAs

(Figure 6.2A). Importantly, the NTAs had greater starting coral covers than adjacent fished areas, which, as NTAs and fished areas declined to similar final covers (Table 6.1)(with the exception of some of the less impacted Tanzanian sites), meant the NTAs had further to fall.

It is clear that the impacts of the 1998 bleaching event were highly variable across the region, and provide a continuum against which to test secondary consequences, such as the effects of coral loss on fish assemblages. Recent developments in assessing the effects of coral disturbance on fish have highlighted the importance of eroding structural complexity in driving responses (Garpe et al. 2006; Graham et al. 2006), which, as erosion of coral structures can take 5-10 years, explains the much smaller impacts on fish shortly after coral mortality (Wilson et al. 2006). Structural complexity was quantified at 50 of our 66 sites. Importantly, there was a strong correlation between loss in coral cover and loss in structural complexity across the region (r = 0.77, P<0.001, Figure 6.2B). The strong collinearity in the two measures precludes independent assessment of variables, and therefore the effects of changing coral cover on fish identified in the Bayesian meta-analyses are likely to result from a combination of loss in coral cover and structural complexity.



Figure 6.1. Change in coral cover at sites across the western Indian Ocean. Green and red symbols represent increases and decreases in coral cover respectively. Symbols with solid borders are sites in NTAs; Seychelles data include two NTAs, Kenya includes four, Tanzania two and the Chagos archipelago is a de-facto NTA. Data represent 66 sites across the region. Numbers in key (size of bubble) are percent changes between mid 1990s and 2005. Map produced using ESRI data and ArcGIS 9.



Figure 6.2. Change in coral cover and reef structural complexity. (*A*) Change in live coral cover at meaningful biogeographical aggregations and by management strategy. Three habitat types in Seychelles each replicated in the two NTAs. Kenyan protected represents four NTAs. Bootstrapped 95% confidence intervals indicate whether mean change departs significantly from zero. Locations ordered by magnitude of coral decline. (*B*) Correlation between change in live coral cover and change in structural complexity across the region. • Mafia Island, \diamond Seychelles, \blacktriangle Chagos, \blacksquare Maldives, \blacklozenge Kenya, \triangle Tanzania.

Table 6.1. Mean coral cover before (mid-1990s) and after (2005) the 1998 bleaching event across the Indian Ocean. Sites aggregated at representative geographic scales that consider location, management and habitat type. Three habitat types in Seychelles each replicated in the two NTAs. Kenyan protected represents four NTAs. Number of sites per location given in brackets. Note, Tanzania, Mafia Island, received no-take status in 2000.

	% Coral Cover mid-			
Location	1990s	± SE	% Coral Cover 2005	± SE
Maldives, North Male (3)	15.5	7.5	10.9	3.2
Maldives, South Male (2)	43.9	3.6	8.0	1.2
Chagos (9)	31.2	4.0	22.8	2.9
Seychelles Carbonate Reefs (5)	34.6	2.7	5.6	3.1
Seychelles Carbonate Protected (2)	44.9	4.8	5.1	4.5
Seychelles Granite Reefs (5)	14.8	2.0	8.2	2.3
Seychelles Granite Protected (2)	30.9	7.6	7.5	6.4
Seychelles Patch Reefs (5)	20.0	1.5	10.9	5.1
Seychelles Patch Protected (2)	46.4	7.8	3.6	3.0
Kenya Fished (4)	18.9	5.2	20.0	4.0
Kenya Protected (4)	34.8	4.5	26.8	8.1
Tanzania Dar (4)	42.6	11.9	70.0	3.2
Tanzania Tanga (4)	23.9	7.5	27.8	6.8
Tanzania Zanzibar (2)	48.5	3.8	48.3	3.3
Tanzania Zanzibar Protected (2)	62.7	11.1	61.5	2.4
Tanzania, Mafia Island, Protected (2)	33.0	N/A	0.1	N/A
Reunion Flat (2)	42.5	24.3	37.0	10.9
Reunion Slope (2)	42.0	5.0	28.4	4.5
Mauritius (5)	45.3	9.5	41.1	6.7
· ·				

Coral loss predicted declines in reef-fish species richness, and abundance of obligate corallivores, planktivores and fishes < 20 cm throughout the western Indian Ocean (Table 6.2). We tested five possible trajectory descriptors in each case, but only found evidence for linear fits between coral decline and change in groupings of the fish community. Trends in species richness were significant, but weak, and largely driven by the Seychelles and Mafia Island (Figure 6.3A). There was substantial evidence for a 1:1 relationship between changes in obligate corallivore abundance and percent coral cover (Figure 6.3B). From these results we estimate, given any future 50% decline in coral cover, there is a 76% probability of equivalent declines in obligate corallivores at any given site in the western Indian Ocean. The relationship between change in diurnal planktivore abundance and coral cover was relatively strong; given a future 50% decline in coral cover, we estimate a 68% probability of observing declines in planktivore abundance (Figure 6.3E). We found no relationship between a loss of coral and change in abundance of herbivore and mixed diet feeder groups (Figure 6.3C,D).

Table 6.2. Continuous model Bayesian meta-analysis parameter estimates from the best-fitting models (see Table 3) for reef fish metrics in the western Indian Ocean. Estimates for groups with equivalent model fits are provided for both models. Values in parentheses are standard no bundrate and 050/ and the intervale doriotion

Ś
ľa.
Ľ
e e
8
e
<u> </u>
ਰੁ
ire
S S
~
<i>с</i>
ر م
Ĕ
0
5
¥.
ဗ္ဗ
Ö
Ð
ar
Ë.
SG
n
S
ğ
Ę
23
ŝ
ğ
2
at
5
<u>e</u>

Metric	Model	$\hat{oldsymbol{eta}}_{0}$ (intercept)	$\hat{oldsymbol{eta}}_{coral}(extsf{slope})$	$\hat{eta}_{protected}$ (intercept)	$\hat{oldsymbol{eta}}_{protected}$ (slope)
Species richness	Mc	0.00 (0.03) [-0.07, 0.06]	$0.10\ (0.02)\ [0.06,\ 0.14]$		ı
Obligate corallivores	M_c	-0.26(0.21)[-0.66, 0.16]	$1.05\ (0.14)\ [0.77,\ 1.30]$	ı	
Herbivores	M_0	-0.28 (0.08) [-0.45, -0.12]	1		
Mixed-diet feeders	M_0	-0.18 (0.06) [-0.28, 0.08]		,	
Planktivores	M_{cp}	-0.42(0.16)[-0.74, -0.10]	$0.52\ (0.16)\ [0.28,\ 0.77]$	$1.02\ (0.35)\ [0.35, 1.69]$	0.61 (0.24) [0.10, 1.07]
Planktivores	Mc	-0.15(0.15)[-0.44, 0.14]	$0.68\ (0.10)\ [0.48,\ 0.87]$		1 1 1
<20 cm	M_c	-0.17(0.09)[-0.35, 0.00]	$0.37\ (0.06)\ [0.28,\ 0.49]$	ı	ı
21-40 cm	M_0	-0.21 (0.09) [-0.40, -0.05]	I	ı	ı
41-60 cm	M_0	-0.59 (0.17) [-0.91, -0.26]	·	ı	ı
>61 cm	M_0	-0.37 (0.21) [-0.77, 0.04]			
<20 cm obligate	M_c	-0.39 (0.19) [-0.77, -0.00]	$0.94\ (0.13)\ [0.69,\ 1.19]$	I	I
corallivores					
<20 cm herbivores	M_c	-0.19(0.16)[-0.51, 0.13]	$0.50\ (0.10)\ [0.29,\ 0.71]$	ı	ı
<20 cm herbivores	M_{cp}	-0.28(0.18)[-0.65, 0.08]	$0.24\ (0.14)\ [-0.05,\ 0.53]$	0.37(0.35) [-0.33, 1.06]	0.53 (0.21) [0.12, 0.95]
<20 cm mixed diet feeders	M_0	-0.46 (0.06) [-0.58, -0.34]	I	1	I
<20 cm planktivores	$M_{\rm c}$	-0.10 (0.16) [-0.43, 0.23]	$0.57\ (0.110\ [0.35,\ 0.78]$		



Figure 6.3. Change in fish groups in response to coral decline. Continuous model Bayesian meta-analysis of relationships between decline in coral cover and change in (A) species richness of fish assemblages, and (B) abundance of obligate corallivores, (C) herbivores, (D) mixed diet feeders, (E) planktivores. Scale as converted to percent change indicated in top right panel. Linear trend lines only presented where significant model fits were recorded. Green symbols indicate sites in NTAs, blue symbols indicate sites in fished areas. Inner dashed line represents 95% credible interval on the regression and outer dashed line represents the 95% prediction interval. • Mafia Island, \Diamond Seychelles, \blacktriangle Chagos, \blacksquare Maldives, \blacklozenge Kenya, \triangle Tanzania, \Box Réunion, \circ Mauritius. Movement of points along the x-axis among panels reflects model-structured uncertainty present among studies.

When species were grouped by their maximum attainable size, a clear trend was apparent for species <20 cm total length, but no relationship was observed for 21-40 cm, 41-60 cm or >60 cm groupings (Figure 6.4A; Table 6.2). Given a future 50% decline in coral cover, we estimate a 52% probability of observing declines in the abundance of fish species with maximum body lengths <20cm. Within this size class, planktivores make up a considerable portion of the abundance (44%), and herbivores and mixed diet feeders also contribute substantially (28% and 20% respectively), but corallivores have limited input (8%) (Figure 6.4B). Separate analyses of trophic groups within the <20cm size category highlights that, along with obligate corallivores and planktivores, there was also evidence of declines in herbivores (Table 6.2).

We only found weak evidence for differences between NTAs and fished areas for change in diurnal planktivore abundance and small-bodied herbivore abundance (<20cm) (Table 6.3). In both cases the negative relationship between fish abundance and coral decline was greater for the NTAs, however there was equal support for model M_c with no differences between types of management (Table 6.3). Importantly, irrespective of body size and trophic categorization, NTAs provided no clear benefits for any of the fish groups in terms of their change in response to coral decline.


Figure 6.4. Change in small bodied fish in response to coral decline. (*A*) Continuous model Bayesian meta-analysis of relationship between decline in coral cover and change in fish <20 cm maximum attainable size. Green symbols indicate sites in NTAs, blue symbols indicate sites in fished areas. Inner dashed line represents 95% credible interval on the regression and outer dashed line represents the 95% prediction interval. • Mafia Island, \diamond Seychelles, \blacktriangle Chagos, \blacksquare Maldives, \blacklozenge Kenya, \triangle Tanzania, \Box Réunion, \circ Mauritius. (*B*) Percent contribution of five trophic groups to the starting (mid-1990's) abundance of fish <20 cm maximum attainable body length across the region. Black = planktivores, dark grey = piscivores (barely present on plot; 0.05%), white = Mixed diet feeders, grey = herbivores, light grey = obligate corallivores.

Table 6.3. Model-selection results for continuous model Bayesian meta-analysis in the western Indian Ocean using the Bayesian Information Criterion (BIC). Models include a null model of no relationship (M₀), a model including a relationship between changes in coral cover and reef fish metrics (M_c), and a fish-coral model that allows for differences between protected and unprotected sites (M_{cp}). Models highlighted in bold have the greatest support, given the data; models with BIC differences of <2 are considered to have equal support.

Metric	\mathbf{M}_{0}	M _c	M_{cp}
Spacing richnoog	17.52	1 64	6.25
Obligate corallivores	17.55	1.04	0.55
Userbivoros	262.90	2 40.30 140.61	230.30
Mixed dist feeders	143.03 92.64	149.01 97.40	01.00
Planktivores	237.66	07.40 205 27	91.90 204 30
<20 cm	165.25	138 72	140.60
21-40 cm	146 91	150.00	158 17
41-60 cm	231.69	231.35	235.95
>61 cm	261.85	266.02	272.32
<20 cm obligate corallivores	275.96	238.91	246.80
<20 cm herbivores	230.91	214.86	216.53
<20 cm mixed diet feeders	94.93	99.11	106.16
<20 cm planktivores	237.76	218.23	222.13

6.5 Discussion

We have identified spatially variable declines in coral cover, reef structural complexity, fish species richness and the abundance of various feeding and size groups of reef fish across the Indian Ocean following the 1998 bleaching event. These changes are substantial for some groups, and indicate little insurance offered by current small-scale NTA management across the region. The spatial patterns present in our data provide important information for future conservation planning and generic lessons for managing whole coral reef ecosystems in a changing climate.

There was little difference in the decline of coral cover between NTAs and fished areas across the Indian Ocean, with some evidence for greater declines within NTAs. This result is likely due to NTAs often being sited in areas where the cover of Acropora and other thermally-sensitive and branching coral species is high (Chapter 5 & Graham et al. 2007a), or may be because fishing gears reduce cover of these coral species in fished areas. Our analysis also indicated little difference between NTAs and fished areas for those fish groups that declined in response to coral loss. The only indication of a differential response was the greater decline in NTAs for planktivores and small bodied herbivores. Large, remote and pristine areas seem to be resilient to a wide range of disturbances (Sandin et al. 2008), which has led to calls to assess the effectiveness of NTAs in conserving coral reefs through climate disturbance (Knowlton & Jackson 2008). One clear difference to these remote areas is that NTAs on reefs are typically small and surrounded by much larger areas that are modified by exploitation (Bellwood et al. 2004; McClanahan et al. 2007e). As we do not have repeat temporal data since the initial coral loss in 1998, we can not explicitly infer recovery rates from our data, however the NTAs we studied show no evidence of being more resistant to declines in coral and fish groups following coral bleaching and it seems likely that, over this time scale, recovery rates are no different between NTAs and fished areas, as has been shown for some of the NTAs where temporal data were available (McClanahan 2008).

We detected declines in fish species richness across the western Indian Ocean in response to loss of live coral cover. Although only a small proportion of species are heavily coral dependent, most species are reliant on the reef matrix at some stage in their life history, and change in species richness was likely due to loss in the physical structure of the reef, rather than live coral (Garpe et al. 2006; Graham et al. 2006; Wilson et al. 2006; Pratchett et al. 2008a). The variability in loss of structural complexity may explain why the trend for species richness was not stronger, with locations such as Chagos, where recovery of coral has been rapid, potentially retaining structural complexity in the interim. Although loss of structural complexity was the most likely driver of the region-wide decline in species richness, some studies have highlighted that live coral can be an important settlement cue for larval fish (Jones et al. 2004; Feary et al. 2007a) and the nature of this relationship is an important area for future research.

Although previous studies have identified obligate corallivores as a functional group vulnerable to declines in coral cover (Wilson et al. 2006; Pratchett et al. 2008a), this is the first study to demonstrate declines over such a large spatial scale. We have also identified a 1:1 linear relationship between coral loss and obligate corallivore decline, suggesting their survival on the reef is tightly linked to coral cover and changes in obligate corallivore abundance should be easy to predict based on changes to benthic

cover. The diurnal planktivores in the study were largely small-bodied species from the damselfish family (>90% contribution to group) that are often closely associated with the reef matrix (Munday & Jones 1998; Wilson et al. 2008a). Their decline is most likely due to predation vulnerability, linked to loss of coral and structural collapse (Garpe et al. 2006; Graham et al. 2006). Planktivores and corallivores showed the strongest relationships of all groups to declining coral cover and are likely to be the groups most threatened from the predicted ongoing decline in global reef health (Wilson et al. 2006; Pratchett et al. 2008a).

Although herbivores are hypothesized to increase in abundance following coral decline owing to a greater availability of algal resources, previous studies have reported high variation in this relationship and have often been conducted shortly after disturbances, limiting their ability to detect demographic changes (Wilson et al. 2006). Here we tested this hypothesis across large spatial and temporal scales where the assemblage had a moderate time to respond. Herbivores are thought to be a key functional group, responsible for the resilience of reef systems by controlling algal growth (Bellwood et al. 2004; Mumby et al. 2006; Hughes et al. 2007a) and ultimately allowing settlement of new coral recruits (Mumby et al. 2007b). However, our data show that the proliferation of algae that follows extensive coral mortality (Diaz-Pulido & McCook 2002; Jones et al. 2004; Aronson & Precht 2006; Graham et al. 2006) was unlikely to be controlled by a corresponding increase in herbivorous fish abundance. Changes to size structure and biomass of herbivore stocks cannot be ruled out and may initially encourage increased consumption and control of algae. However, studies from Seychelles suggest such changes may be indicative of future declines in herbivore abundance and biomass due to a loss of refuge from predators,

leading to reduced recruitment to adult size classes (Chapter 5 & Graham et al. 2007a).

The mixed diet feeding group also showed no response to declining coral cover. This group of fish includes species from families such as Lethrinidae, Mullidae, Lutjanidae, and Labridae, many of which are habitat generalists, foraging and recruiting to non-coral reef habitats such as seagrass (Dorenbosch et al. 2005). Species in these groups also tend to forage over fairly large spatial scales, indicating a lack of reliance on specific habitat types. Due to this decoupling of reliance on reef habitat and the potential benefits they may glean from increased food resources, this may be the group that will be sustained in the long term, although a large amount of variation can be expected at the species level (Wilson et al. 2006), leading to changes in community composition.

Small-bodied fish are known to be more reliant on the reef matrix, inhabit narrower niches, and be more vulnerable to predation (Munday & Jones 1998; Wilson et al. 2008a). Our analyses highlight the vulnerability of small-bodied species to coral and structural complexity loss. Within this size category, obligate corallivore and planktivore groups showed strong declines. Interestingly, there was also a reduction in abundance of small-bodied herbivores. Although herbivore abundance may not be declining overall (Figure 6.3C), the reduction of these small-bodied species is of concern as they perform important functional roles on coral reefs (Ceccarelli et al. 2001). Small mixed diet feeders again showed no trend, demonstrating the resistance of species with generalist life history traits to coral loss.

There are some obvious limitations in our data, such as the timeframe between surveys and the influence of any change in management / fishing pressure. In most cases management and fishing pressure have not changed greatly over the ten years studied. The one main exception is Mombasa Marine National Park, Kenya, where species richness and fish density have increased owing to management action (McClanahan et al. 2007e). Although such effects may have a slight influence on the results, the relationship between reef fish and change in coral cover (and its association with loss in physical structure) is a strong signal within the regional data and is consistent with current ecological understanding of disturbance effects on coral reefs (Wilson et al. 2006; Pratchett et al. 2008a). A potential problem when conducting meta-analyses is publication bias, whereby data sets are not located or included in the analyses (Gurevitch & Hedges 1999). This is not a problem in the current study as we conducted a targeted research program where all comprehensive studies from the mid 1990's were repeated as part of the study itself. Finally, the study design does not consider the impact of disturbances after the 1998 coral bleaching event. However, the December 2004 tsunami is thought to have had negligible effects on coral reefs in the western Indian Ocean (Wilkinson et al. 2005). Furthermore, any other ensuing disturbances are just as likely to have influenced NTAs as fished areas and reflect increasing disturbance frequencies occurring on coral reefs globally (Hughes et al. 2003; Bellwood et al. 2004).

Our analyses highlight great geographic variation in the impact of coral bleaching across the region, with the Seychelles suffering the greatest in terms of coral loss and associated effects on fish, and the Mascarene Islands (Réunion and Mauritius) suffering the least. These trends could be due to several factors: 1) Prevailing currents and variation in temperatures have been identified as key determinants of coral mortality in the region, likely reducing mortality in the Mascarene Islands in particular (Sheppard 2003; McClanahan et al. 2007b). 2) Well connected reef systems are expected to contain the pockets of refugia required for landscape-scale recovery (Nyström & Folke 2001). This is evident when comparing recovery of the well connected mainland reefs of Kenya and Tanzania and the geographically extensive Chagos and Maldives to the geographically small and isolated inner Seychelles. 3) The inner Seychelles is a shallow continental shelf basin, with most fringing reefs extending to only 7-9m depth. This 'bathtub effect' likely led to extensive mortality in 1998 and precluded any depth refuge below which corals could survive. Where live coral extends to 40-50m depth, such as in the atolls of Chagos or the islands of Réunion and Mauritius, a depth refuge of broodstock may encourage faster recovery of corals at shallower depths (Sheppard & Obura 2005). 4) Finally, the atolls surveyed in Chagos are uninhabited and off limits to reef fishing. The lack of multiple anthropogenic stresses that most other reef systems endure may have helped promote recovery from the disturbance (Knowlton & Jackson 2008; Sandin et al. 2008).

The 1998 bleaching event had, and is still having, extensive effects across the western Indian Ocean. Although ocean-scale coral reef integrity has been lost, it is positive to see that effects were spatially variable and that in some locations the indirect effects on fish assemblages and likely implications for human society have been small. Geography seems to be a key determinant in the ability of reefs to absorb and recover from such large-scale disturbances and this should be considered for other regions likely to suffer similar large-scale disturbances in the future. Although there was no evidence that existing NTAs are promoting recovery of coral, these NTAs are still supporting a greater biomass of fishery stocks (Chapter 5 & Graham et al. 2007a; McClanahan et al. 2007e), indicating long-term fisheries management should not be compromised. There is, however, a need for new NTAs, incorporated into existing networks that protect source reefs resilient to large-scale disturbance, and areas likely to retain their physical structure. This will help sustain the upstream spawning stocks of corals and specialised fish species required for landscape-scale recovery. Such management is likely to be unsuccessful in isolation, and improved management of entire reef systems, reducing the stresses and pressures to areas outside NTAs will be necessary to maximise the capacity for systems to recover from large scale and ongoing disturbance.

6.6 Acknowledgements

This research was funded through grants from the Leverhulme Trust, Western Indian Ocean Marine Science Association, World Bank Targeted Research Group on Coral Bleaching, the Fisheries Society of the British Isles, the Eppley and Tiffany Foundations, the National Science and Engineering Research Council of Canada, the British Overseas Development Administration (now DFID) and the British Foreign and Commonwealth Office. Logistical support was received from the Seychelles Centre of Marine Research and Technology-Marine Park Authority, Seychelles Fishing Authority, Nature Seychelles, Mauritius Institute of Oceanography, University of Dar es Salaam, and Kenya Wildlife Service.

Chapter 7

General discussion

There has been burgeoning research interest in the impacts of coral bleaching on coral reef fish assemblages over the past 3 years with the knowledge of which species, groups and size classes decline and understanding of the mechanisms behind those declines greatly improving. Thorough reviews of these advances are scheduled for publication in 2008 (Pratchett et al. 2008a, b), including one which also considers the direct impacts of increasing water temperature and changing chemistry on crucial life history and developmental stages of coral reef fish (Munday et al. 2008). This present chapter aims to 1) discuss the current state of knowledge on the topic including the novel contributions of this thesis, 2) propose a conceptual model of the short- and long-term impacts of bleaching on fish assemblages and 3) provide directions for future management and research priorities in this field of study.

7.1 Current state of knowledge

The importance of ecological specialisation in driving declines in fish abundance is still an important research topic and has advanced considerably. One of the main advances has been an improved resolution of the degree of specialisation in various groups of coral feeding and dwelling fish. Finer resolution of the feeding preferences of a fairly comprehensive selection of Pacific butterflyfish (Pratchett 2005) has been extended to include some Indian Ocean species (Chapter 2 & Graham 2007). Potential reasons why some species are highly specialised in targeting specific species of coral

have been elucidated, highlighting the high food quality of preferred coral prey (Chapter 2 & Graham 2007). This information on species-specific feeding specialisation has proved extremely powerful in predicting patterns of decline in abundance following coral mortality, with much greater and more rapid declines, and some local extinctions, occurring for those species that are highly specialised in their dietary requirements (Pratchett et al. 2006; Chapter 2 & Graham 2007; Chapter 3). Associated with these differing degrees of species specific levels of dietary specialisation or versatility and differing preferences in types of coral prey, it is apparent that if reefs recover a different assemblage of corals post-disturbance, the associated suite of corallivorous fish may also change (Berumen & Pratchett 2006). Coral cover and butterflyfish abundance returned to pre-disturbance levels on a reef in Moorea, however *Pocillopora* corals now dominated the benthic cover, rather than *Acropora*, and the butterflyfish assemblage had shifted from specialist feeders of *Acropora* to more generalist feeders that will ingest *Pocillopora* (Berumen & Pratchett 2006).

On the Great Barrier Reef 53% of juvenile damselfish dwell in live coral, preferring plating growth forms, whereas 40% of adult damselfish inhabited live coral and preferred branching corals (Wilson et al. 2008a). Coral associated juvenile damselfish had narrower niche breadths than adult conspecifics, indicating that early life history stages may be most vulnerable to coral loss. Furthermore, niche breadth, which incorporates proportional use and availability of resources, explained 74% of the variation in damselfish response to coral decline indicating that, similar to coral feeders, coral dwellers with greater specialisation are most vulnerable to declines following coral mortality (Wilson et al. 2008a). Such vulnerability of early life history

stages and greater impacts on coral associated specialists was also shown in an experimental manipulation where coral colonies were degraded to varying degrees (Feary et al. 2007b). Coral dwelling specialists also appear to be more likely to remain in coral colonies as they degrade and less likely to successfully migrate to alternative live colonies following mortality of a host colony, than habitat dwelling generalists (Feary 2007). It is clear from the above studies of coral feeding and dwelling fish, and from other community composition studies (Bellwood et al. 2006b), that there is a general shift in fish communities away from coral specialists to species with more generalist life history characteristics.

The importance of live coral for coral reef fish settlement has been further investigated. In aquarium choice experiments, fish generally settled in the habitats that adult conspecifics inhabit, but several species preferentially settled into live or partially degraded coral heads, when adults do not dwell in live coral (Feary et al. 2007a). In associated field manipulations, a greater abundance and diversity of fish settled into live coral habitats, but this was driven by relatively few, abundant species that associate with live coral throughout their life history. The community composition of coral reef fish recruits changed after experimental degradation of habitat from coral associated to algal associated species (Feary et al. 2007a). A study of reef fish recruits used live coral habitat disproportionately compared to availability of this substrate (Garpe & Öhman 2007). Although a number of these species, particularly abundant taxa, also used live coral as adults, a proportion of them did not. A study of butterflyfish habitat use as juveniles versus adults indicated that juveniles of obligate coral feeding fish inhabited the same live coral habitats that adult

conspecifics feed upon, likely due to essential dietary requirements. Conversely, juveniles of facultative coral feeders utilised distinct habitats, not always associated with either live coral or adult conspecifics (Pratchett et al. 2008c). However, the use of live coral as habitat by the juveniles was in higher proportion to the use of live coral for diet in adults, particularly for facultative feeders (Wilson et al. 2009). These studies and others (e.g. Jones et al. 2004; Wilson et al. 2008a) further suggest that the early life history stages of reef fish are likely to be the most vulnerable to coral loss.

Knowledge of the drivers of change in fish assemblages following coral bleaching has advanced. Chapter 3 highlights that loss of live coral and the loss of structural complexity can be de-coupled and that these different attributes of a degrading benthos can influence different components of the fish assemblage. The impacts of declines in coral cover are likely to be more immediate and spatially extensive, and principally affect fish that specialise on live coral. Conversely the loss of structural complexity can take longer to occur, can be more patchy in distribution and impact other small bodied species that are not so dependent on live coral, so have survived the initial impacts of bleaching (Chapter 3). Indeed, it is now becoming evident that the long-term impacts of coral loss, when the structural complexity of the reef degrades, are far greater than the initial impacts of live coral loss (Figure 7.1; Garpe et al. 2006; Graham et al. 2006). Such loss in structural complexity results in losses in species richness, taxonomic distinctness, the trophic composition and abundance of a wide range of trophic groups (Garpe et al. 2006; Graham et al. 2006; Pratchett et al. 2008a), many of which are not impacted by the short-term impacts of bleaching (Chapter 1; Wilson et al. 2006). As more structure is lost, larger bodied fish species may be lost from the system, including species that represent key functional groups on

coral reefs (Graham et al. 2006). Furthermore, the size structure of the fish assemblage can change substantially with a reduction of individuals with smaller body-size (<35cm) and trophic cascading effects, indicating lag effects and potentially much greater impacts on the system as a whole in the long term (Chapter 5 & Graham et al. 2007a). Clearly the loss of structural complexity is a major mechanism driving the longer-term impacts of coral bleaching on fish assemblages.

There have been small advances in understanding the interaction among different kinds of disturbances. When bleaching impacts have been relatively limited in severity, site specific local stressors can dominate structuring of benthic and fish assemblages. This was shown in Mauritius where the 1998 bleaching event caused ~10% coral mortality and the impacts of fishing and habitat damage through dredging resulted in stronger trends in the benthic and associated fish assemblage data (Chapter 4 & Graham et al. 2007b). Conversely, in the Lau Islands of Fiji, where there have been reductions in fishing effort in recent years, the combined impacts of coral bleaching and crown-of-thorns starfish outbreaks on the benthos are causing greater changes to the fish assemblage than fishing pressure (Wilson et al. 2008b). Both fishing and habitat degradation did exert changes in the fish assemblage, however, and as these are two of the main drivers of change in fish assemblages globally, further studies of the interaction and dominant drivers of the two impacts are necessary. Indeed, although some studies have attributed coral loss to multiple impacts (e.g. Jones et al. 2004; Munday 2004; Wilson et al. 2008b), few studies have successfully partitioned the impacts of multiple disturbances or assessed how stressors interact or where synergies in impacts may occur (Wilson et al. 2006, 2008b).

144



Figure 7.1. Reef plan view photographs indicating A. the short-term impacts of bleaching, where live coral is lost, but structural complexity is maintained and fish diversity can remain high, and B. a longer-term scenario of bleaching, where the structure has eroded into a rubble bank, and reef fish diversity and abundance have declined.

The scale at which many of the above trends have been assessed has recently been dramatically increased (Chapter 6 & Graham et al. 2008). Although reviews of the topic have combined information from disparate studies within meta-analytical frameworks (Wilson et al. 2006; Pratchett et al. 2008a), Chapter 6 was the first study to explicitly collect and analyse data over a spatial scale beyond individual level reef or country case studies. This assessment across such a broad spatial and temporal scale enabled predictive statements regarding future change, identified a 1:1 trend between loss of coral and declining obligate corallivore abundance and provided conclusive evidence of which trophic and size groups of fish respond to coral bleaching impacts on the benthos (Chapter 6 & Graham et al. 2008). Most groups previously identified as being vulnerable to coral loss, also displayed declines at this regional scale and the study highlighted that the invertebrate and mixed diet feeding fish may be the group that are least effected and most stable on reefs through climate change (Chapter 6 & Graham et al. 2008).

As herbivores are thought to be a key functional group (Bellwood et al. 2004), controlling algal growth and facilitating coral recruitment and recovery processes (Mumby et al. 2007b), it is important to understand how they respond to coral bleaching events. The short-term studies of coral bleaching indicated that herbivores may show increases in abundance following coral loss, but these responses were variable among studies (Wilson et al. 2006). Longer-term studies have shown that herbivore abundance and biomass do not continue to increase and control algae following large scale bleaching events (Garpe et al. 2006; Chapter 5 & Graham et al. 2007a). This lack of response of herbivore abundance has been shown at regional scales, with small bodied herbivores actually declining (Chapter 6 & Graham et al.

2008). Furthermore, changes to the size structure of the herbivore stock indicate that longer-term declines in herbivore biomass as a whole seem likely (Chapter 5 & Graham et al. 2007a). These negative impacts on herbivore stocks appear to be related to collapse of the structural matrix of the reef framework and suggest that important functional roles on reefs may decline in the long-term if coral does not recover and the reef framework erodes.

Similar to the short-term impacts of bleaching on fish ecology, the short-term impacts of coral bleaching on associated fisheries are negligible based on fisheries dependent creel surveys (Grandcourt & Cesar 2003; McClanahan et al. 2002). The lack of a change in the biomass of target species above size of first capture was confirmed using fisheries independent underwater visual census data in the inner Seychelles 7 years after the 1998 bleaching event (Chapter 5 & Graham et al. 2007a). However, large changes in the size structure of the assemblage indicate that the current stability in the fishery is bolstered by an increase in large herbivorous individuals, and that substantial reductions in smaller size classes belie a forthcoming decline in fishery yields (Chapter 5 & Graham et al. 2007a). As larger individuals are removed from the system through fisheries extraction and natural mortality, there are fewer individuals surviving to recruit into fishery size classes (Chapter 5 & Graham et al. 2007a). The most likely driver of these changes in size structure is the loss of refuge space for smaller size classes provided by reef structural complexity. An assessment of the percentage contributions of both species and individuals caught in artisanal fisheries in Kenya and Papua New Guinea indicates that although 5% or less of species caught are live coral dependent, over 60% are dependent on reef habitat complexity (Pratchett et al. 2008a). This suggests that if bleaching-associated reductions in habitat complexity (Garpe et al. 2006; Graham et al. 2006, Chapter 5 & Graham et al. 2007a; Wilson et al. 2008b) do become widespread as predicted, the long-term ramifications for coral reef associated fisheries may be substantial. The aquarium fish trade is a rapidly growing fishery on coral reefs, with a value of US\$90-300 million a year (Sadovy & Vincent 2002). Most of the species in the aquarium trade are small bodied and trade statistics indicate that although only approximately 15% of these species are coral dependent, 80% associate with reef habitat structure (Pratchett et al. 2008a). However, the value per fish for coral dependent species dwarfs that of structurally associated species (Pratchett et al. 2008a) and so the impacts of coral bleaching on this industry could also be substantial.

7.2 Conceptual models

From this now fairly comprehensive body of work we can develop conceptual models of how a functioning reef ecosystem (Figure 7.2A; a simplistic model based on impacts of coral bleaching) changes in the short- and medium-term after coral bleaching. In the short-term, reduced coral cover, but stable structural complexity, lead to declines in corallivores and planktivores (as a number of species are coral dwellers). The decline in coral is associated with an increased cover of the epilithic algal matrix (EAM), which in turn leads to a small, but variable increase in EAM feeding fish (Wilson et al. 2006; Figure 7.2B). If resilience is high, coral and fish assemblages may then recover to pre-disturbance compositions (e.g. Halford et al. 2004), or may recover, but shift in both benthic and fish assemblage composition (e.g. Berumen & Pratchett 2006). However, if the system does not return to coral dominance, the impacts can become much greater (Figure 7.2C). The reduced cover of coral and increased cover of EAM can become stable due to positive feedback

mechanisms maintaining the system in an unfavourable state (Bellwood et al. 2004; Mumby et al. 2007a). The structural complexity of the reef matrix can decline with a corresponding increase in rubble (Sheppard et al. 2002; Graham et al. 2006). This loss of complexity leads to a decline in most fish groups including EAM feeders (Garpe et al. 2006; Graham et al. 2006; Chapter 5 & Graham et al. 2007a). The impact of coral loss on those species that require live coral at settlement will also become manifest (Jones et al. 2004; Feary et al. 2007a; Garpe & Öhman 2007). Corallivores and planktivores further decline, due to lagged population declines partly associated with reduced physiological condition (Pratchett et al. 2004, 2006), and partly due to the loss of structural complexity (Chapter 3). Invertivores remain largely unchanged due to the interplay between the positive effects of increased dietary resources associated with rubble areas and the negative effects of structural complexity loss (Chapter 5 & Graham et al. 2007a; Chapter 6 & Graham et al. 2008; MacNeil et al. 2008; Wilson et al. 2008b). Piscivores begin to decline due to the trophic cascading effects of reduced food in the form of smaller size classes of fish (Chapter 5 & Graham et al. 2007a). Recovery potential is linked to feedback mechanisms, such as frequency and severity of disturbances (e.g. storms, bleaching, crown-of-thorns starfish outbreaks) that will further decrease coral and structural complexity (Birkeland 2004), and the impacts of physical isolation and external refugia that will largely determine the supply of larvae needed for settlement and recovery (Ayre & Hughes 2004; Graham et al. 2006). These extrinsic factors in combination with intrinsic factors such as macroalgae cover, which will potentially be mediated by herbivores (Mumby et al. 2006; Hughes et al. 2007a), although once established is less likely to be controlled (Bellwood et al. 2006a; Ledlie et al. 2006), and the extent and severity of the initial coral mortality (Mumby et al. 2007a), will determine if the system has the capacity to recover.



Figure 7.2A. Conceptual representation of an undisturbed functioning reef ecosystem. Arrows indicate main direction of flows in resources, contribution to habitat attributes or competition between EAM and coral. EAM = epilithic algal matrix.



Figure 7.2B. Conceptual representation of the short-term impacts of coral bleaching to a reef ecosystem. Diagonal hatching in boxes represents increases in cover or abundance. Dashed lines represent original size of box to indicate extent of decline in cover or abundance.



Figure 7.2C. Conceptual representation of the medium-term impacts of coral bleaching to a reef ecosystem. Diagonal hatching in boxes represents increases in cover or abundance. Dashed lines represent original size of box to indicate extent of decline in measured component or abundance. Shaded box represents extrinsic feedback mechanisms that influence recovery potential, which include larval supply and settlement.

7.3 Management and Research directions

With clear evidence growing for the longer-term impacts of coral bleaching on the ecosystem as a whole and likely consequences for coral reef fisheries, there is a clear need to assess the role of management to help reduce impacts and promote recovery (Knowlton & Jackson 2008). Review papers have presented the expectations that marine protected areas (MPAs) should protect important functional processes on coral reefs and help promote recovery of coral cover (e.g. Worm et al. 2006). However, there is growing empirical evidence that the same species and groups are impacted in MPAs as fished areas following coral bleaching events and that the impacts inside MPAs can sometimes be greater (Jones et al. 2004; Chapter 5 & Graham et al. 2007a). Indeed, across multiple locations the impacts of bleaching on the benthos and associated fish groups can be equal or greater in MPAs than fished areas, and the rates of recovery indistinguishable (Chapter 6 & Graham et al. 2008; McClanahan 2008). MPAs are often sited in areas of high coral cover, especially areas with charismatic branching and plating coral growth forms. This results in a thermally sensitive assemblage, which often declines in cover to become similar in composition and cover to fished areas after bleaching (Chapter 5 & Graham et al. 2007a; Chapter 6 & Graham et al. 2008). As small bodied fish preferentially utilise these habitats (Bellwood et al. 2004; Jones et al. 2004), the impacts on fish can also be large (Chapter 5 & Graham et al. 2007a; Chapter 6 & Graham et al. 2008). After such a loss in coral cover, fish abundance and structural complexity, it appears small MPAs are largely indistinguishable from fished areas, other than by a larger biomass of fishery target species (Chapter 5 & Graham et al. 2007a; McClanahan et al. 2007e), and do not appear to maintain the capacity to recover more rapidly (Chapter 6 & Graham et al. 2008; McClanahan 2008).

The boundaries of MPAs can not prevent the impacts of disturbances such as bleaching, nutrient loading, storms and sedimentation (Hughes et al. 2003; Bellwood et al. 2004; Nyström 2006; Mora 2008). Building a large network of MPAs that covers a much larger area of coral reef in each country may help build some of the brood stocks and connectivity necessary for recovery and resilience (Hughes et al. 2003), however, aside from examples from wealthy nations such as Australia, such targets are not possible or necessarily appropriate for many developing world situations (McClanahan et al. 2008). There is therefore a growing recognition of the need to build the resilience of the system as a whole (Nyström & Folke 2001; Bellwood et al. 2004; Nyström 2006; Hughes et al. 2007b; Chapter 6 & Graham et al. 2008). Most MPAs in coral reef environments are small and embedded in a much larger area that is exploited and often degraded. Building the resilience of the system as a whole will involve reducing the range of threats that act upon the whole system, such as nutrient and sediment inputs from land, overfishing, use of destructive fishing practices and land reclamation activities. Special attention to those areas that either escape from or recover rapidly from bleaching events, should enable future protected areas to be sited in locations likely to provide brood stocks to impacted regions (West & Salm 2003; Chapter 5 & Graham et al. 2007a; Chapter 6 & Graham et al. 2008). Managing and protecting the functional diversity of organisms on reefs and, in particular, key functional groups, such as some herbivores, will be necessary to promote continued functioning of the system and assist recovery processes (Bellwood et al. 2004; Nystrom 2006; Mumby et al. 2007a; Chapter 6 & Graham et al. 2008). At a larger scale, some areas and regions seem to escape bleaching events (McClanahan et al. 2007a, b; Maina et al. 2008; Chapter 6 & Graham et al. 2008) and the geography

of some locations, such as the presence of deep water reefs that escape the impacts of warm water that typically impact shallower areas (Sheppard & Obura 2005; Chapter 6), results in much greater recovery potential. These areas should be conservation priorities, requiring a scaling up of conservation efforts to incorporate regional patterns into cross boundary policy initiatives. Ultimately, all these initiatives will fail if the local social and economic setting is not incorporated into conservation action (Hughes et al. 2005). There is a need to understand what promotes resilience in the socio-ecological systems that typify coral reef areas, and develop strategies that are most appropriate given the local social conditions and capacity to adapt and change, and the vulnerability of the environment to climate change and other threats (McClanahan et al. 2008). Such understanding and recommendations are in their infancy, but warrant a great deal of research funding and attention over coming decades.

Aside from conservation and management orientated research, many fundamental ecological questions remain unanswered. Although the understanding of the impacts of coral bleaching and climate change on reefs has greatly advanced in recent years (Hoegh-Guldberg et al. 2007; Pratchett et al. 2008a), there are still many research gaps. Some of the most apparent for fish relate to the direct impacts of a warming environment on behaviour, range, physiology, reproduction and other key life history stages (Munday et al. 2008). More studies of the interactions between and potential synergies of multiple disturbances are necessary. The impacts of changing habitat on functional composition, functional diversity, response diversity and redundancy (Elmqvist et al. 2003; Nyström 2006) of reef fish is poorly quantified. How these attributes of a fish community are impacted and more importantly how they can be

maintained are fundamental unanswered research questions. Understanding the patch dynamics and temporal variation in recovery processes from disturbances is another emerging research area (Arthur et al. 2006) that warrants further attention. The use of reef restoration techniques and artificial reefs has been well studied (Edwards & Gomez 2007) and is met with scepticism by many, but with the role of structural complexity becoming so apparent and reefs on a general downward trajectory, research into direct active management techniques should also receive greater attention. As it is generally accepted that most reefs will exist in a less complex and more depauperate state, how ecological processes, such as predation, competition and herbivory will change and adapt is also a key research question. This also needs to be scaled up to understand how the ecosystem goods and services returned from coral reefs will change, and what can be expected under differing emissions scenarios. Stabilising the rate of climate warming is a major priority for coral reefs, but it is clear that major changes beyond those already identified are likely to occur in coming decades.

References

- Adjeroud M, Augustin D, Galzin R, Salvat B (2002) Natural disturbances and interannual variability of coral reef communities on the outer slope of Tiahura (Moorea, French Polynesia):1991 to 1997. Marine Ecology Progress Series 237:121-131
- Adjeroud M, Letourneur Y, Porcher M, Salvat B (1998) Factors influencing spatial distribution of fish communities on a fringing reef at Mauritius, S.W. Indian Ocean. Environmental Biology of Fishes 53:169-182
- Ahamada S, Bijoux J, Bigot L, Cauvin B, Koonjul M, Maharavo J, Meuier S, Moine-Picard M, Quod J-P, Pierre-Louis R (2004) Status of the coral reefs of the south west Indian Ocean island states. In: Wilkinson C. (ed) Status of Coral Reefs of the World: 2004, Australian Institute of Marine Science, Townsville. pp. 189-212.
- Allen GR, Steene R, Allen M (1998) A guide to angelfishes and butterflyfishes. Vanguard Press, Perth
- Almany GR (2004) Differential effects of habitat complexity, predators and competitors on abundance of juvenile and adult coral reef fishes. Oecologia 141:105-113
- Alongi DM (2002) Present state and future of the world's mangrove forests. Environmental Conservation 29:331-349
- Aronson RB, Precht WF (2006) Conservation, precaution, and Caribbean reefs. Coral Reefs 25:441-450

- Arthur R, Done TJ, Marsh H, Harriot V (2006) Local processes strongly influence post-bleaching benthic recovery in the Lakshadweep Islands. Coral Reefs 25:427-440
- Ayre DJ, Hughes TP (2004) Climate change, genotypic diversity and gene flow in reef-building corals. Ecology Letters 7:273-278
- Baird AH, Marshall PA (1998) Mass bleaching of corals on the Great Barrier Reef. Coral Reefs 17:376

Balmford A, Bennun L, ten Brink B, Cooper D, Côté IM, Crane P, Dobson A, Dudley N, Dutton I, Green RE, Gregory RD, Harrison J, Kennedy ET, Kremen C, Leader-Williams N, Lovejoy TE, Mace G, May R, Mayaux P, Morling P, Phillips J, Redford K, Ricketts TH, Rodriguez JP, Sanjayan M, Schel PJ, van Jaarsveld AS, Walther BA (2005) The convention on biological diversity's 2010 target. Science 307:212-213

- Bell JD, Galzin R (1984) Influence of live coral cover on coral reef fish communities. Marine Ecology Progress Series 15:265-274
- Bellwood DR, Hoey AS, Ackerman JL, Depczynski M (2006b) Coral bleaching, reef fish community phase shifts and the resilience of coral reefs. Global Change Biology 12:1587-1594
- Bellwood DR, Hughes TP, Hoey AS (2006a) Sleeping functional group drives coralreef recovery. Current Biology 16:2434-2439
- Bellwood DR, Hughes TP, Folke C, Nyström M (2004) Confronting the coral reef crisis. Nature 429:827-833

- Berkelmans R, De-ath G, Kininmonth S, Skirving WJ (2004) A comparison of the 1998 and 2002 coral bleaching events on the Great Barrier Reef: spatial correlation, patterns, and predictions. Coral Reefs 23:74-83
- Berumen ML, Pratchett MS (2006) Recovery without resilience: persistent disturbance and long-term shifts in the structure of fish and coral communities at Tiahura Reef, Moorea. Coral Reefs 25:647-653
- Berumen ML, Pratchett MS (2008) Tradeoffs associated with dietary specialization in corallivorous butterflyfishes (Chaetodonitdae: *Chaetodon*). Behavioral Ecology and Sociobiology 62:989-994
- Berumen ML, Pratchett MS, McCormick MI (2005) Within-reef differences in diet and body condition of coral-feeding butterflyfishes (Chaetodontidae). Marine Ecology Progress Series 287:217-227

Birkeland C (2004) Ratcheting down the coral reefs. Bioscience 54:1021-1027

- Booth DJ, Beretta GA (2002) Changes in a fish assemblage after a coral bleaching event. Marine Ecology Progress Series 245:205-212
- Bouchon-Navaro Y (1986) Partitioning of food and space resources by chaetodontid fishes on coral reefs. Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology 103:21-40
- Bowen SH, Lutz EV, Ahlgren MO (1995) Dietary protein and energy as determinants of food quality: trophic strategies compared. Ecology 76:899-907
- Brown BE (1997) Coral bleaching: causes and consequences. Coral Reefs 16:S129-S138

- Brown BE, Letissier MDA, Scoffin TP, Tudhope AW (1990) Evaluation of the environmental-impact of dredging on intertidal coral reefs at Ko-Phuket, Thailand, using ecological and physiological-parameters. Marine Ecology Progress Series 65:273-281
- Bruno JF, Selig ER (2007) Regional decline of coral cover in the Indo-Pacific: Timing, extent, and subregional comparisons. PLoS ONE 2:e711
- Bythell JC (1988) A total nitrogen and carbon budget for the elkhorn coral *Acropora* palmata (Lamark). Proceedings of the Sixth International Coral Reef Symposium 2:535-540
- Ceccarelli DM, Jones GP, McCook LJ (2001) Territorial damselfishes as determinants of the structure of benthic communities on coral reefs. Oceanography and Marine Biology: An Annual Review 39:355-389
- Chabanet P (2002) Coral reef fish communities of Mayotte (western Indian Ocean) two years after the impact of the 1998 bleaching event. Marine and Freshwater Research 53:107-113
- Choat JH, Robertson DR (2002) Age-based studies. In: Sale PF (ed). Coral reef fishes: dynamics and diversity in a complex ecosystem. Academic Press, San Diego, California. pp 57-80
- Clark JS (2005) Why environmental scientists are becoming Bayesians. Ecol Lett 8:2-14
- Clarke KR, Warwick RM (1998) A taxonomic distinctness index and its statistical properites. Journal of Applied Ecology 35:523-531
- Clarke KR, Warwick RM (2001a) Change in marine communities: An approach to statistical analysis and interpretation. 2nd edition. PRIMER-E Ltd, Plymouth.

- Clarke KR, Warwick RM (2001b) A further biodiversity index applicable to species lists: variation in taxonomic distinctness. Marine Ecology Progress Series 216:265-278
- Connell JH (1978) Diversity in tropical rain forests and coral reefs. Science 199:1302-1310
- Côté IM, Gill JA, Gardner TA, Watkinson AR (2005) Measuring coral reef decline through meta-analyses. Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B-Biological Sciences 360:385-395
- Cox EF (1994) Resource use by corallivorous butterflyfishes (family Chaetodontidae) in Hawaii. Bulletin of Marine Science 54:535-545
- Dayton PK (1971) Competition, disturbance, and community organization: the provision and subsequent utilization of space in a rocky intertidal community. Ecological Monographs 41:351-389
- Diaz-Pulido G, McCook LJ (2002) The fate of bleached corals: patterns and dynamics of algal recruitment. Marine Ecology Progress Series 232:115-128.
- Doherty PJ, Williams DM (1988) The replenishment of coral-reef fish populations. Oceanography and Marine Biology: An Annual Review 26:487-551
- Doherty PJ, Dufour V, Galzin R, Hixon MA, Meekan MG, Planes S (2004) High mortality during settlement is a population bottleneck for a tropical surgeonfish. Ecology 85:2422-2428
- Done TJ, Ogden JC, Wiebe WJ, Rosen BR (1996) Biodiversity and ecosystem
 function on coral reefs. In: Mooney HA, Cushman JH, Medina E, Sala OE,
 Schulze E-D (eds). Functional Roles of Biodiversity: A Global Perspective.
 John Wiley & Sons, New York. pp. 393-429

- Donner SD, Knutson TR, Oppenheimer M (2007) Model-based assessment of the role of human-induced climate change in the 2005 Caribbean coral bleaching event. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 104:5483-5488
- Donner SD, Skirving WJ, Little CM, Oppenheimer M, Hoegh-Guldberg O (2005) Global assessment of coral bleaching and required rates of adaptation under climate change. Global Change Biology 11:2251-2265
- Dorenbosch M, Grol MGG, Christianen MJA, Nagelkerken I, van der Velde G (2005) Indo-Pacific seagrass beds and mangroves contribute to fish density and diversity on adjacent coral reefs. Marine Ecology Progress Series 302:63-76
- Douglas AE (2003) Coral bleaching how and why? Marine Pollution Bulletin 46:385-392
- Downing N, Buckley R, Stobart B, LeClair L, Teleki K (2005) Reef fish diversity at Aldabra Atoll, Seychelles, during the five years following the 1998 coral bleaching event. Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society A 363:257-261
- Duarte CM (2002) The future of seagrass meadows. Environmental Conservation 29:192-206
- Dulvy NK, Polunin NVC, Mill AC, Graham NAJ (2004) Size structural change in lightly exploited coral reef fish communities: evidence for weak indirect effects.Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences 61:466-475
- Dulvy NK, Sadovy, Reynolds JD (2003) Extinction vulnerability in marine populations. Fish and Fisheries 4:25-64

- Edwards AJ, Gomez ED (2007) Reef restoration concepts and guidelines: making sensible management choices in the face of uncertainty. Coral Reef Targeted Research & Capacity Building for Management Programme: St Lucia, Australia. pp 38
- Efron B, Tibshirani RJ (1993) An Introduction to the Bootstrap. London: Chapman and Hall. 436 p.
- Elmqvist T, Folke C, Nyström M, Peterson G, Bengtsson J, Walker B, Norberg J (2003) Response diversity and ecological resilience. Frontiers in Ecology and the Environment 1:488-494
- Engelhardt U (2004) The status of scleractinian coral and reef-associated fish communities 6 years after the 1998 mass coral bleaching event. Final report. Seychelles Marine Ecosystem Management Project, Reefcare International, Townsville, Australia
- Fabricius K, De'ath G, McCook L, Turak E, Williams DM (2005) Changes in algae, coral and fish assemblages along water quality gradients on the inshore Great Barrier Reef. Marine Pollution Bulletin 51:384-398
- Feary DA (2007) The influence of resource specialization on the response of reef fish to coral disturbance. Marine Biology 153:153-161
- Feary DA, Almany GR, Jones GP, McCormick MI (2007b) Coral degradation and the structure of tropical reef fish communities. Marine Ecology Progress Series 333:243-248
- Feary DA, Almany GR, McCormick MI, Jones GP (2007a) Habitat choice, recruitment and the response of coral reef fishes to coral degradation. Oecologia 153:727-737

163

Fox HE, Pet JS, Dahuri R, Caldwell RL (2003) Recovery in rubble fields: long-term impacts of blast fishing. Marine Pollution Bulletin 46:1024-1031

Froese R, Pauly D (2006) FishBase. www.fishbase.org. Accessed October 2006

- Froese R, Pauly D (2007) FishBase. http://www.fishbase.org. Accessed September 2007
- Froese R, Pauly D (2008) FishBase. http://www.fishbase.org. Accessed June 2008
- Gardner TA, Côté IM, Gill JA, Grant A, Watkinson AR (2003) Long-term regionwide declines in Caribbean corals. Science 301:958-960
- Garpe KC, Öhman MC (2007) Non-random habitat use by coral reef fish recruits in Mafia Island Marine Park, Tanzania. African Journal of Marine Science 29:187-199
- Garpe KC, Yahya SAS, Lindahl U, Öhman MC (2006) Long-term effects of the 1998 coral bleaching event on reef fish assemblages. Marine Ecology Progress Series 315:237-247
- Gelman A, Carlin JB, Stern HS, Rubin DB (2004) Bayesian data analysis. New York: Chapman and Hall. 696 p.
- Glynn PW (2006) Fish utilization of simulated coral reef frameworks versus eroded rubble substrates off Panama, eastern Pacific. Proceedings of the tenth International Coral Reef Symposium 1:250-256
- Gochfield DJ (2004) Predation-induced morphological and behavioural defences in a hard coral: implications for foraging behaviour of coral-feeding butterflyfishes.Marine Ecology Progress Series 267:145-158

- Goreau T, McClanahan T, Hayes R, Strong A (2000) Conservation of coral reefs after the 1998 global bleaching event. Conservation Biology 14:5-15
- Graham NAJ (2007) Ecological versatility and the decline of coral feeding fishes following climate driven coral mortality. Marine Biology 153:119-127
- Graham NAJ, Dulvy NK, Jennings S, Polunin NVC (2005) Size spectra as indicators of the effects of fishing on coral reef fish assemblages. Coral Reefs 24:118-124
- Graham NAJ, Evans RD, Russ GR (2003) The effects of marine reserve protection on the trophic relationships of reef fishes on the Great Barrier Reef. Environmental Conservation 30:200-208
- Graham NAJ, McClanahan TR, Letourneur Y, Galzin R (2007b) Anthropogenic
 stressors, inter-specific competition and ENSO effects on a Mauritian coral reef.
 Environmental Biology of Fishes 78:57-69
- Graham NAJ, McClanahan TR, MacNeil MA, Wilson SK, Polunin NVC, Jennings S, Chabanet P, Clark S, Spalding MD, Letourneur Y, Bigot L, Galzin R, Öhman MC, Garpe KC, Edwards AJ, Sheppard CRC (2008) Climate warming, marine protected areas and the ocean-scale integrity of coral reef ecosystems. PLoS ONE 3(8): e3039. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0003039
- Graham NAJ, Wilson SK, Jennings S, Polunin NVC, Bijoux JP, Robinson J (2006)Dynamic fragility of oceanic coral reef ecosystems. Proceedings of the NationalAcademy of Sciences of the U S A 103:8425-8429
- Graham NAJ, Wilson SK, Jennings S, Polunin NVC, Robinson J, Bijoux JP, Daw TM (2007a) Lag effects in the impacts of mass coral bleaching on coral reef fish, fisheries, and ecosystems. Conservation Biology 21:1291-1300

- Grandcourt EM (1999) The Population Biology of a selection of exploited reef fish from the Seychelles and Great Barrier Reef. M.S. thesis. James Cook University, Townsville, Australia.
- Grandcourt EM, Cesar HSJ (2003) The bio-economic impact of mass coral mortality on the coastal reef fisheries of the Seychelles. Fisheries Research 60:539-550
- Gurevitch J, Hedges LV (1999) Statistical issues in ecological meta-analyses. Ecology 80:1142-1149
- Halford A, Cheal AJ, Ryan D, Williams DM (2004) Resilience to large-scale disturbance in coral and fish assemblages on the Great Barrier Reef. Ecology 85:1892-1905
- Harmelin-Vivien ML (1989a) Implications of feeding specialization on the recruitment processes and community structure of butterflyfishes.Environmental Biology of Fishes 25:101-110
- Harmelin-Vivien ML (1989b) Reef fish community structure: an Indo-Pacificcomparison. In: Harmelin-Vivien ML, Bourlière F (eds) Vertebrates in ComplexSystems. Springer-Verlag, Berlin. pp. 21-60
- Harmelin-Vivien ML, Bouchon-Navaro Y (1981) Trophic relationships among chaetodontid fishes in the gulf of Aqaba (Red Sea). Proceedings of the Forth International Coral Reef Symposium 2:537-544
- Harmelin-Vivien ML, Bouchon-Navaro Y (1983) Feeding diets and significance of coral feeding among Chaetodontid fishes in Moorea (French Polynesia). Coral Reefs 2:119-127
- Harmelin-Vivien M, Harmelin JG, Chauvet C, Duval C, Galzin R, Lejeune P, Barnabe G, Blanc F, Chevalier R, Duclerc J, Lasserre G (1985) Evaluation
visuelle des peuplements et populations de poisons: Méthodes et problémes. Reviews in Ecology (terre Vie). 40:467-539

- Hart AM, Russ GR (1996) Response of herbivorous fishes to crown-of-thorns starfish Acanthaster planci outbreaks 3. Age, growth, mortality and maturity indices of Acanthurus nigrofuscus. Marine Ecology Progress Series 136:25-35
- Hart AM, Klump DW, Russ GR (1996) Response of herbivorous fishes to crown-ofthorns starfish *Acanthaster planci* outbreaks 2. Density and biomass of selected species of herbivorous fish and fish-habitat correlations. Marine Ecology Progress Series 132:21-30
- Hawkins JP, Roberts CM (2004) Effects of artisanal fishing on Caribbean coral reefs. Conservation Biology 18:215-226
- Hawkins JP, Roberts CM, Dytham C, Schelten C, Nugues MM (2006) Effects of
 habitat characteristics and sedimentation on performance of marine reserves in
 St. Lucia. Biological Conservation 127:487-499
- Hawkins JP, Roberts CM, Van't Hof T, de Meyer K, Tratalos J, Aldam C (1999)Effects of recreational scuba diving on Caribbean coral and fish communities.Conservation Biology 13:888-897
- Helfman GS, Colette BB, Facey DE (1997) The Diversity of Fishes, Blackwell Science, Oxford, UK.
- Hilborn R, Walters CJ (1992) Quantitative fisheries stock assessment; choice, dynamics and uncertainty. Kluwer Academic Publishers, Boston.
- Hixon MA (1991) Predation as a process structuring coral reef fish communities. In:Sale PF (ed) The ecology of fishes on coral reefs. Academic Press, San Diego.pp. 475-508

- Hixon MA, Beets JP (1993) Predation, prey refuges, and the structure of coral-reef fish assemblages. Ecological Monographs 63:77-101
- Hixon MA,. Jones GP (2005) Competition, predation, and density-dependent mortality in demersal marine fishes. Ecology 86:2847-2859
- Hoegh-Guldberg O (1999) Climate change, coral bleaching and the future of the world's coral reefs. Marine and Freshwater Research 50:839-866
- Hoegh-Guldberg O (2004) Coral reefs in a century of rapid environmental change. Symbiosis 37:1-31
- Hoegh-Guldberg O, Mumby PJ, Hooten AJ, Steneck RS, Greenfield P, Gomez E, Harvell CD, Sale PF, Edwards AJ, Caldeira K, Knowlton N, Eakin CM, Iglesias-Prieto R, Muthiga N, Bradbury RH, Dubi A, Hatziolos ME (2007) Coral reefs under rapid climate change and ocean acidification. Science 318:1737-1742
- Houghton J (2005) Global warming. Reports on Progress in Physics 68:1343-1403
- Hourigan TF, Tricas TC, Reese ES (1988) Coral reef fishes as indicators of environmental stress in coral reefs. In: Soule DF, Kleppel GS (eds) Marine organisms as indicators. Springer, Berlin Heidelberg New York, pp 107-135
- Hughes TP (1994) Catastrophes, phase-shifts, and large-scale degradation of a Caribbean coral-reef. Science 265:1547-1551
- Hughes TP, Baird AH, Bellwood DR, Card M, Connolly SR, Folke C, Grosberg R,
 Hoegh-Guldberg O, Jackson JBC, Kleypas J, Lough JM, Marshall P, Nyström
 M, Palumbi SR, Pandolfi JM, Rosen B, Roughgarden J (2003) Climate change,
 human impacts, and the resilience of coral reefs. Science 301:929-933

- Hughes TP, Bellwood DR, Folke CS, McCook LJ, Pandolfi JM (2007b) No-take areas, herbivory and coral reef resilience. Trends in Ecology and Evolution 22:1-3
- Hughes TP, Bellwood DR, Folke C, Steneck RS, Wilson J (2005) New paradigms for supporting the resilience of marines ecosystems. Trends in Ecology and Evolution 20:380-386
- Hughes TP, Rodrigues MJ, Bellwood DR, Ceccarelli D, Hoegh-Guldberg O, McCook L, Moltschaniwskyj N, Pratchett MS, Steneck RS, Willis B (2007a) Phase shifts, herbivory, and the resilience of coral reefs to climate change. Current Biology 17:360-365
- Hunter CL, Evans CW (1995) Coral-reefs in Kaneohe Bay, Hawaii 2 centuries of western influence and 2 decades of data. Bulletin of Marine Science 57:501-515

Hutchings PA (1986) Biological destruction of coral reefs. Coral Reefs 4:239-252

- IPCC (2007) Climate Change 2007 The Physical Science Basis. Contribution ofWorking Group I to the Fourth Assessment Report of the IntergovernmentalPanel on Climate Change. Solomon S et al. (eds), Cambridge University Press
- Irons DK (1989) Temporal and areal feeding behaviour of the butterflyfish, *Chaetodon trifascialis*, at Johnston Atoll. Environmental Biology of Fishes 25:187-193
- Jackson JBC, Kirby MX, Berger WH, Bjorndal KA, Botsford LW, Bourque BJ,
 Bradbury RH, Cooke R, Erlandson J, Estes JA, Hughes TP, Kidwell S, Lange
 CB, Lenihan HS, Pandolfi JM, Peterson CH, Steneck RS, Tegner MJ, Warner
 RR (2001) Historical overfishing and the recent collapse of coastal ecosystems.
 Science 293:629-638

- Jennings S, Polunin NVC (1997) Impacts of predator depletion by fishing on the biomass and diversity of non-target reef fish communities. Coral Reefs 16:71-82
- Jennings S, Grandcourt EM, Polunin NVC (1995) The effects of fishing on the diversity, biomass and trophic structure of Seychelles' reef fish communities. Coral Reefs 14:225-235
- Jennings S, Marshall SS, Polunin NVC (1996) Seychelles' marine protected areas: comparative structure and status of reef fish communities. Biological Conservation 75:201-209
- Jones GP, Caley JM, Munday PL (2002) Rarity in coral reef fish communities. In Sale PF (ed) Coral Reef Fishes: Dynamics and Diversity in a Complex Ecosystem. Academic Press, San Diego. pp. 81-101
- Jones GP, McCormick MI, Srinivasan M, Eagle JV (2004) Coral decline threatens fish biodiversity in marine reserves. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the U S A 101:8251-8253
- Jones KMM (2005) The effect of territorial damselfish (family Pomacentridae) on the space use and behaviour of the coral reef fish, *Halichoeres bivittatus* (Bloch, 1791) (famile Labridae). Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology 324:99-111
- Kaiser MJ, Clarke KR, Hinz H et al (2006) Global analysis of response and recovery of benthic biota to fishing. Marine Ecology Progress Series 311:1-14
- Kerr SR, Dickie LM (2001) The biomass spectrum: a predator-prey theory of aquatic production. Columbia University Press, New York.

- Kleypas JA, Buddemeier RW, Archer D, Gattuso JP, Langdon C, Opdyke BN (1999) Geochemical consequences of increased atmospheric carbon dioxide on coral reefs. Science 284:118-120
- Knowlton N, Jackson JBC (2008) Shifting baselines, local impacts, and global change on coral reefs. PLoS Biology 6:215-220
- Kokita T, Nakazono A (2001) Rapid response of an obligately corallivorous filefish
 Oxymonacanthus longirostris (Monacanthidae) to a mass coral bleaching event.
 Coral Reefs 20:155-158
- Ledlie MH, Graham NAJ, Bythell JC, Wilson SK, Jennings S, Polunin NVC, Hardcastle J (2007) Phase shifts and the role of herbivory in the resilience of coral reefs. Coral Reefs 26:641-653
- Letourneur Y (1996a) Dynamics of fish communities on Reunion fringing reefs, Indian Ocean 1. Patterns of spatial distribution. Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology 195:1-30
- Letourneur Y (1996b) Réponses des peuplements et populations de poissons aux réserves marines. Le cas de l'île de Mayotte, Océan Indien occidental. Ecoscience 3:442–45
- Letourneur Y (2000) Spatial and temporal variability in territoriality of a tropical benthic damselfish on a coral reef (Réunion Island). Environmental Biology of Fishes 57:377-391
- Letourneur Y, Chabanet P, Vigliola L, Harmelin-Vivien M (1998a) Mass settlement and post-settlement mortality of *Epinephelus merra* (Pisces: Serranidae) on Réunion coral reefs. Journal of the Marine Biological Association of the United Kingdom 78:307-319

- Letourneur Y, Kulbicki M, Labrosse P (1998b) Length-weight relationships of fishes from coral reefs and lagoons of New Caledonia – an update. Naga ICLARM Quarterly 21:39-46
- Lewis AR (1997) Effects of experimental coral disturbance on the structure of fish communities on large patch reefs. Marine Ecology Progress Series 161:37-50
- Lindahl U, Öhman MC, Schelten CK (2001) The 1997/1998 mass mortality of corals: effects on fish communities on a Tanzanian coral reef. Marine Pollution Bulletin 42:127-131
- Linden O, Souter D, Wilhemsson D, Obura D (2002) Coral reef degradation in the Indian Ocean, status report 2002. CORDIO, Kalmar, Sweden.
- Loya Y (1978) Plotless and transect methods. In: Stoddart DR, Johannes RE (eds) Coral Research Methods, UNESCO, Paris. pp. 197-217
- MacNeil MA, Graham NAJ, Polunin NVC, Kulbicki M, Galzin R, Harmelin-Vivien M, Rushton SP (2008) Hierarchical Drivers of Reef-Fish Metacommunity Structure. Ecology, in press
- Maina J, Venus V, McClanahan TR, Ateweberhan M (2008) Modelling susceptibility of coral reefs to environmental stress using remote sensing data and GIS models. Ecological Modelling 212:180-199
- Manly BFJ, McDonald LL, Thomas DL (1993) Resource selection by animals. Chapman & Hall, London.
- Marshall PA, Baird AH (2000) Bleaching of corals on the Great Barrier Reef: differential susceptibilities among taxa. Coral Reefs 19:155-163

McClanahan TR (2000a) Recovery of the coral reef keystone predator, Balistapus

undulatus, in East African marine parks. Biological Conservation 94:191-198

- McClanahan TR (2000b) Bleaching damage and recovery potential of Maldivian coral reefs. Marine Pollution Bulletin 40:587-597
- McClanahan TR (2002) The near future of coral reefs. Environmental Conservation 29:460-483
- McClanahan TR (2004) The relationship between bleaching and mortality of common corals. Marine Biology 144:1239-1245
- McClanahan TR (2006) Interaction between fisheries management and a coral bleaching disturbance on coral reef fish in Kenya. Proceedings of the tenth International Coral Reef Symposium. pp 688-695
- McClanahan TR, Graham NAJ (2005) Recovery trajectories of coral reef fish assemblages within Kenyan marine protected areas. Marine Ecology Progress Series 294:241-248
- McClanahan TR, Maina J (2003) Response of coral assemblages to the interaction between natural temperature variation and rare warm-water events. Ecosystems 6:551-563
- McClanahan TR, Ateweberhan M, Graham NAJ, Wilson SK, Sebastian CR, Guillaume MMM, Bruggemann JH (2007a) Western Indian Ocean coral communities: bleaching responses and susceptibility to extinction. Marine Ecology Progress Series 337:1-13
- McClanahan TR, Ateweberhan M, Muhando CA, Maina J, Mohammed MS (2007b) Effects of climate and seawater temperature variation on coral bleaching and mortality. Ecological Monographs 77:503-525

- McClanahan TR, Ateweberhan M, Ruiz Sebastian C, Graham NAJ, Wilson SK, Bruggemann JH, Guillaume MMM (2007c) Predictability of coral bleaching from synoptic satellite and in situ temperature observations. Coral Reefs 26:695-701
- McClanahan TR, Baird AH, Marshall PA, Toscano MA (2004) Comparing bleaching and mortality responses of hard corals between southern Kenya and the Great Barrier Reef, Australia. Marine Pollution Bulletin 48:327-335
- McClanahan TR, Cinner JE, Maina J, Graham NAJ, Daw TM, Stead SM, Wamukota A, Brown K, Ateweberhan M, Venus V, Polunin NVC (2008) Conservation action in a changing climate. Conservation Letters 1:53-59
- McClanahan TR, Graham NAJ, Calnan JM, MacNeil MA (2007e) Toward pristine
 biomass: reef fish recovery in coral reef marine protected areas in Kenya.
 Ecological Applications 17:1055-1067
- McClanahan TR, Graham NAJ, Maina J, Chabanet P, Bruggemann JH, Polunin NVC (2007d) The influence of instantaneous variation on estimates of coral reef fish populations and communities. Marine Ecology Progress Series 340:221-234
- McClanahan TR, Maina J, Moothien-Pillay R, Baker AC (2005) Effects of geography, taxa, water flow, and temperature variation on coral bleaching intensity in Mauritius. Marine Ecology Progress Series 298:131-142
- McClanahan TR, Maina J, Pet-Soede L (2002) Effects of the 1998 coral mortality event on Kenyan coral reefs and fisheries. Ambio 31:543-550
- McClanahan TR, Muthiga NA, Mangi S (2001) Coral and algal changes after the 1998 coral bleaching: interaction with reef management and herbivores on Kenyan reefs. Coral Reefs 19:380-391

174

- McCook LJ (1999) Macroalgae, nutrients and phase shifts on coral reefs: scientific issues and management consequences for the Great Barrier Reef. Coral Reefs 18:357-367
- McIlwain JL, Jones GP (1997) Prey selection by an obligate coral-feeding wrasse and its response to small-scale disturbance. Marine Ecology Progress Series 155:189-198
- Moberg F, Folke C (1999) Ecological goods and services of coral reef ecosystems. Ecological Economics 29:215-233
- Moothien Pillay R, Terashima H, Kawasaki H (2002) The extent and intensity of the 1998 mass bleaching event on the reefs of Mauritius, Indian Ocean. Galaxea 4:43-52
- Mora C (2008) A clear human footprint in the coral reefs of the Caribbean. Proceedings of the Royal Society B-Biological Sciences 275:767-773
- Motta PJ (1988) Functional morphology of the feeding apparatus of ten species of Pacific butterflyfishes (Perciformes, Chaetodontidae): an ecomorphological approach. Environmental Biology of Fishes 22:39-67
- Mumby PJ, Dahlgren CP, Harborne AR, Kappel CV, Micheli F, Brumbaugh DR,Holmes KE, Mendes JM, Broad K, Sanchirico JN, Buch K, Box S, Stoffle RW,Gill AB (2006) Fishing, trophic cascades, and the process of grazing on coralreefs. Science 311:98-101
- Mumby PJ, Harborne AR, Williams J, Kappel CV, Brumbaugh DR, Micheli F, Holmes KE, Dahlgren CP, Paris CB, Blackwell PG (2007b) Trophic cascade facilitates coral recruitment in a marine reserve. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the U S A 104:8362-8367

- Mumby PJ, Hastings A, Edwards HJ (2007a) Thresholds and the resilience of Caribbean coral reefs. Nature 450:98-101
- Munday PL (2000) Interactions between habitat use and patterns of abundance in coral-dwelling fishes of the genus Gobiodon. Environmental Biology of Fishes 58:355-369
- Munday PL (2004) Habitat loss, resource specialization, and extinction on coral reefs. Global Change Biology 10:1642-1647
- Munday PL, Jones GP (1998) The ecological implications of small body size among coral-reef fishes. Oceanography and Marine Biology: An Annual Review 36:373-411
- Munday PL, Jones GP, Caley MJ (1997) Habitat specialisation and the distribution and abundance of coral-dwelling gobies. Marine Ecology Progress Series 152:327-339
- Munday PL, Jones GP, Pratchett MS, Williams AJ (2008) Climate change and the future for coral reef fishes. Fish and Fisheries 9: DOI: 10.1111/j.1467-2979.2008.00281.x
- Munro JL, Sary Z, Gell FR (2003) Escape gaps: an option for the management of Caribbean trap fisheries. Proceedings of the Gulf and Caribbean Fisheries Institute 54:28-40
- Nakamura T, Yamasaki H, van Woesik R (2003) Water flow facilitates recovery from bleaching in the coral Stylophora pistillata. Marine Ecology Progress Series 256:287-291
- Nyström M (2006) Redundancy and response diversity of functional groups: implications for the resilience of coral reefs. Ambio 35:30-35

Nyström M, Folke C (2001) Spatial resilience of coral reefs. Ecosystems 4: 406-417.

- Nyström M, Folke C, Moberg F (2000) Coral reef disturbance and resilience in a human-dominated environment. Trends in Ecology and Evolution 15:413-417
- Obura DO (2005) Resilience and climate change: lessons from coral reefs and bleaching in the Western Indian Ocean. Estuarine and Coastal Shelf Science 63:353-372
- Öhman MC, Munday PL, Jones GP, Caley MJ (1998) Settlement strategies and distribution patterns of coral-reef fishes. Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology 225:219-238
- Oxenford HA, Roach R, Braithwaite A, Nurse L, Goodridge R, Hinds F, Baldwin K, Finney C (2008) Quantitative observations of a major coral bleaching event in Barbados, Southeastern Caribbean. Climatic Change 87:435-449
- Pandolfi JM, Bradbury RH, Dala E, Hughes TP, Bjorndal KA, Cooke RG, McArdle
 D, McClenachan L, Newman MJH, Paredes G, Warner RR, Jackson JBC (2003)
 Global trajectories of the long-term decline of coral reef ecosystems. Science
 301:955-958
- Perry AL, Low PJ, Ellis JR, Reynolds JD (2005) Climate change and distribution shifts in marine fishes. Science 308:1912-1915
- Pet-Soude L (2000) Effects of coral bleaching on the socio-economics of the fishery in Bolinao, Pangasinan, Philippines. Coastal Resources Center, Narragansett, USA.
- Polunin NVC (2008) Aquatic Ecosystems: trends and global prospects. Cambridge University Press. In Press

- Pratchett MS (2005) Dietary overlap among coral-feeding butterflyfishes (Chaetodontidae) at Lizard Island, northern Great Barrier Reef. Marine Biology 148:373-382
- Pratchett MS (2007) Dietary selection by coral-feeding butterflyfishes (Chaetodontidae) on the Great Barrier Reef, Australia. Raffles Bulletin of Zoology 14:161-166
- Pratchett MS, Berumen ML, Marnane MJ, Eagle JV, Pratchett DJ (2008c) Habitat associations of juvenile versus adult butterflyfishes. Coral Reefs DOI 10.1007/s00338-008-0357-8
- Pratchett MS, Munday PL, Wilson SK, Graham NAJ, Cinner JE, Bellwood DR, Jones GP, Polunin NVC, McClanahan TR (2008a) Effects of climate-induced coral bleaching on coral-reef fishes: Ecological and economic consequences.
 Oceanography and Marine Biology: An Annual Review 46:251-296
- Pratchett MS, Wilson SK, Berumen ML, McCormick MI (2004) Sublethal effects of coral bleaching on an obligate coral feeding butterflyfish. Coral Reefs 23:352-356
- Pratchett MS, Wilson SK, Graham NAJ, Munday PL, Jones GP, Polunin NVC
 (2008b) Coral bleaching and consequences for motile reef organisms: past,
 present and uncertain future effects. In: van Oppen M, Lough J (eds) Coral
 bleaching: patterns, processes, causes and consequences. Springer Publishing. In
 Press
- Pratchett MS, Wilson SK, Baird AH (2006) Declines in the abundance of Chaetodon butterflyfishes following extensive coral depletion. Journal of Fish Biology 69:1269-1280

- Purcell SW, Bellwood DR (2001) Spatial patterns of epilithic algal and detrital resources on a windward coral reef. Coral Reefs 20:117-125
- Randall JE, Allen GR, Steene RC (1997) The complete divers' & fishermans' guide to fishes of the Great Barrier Reef and Coral Sea. Crawford House Publishing. Bathurst, Australia.
- Reese ES (1975) A comparative field study of the social behaviour and related ecology of reef fishes of the family Chaetodontidae. Z Tierpsychol 37:37-61
- Reese ES (1981) Predation on corals by fishes of the family Chaetodontidae:implications for conservation and management of coral reef ecosystems.Bulletin of Marine Science 31:594-604
- Riegl B (2002) Effects of the 1996 and 1998 positive sea-surface temperature anomalies on corals, coral diseases and fish in the Arabian Gulf (Dubai, UEA). Marine Biology 140:29-40
- Robertson DR (1996) Interspecific competition controls abundance and habitat use of territorial Caribbean damselfishes. Ecology 77: 885-899
- Robichaud D, Hunte W, Oxenford HA (1999) Effects of increased mesh size on catch and fishing power of coral reef fish traps. Fisheries Research 39:275-294
- Rogers CS (1990) Responses of coral reefs and reef organisms to sedimentation. Marine Ecology Progress Series 62:185-202
- Rotjan RD, Lewis SM (2005) Selective predation by parrotfishes on the reef coral *Porites astreoides*. Marine Ecology Progress Series 305:193-201
- Russ GR (1991) Coral reef fisheries: effects and yields. In Sale PF (ed) The Ecology of Fishes on Coral Reefs. Academic Press, San Diego. pp. 601-635

- Russ GR, Stockwell B, Alcala AC (2005) Inferring versus measuring rates of recovery in no-take marine reserves. Marine Ecology Progress Series 292:1-12
- Sadovy YJ, Vincent ACJ (2002) Ecological issues and the trades in live reef fishes. InSale PF (ed) Coral Reef Fishes: Dynamics and Diversity in a ComplexEcosystem. Academic Press, San Diego. pp 391-420
- Saji NH, Goswami BN, Vinayachandran PN, Yamagata T (1999) A dipole mode in the tropical Indian Ocean. Nature 401:360-363
- Sala OE, Chapin FS, Armesto JJ, Berlow E, Bloomfield J, Dirzo R, Huber-Sanwald E, Huenneke LF, Jackson RB, Kinzig A, Leemans R, Lodge DM, Mooney HA, Oesterheld M, Poff NL, Sykes MT, Walker BH, Walker M, Wall DH (2000)
 Global biodiversity scenarios for the year 2100. Science 287:1770-1774
- Samways MJ (2005) Breakdown of butterflyfish (Chaetodontidae) territories associated with the onset of a mass coral bleaching event. Aquatic Conservation: Marine and Freshwater Ecosystems 15:S101-S107
- Sandin SA, Smith JE, DeMartini EE, Dinsdale EA, Donner SD, Friedlander AM,
 Konotchick T, Malay M, Maragos JE, Obura D, Pantos O, Paulay G, Richie M,
 Rohwer F, Schroeder RE, Walsh S, Jackson JBC, Knowlton N, Sala E (2008)
 Baselines and degradation of coral reefs in the northern Line Islands. PLoS ONE 3(2): e1548
- Sano M (2000) Stability of reef fish assemblages: responses to coral recovery after catastrophic predation by *Acanthaster planci*. Marine Ecology Progress Series 198:121-130
- Sano M (2004) Short-term effects of a mass coral bleaching event on a reef fish assemblage at Iriomote Island, Japan. Fisheries Science 70:41-46

- Sano M, Shimizu M, Nose Y (1987) Long-term effects of destruction of hermatypic corals by *Acanthaster planci* infestation on fish communities at Iriomote Island, Japan. Marine Ecology Progress Series 37:191-199
- Schwartz G (1978) Estimating the Dimension of a Model. Annual Statistics 6: 461-464.
- Scoffin TP (1993) The geological effects of hurricanes on coral reefs and the interpretation of storm deposits. Coral Reefs 12:203-221
- Sheppard CRC (1998) Biodiversity patterns in Indian Ocean corals, and effects of taxonomic error in data. Biodiversity Conservation 7:847-868
- Sheppard CRC (2000) The Chagos Archipelago, central Indian Ocean. In: Sheppard CRC (ed) Seas at the Millennium, a Scientific evaluation. Elsevier press. Vol 2, pp. 221- 232
- Sheppard CRC (2003) Predicted recurrences of mass coral mortality in the Indian Ocean. Nature 425:294-297
- Sheppard C, Obura D (2005) Corals and reefs of Cosmoledo and Aldabra atolls:
 Extent of damage, assemblage shifts and recovery following the severe mortality of 1998. Journal of Natural History 39:103-121
- Sheppard CRC, Harris A, Sheppard ALS (2008) Archipelago-wide coral recovery patterns since 1998 in the Chagos Archipelago, central Indian Ocean. Marine Ecology Progress Series, In Press
- Sheppard CRC, Spalding M, Bradshaw C, Wilson S (2002) Erosion vs. recovery of coral reefs after 1998 El Nino: Chagos reefs, Indian Ocean. Ambio 31:40-48

- Shibuno T, Hashimoto K, Abe O, Takada Y (1999) Short-term changes in the structure of a fish community following coral bleaching at Ishigaki Island, Japan. Galaxea 1:51-58
- Shibuno T, Hashimoto K, Abe O, Takada Y, Kawasaki H (2002) Disturbed coral reefs and the effects upon the structure of fish communities at Ishigaki Island, Japan.Fisheries Science 68 supplement 1:139-142
- Smith JE, Smith CM, Hunter CL (2001) An experimental analysis of the effects of herbivory and nutrient enrichment on benthic community dynamics on a Hawaiian reef. Coral Reefs 19:332-342
- Sousa WP (1979) Disturbance in marine intertidal boulder fields: the nonequilibrium of species diversity. Ecology 60:1225-1239
- Spalding MD, Jarvis GE (2002) The impact of the 1998 coral mortality on reef fish communities in the Seychelles. Marine Pollution Bulletin 44:309-321
- Spalding MD, Ravilious C, Green EP (2001) World Atlas of Coral Reefs. University of California Press, Berkeley.
- Steneck RS, Graham MH, Bouque BJ, Corbett D, Erlandson JM, Estes JA, Tegner MJ (2002) Kelp forest ecosystems: biodiversity, stability, resilience and future.Environmental Conservation. 29:436-459
- Syms C, Jones GP (2000) Disturbance, habitat structure, and the dynamics of a coralreef fish community. Ecology 81:2714-2729
- Thistle D (1981) Natural physical disturbances and communities of marine soft bottoms. Marine Ecology Progress Series 6:223-228

- Thomas CD, Cameron A, Green RE, Bakkenes M, Beaumont LJ, Collingham YC, Erasmus BFN, de Sigueira MF, Grainger A, Hannah L, Hughes L, Huntley B, van Jaarsveld AS, Midgley GF, Miles L, Ortega-Huerta MA, Peterson AT,
 Phillips OL, Williams SE (2004) Extinction risk from climate change. Nature 427:145–147
- Thompson AA, Mapstone BD (1997) Observer effects and training in underwater visual surveys of reef fishes. Marine Ecology Progress Series 154:53-63
- Tricas TC (1985) The economics of foraging in coral-feeding butterflyfishes ofHawaii. Proceedings of the Fifth International Coral Reef Symposium 5:409-414
- Tricas TC (1989a) Determinants of feeding territory size in the corallivorous butterflyfish, *Chaetodon multicinctus*. Animal Behaviour 37:830-841
- Tricas TC (1989b) Prey selection by coral-feeding butterflyfishes: strategies to maximize the profit. Environmental Biology of Fishes 25:171-185
- Turner J, Klaus R (2005) Coral reefs of the Mascarenes, Western Indian Ocean. Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society A 363:229-250
- Victor S (2008) Stability of reef framework and post-settlement mortality as the structuring factor for recovery of Malakal Bay Reef, Palau, Micronesia: 25 years after a severe COTS outbreak. Estuarine, Coastal and Shelf Science 77:175-180
- Walther G-R, Post E, Convey P, Menzel A, Parmesan C, Beebee TJC, Fromentin J-M, Hoegh-Guldberg O, Bairlein F (2002) Ecological responses to recent climate change. Nature 416:389-395

- Webster PJ, Holland GJ, Curry JA, Chang HR (2005) Changes in tropical cyclone number, duration, and intensity in a warming environment. Science 309:1844-1846
- West JM, Salm RV (2003) Resistance and resilience to coral bleaching: implications for coral reef conservation and management. Conservation Biology 17:956-967
- Wilkinson CR (2000) Status of coral reefs of the world: 2000. Australian Institute of Marine Science, Australia.
- Wilkinson C, Souter D, Goldberg J (2005) Status of coral reefs in tsunami affected countries: 2005. Townsville: Australian Institute of Marine Science.
- Williams DM (1986) Temporal variation in the structure of reef slope fish communities (central Great Barrier Reef): Short-term effects of Acanthaster planci infestations. Marine Ecology Progress Series 28:157-164
- Williams ID, Polunin NVC (2000) Differences between protected and unprotected reefs of the western Caribbean in attributes preferred by dive tourists.Environmental Conservation 27:382-391
- Williams ID, Polunin NVC, Hendrick VJ (2001) Limits to grazing by herbivorous fishes and the impact of low coral cover on macroalgal abundance on a coral reef in Belize. Marine Ecology Progress Series 222:187-196
- Williams ID, Walsh WJ, Tissot BN, Hallacher LE (2006) Impact of observers' experience level on counts of fishes in underwater visual surveys. Marine Ecology Progress Series 310:185-191
- Wilson SK (2000) Trophic status and feeding selectivity of blennies (Blenniidae: Salariini). Marine Biology 136:431-437

- Wilson SK, Bellwood DR, Choat JH, Furnas MJ (2003) Detritus in the epilithic algal matrix and its use by coral reef fishes. Oceanography and Marine Biology: An Annual Review 41:279-309
- Wilson SK, Burgess SC, Cheal AJ, Emslie M, Fisher R, Miller I, Polunin NVC,
 Sweatman HPA (2008a) Habitat utilization by coral reef fish: implications for
 specialists vs. generalists in a changing environment. Journal of Animal Ecology
 77:220-228
- Wilson SK, Fisher R, Pratchett MS, Graham NAJ, Dulvy NK, Turner RA, Cakacaka A, Polunin NVC, Rushton SP (2008b) Exploitation and habitat degradation as agents of change within coral reef fish communities. Global Change Biology, in press
- Wilson SK, Graham NAJ, Polunin NVC (2007) Appraisal of visual assessments of habitat complexity and benthic composition on coral reefs. Marine Biology 151:1069-1076
- Wilson SK, Graham NAJ, Pratchett MS (2009) Susceptibility of butterflyfish tohabitat disturbance: do chaets ever prosper? In Pratchett MS, Berumen ML (eds)Biology of Butterflyfishes. Science Publishers, in press
- Wilson SK, Graham NAJ, Pratchett MS, Jones GP, Polunin NVC (2006) Multiple disturbances and the global degradation of coral reefs: are reef fishes at risk or resilient? Global Change Biology 12:2220-2234
- Worm B, Barbier EB, Beaumont N, Duffy JE, Folke C, Halpern BS, Jackson JBC,
 Lotze HK, Micheli F, Palumbi SR, Sala E, Selkoe KA, Stachowicz JJ, Watson R
 (2006) Impacts of biodiversity loss on ocean ecosystem services. Science 314:
 787-790

- Zakai D, Chadwick-Furman NE (2002) Impacts of intensive recreational diving on reef corals at Eilat, northern Red Sea. Biological Conservation 105:179-187
- Zekeria ZA, Dawit Y, Ghebremedhin S, Naser M, Videler JJ (2002) Resource partitioning among four butterflyfish species in the Red Sea. Marine and Freshwater Research 53:163-168

Appendix A

Contributions during PhD

Publications

- Graham NAJ, Wilson SK, Jennings S, Polunin NVC, Bijoux, JP, Robinson J (2006)Dynamic fragility of oceanic coral reef ecosystems. Proceedings of the NationalAcademy of Sciences of the USA 103:8425-8429
- Wilson SK, Graham NAJ, Pratchett MS, Jones GP, Polunin NVC (2006) Multiple disturbances and the global degradation of coral reefs: are reef fishes at risk or resilient? Global Change Biology 12:2220-2234
- Stead SM, Daw T, Graham NAJ, Gray TS, Polunin NVC, Robinson J, McClanahan TR (2006) Trends in climate change, coastal governance, coral reef ecology and socio-economic variation in the Seychelles. World Maritime Technology Conference, IMAREST, London, 55-66
- Mühlig-Hofmann A, Veitayaki J, Polunin NVC, Stead SM, Graham NAJ (2006) Community-based marine resource management in Fiji – from yesterday to tomorrow. Proceedings of the tenth International Coral Reef Symposium, 1259-1266
- Graham NAJ, McClanahan TR, Letourneur Y, Galzin R (2007) Anthropogenic
 stressors, inter-specific competition and ENSO effects on a Mauritian coral reef.
 Environmental Biology of Fishes 78:57-69

- Wilson SK, Graham NAJ, Polunin NVC (2007) Appraisal of visual assessments of habitat complexity and benthic composition on coral reefs. Marine Biology 151:1069-1076
- Mangubhai S, Harris A, Graham NAJ (2007) Synchronous daytime spawning of the solitary coral *Fungia danai* (Fungiidae) in the Chagos Archipelago, central Indian Ocean. Coral Reefs 26:15
- McClanahan TR, Anteweberhan M, Graham NAJ, Wilson SK, Ruiz Sebastian C, Bruggemann JH, Guillaume MMM (2007) Western Indian Ocean coral communities: bleaching responses and susceptibility to extinction. Marine Ecology Progress Series 337:1-13
- McClanahan TR, Graham NAJ, Calnan J, MacNeil MA (2007) Towards Pristine Biomass: Reef Fish Recovery in Coral Reef Marine Protected Areas in Kenya. Ecological Applications 17:1055-1067
- McClanahan TR, Graham NAJ, Maina J, Chabanet P, Bruggemenn JH, Polunin NVC (2007) The influence of instantaneous variation on estimates of coral reef fish populations and communities. Marine Ecology Progress Series 340:221-234
- McClanahan TR, Anteweberhan M, Ruiz Sebastian C, Graham NAJ, Wilson SK, Bruggemann JH, Guillaume MMM (2007) Predictability of coral bleaching from synoptic satellite and in situ temperature observations. Coral Reefs 26:695-701
- Ledlie MH, Graham NAJ, Bythell JC, Wilson SK, Jennings S, Polunin NVC, Hardcastle J (2007) Phase shifts and the role of herbivory in the resilience of coral reefs. Coral Reefs 26:641-653

- Graham NAJ, Wilson SK, Jennings S, Polunin NVC, Robinson J, Bijoux JP, Daw TM (2007) Lag effects in the impacts of mass coral bleaching on coral reef fish, fisheries, and ecosystems. Conservation Biology 21:1291-1300
- Graham NAJ (2007) Ecological versatility and the decline of coral feeding fishes following climate driven coral mortality. Marine Biology 153:119-127
- Turner RA, Cakcaka A, Graham NAJ, Polunin NVC, Pratchett MS, Stead SM, Wilson SK (2007) Declining reliance on marine resources in remote South Pacific societies: ecological versus socio-economic drivers. Coral Reefs 26:997-1008
- Al-Habsi S, Sweeting CJ, Polunin NVC, Graham NAJ (2008) δ^{15} N and δ^{13} C elucidation of size structured food webs in a Western Arabian Sea demersal trawl assemblage. Marine Ecology Progress Series 353:55-63
- Purkis SJ, Graham NAJ, Riegl BM (2008) Predictability of reef fish diversity and abundance using remote sensing data in Diego Garcia (Chagos Archipelago).
 Coral Reefs 27:167-178
- Pratchett MS, Munday PL, Wilson SK, Graham NAJ, Cinner JE, Bellwood DR, Jones GP, Polunin NVC, McClanahan TR (2008) Effects of climate-induced coral bleaching on coral-reef fishes: Ecological and economic consequences.
 Oceanography and Marine Biology: An Annual Review 46:251-296
- McClanahan TR, Cinner JE, Maina J, Graham NAJ, Daw TM, Stead SM, Wamukota A, Brown K, Ateweberhan M, Venus V, Polunin NVC (2008) Conservation action in a changing climate. Conservation Letters 1:53-59
- Graham NAJ, McClanahan TR, MacNeil MA, Wilson SK, Polunin NVC, Jennings S, Chabanet P, Clark S, Spalding MD, Letourneur Y, Bigot L, Galzin R, Öhman MC, Garpe KC, Edwards AJ, Sheppard CRC (2008) Climate warming, marine

protected areas and the ocean-scale integrity of coral reef ecosystems. PLoS ONE 3(8): e3039. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0003039

- Polunin NVC, Gopal B, Graham NAJ, Hall SJ, Ittekkot V, Mühlig-Hofmann A (2008)
 Trends and global prospects of the Earth's aquatic ecosystems. In: Polunin NVC
 (ed) Aquatic Ecosystems: trends and global prospects. Cambridge University
 Press. pp 353-365
- Pratchett MS, Wilson SK, Graham NAJ, Munday PL, Jones GP, Polunin NVC (2008)
 Coral bleaching and consequences for motile reef organisms: past, present and uncertain future effects. In: van Oppen M, Lough J (eds) Coral bleaching:
 patterns, processes, causes and consequences. Springer Publishing. pp139-158
- MacNeil MA, Graham NAJ, Polunin NVC, Kulbicki M, Galzin R, Harmelin-Vivien M, Rushton SP (2008) Hierarchical Drivers of Reef-Fish Metacommunity Structure. Ecology, in press
- Wilson SK, Fisher R, Pratchett MS, Graham NAJ, Dulvy NK, Turner RA, Cakacaka A, Polunin NVC, Rushton SP (2008) Exploitation and habitat degradation as agents of change within coral reef fish communities. Global Change Biology, in press
- Wilson SK, Graham NAJ, Pratchett MS (in press) Susceptibility of butterflyfish to habitat disturbance: do chaets ever prosper? In: Pratchett MS, Berumen ML (eds) Biology of Butterflyfishes. Science Publishers
- MacNeil MA, Graham NAJ, Conroy MJ, Fonnesbeck CJ, Polunin NVC, Rushton SP, Chabanet P, McClanahan TR (in press) Detection bias in underwater visual transect data. *Journal of Fish Biology*

Presentations

- 'Coral bleaching fish and fisheries in the Seychelles' 4th, Western Indian Ocean Marine Science Symposium, **Mauritius**
- 'Coral bleaching fish and fisheries in the Seychelles' Reef Conservation U K, UK
- 'Impacts of coral loss and fishing on fish communities in the Lau Islands, Fiji' -

Public lecture, University of the South Pacific, Fiji

- 'The long-term impacts of coral bleaching for fish and fisheries in the Seychelles' -JCU seminar series, James Cook University, Australia
- 'Lag effects in the impacts of the 1998 bleaching event on coral reef fisheries in the Seychelles' - European Coral Reef Symposium, **Germany**
- 'The impacts of the 1998 bleaching event on coral reef fish in the western Indian Ocean' - Meso-scale effects of bleaching workshop, **Zanzibar**
- 'Assessing the impacts of coral bleaching on fish across the Indian Ocean using continuous model meta-analysis' - James Cook University, Australia
- 'Ecological data: effects of coral bleaching on fish assemblages' 1st Social and Ecological Responses to Reef Ecosystem Change in the Western Indian Ocean workshop, Mombasa, Kenya
- 'Assessing the impacts of coral bleaching on fish across the western Indian Ocean using continuous model meta-analysis' - 5th Western Indian Ocean Marine Science Association, Durban, South Africa
- 'Climate warming and the ocean-scale integrity of coral reef ecosystems' 10th Reef Conservation UK meeting, UK

'Long-term impacts of coral bleaching on fish in the inner Seychelles' Public Lecture, Seychelles Fishing Authority, **Seychelles**

'What are the Marine Parks of the inner Seychelles achieving in terms of fisheries and resilience to bleaching?' – 2nd Social and Ecological Responses to Reef Ecosystem Change in the Western Indian Ocean workshop, **Mauritius**

'Climate warming, marine protected areas and the ocean scale integrity of coral reef ecosystems' – 11th International Coral Reef Symposium, Fort Lauderdale, Florida, USA

Appendix B

Reprints of published chapters

Chapter 2:

Graham NAJ (2007) Ecological versatility and the decline of coral feeding fishes following climate driven coral mortality. Marine Biology 153:119-127

Chapter 4:

Graham NAJ, McClanahan TR, Letourneur Y, Galzin R (2007) Anthropogenic
 stressors, inter-specific competition and ENSO effects on a Mauritian coral reef.
 Environmental Biology of Fishes 78:57-69

Chapter 5:

Graham NAJ, Wilson SK, Jennings S, Polunin NVC, Robinson J, Bijoux JP, Daw TM (2007) Lag effects in the impacts of mass coral bleaching on coral reef fish, fisheries, and ecosystems. Conservation Biology 21:1291-1300

Chapter 6:

Graham NAJ, McClanahan TR, MacNeil MA, Wilson SK, Polunin NVC, Jennings S, Chabanet P, Clark S, Spalding MD, Letourneur Y, Bigot L, Galzin R, Öhman MC, Garpe KC, Edwards AJ, Sheppard CRC (2008) Climate warming, marine protected areas and the ocean-scale integrity of coral reef ecosystems. PLoS ONE 3(8): e3039. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0003039

RESEARCH ARTICLE

Ecological versatility and the decline of coral feeding fishes following climate driven coral mortality

Nicholas A. J. Graham

Received: 6 April 2007/Accepted: 29 July 2007/Published online: 12 September 2007 © Springer-Verlag 2007

Abstract Coral reefs are under threat due to climatemediated coral mortality, which affects some reef coral genera more severely than others. The impact this has on coral reef fish is receiving increasing attention, with one focal area assessing impacts on fish that feed directly on live coral. It appears that the more specialised a species of corallivore, the more susceptible it is to coral declines. However data are sparse for the Indian Ocean, and little is known about why some corals are preferentially fed upon over others. Here I assess feeding specialisation in three species of coral feeding butterflyfish in the Chagos Archipelago, central Indian Ocean, assess the food quality of the coral genera they target and document patterns of decline in the Seychelles following a severe coral mortality event. Cheatodon trifascialis was the most specialised coral feeder, preferentially selecting for Acropora corals, however, when Acropora was scarce, individuals showed considerable feeding plasticity, particularly for the dominant Pocillopora corals. C. trifasciatus also preferentially fed on Acropora corals, but fed on a much more diverse suite of corals and also displayed some selectivity for Porites. C. auriga is a facultative corallivore and consumed $\sim 55\%$ live coral, which lies within the wide range of coral dependence reported for this species. C:N ratio analysis indicated Lobophyllia and Acropora have the highest food quality, with Pocillopora having the lowest, which conforms with diet selection of corallivores and helps explain preferential feeding. Obligate

Communicated by A. Atkinson.

N. A. J. Graham (⊠) School of Marine Science and Technology, Newcastle University, Newcastle-upon-Tyne, NE1 7RU, UK e-mail: n.a.j.graham@ncl.ac.uk specialist feeders displayed the greatest declines through coral mortality in the Seychelles with obligate generalists also declining substantially, but facultative feeders showing little change. Clearly a greater understanding of the species most vulnerable to disturbance, their habitat requirements and the functional roles they play will greatly assist biodiversity conservation in a changing climate.

Introduction

The decline of coral dominated reef systems and a change in coral composition from diverse and often Acropora dominated reefs, to less structurally complex encrusting and massive coral dominated reefs (McClanahan et al. 2007) is being driven increasingly by coral bleaching, mediated by climate change (Hoegh-Guldberg 1999; Sheppard 2003). The impacts of coral decline on the wider ecosystem has received increasing attention, with the effects on fish being especially well investigated [reviewed by Wilson et al. (2006)]. While in the medium-term (5-10 years post disturbance) the diversity and abundance of a wide range of species can be affected (Jones et al. 2004; Garpe et al. 2006; Graham et al. 2006), in the shortterm (<3 years post disturbance), the impacts appear limited to species that specialise on coral for diet, recruitment or habitat purposes (Williams 1986; Kokita and Nakazono 2001; Wilson et al. 2006; Munday et al. 1997). However, even for specialised fish, the full effects can take some time to reach fruition (Pratchett et al. 2004), and seem to vary according to the degree to which the fish are specialised (Munday 2004; Pratchett et al. 2006).

Corallivorous fish can vary in their dependence on live coral and although the majority of species feed mainly on scleractinian corals (Hourigan et al. 1988), their diet may include hard corals, soft corals, gorgonians, sponges, algae, polychaetes and crustaceans (Pratchett 2005). Many feeding studies of corallivores have assessed hard coral as a single category (Reese 1975; Harmelin-Vivien and Bouchon-Navaro 1981, 1983; Bouchon-Navaro 1986; Zekeria et al. 2002), however, other studies have partitioned feeding patterns at the scale of genera or species of coral, which enables the degree of specialisation to be elucidated (Cox 1994; Irons 1989; Pratchett 2005; Berumen et al. 2005). Assessing the degree of specialisation of species enables a continuum of ecological versatility to be assessed against resource availability or through disturbance (Munday 2000, 2004), or a greater number of broad categories of feeding or functional groups to be assessed (Pratchett et al. 2006).

Although data on the extent of ecological versatility in coral feeding fish is increasing, we have little knowledge as to why some species are specialists, sometimes preferentially targeting only one species of coral, whilst other species feed on a far broader range of prey. Furthermore, although our understanding of the degree of feeding specialisation and resource partitioning among corallivores has greatly advanced in the Pacific (Pratchett 2005; Berumen et al. 2005) and this has enabled a better understanding of declines in corallivores following disturbances (Pratchett et al. 2006) or switches in assemblage composition following reorganisation of benthic resources (Berumen and Pratchett 2006), whether these patterns and trends transcend into the Indian Ocean is not clear. Indeed geographical variation in feeding preferences of corallivores has been reported for specialist feeders (Irons 1989) and facultative coral feeders (Pratchett 2005; Harmelin-Vivien and Bouchon-Navaro 1983), indicating a need to broaden the geographical extent of such studies.

Here I assess, in the central Indian Ocean, the degree of specialisation in three species of coral feeding butterflyfishes representing specialist, generalist and facultative corallivores. I assess how this specialisation changes between habitats with differing dominance and diversity of corals available. To assess whether feeding selection is related to nutritional value, I assess the food quality of the four dominant corals selected by the fish. Finally, to assess the impact of coral loss on species with differing dependency on coral resources, patterns of temporal change in abundance of corallivores were examined through a major coral mortality event in the Seychelles.

Materials and methods

Study sites

The study was conducted at two locations: diet analysis and associated work was conducted at Diego Garcia atoll in the

Chagos Archipelago, central Indian Ocean, while temporal change in corallivore density was assessed in the granitic islands of the Seychelles. Although it would have been preferable to conduct the feeding study and change in abundance through disturbance at the same location, the two locations have very similar coral communities. Indeed, in an assessment of coral species diversity across the entire Indian Ocean, Sheppard (1998) showed that Chagos, the granitic Seychelles and the Maldives clustered together into a distinct group in terms of species similarity and that the Seychelles and Chagos were particularly similar.

In Diego Garcia, two sites were selected for substrate assessment, corallivore density counts, feeding selectivity and coral food quality assessments. One reef (Diego east; 7°14.359'S, 72°26.411'E) was in a sheltered bay in the northeast corner of the atoll and, although hosting a fairly diverse coral assemblage, was dominated by Pocillopora. The second reef (Diego central; 7°14.534'S, 72°24.636'E) was a large platform patch reef in the north central section of the atoll, which was less diverse and dominated by Acropora. Both reefs were between 1 and 3 m depth and all observations were conducted on snorkel. Change in density of corallivores was assessed through a major bleaching event in the Seychelles. Data were collected in 1994 and 2005, spanning the 1998-bleaching event. For full details of study sites see Jennings et al. (1995) and Graham et al. (2006).

Substratum availability

To determine whether feeding preferences were influenced by the availability of potential food resources, substratum availability was quantified. At both Diego east and Diego central the benthos along five randomly placed 10 m transect lines was quantified using the line intercept method, whereby the distance of tape occupied by each substrate category was quantified. These data were converted into percent covers of each category and means plotted with standard errors per site. Differences in cover by genera were assessed using one-way ANOVA. *Acropora* cover had to be Log₁₀ transformed to meet the assumptions of the test.

Feeding observations

Feeding observations were conducted for three species of chaetodontid butterflyfish, one obligate specialist coral feeder, *Chaetodon trifascialis*, which is expected to consistently favour certain prey items, whether these items are common or rare, one obligate generalist coral feeder, *C. trifasciatus*, which is expected to feed on a wider variety

of prey items, in closer proportions to those available in the environment and one facultative coral feeder, C. auriga, which is expected to feed on coral, but also ingest other non-coral prey (Hourigan et al. 1988). The range and proportional consumption of various prey items targeted by each individual was recorded during 3 min observation periods (following Pratchett 2005). The majority of individuals continued to feed during observation, however observations were discontinued if the observer disturbed the fishes. No intra-specific aggressive interactions were noted during feeding observations. Coral preys were identified to the genus level (16 genera were fed upon during the study), and other prey items included soft coral, sponge, epilithic algae, coralline algae and consolidated reef pavement. Reefs were surveyed in a zigzag pattern from one end to the other to try to ensure the same individual was not observed twice. All observations at both sites were made between 10 am and 2 pm, with no bias for time between sites. Between 20 and 30 individuals were surveyed per species per site (Table 1).

As data were collected on selection of resource units by individual animals, but resource availability was assessed at the population level, resource selection functions $(\hat{W_i})$ were calculated following Manly et al. (1993) using the formula:

 $\hat{W}_{i} = u_{i+}/(\pi_{i}u_{++})$

where u_{i+} is the number of bites taken on food type i by all individuals, π_i is the proportion of that food type in the population and u_{++} is the total number of bites taken on all substrate types by all individuals (Manly et al. 1993). Bonferroni corrected 95% confidence intervals were calculated such that any function where the mean and confidence intervals were higher than one indicated selection, and if lower than one indicated avoidance. Data are presented as percent availability of resource verses percent number of bites for each area, with selection or avoidance

 Table 1 Bite rate and dietary composition of three species of butterflyfishes on two reefs with differing benthic composition in the Chagos Archipelago

	п	Mean no. of bites per 3 min observation	Hard coral consumed (%)	No. of coral genera consumed
Diego central				
C. trifascialis	26	13.0	100	1
C. trifasciatus	26	16.7	97	4
Diego east				
C. trifascialis	30	17.8	100	4
C. trifasciatus	27	14.4	97	14
C. auriga	20	6.5	55	5

indicated with a + or – symbol. Data are only presented for the four most common coral genera consumed (*Acropora*, *Lobophyllia*, *Pocillopora* and *Porites*) which represented 93% of corals consumed in Diego central and 56% in Diego east. The non-coral substratum categories were combined and selectivity of this category also presented.

Chaetodon density surveys

The density of each of the three target butterflyfish and any other species of butterflyfish at the same locations as the benthic and feeding observations at both Diego east and Diego central was quantified. The density of each species was recorded along five randomly placed 50×4 m belt transects in each of the two study sites (following Berumen et al. 2005). Overall differences in the assemblages between the two study sites was assessed by MANOVA and differences at the species level using one-way ANOVA.

Coral food quality

Eight samples of each of the four most commonly eaten coral genera (Acropora, Lobophyllia, Pocillopora and *Porites*) were taken at random from the field sites and dried on land. Every effort was made to ensure the most common species of each genera was consistently sampled. Once dried the samples were ground with pestle and mortar and placed in plastic vials for transport. On return to the lab the corals were placed in an oven at 50°C to ensure they remained dry. Each sample was then further ground into a powder, before being decalcified to remove the skeleton using 5% HCL. This solution was then freeze-dried and the resultant substance was ground into a powder and placed in glass vials. Carbon, hydrogen and nitrogen values were obtained by testing each sample on a Carlo Erba 1108 elemental analyser controlled with CE Eager 200 software, and weighed using a Mettler MT 5 Microbalance (Wilson 2000). Two runs were performed on each sample and an average taken. C:N ratios were then calculated for each sample run. C:N ratio's are a measure of food quality, a low value infers higher nitrogen to carbon, which indicates there is more protein present for growth (Purcell and Bellwood 2001; Wilson et al. 2003).

A one-way ANOVA was used to test for differences in C:N ratios among the four coral genera. The ANOVA was performed both with and without a clear outlier for the *Acropora* results, this data point displaying nearly double that of the median for the group. Normality of data was examined with histograms and normal probability plots of the residuals and homogeneity of variances were tested with Levene's test.

Temporal change in coral feeding fish densities

In both 1994 and 2005 the density of 134 species of diurnally active, non-cryptic reef fish were surveyed at 21 sites, spanning three different habitat types (carbonate fringing reefs, granitic rocky reefs with coral growth, and patch reef habitats on a sand, rubble or rock base), in the Seychelles, with sixteen 7 m radius point counts at each site conducted at the bottom of the reef slope [for full details see Jennings et al. (1995); Graham et al. (2006)]. In the present study, only the density data of corallivores are considered, which includes 13 species from the families Chaetodontidae, Monocanthidae and Labridae. Benthic data was also collected at each of the study sites, quantifying percent cover of different growth forms of live coral and other non-coral benthic categories (Jennings et al. 1995; Graham et al. 2006).

Density of the three species of chaetodontid for which feeding observations were made were analysed individually and all species were also assigned to three main feeding strategies based on the literature (McIlwain and Jones 1997; Allen et al. 1998; Kokita and Nakazono 2001; Pratchett 2005; http://www.fishbase.org). Three species were classified as obligate specialist coral feeders (Chaetodon trifascialis, Labrichthys unilineatus and Oxymonocanthus longirostris), four species as obligate generalist coral feeders (Chaetodon melannotus, C. meyeri, C. trifasciatus and C. zanzibarensis) and six species as facultative coral feeders (Chaetodon auriga, C. guttatissimus, C. kleinii, C. lineolatus, C. lunula and C. xanthocephalus). From the current literature, the similar feeding observations of this study as compared to those in the Pacific and the clear patterns observed in the data, these groupings appear to be robust.

Change in density of the individual species and aggregated feeding groups were assessed with a two-factor crossed ANOVA design with factors year and habitat type, however as habitat alone was not significant for any comparison, the data are presented for year only. Normality of data was examined with histograms and normal probability plots of the residuals and homogeneity of variances were tested with Levene's test. Aggregated level obligate generalists and specialist groups required log₁₀ transformation to meet the assumptions of the test.

Results

Substratum availability

The two sites had similar live coral cover (55% Diego east and 52% Diego central), but the dominance and diversity of coral genera varied greatly (Fig. 1). Diego east was dominated by *Pocillopora*, with a mean cover of 34% compared to 2.2% for Diego central ($F_{1,9} = 21.23$, P < 0.01). Conversely Diego central was dominated predominately by *Acropora* colonies, with a mean cover of 49% compared to 4.4% in Diego east ($F_{1,9} = 69.43$, P < 0.001). Cover of other live coral genera and non-coral substrate did not vary significantly, however the richness of coral genera was greater for Diego east (Fig. 1).

Feeding observations

The greatest bite rates in Diego central were recorded for *C. trifasciatus*, whereas in Diego east, *C. trifascialis* had the highest rates and *C. auriga* had considerably lower bite rates than the other two species (Table 1). *C. trifascialis* took 100% of bites from live coral at both sites, while *C. trifascialis* took 100% of bites from live coral at both sites, while *C. trifasciatus* took 97% and *C. auriga* took 55% (Table 1). In the lower diversity site, Diego central, *C. trifascialis* took all its bites from *Acropora* colonies, principally *Acropora tenuis*, the dominant species at the site, but also *Acropora clathrata*. *C. trifasciatus* took bites from four different genera at Diego central. At Diego east *C. trifascialis* consumed 14 genera and *C. auriga* consumed five genera, a considerable portion of its bites from non-coral substrata (Table 1).

Selectivity analysis shows that *C. trifascialis* is preferentially selecting *Acropora* and avoiding other available genera in Diego central (Fig. 2). *C. trifasciatus* displays a similar trend, however there is also evidence for selectivity on *Porites* spp. (Fig. 2). In Diego east *C. trifascialis* is preferentially selecting *Acropora*, but also taking a large proportion of bites on *Pocillopora* colonies. While *C. trifasciatus* appears to have a much more general diet, it is only selecting preferentially for *Acropora*. *C. auriga* appears to have a very general diet, and does not select for



Fig. 1 Benthic resource availability at Diego east and Diego central, Chagos Archipelago. *** P < 0.001, ** P < 0.01

Fig. 2 Feeding selectivity of *C. trifascialis*, *C. trifasciatus* and *C. auriga* at Diego central and Diego east, Chagos Archipelago. Data only presented for the four coral genera most preferentially consumed. *Black bars* indicate percent resource availability, *open bars* indicate percent feeding bites on that resource. *Plus* symbol indicates positive selectivity



any resource in greater proportion to its availability (Fig. 2).

Corallivore density surveys

The overall assemblage structure of corallivores between the two sites varied significantly in terms of density (MANOVA, Wilks = 0.017, $F_{3,6} = 28.45$, P < 0.01) (Fig. 3). *C. trifascialis* had a greater density in Diego central ($F_{1,9} = 28.77$, P < 0.001) while *C. trifasciatus* and *C. auriga* had higher densities in Diego east ($F_{1,9} = 22.43$, P < 0.001 and $F_{1,9} = 6.94$, P < 0.05, respectively). Although not significant, the remaining species all displayed higher densities in the more diverse Diego east site (Fig. 3).

Coral food quality

The lowest C:N ratios, and therefore highest food quality, were for *Acropora* and *Lobophyllia* coral genera, while Pocillopora had the highest C:N ratio (Fig. 4). ANOVA results indicate this difference is significant ($F_{3,30} = 4.25$, P < 0.05), with the only pairwise difference between *Lobophyllia* and *Pocillopora* (P < 0.01). However if the analysis is re-run with the clear outlier for *Acropora* (Fig. 4) removed, the trend is considerably stronger

 $(F_{3,29} = 7.86, P < 0.001)$, and *Acropora* is also different from *Pocillopora* in pairwise tests (P < 0.01).

Temporal change in coral feeding fish densities

Between 1994 and 2005 total live coral cover declined by an average of 73% at the sites studied in the Seychelles, with complex branching and plating corals declining by 95% to a new base level of 1% cover across the study area (Graham et al. 2006, 2007). Change in densities of the three focal Chaetodontids through this major bleaching event indicates the most specialist species (C. trifascialis) declined the most ($F_{1,41} = 11.16$, P < 0.01), followed by the generalist obligate coral feeder (C. trifasciatus) $(F_{1,41} = 9.47, P < 0.01)$, while the facultative corallivore (C. auriga) did not show any decline (Fig. 5). Habitat was not a significant factor for any of the species, however C. trifasciatus displayed a significant year \times habitat interaction term, which was due to a greater decline in carbonate and patch reef habitats than granitic reef habitats $(F_{2.41} = 3.36, P < 0.05)$. If all the corallivores in the assemblage are assigned to the above three feeding categories, the obligate specialist feeders show a 98% decline $(F_{1,41} = 120.11, P < 0.001)$, the obligate generalist coral feeders display a 73% decline ($F_{1,41} = 24.51, P < 0.001$) and the facultative coral feeders show a 32% decline $(F_{1,41} = 4.20, P = 0.048)$ (Fig. 5).



Fig. 3 Mean density of corallivores present in Diego central and Diego east. *** P < 0.001, ** P < 0.01, * P < 0.05



Fig. 4 Box and whisker plots of C:N ratios for four coral genera. *Box* indicates median value, lower and upper quartiles. *Whiskers* indicate range up to 1.5 times the box. *Outliers* indicated with an *asterisk*

Discussion and conclusions

Here I have shown that although there may be greater feeding plasticity than previously documented in some species of corallivore, there are obvious differences between obligate specialist, obligate generalist and facultative feeders, which may in part be due to the quality of food. Similar to a previous study (Pratchett et al. 2006), the degree of specialisation is reflected in the extent of decline in density following mass coral bleaching. The obligate specialist feeders were severely impacted in this study, with a potential local extinction of *Labrichthys unilineatus* (Graham et al. 2006).

The number of bites taken per 3 min observation varied among species and between the two study reef sites. Although bite rates of *C. trifasciatus* did not change markedly between reefs, *C. trifascialis* took a greater number of bites at Diego east (the *Pocillopora* dominated reef) than Diego central (the *Acropora* dominated reef). Although the sample sizes were not large, this could reflect



Fig. 5 Change in density of *C. trifascialis*, *C. trifasciatus* and *C. auriga* and obligate specialists, obligate generalists and facultative feeders in Seychelles before and after the 1998 bleaching event

abundance of preferred resources, with greater feeding rates required when preferred corals are not in abundance (Bowen et al. 1995). *C. trifascialis* are known to defend their territories aggressively (Reese 1975, 1981), so it is interesting that feeding rates were higher at the site where a greater number of other species were present and thus potentially a greater number of aggressive interactions may be expected. The lack of a difference in bite rates in *C. trifasciatus* was also noted before and after coral decline at trunk reef, Australia for *C. lunulatus* (closely related Pacific species) (Pratchett et al. 2004, but see Irons 1989). The lowest numbers of bites per observation were recorded for *C. auriga*, which again could reflect nutritional value of food items, this species often targeting polychaete worms and other invertebrates (Bouchon-Navaro 1986).

Both *C. trifascialis* and *C. trifasciatus* preyed on a greater number of coral genera in the more diverse *Pocillopora* dominated habitat, although *C. trifasciatus* was clearly the more generalist feeder and both species preferentially selected for *Acropora* corals. *C. trifascialis* is a highly specialised coral feeder, almost always selecting *Acropora*, often *Acropora hyacinthis* (Pratchett 2005, 2007), though the preferred species can vary geographically (Reese 1981). However, some plasticity in feeding has been observed when *Acropora* cover is very low (Irons 1989; Samways 2005), as is apparent in the current study. Feeding plasticity has also previously been documented

between reefs of varying coral availability for C. baronessa and C. lunulatus at Lizard Island, Great Barrier Reef (Berumen et al. 2005). When preferred corals were not in abundance, the physiological condition of the fish, as measured by hepatocyte vacuolation in the liver, declined (Berumen et al. 2005). A decline in physiological condition was also noted for C. lunulatus following declines in cover of Acropora corals, which resulted in declines in abundance, but a shift in diet away from Acropora (Pratchett et al. 2004). It is possible that C. trifascialis may have lower fitness and fecundity in Diego east due to sub-optimal diet, however analyses such as those described above would be required to ascertain this. Interestingly, C. trifasciatus selected for Porites corals in Diego central and took a greater proportion than available in Diego east, albeit taking very few bites from them overall. C. trifasciatus (now C. lunulatus) has been shown to feed primarily on poritid corals in Hawaii at sites where poritid and montiporid corals dominate (Cox 1994), suggesting that selectivity for Porites may be common in this species.

In this study *C. auriga* individuals took ~55% of bites from live coral. There appears to be a great deal of biogeographic variation in the feeding patterns of this species, with studies in Australia finding live coral made up just 4% of its diet (Pratchett 2005), ~61% in French Polynesia (Harmelin-Vivien and Bouchon-Navaro 1983) and ~29% in the Red Sea (Harmelin-Vivien and Bouchon-Navaro 1981; Bouchon-Navaro 1986). The species is clearly a facultative coral feeder, but whether the variation in coral dependence is a spatial or temporal artefact is yet to be elucidated.

As can be seen with Acropora in the Diego central site, selection functions do not always perform well when data are aggregated. In this study data were collected on selection of resource units by individual animals, but resource availability was assessed at the population level. Although the selection function chosen largely accounts for this (Manly et al. 1993), there is still a problem with resources in low availability, particularly when they are clumped in distribution, and/or the animals are territorial. In such situations assessment of resource availability within the specific boundaries of an individual territory may produce clearer results (however there are inherent problems in assessing butterflyfish territory size, as described by Reese (1981)). For example the low cover of Lobophyllia in Diego east was clumped, but when it did occur in a fishes territory, they took the majority of their bites from it. This coral has the fleshiest polyp and so potentially offers the greatest nutritional return per bite effort. Although Lobophyllia was recorded in the random benthic line intercept transects, because it only occurred in the territory of several fish, the selection function did not indicate positive selection.

There was an overall difference in species abundance between the two sites, with C. trifascialis having a significantly greater density in the Acropora dominated Diego central, and all other species present being in greater density in the more diverse Diego east. C. trifascialis is known to be very territorial and actively defend its territory from intruders (Reese 1975), suggesting that this species may dominate in such mono-specific Acropora rich areas (Pratchett 2005) inhibiting the presence of other species. Even competitively similar species can display inverse relationships in terms of abundance (Reese 1981). It has been suggested that competitively subordinate species may have a broader diet to avoid competition with more specialised aggressive species (Pratchett 2005). C. trifascialis lives as a solitary individual and defends a specific territory, whereas other species, such as C. trifasciatus and sometimes C. auriga occur in heterosexual pairs (Reese 1975, 1981). There is also variation in territory size, with C. trifascialis and C. trifasciatus utilising fairly small territories, whereas C. auriga forages over a wider area (Reese 1975). It appears C. trifascialis dominates over other species where Acropora is in abundance, as has been described in previous studies (Reese 1981; Pratchett 2005), and thus other species are in greater number on more diverse reefs, not dominated by Acropora, where coexistence is more likely achieved through partition of food resources (Zekeria et al. 2002).

One possible explanation for differences in feeding specialisation could be variation in food quality. C:N analysis indicated that Lobophyllia and Acropora tissue has a lower C:N ratio, thus greater food quality, than Pocillopora corals. If this is the case it could help explain why many corallivores preferentially feed on Acropora corals (Pratchett 2005), i.e. selecting for protein rich resources (Bowen et al. 1995). It could also help explain why species in habitats with low availability of preferred corals have been shown to have reduced physiological condition (Pratchett et al. 2004; Berumen et al. 2005). However the latter studies assessed lipid stores in the liver which equate to short-term energy needs more than the C:N ratios examined here, which give an indication of protein availability and energy for growth (Bowen et al. 1995). Whether the same corals found to have low C:N ratios in the present study also have high lipid content remains to be tested.

Methodological variation in C:N ratios should be minimised when techniques are standardised within a study, so one would hope the results presented here are comparable. As only one species per genera was assessed in the current study, it is not clear how much variation there is within genera of corals compared to among them. This is clearly an area for future research. However, given that in the current study area, certain species of coral dominated within a genera, and it was these that were both preyed upon by the fish and assessed for C:N ratios, the results are robust for the purpose of feeding selectivity.

It is clear from previous studies that coral tissue is a valuable food source (Bythell 1988; Rotjan and Lewis 2005), with algal and related food sources likely being of less nutritional value (Wilson 2000; Rotjan and Lewis 2005, but see Wilson et al. 2003 for variation) and invertebrates, such as polychaete worms having higher nutritional value (Rotjan and Lewis 2005). The higher nutritional value of invertebrates such as polychaetes may help explain why the feeding rates of C. auriga are less than obligate coral feeders. There will obviously be other reasons why species preferentially choose certain coral prey, which may involve resource partitioning (Zekeria et al. 2002; but see Pratchett 2005), functional jaw morphology (Motta 1988), morphology of corals (Tricas 1989) and presence of nematocysts (Gochfield 2004). It is likely that all these factors contribute to the final selectivity of fish.

Declines in density of corallivores between 1994 and 2005 in the Seychelles further highlight the importance of specialisation when assessing the vulnerability of fish to disturbance (Munday 2004; Pratchett et al. 2006; Wilson et al. 2006). In this study C. trifascialis and the aggregated obligate specialist feeders showed the greatest declines, followed by C. trifasciatus and the obligate generalists and C. auriga and the aggregated facultative feeders showed little change. This directly corresponds to predictions based on feeding selectivity, and the fact that Acropora, the preferred food of many specialists, is among the most vulnerable taxa of corals to coral bleaching and other disturbances such as crown-of-thorns starfish outbreaks and storms (McClanahan et al. 2004, 2007; Wilson et al. 2006). Pratchett et al. (2006) also found obligate coral feeding butterflyfish declined on the Great Barrier Reef following extensive coral mortality, but facultative and non-coral feeders did not. This study furthers this knowledge by highlighting the distinction between obligate specialist and obligate generalist feeders, and also includes species from the monocanthid and labrid families. Declines in density of coral feeders in the Seychelles were greater in marine protected areas than fished areas (Graham et al. 2007), suggesting this management option offered no insurance against the disturbance. Clearly when disturbances are so severe and spatially extensive, specialist species have little refuge.

There is a growing literature highlighting the vulnerability of specialist fish to disturbance (reviewed by Wilson et al. 2006), suggesting that measures of feeding (Pratchett 2005) or habitat (Munday et al. 1997) specialisation will be important criterion to predict which species are vulnerable to extinction on reefs (Munday 2004). Indeed, in the Seychelles, where the 1998 coral bleaching event devastated reefs, there is evidence of the local extinction of four specialist species (Graham et al. 2006). Local extinction of coral specialists has also been documented from Papua New Guinea following extensive coral mortality (Jones et al. 2004; Munday 2004). If we are to manage and conserve biodiversity in a changing climate, a greater understanding of the species most vulnerable to disturbance, their habitat needs and the functional roles they offer to the rest of the ecosystem will be imperative.

Acknowledgments The Chagos Research Expedition of 2006, funded largely by the FCO, London, and organised by Charles Sheppard enabled this work to take place. Funding for both work in Chagos and Seychelles was also received from the Leverhulme Trust, the Fisheries Society of the British Isles and the Western Indian Ocean Marine Science Association. Many thanks to Simon Jennings, Shaun Wilson, Jerker Tamelander and Bob Crawford for assistance in the field and for providing data. Thanks to John Bythell, Nick Polunin and Shaun Wilson for assistance in the lab, ideas and for critical evaluation of the manuscript.

References

- Allen GR, Steene R, Allen M (1998) A guide to angelfishes and butterflyfishes. Vanguard, Perth
- Berumen ML, Pratchett MS (2006) Recovery without resilience: persistent disturbance and long-term shifts in the structure of fish and coral communities at Tiahura Reef, Moorea. Coral Reefs 25:647–653
- Berumen ML, Pratchett MS, McCormick MI (2005) Within-reef differences in diet and body condition of coral-feeding butter-flyfishes (Chaetodontidae). Mar Ecol Prog Ser 287:217–227
- Bouchon-Navaro Y (1986) Partitioning of food and space resources by chaetodontid fishes on coral reefs. J Exp Mar Biol Ecol 103:21–40
- Bowen SH, Lutz EV, Ahlgren MO (1995) Dietary protein and energy as determinants of food quality: trophic strategies compared. Ecology 76:899–907
- Bythell JC (1988) A total nitrogen and carbon budget for the elkhorn coral Acropora palmata (Lamark). Proc Sixth Int Coral Reef Symp 2:535–540
- Cox EF (1994) Resource use by corallivorous butterflyfishes (family Chaetodontidae) in Hawaii. Bull Mar Sci 54:535–545
- Garpe KC, Yahya SAS, Lindahl U, Öhman MC (2006) Long-term effects of the 1998 coral bleaching event on reef fish assemblages. Mar Ecol Prog Ser 315:237–247
- Gochfield DJ (2004) Predation-induced morphological and behavioural defenses in a hard coral: implications for foraging behaviour of coral-feeding butterflyfishes. Mar Ecol Prog Ser 267:145–158
- Graham NAJ, Wilson SK, Jennings S, Polunin NVC, Bijoux JP, Robinson J (2006) Dynamic fragility of oceanic coral reef ecosystems. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 103:8425–8429
- Graham NAJ, Wilson SK, Jennings S, Polunin NVC, Robinson J, Bijoux JP, Daw TM (2007) Lag effects in the impacts of mass coral bleaching on coral reef fish, fisheries, and ecosystems. Cons Biol DOI: 10:1111/j.1523–1739.2007.00754.x
- Harmelin-Vivien ML, Bouchon-Navaro Y (1981) Trophic relationships among chaetodontid fishes in the Gulf of Aqaba (Red Sea). Proc Fourth Int Coral Reef Symp 2:537–544
- Harmelin-Vivien ML, Bouchon-Navaro Y (1983) Feeding diets and significance of coral feeding among Chaetodontid fishes in Moorea (French Polynesia). Coral Reefs 2:119–127

- Hoegh-Guldberg O (1999) Climate change, coral bleaching and the future of the world's coral reefs. Mar Freshw Res 50:839–866
- Hourigan TF, Tricas TC, Reese ES (1988) Coral reef fishes as indicators of environmental stress in coral reefs. In: Soule DF, Kleppel GS (eds) Marine organisms as indicators. Springer, Heidelberg, pp 107–135
- Irons DK (1989) Temporal and areal feeding behaviour of the butterflyfish, *Chaetodon trifascialis*, at Johnston Atoll. Environ Biol Fishes 25:187–193
- Jennings S, Grandcourt EM, Polunin NVC (1995) The effects of fishing on the diversity, biomass and trophic structure of Seychelles' reef fish communities. Coral Reefs 14:225–235
- Jones GP, McCormick MI, Srinivasan M, Eagle JV (2004) Coral decline threatens fish biodiversity in marine reserves. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 101:8251–8253
- Kokita T, Nakazono A (2001) Rapid response of an obligately corallivorous filefish Oxymonacanthus longirostris (Monacanthidae) to a mass coral bleaching event. Coral Reefs 20:155–158
- Manly BFJ, McDonald LL, Thomas DL (1993) Resource selection by animals. Chapman and Hall, London
- McClanahan TR, Baird AH, Marshall PA, Toscano MA (2004) Comparing bleaching and mortality responses of hard corals between southern Kenya and the Great Barrier Reef, Australia. Mar Pollut Bull 48:327–335
- McClanahan TR, Ateweberhan M, Graham NAJ, Wilson SK, Sebastian CR, Guillaume MMM, Bruggemann JH (2007) Western Indian Ocean coral communities: bleaching responses and susceptibility to extinction. Mar Ecol Prog Ser 337:1–13
- McIlwain JL, Jones GP (1997) Prey selection by an obligate coralfeeding wrasse and its response to small-scale disturbance. Mar Ecol Prog Ser 155:189–198
- Motta PJ (1988) Functional morphology of the feeding apparatus of ten species of Pacific butterflyfishes (Perciformes, Chaetodontidae): an ecomorphological approach. Environ Biol Fish 22:39– 67
- Munday PL (2000) Interactions between habitat use and patterns of abundance in coral-dwelling fishes of the genus *Gobiodon*. Environ Biol Fish 58:355–369
- Munday PL (2004) Habitat loss, resource specialisation, and extinction on coral reefs. Global Change Biol 10:1642–1647
- Munday PL, Jones GP, Caley MJ (1997) Habitat specialisation and the distribution and abundance of coral-dwelling gobies. Mar Ecol Prog Ser 152:227–239
- Pratchett MS (2005) Dietary overlap among coral-feeding butterflyfishes (Chaetodontidae) at Lizard Island, northern Great Barrier Reef. Mar Biol 148:373–382

- Pratchett MS (2007) Dietary selection by coral-feeding butterflyfishes (Chaetodontidae) on the Great Barrier Reef, Australia. Raffles Bull Zool 14:161–166
- Pratchett MS, Wilson SK, Berumen ML, McCormick MI (2004) Sublethal effects of coral bleaching on an obligate coral feeding butterflyfish. Coral Reefs 23:352–356
- Pratchett MS, Wilson SK, Baird AH (2006) Declines in the abundance of Chaetodon butterflyfishes following extensive coral depletion. J Fish Biol 69:1269–1280
- Purcell SW, Bellwood DR (2001) Spatial patterns of epilithic algal and detrital resources on a windward coral reef. Coral Reefs 20:117–125
- Reese ES (1975) A comparative field study of the social behaviour and related ecology of reef fishes of the family Chaetodontidae. Z Tierpsychol 37:37–61
- Reese ES (1981) Predation on corals by fishes of the family Chaetodontidae: implications for conservation and management of coral reef ecosystems. Bull Mar Sci 31:594–604
- Rotjan RD, Lewis SM (2005) Selective predation by parrotfishes on the reef coral *Porites astreoides*. Mar Ecol Prog Ser 305:193– 201
- Samways MJ (2005) Breakdown of butterflyfish (Chaetodontidae) territories associated with the onset of a mass coral bleaching event. Aquat Conserv Mar Freshwater Ecosys 15:S101–S107
- Sheppard CRC (1998) Biodiversity patterns in Indian Ocean corals, and effects of taxonomic error in data. Biodivers Conserv 7:847– 868
- Sheppard CRC (2003) Predicted recurrences of mass coral mortality in the Indian Ocean. Nature 425:294–297
- Tricas TC (1989) Prey selection by coral-feeding butterflyfishes: strategies to maximize the profit. Environ Biol Fish 25:171-185
- Williams DM (1986) Temporal variation in the structure of reef slope fish communities (central Great Barrier Reef): short-term effects of Acanthaster planci infestations. Mar Ecol Prog Ser 28:157–164
- Wilson SK (2000) Trophic status and feeding selectivity of blennies (Blenniidae: Salariini). Mar Biol 136:431–437
- Wilson SK, Bellwood DR, Choat JH, Furnas MJ (2003) Detritus in the epilithic algal matrix and its use by coral reef fishes. Oceanogr Mar Biol Annu Rev 41:279–309
- Wilson SK, Graham NAJ, Pratchett MS, Jones GP, Polunin NVC (2006) Multiple disturbances and the global degradation of coral reefs: are reef fishes at risk or resilient? Global Change Biol 12:2220–2234
- Zekeria ZA, Dawit Y, Ghebremedhin S, Naser M, Videler JJ (2002) Resource partitioning among four butterflyfish species in the Red Sea. Mar Freshw Res 53:163–168
ORIGINAL PAPER

Anthropogenic stressors, inter-specific competition and ENSO effects on a Mauritian coral reef

Nicholas A. J. Graham · Timothy R. McClanahan · Yves Letourneur · René Galzin

Received: 18 January 2006/Accepted: 25 April 2006/Published online: 7 July 2006 © Springer Science+Business Media B.V. 2006

Abstract Much of the western Indian Ocean suffered widespread loss of live coral in 1998 and interest is now focussed on the indirect effects of this coral loss on other components of the ecosystem, in particular fishes. However, it is just as important to identify changes in fish assemblages at locations that did not suffer coral mortality to understand local versus regional drivers. We surveyed benthic and fish communities on a reef flat in Mauritius five times between 1994 and 2005. The design allowed for comparison through time, along the coast and between inshore and offshore reef locations. The benthic community demonstrates

T. R. McClanahan Wildlife Conservation Society, Marine Programs, Bronx, NY 10460, USA

Y. Letourneur

Centre d'Océanologie de Marseille, UMR CNRS, Université de la Méditerranée, 6540, Campus de Luminy, Case 901, 13288 Marseille Cedex 09, France

R. Galzin

a clear trend along the coast, likely in response to a dredged water ski lane, but little change through time. Branching Acropora colonies dominate much of the live coral and best explain patterns in the fish assemblage (P < 0.01). Few changes in overall fish species richness through time were identified, and observed changes were within fishery target families rather than species reliant on live coral. Departure from expected levels of taxonomic distinctness suggests degradation in the community associated with the dredged ski lane. Non-metric multi-dimensional scaling of the fish assemblage demonstrates a similar pattern to that seen in the benthos; greater differences along the coast (Global R = 0.34) than through time (Global R = 0.17) and no trend between reef positions. SIMPER analysis identified two species of Stegastes as the main drivers of trends in the MDS plot and the most dominant of these, S. lividus, appears to be reducing species richness of the remaining fish community. The study highlights Mauritius as a regional refugia of thermally-sensitive corals and specialised fish, suggesting a need for careful management.

Keywords Climate change · Community structure · Reef fishes · Coral bleaching · Mascarene Islands · Tourism · *Stegastes* · Western Indian Ocean

N. A. J. Graham (\boxtimes)

School of Marine Science & Technology, University of Newcastle, Newcastle-upon-Tyne, NE1 7RU, UK e-mail: n.a.j.graham@ncl.ac.uk

FRE 2935 CNRS-EPHE, Ecosystèmes Coralliens, Université de Perpignan, 66860 Perpignan Cedex, France

Introduction

Coral reefs globally are suffering increasingly frequent events of thermally induced bleaching and associated mortality (Hoegh-Guldberg 1999; Sheppard 2003). Loss of live coral cover at this scale is expected to affect other components of the ecosystem (Walther et al. 2002), and studies of such impacts are growing in number. Much attention is focussed on likely ramifications for reef-associated fish assemblages. The majority of studies to date have been on the scale of a few months to years and indicate limited community change aside from species directly dependant on live coral or algae for food or shelter (Kokita and Nakazono 2001; Lindahl et al. 2001; Booth and Berretta 2002; Chabanet 2002, McClanahan et al. 2002; Sheppard et al. 2002; Spalding and Jarvis 2002; Sano 2004), whereas the longer term effects may be much greater (Jones et al. 2004; Garpe et al. in press; Graham et al. 2006). This may be due to lag effects associated with changes in physiological condition of fish (Pratchett et al. 2004) and collapse of the physical structure of the reef matrix (Garpe et al. in press; Graham et al. 2006). Understanding such effects and processes will clearly be essential for future use and management of affected reef systems.

When trying to understand the effects of bleaching on fish assemblages, it is just as important to assess change through the same time period at locations that did not suffer badly from bleaching, as it is to study sites where severe mortality occurred. This acts as a control for bleaching effects where other drivers in fish community dynamics can be identified in a region over the same time period. Ecological processes such as variable recruitment (Doherty and Williams 1988; Letourneur et al. 1998; Doherty et al. 2004), predation (Hixon 1991; Graham et al. 2003) or competitive interactions (Robertson 1996; Letourneur 2000; McClanahan 2000a) could be driven by natural processes and influence fish assemblages. They may also be driven by changes in habitat associated with effects such as eutrophication (McCook 1999), sedimentation (Rogers 1990), or fishing (Jennings et al. 1995; McClanahan and Graham 2005), or actions that may cause physical damage to the habitat (Brown et al. 1990;

Adjeroud et al. 1998). Identifying such processes and collecting baseline data at a location that has escaped much of the thermal damage characterised at other sites will provide information for future monitoring and management, particularly when future effects of bleaching at regional scales are expected to be significant (Sheppard 2003).

The warm phase of the El Niño Southern Oscillation (ENSO) event of 1998 resulted in the greatest global bleaching event on record (Hoegh-Guldberg 1999) and was particularly devastating to the western Indian Ocean (WIO) (Goreau et al. 2000) where it interacted with the warm portion of the Indian Ocean dipole (Saji et al. 1999). However, the effects varied greatly, with some locations, such as the Maldives and the inner Seychelles suffering 75-99% mortality, whereas other locations, such as Réunion and South Africa suffering low to negligible damage (Goreau et al. 2000; Obura 2005). Bleaching in Maurtius was also minimal with less than 10% coral cover effected in 1998 (Moothien Pillay et al. 2002; Turner and Klaus 2005), and 24% in 2004 (McClanahan et al. 2005). Post these two events coral cover is still dominated by thermally sensitive genus' such as Acropora and overall cover appears to have risen since a broad survey in 1992 (McClanahan et al. 2005).

This study assesses changes in benthic and fish communities on a narrow reef flat in north-west Mauritius that escaped much of the bleaching mortality experienced by other locations in the WIO in 1998. Temporal and spatial trends through a period 1994–2005, thus spanning the 1998, 2003 and 2004 bleaching events, are studied, aiming to identify any change in benthic and fish community structure. Alternative hypotheses are considered and, using a suite of multivariate tools, a case is built for the most plausible explanations for the observed trends.

Materials and methods

Study site and sampling techniques

Mauritius is located in the southwestern Indian Ocean, 200 km east of Réunion Island, and 800 km east of Madagascar, between latitudes

19.58 and 20.31°S, and longitudes 57.18 and 57.46°E. The study was conducted in the northwest coast of the island (Fig. 1), which is sheltered from the dominant southeast trade winds. The study site, Pointe aux Piments, is located 10 km north of the capital, Port-Louis, this part of the coast developed with hotels. The fringing reef, dominated largely by branching Acropora corals, is approximately 250 m wide and 1-2 m deep along this section of the coast, and largely used for recreational purposes by hotel guests. Within the study area a dredged water ski lane has been in active use since 1995 (Fig. 1). Fishing pressure around Mauritius is high (~ 1600 t yr^{-1} from lagoons and reefs) and is thought to exceed maximum sustainable yields (Turner and Klaus 2005).

Data were collected on benthic and fish communities at ten stations over a 10 year period, where samples were collected in 1994, 1995, 1996, 1997 and 2005. The design allowed for comparison through time, along the coast and between inshore and offshore reef locations. Five transects (T1–T5) perpendicular to the shore, each had a landward (A) and seaward (B) sampling station, where a 50 m transect tape was laid down parallel to the shore in a southerly orientation (Fig. 1). The study site comprised approximately 1 km of shoreline, each transect being separated by 200– 350 m. Land sampling stations (A) were located 50 m from the shore, whereas sea stations (B) were ~200 m from the shore.

Full fish censuses were carried out by snorkel along 50*2 m belt transects at each of the ten sampling stations. Fish were identified to the species level (within 29 families) and abundance estimated. The discrete group sampling technique was used, whereby fish in different families and mobility groups were surveyed during different passes of the transect (four in total) to account for varying behaviours (Harmelin-Vivien et al. 1985). This process was repeated 3 times for each station and an average abundance for each species attained. A presence/absence survey was also conducted around each station area during a

57:35'W Study site Mauritius Island T: 20:20'S T4-A T4-B Indian Ocean 10 km Reef from Water ski lane T3-A T3-B Indian Ocean Hotel T2-/ T2-E TI-A T1-Open ocean Reef flat Land

Fig. 1 Map of the study site, indicating location in Mauritius, proximity of the ten sampling stations, direction of transects and location of dredged water ski lane. Adapted from Adjeroud et al. 1998 30-min timed swim. Although fish counts were conducted by three different observers over the five sampling years, all observers were highly experienced and observer variation is expected to be minimal (Williams et al. 2006; McClanahan et al. in review). After a fish census was complete the benthos along the same 50 m transect line was quantified using the line intercept method (Loya 1978), whereby the distance of tape occupied by the following substratum categories was quantified: live branching coral, live plating coral, live other coral and dead substratum. These data were converted into percent covers of each category for each of the ten stations surveyed within each year. Data were collected during peak daylight hours. Surveys in 1994, 1996 and 2005 were during the Austral winter, whereas surveys in 1995 and 1997 were during the Austral summer, however analysis of 1994-1997 data indicated little seasonal variation (R. Galzin unpublished data).

Data analysis

Due to the multi-species nature of the data and the design of the survey, the most appropriate analyses were multivariate (Clarke and Warwick 2001a). To assess patterns in benthic data from all stations in all years we used correlation-based principle components analysis. Data were log(x + 1) transformed to account for some right skewness detected in draftsman's plots and normalised. Eigenvectors were overlaid on the resultant plot to identify direction and contribution of the different variables to the patterns and to identify any correlation between variables. Percent total live coral was also quantified for each transect and landward and seaward sampling stations across the 5-year period. Two-way ANOVA's were used to assess differences through time associated with both trends along and away from the shore. Normality of data was examined with histograms and normal probability plots of the residuals. Homogeniety of variances were tested with Bartlett's test. Where a significant difference was found, Tukey's test identified those samples driving the differences.

Presence/absence fish diversity data from timed swims was pooled to the year level to represent the reef as a whole. Overall species richness (S) and richness within key families was calculated for each year.

We examined the taxonomic diversity of the fish assemblage for each station and year. Average taxonomic distinctness (AvTD) was calculated by assessing the degree to which species in a sample are taxonomically related, measuring the average path length between every pair of species based on a taxonomic tree (Clarke and Warwick 1998). Variation in taxonomic distinctness (VarTD) was assessed by measuring the evenness to which the taxa were spread across the tree (Clarke and Warwick 2001b). Funnel plots were constructed for both variables with expected mean and 95% confidence limits constructed from a simulation distribution using random subsets of the master taxonomy list (constructed following Helfman et al. (1997)). Any departure from expected values could thus be identified, where low AvTD and low to normal VarTD indicates degraded locations (Clarke and Warwick 2001b). General patterns related to our study design were tested using two-way crossed ANOVAs with the factors year and transect, as these were identified as the key sources of variation by Analysis of Similarities (ANOSIM).

Fish assemblages within each station in each year were compared using non-metric multidimensional scaling (MDS) based on Bray-Curtis similarity measures. Species abundance data were square-root transformed to down weight abundant species. Differences between years, transects and reef position (A-B) were tested using ANOSIM, which is a non-parametric permutation procedure. After identification of which transects and years (the 2 significant factors) differed the most (ANOSIM pairwise test output), SIMPER analysis was run on the data matrix. SIMPER decomposes Bray-Curtis dissimilarities between all pairs of samples to identify those species that contribute most to differences (Clarke and Warwick 2001a).

As SIMPER identified *Stegastes lividus* followed by *Stegastes nigricans* as the species contributing most to the significant trends in the MDS plot for both year and transects along the shore, bubble plots were used to overlay relative abundance of both of these species enabling identification of the trends they were contributing to. As these species are both highly aggressive and territorial (Randall et al. 1997; Letourneur 2000), the influence that their abundance has on species richness of the rest of the fish assemblage was tested using linear regression analysis.

To link the benthic and fish data, bubble plots were used to overlay relative value of benthic variables on the fish species MDS plot. This allowed identification of any trends driven by the benthic variables. The BEST BIO-ENV routine was then run using Spearman rank correlation between benthic Euclidean distance and fish species Bray–Curtis similarity matrices to identify the benthic variable or group of variables that best explained the patterns in the fish species MDS plot (Clarke and Warwick 2001a). The significance of this result was tested using a permutation test.

Results

The benthos at this location in Mauritius experienced very little change through the 10-year study period. Principal Components Analysis indicates a trend along the shore line, from Transects 1 and 2 to Transects 4 and 5, but little change with time (Fig. 2). The main factors influencing this pattern along PC1 (~57% of variation) are higher cover of live branching and plating corals towards the southern end of the study site, or away from the ski lane, and higher cover of dead substratum towards the north (Fig. 2). Percent cover of other live substratum (mainly massive corals) appears to be driving patterns along PC2, however this cover was often low. These trends are further highlighted by looking at overall percent live coral cover. The decline along the coast in a northerly direction is significant ($F_{4,37} = 13.9$, P < 0.001), Tukey's test indicating that T1 differs from T4 and T5, and T2 differs from T3, T4 and T5, whereas no such trend is found through time (P = 0.70) (Fig. 3a). The greater cover at near shore locations compared to seaward locations (A-B) in 1994 was not nearly as great in subsequent years, and the overall difference between sites A and B and through time is not significant (P = 0.15 and P = 0.85) (Fig. 3b).

The timed swim presence/absence surveys demonstrate remarkable stability in overall fish species richness through time (Table 1). Stability is consistent in nearly all the key families involved, including those dependant on live coral such as the chaetodontids. Notable declines in number of species are seen for lethrinids, lutjanids (though both were already in low number) and in particular serranids, all of which are common fishery target species (Table 1).

Conversely, at the level of stations, a number of samples depart negatively from the expected





Fig. 3 Percent cover of total live coral in (a) each year by transect and (b) each year by position from the shore

values of AvTD, suggesting some samples may be taxonomically depauperate (Fig. 4a). The only significant decline in the ANOVA model was for the factor year ($F_{4,25} = 3.22$, P = 0.03) and Tukey's pairwise comparisons indicate that this was influenced by lower values in 1997 versus 2005 (P = 0.03). Much less departure from expected

 Table 1 Reef fish species richness from presence/absence

 timed swim data at level of whole assemblage (S) and

 within selected families

	1994	1995	1996	1997	2005
Total species richness (S)	104	102	110	99	101
Acanthuridae	7	9	8	8	7
Balistidae	2	1	2	1	3
Chaetodontidae	8	9	8	11	10
Holocentridae	3	4	5	4	3
Labridae	19	22	21	24	20
Lethrinidae	3	3	2	2	2
Lutjanidae	1	0	2	0	0
Monacanthidae	4	5	5	3	5
Mullidae	6	5	4	5	7
Pomacentridae	13	13	12	12	14
Scaridae	7	7	9	7	6
Serranidae	7	3	4	4	1
Siganidae	1	1	1	0	1

values is noticed for VarTD (Fig. 4b), however a weak significant difference is detected for the factor transect ($F_{4,25} = 2.95$, P = 0.04), which is driven by a difference between Transect 1 and 3 (P = 0.04).

The fish species MDS plot indicates a very similar pattern to that found in the benthic PCA, some difference in years, but an overall trend along the coast from T1 and T2 to T4 and T5 (Fig. 5a). Samples from T1 and T2 are located in the bottom left side of the plot for all years, with samples from more northerly transects located to the top and right of the plot. This pattern is highlighted by the ANOSIM results, with significant differences for Year and Transect, but not Position on the reef (Table 2). Pairwise testing identified 1994 departing from all other years and 2005 from 1996 and 1997. Pairwise tests for Transect identified T1 departing from T4 and T5, and T2 from T4 (Table 2).

SIMPER analysis, for the 2 years and transects that differed the greatest from one another, highlighted that Stegastes lividus followed by S. nigricans were contributing by far the greatest to the observed differences (Table 3). Pomacentrids and more mobile scarids, acanthurids and wrasses make up the majority of the remaining species contributing 60% of the differences (Table 3). The trends driven by S. lividus and S. nigricans are highlighted by the bubble plots (Fig. 5b, c), the former being more dominant in the southerly sites that have greater live coral cover (Fig. 3a), whereas the latter is more dominant in the northerly sites. Furthermore, and likely exacerbating the patterns, is that the abundance of S. lividus but not S. nigricans is negatively correlated with overall fish species richness, though the trend is not consistently significant between years (Fig. 6).

Bubble plots overlaying percent cover of benthic variables on the fish species MDS further highlight these trends; samples to the bottom left of the plot being dominated more by live branching and plating corals (Fig. 5d, f), whereas samples to the right of the plot have a greater cover of dead substratum (Fig. 5e). Rank correlation of benthic variables to the fish species data indicates that the best single and significant (BioEnv Rho statistic: P < 0.01) benthic variable Fig. 4 Funnel plots of average taxonomic distinctness (a) and variation in taxonomic distinctness (b) of each sampling station (belt transects) within each year with mean and 95% confidence limits from expected values using master taxonomy aggregation file



driving the patterns in the fish data is the percent cover of live branching coral (r = 0.36).

Discussion

Coral and fish communities appear to have experienced very little change over 10 years at this location in Mauritius, in contrast to other studied sites in the western Indian Ocean (Lindahl et al. 2001; McClanahan et al. 2002, Sheppard et al. 2002; Graham et al. 2006). Indeed the dominant trend at the study location appears to be along the coast, rather than through time. This suggests that the benthic community has changed very little through the 1998 ENSO event and the more minor 2003 and 2004 bleaching events. Unfortunately, reefs were not sampled between 1997 and 2005, which raises the question as to what happened during this sampling hiatus. The 1998 ENSO event resulted in less than 10% of coral colonies bleaching in Mauritius (Moothien Pillay et al. 2002). The 2003 bleaching event was most evident on the southwest of the island and a cyclone was implicated in the recovery of bleached corals (Ahamada et al. 2004; Turner and Klaus 2005). In 2004, 24% of corals bleached (McClanahan et al. 2005), however recovery was again high (Ahamada et al. 2004) and coral cover was higher than surveys conducted in 1992 (McClanahan et al. 2005). Although we can not discount the possibility of rapid re-colonisation and recovery of the reef with the predominant fast growing Acropora colonies, the above studies and the remarkably similar cover estimates through time suggest a minor influence from bleaching events. Furthermore, Acropora is one of the most susceptible genera to thermal stress in the region (McClanahan et al. 2001, 2004) and has experienced large declines in many other locations (Goreau et al. 2000; McClanahan 2000b; McClanahan et al. 2001; Sheppard et al. 2002). Indeed, branching and plating corals now make up less than 1% of the benthos in the inner Seychelles, a decline of over 95% (Graham et al. 2006). Study and protection of this apparent refugia of sensitive, habitat forming corals in Mauritius is important given predictions of further widespread degradation of the region in coming decades (Sheppard 2003).



Fig. 5 Non-metric Multi-Dimensional Scaling (MDS) plot of fish assemblages at each of the ten stations (belt transects) within each of the five sample years based on Bray-Curtis similarity measures (a). Bubble plots for *Stegastes lividus* (b) and *Stegastes nigricans* (c) over species MDS sample points indicating patterns driven by their

The observed trend in benthic composition along the coast within the study location is most likely due to the dredged water ski lane that has fragmented the reef flat in this section, likely still results in increased sediment loads and is subject to high recreational use. The disparity between near shore and sea (A–B) stations that was quite apparent and a dominant driver of trends in 1994 (Adjeroud et al. 1998) is not as great on a tem-



presence. Abundance at each sample given below station name (scale of bubbles: 0–20). Bubble plots for cover of branching coral (**d**), dead substrate (**e**) and plating coral (**f**) indicating which patterns in the species MDS are driven by these benthic variables. Percent cover at each station given below station name (scale of bubbles: 0–100%)

poral scale. Given the dominance of the reef flat by fast growing branching *Acropora* corals, it is possible that this may be due to some recovery following completion of the ski lane (1993–1994).

Although overall species richness of the reef fish assemblage has remained stable through this time period, the richness is fairly low compared to studies in nearby islands such as Réunion (Letourneur 1996a), Madagascar (Harmelin-Vivien

Factor	Global R	Significance	Pairwise test
Year Transect	0.17 0.34	P < 0.01 P < 0.01	1994 diff to all, 2005 diff to 1996 and 1997 T1 diff to T4 and T5 T2 diff to T4
Position	0.02	ns	

Global and pairwise test results given for each of the three factors in the design

1989) and Mayotte (Letourneur 1996b; Chabanet 2002). This is likely due to the surveys being restricted to the reef flat and because the reef is narrow along this section of the coast (Adjeroud et al. 1998), although reef flats of a similar width in Réunion had higher species richness (Letourneur 1996a). It could also be due to anthropogenic stress on the system through past dredging of the water ski lane and ongoing effects of fishing and recreational use. Indeed, many samples depart from expected values of taxonomic distinctness, and common fishery target species, in the families Lutjanidae, Lethrinidae and Serranidae, are missing. The years driving the main difference in taxonomic distinctness were 1997 and 2005, with 1997 having lower values. Although coral cover was lowest in this year, the magnitude was small and it is hard to ascribe causation to this trend. Indeed, the stability of species richness from the presence/absence survey within families that often feed on (Chaetodontidae) or dwell in

(Pomacentridae) live coral indicates that these patterns are likely not driven by ENSO effects on the benthos, in contrast to other locations in the region (Spalding and Jarvis 2002; Graham et al. 2006). As samples from all years demonstrated departure from expected values, it is more likely that long-term effects are causing the trends.

The overall pattern in the fish community from MDS analysis is remarkably similar to that for the benthos, with the greatest differences identified along the coast (Global R = 0.34) as apposed to time (Global R = 0.17). This lends further support to our conclusion that the ecosystem has remained stable through the ENSO event and other factors are likely responsible for the observed changes. The heavy fishing pressure in Mauritius (Turner and Klaus 2005) and the apparent loss of diversity in key fishery target groups, of which many species are piscivores, may be driving trends related to predation pressure. Studies of predator control on reefs indicate

Year (1994 and 2005)		Transect (T1 and T4)			
Species	% Contribution	Species	% Contribution		
Stegastes lividus	10.64	Stegastes lividus	12.03		
Stegastes nigricans	10.07	Stegastes nigricans	10.84		
Dascyllus aruanus	4.77	Scarus psittacus	6.56		
Chromis viridis	4.21	Dascyllus aruanus	4.78		
Chlorurus sordidus	4.18	Chlorurus sordidus	3.92		
Ctenochaetus striatus	4.15	Scarus scaber	3.36		
Halichoeres scapularis	2.78	Ctenochaetus striatus	3.26		
Stegastes limbatus	2.65	Chromis viridis	3.18		
Scarus scaber	2.55	Halichoeres scapularis	2.79		
Acanthurus triostegus	2.41	Calotomus spinidens	2.69		
Gomphosus caeruleus	2.03	Thalassoma hardwickii	2.36		
Zebrasoma scopas	2.02	Stegastes limbatus	1.91		
Acanthurus nigrofuscus	1.95	Stethojulis bandanensis	1.76		
Stethojulis bandanensis	1.86	Epinephelus merra	1.68		
Chrysiptera unimaculata	1.82	* *			
Oxymonacanthus longirostris	1.79				
Parupeneus macronema	1.43				

Table 3 SIMPER outputs for greatest pairwise differences in year and transect identified by ANOSIM

Species that contributed 60% of the overall difference are listed in descending order of most contribution

Fig. 6 Regressions of *Stegastes lividus* density against fish species richness per station (belt transects) overall and for each year separately. R^2 and regression analysis results given on plots





trends both at the level of single species (Graham et al. 2003), aggregated by size class (Dulvy et al. 2004), and evidence suggesting there is a direct relationship between gape size of the predator and size of prey (Mumby et al. 2006). Recruitment has also been shown to drive variation in fish assemblages on reefs (Doherty and Williams 1988), particularly following mass-events (Letourneur et al. 1998). Given the time between surveys and the narrow spatial scale over which the study has been conducted, variable recruit-

detected, but is unlikely to be driving the larger trends along the coast. Given that the availability of habitat types has not altered a great deal, competition for resources among fish species may be expected to have remained stable through this time period. However changes in certain dominant species, such as *Stegastes*, could well be causing changes in the rest of the assemblage.

ment could influence the small temporal patterns

The coastline adjacent to the study site has experienced rapid development for tourism in the last 10–15 years, and this is likely exerting stress on the reef ecosystem. Along the 1-km stretch of coast, two large hotel complexes actively use the reef for water sports activities. High use of reefs for snorkelling and diving can have detrimental effects (Hawkins et al. 1999; Zakai and Chadwick-Furman 2002). In this case, however, the greatest effect is likely to be from the dredged water ski lane through the middle of the reef flat. Increased pollution, sedimentation and changes in current regimes are all likely to be effecting both the coral and fish assemblages, and may be partly responsible for the changes through time. However, the greatest effects of the ski lane appear to be along the coast in the survey area.

Both the benthic and fish communities display the strongest patterns along the coast from Transects 1 and 2 to Transects 4 and 5, with greater live coral to the south end of the study site away from the dredged area. Branching coral is likely to be causing the observed patterns in the fish assemblages given that it was best at predicting the patterns in the fish assemblage structure and because it provides important three-dimensional structure (Bellwood et al. 2004). Furthermore, this habitat is critical at the early life history stage when fish settle from the plankton; 65% settling directly into live coral (Jones et al. 2004).

The two species of Stegastes were influencing the greatest difference along the coast and through time in the MDS plots. Although the preferred habitat of both species' is branching coral (Randall et al. 1997), it appears that Stegastes lividus is dominating the area of the reef where branching coral is most abundant. This may be explained by S. lividus growing to a larger maximum size than S. nigricans (Randall et al. 1997); size of individual correlating to size of territory and dominance over more favourable habitats in this genera (Robertson 1996; Letourneur 2000). If the relationship between S. lividus abundance and overall fish species richness is causal, this one species of small reef fish appears to be accounting for a large portion of the variation in fish species richness; benthic variables and Stegastes nigricans demonstrating no measurable control. Although the competitive dominance of larger species of Stegastes over abundance of other *Stegastes* species in the same area has been identified (Robertson 1996), and the influence of territorial pomacentrids on behaviour and foraging of individual species of other reef fish is well documented (e.g. Jones 2005), we believe this influence on the species richness of an entire fish community has not been demonstrated before.

Dominance of space by branching coral and Stegastes lividus is clearly contributing to the patterns in the MDS plot, but not necessarily in the direction one may expect from previous positive relationships between coral cover and fish species richness (e.g. Bell and Galzin 1984). Areas of high cover of live branching coral in Mauritius are dominated by large numbers of S. lividus and their territorial behaviour may actually reduce species richness, such that the relationship between coral cover and fish species richness is negative. Consequently, mono-specific stands of branching coral are resulting in an ecosystem more susceptible to competitive dominance by fewer species (Almany 2004). Indeed, dominance of a reef by one main taxa of coral will not necessarily promote high species diversity, rather a range of different taxa and habitat types is expected to provide more niches and a more diverse ecosystem (Almany 2004). This will be particularly true for smallbodied species of reef fish that are closely reliant on habitat for shelter and food and are often specialised (Munday and Jones 1998).

The western Indian Ocean has suffered the greatest effects from coral bleaching in the Indo-Pacific (Goreau et al. 2000) and future bleaching is predicted to result in the 'extinction' of these reefs in coming decades (Sheppard 2003). However, various locations in the southern western Indian Ocean, including Mauritius, currently seem to be a refuge from coral bleaching, demonstrating "protection" from serious thermal stress (Obura 2005) and host high coverage of thermally sensitive corals that still support specialist fish species. This study has demonstrated minimal community change through time on a coral reef in Mauritius, and identified other factors likely to be driving trends. Such data and future monitoring in these areas of bleaching refugia will be important to understand natural variation in fish communities and associated management implications.

Acknowledgements This work was funded by the Leverhulme Trust, Eppley Foundation, the Marine Science for Management Program (MASMA) of the Western Indian Ocean Marine Science Association and the Fisheries Society of the British Isles. Many thanks to Hotel Victoria, in particular Hervé Doboscq for field support. We are grateful to Mehdi Adjeroud, Gilbert Poli, Bernard Salvat, Michel Porcher and Nyawira Muthiga for assistance with field studies. We thank the Mauritius Institute of Oceanography and Director, Dr. Bhikajee, for permission to undertake the work.

References

- Adjeroud M, Letourneur Y, Porcher M, Salvat B (1998) Factors influencing spatial distribution of fish communities on a fringing reef at Mauritius, S.W. Indian Ocean. Environ Biol Fishes 53:169–182
- Ahamada S, Bijoux J, Bigot L, Cauvin B, Koonjul M, Maharavo J, Meuier S, Moine-Picard M, Quod J-P, Pierre-Louis R (2004) Status of the coral reefs of the south west Indian Ocean island states. In: Wilkinson C (ed) Status of coral reefs of the world: 2004. Australian Institute of Marine Science, Townsville, pp 189–212
- Almany GR (2004) Differential effects of habitat complexity, predators and competitors on abundance of juvenile and adult coral reef fishes. Oecologia 141:105–113
- Bell JD, Galzin R (1984) Influence of live coral cover on coral reef fish communities. Mar Ecol Prog Ser 15:265–274
- Bellwood DR, Hughes TP, Folke C, Nyström M (2004) Confronting the coral reef crisis. Nature 429:827–833
- Booth DJ, Beretta GA (2002) Changes in a fish assemblage after a coral bleaching event. Mar Ecol Prog Ser 245:205–212
- Brown BE, Letissier MDA, Scoffin TP, Tudhope AW (1990) Evaluation of the environmental-impact of dredging on intertidal coral reefs at Ko-Phuket, Thailand, using ecological and physiological-parameters. Mar Ecol Prog Ser 65:273–281
- Chabanet P (2002) Coral reef fish communities of Mayotte (western Indian ocean) two years after the impact of the 1998 bleaching event. Mar Freshwater Res 53:107–113
- Clarke KR, Warwick RM 1998. A taxonomic distinctness index and its statistical properites. J App Ecol 35:523– 531
- Clarke KR, Warwick RM (2001a) Change in marine communities: an approach to statistical analysis and interpretation, (2nd edn). PRIMER-E Ltd, Plymouth
- Clarke KR, Warwick RM (2001b) A further biodiversity index applicable to species lists: variation in taxonomic distinctness. Mar Ecol Prog Ser 216:265–278
- Doherty PJ, Williams DM (1988) The replenishment of coral-reef fish populations. Oceanogr Mar Biol Ann Rev 26:487-551
- Doherty PJ, Dufour V, Galzin R, Hixon M, Meekan M, Planes S (2004) High mortality during settlement is a

population bottleneck for a tropical surgeonfish. Ecology 85:2422–2428

- Dulvy NK, Polunin NVC, Mill AC, Graham NAJ (2004) Size structural change in lightly exploited coral reef fish communities: evidence for weak indirect effects. Can J Fish Aquat Sci 61:466–475
- Garpe KC, Yahya SAS, Lindahl U, Ohman MC (in press) Long-term effects of the 1998 coral bleaching event on reef fish assemblages. Mar Ecol Prog Ser
- Goreau T, McClanahan T, Hayes R, Strong A (2000) Conservation of coral reefs after the 1998 global bleaching event. Conserv Biol 14:5–15
- Graham NAJ, Evans RD, Russ GR (2003) The effects of marine reserve protection on the trophic relationships of reef fishes on the Great Barrier Reef. Environ Conserv 30:200–208
- Graham NAJ, Wilson SK, Jennings S, Polunin NVC, Bijoux JP, Robinson J (2006) Dynamic fragility of oceanic coral reef ecosystems. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 103:8425–8429
- Harmelin-Vivien ML (1989) Reef fish community structure: an Indo-Pacific comparison. In: Harmelin-Vivien ML, Bourlière F (eds) Vertebrates in complex systems. Springer-Verlag, Berlin, pp 21–60
- Harmelin-Vivien M, Harmelin JG, Chauvet C, Duval C, Galzin R, Lejeune P, Barnabe G, Blanc F, Chevalier R, Duclerc J, Lasserre G (1985) Evaluation visuelle des peuplements et populations de poisons: méthodes et problémes. Rev Ecol (terre Vie) 40:467–539
- Hawkins JP, Roberts CM, Van't Hof T, de Meyer K, Tratalos J, Aldam C (1999) Effects of recreational scuba diving on Caribbean coral and fish communities. Conserv Biol 13:888–897
- Helfman GS, Colette BB, Facey DE (1997) The diversity of fishes. Blackwell Science, Oxford, UK, pp 528
- Hixon MA (1991) Predation as a process structuring coral reef fish communities. In: Sale PF (ed) The ecology of fishes on coral reefs. Academic Press, San Diego, pp 475–508
- Hoegh-Guldberg O (1999) Climate change, coral bleaching and the future of the world's coral reefs. Mar Freshwater Res 50:839–866
- Jennings S, Grandcourt EM, Polunin NVC (1995) The effects of fishing on the diversity, biomass and trophic structure of Seychelles' reef fish communities. Coral Reefs 14:225–235
- Jones GP, McCormick MI, Srinivasan M, Eagle JV (2004) Coral decline threatens fish biodiversity in marine reserves. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 101:8251– 8253
- Jones KMM (2005) The effect of territorial damselfish (family Pomacentridae) on the space use and behaviour of the coral reef fish, *Halichoeres bivittatus* (Bloch, 1791) (famile Labridae). J Exp Mar Biol Ecol 324:99–111
- Kokita T, Nakazono A (2001) Rapid response of an obligately corallivorous filefish Oxymonacanthus longirostris (Monacanthidae) to a mass coral bleaching event. Coral Reefs 20:155–158

- Letourneur Y (1996a) Dynamics of fish communities on Reunion fringing reefs, Indian Ocean 1. Patterns of spatial distribution. J Exp Mar Biol Ecol 195:1–30
- Letourneur Y (1996b) Réponses des peuplements et populations de poissons aux réserves marines. Le cas de l'île de Mayotte, Océan Indien occidental. Ecoscience 3:442–450
- Letourneur Y (2000) Spatial and temporal variability in territoriality of a tropical benthic damselfish on a coral reef (Réunion Island). Environ Biol Fish 57:377–391
- Letourneur Y, Chabanet P, Vigliola L, Harmelin-Vivien M (1998) Mass settlement and post-settlement mortality of *Epinephelus merra* (Pisces: Serranidae) on Réunion coral reefs. Mar Biol Assess UK 78:307–319
- Lindahl U, Ohman MC, Schelten CK (2001) The 1997/1998 mass mortality of corals: effects on fish communities on a Tanzanian coral reef. Mar Pollut Bull 42:127–131
- Loya Y (1978) Plotless and transect methods. In: Stoddart DR, Johannes RE (eds) Coral research methods. UNESCO, Paris, pp 197–217
- McClanahan TR (2000a) Recovery of the coral reef keystone predator, *Balistapus undulatus*, in East African marine parks. Biol Conserv 94:191–198
- McClanahan TR (2000b) Bleaching damage and recovery potential of Maldivian coral reefs. Mar Pollut Bull 40:587–597
- McClanahan TR, Muthiga NA, Mangi S (2001) Coral and algal changes after the 1998 coral bleaching: interaction with reef management and herbivores on Kenyan reefs. Coral Reefs 19:380–391
- McClanahan T, Maina J, Pet-Soede L (2002) Effects of the 1998 coral mortality event on Kenyon coral reefs and fisheries. Ambio 31:543–550
- McClanahan TR, Baird AH, Marshall PA, Toscano MA (2004) Comparing bleaching and mortality responses of hard corals between southern Kenya and the Great Barrier Reef, Australia. Mar Poll Bull 48:327–335
- McClanahan TR, Graham NAJ (2005) Recovery trajectories of coral reef fish assemblages within Kenyan marine protected areas. Mar Ecol Prog Ser 294:241– 248
- McClanahan TR, Maina J, Moothien-Pillay R, Baker AC (2005) Effects of geography, taxa, water flow, and temperature variation on coral bleaching intensity in Mauritius. Mar Ecol Prog Ser 298:131–142
- McCook LJ (1999) Macroalgae, nutrients and phase shifts on coral reefs: scientific issues and management consequences for the Great Barrier Reef. Coral Reefs 18:357–367
- Moothien Pillay R, Terashima H, Kawasaki H (2002) The extent and intensity of the 1998 mass bleaching event on the reefs of Mautitius, Indian Ocean. Galaxea 4:43–52

- Mumby PJ, Dahlgren CP, Harborne AR, Kappel CV, Micheli F, Brumbaugh DR, Holmes KE, Mendes JM, Broad K, Sanchirico JN, Buch K, Box S, Stoffle RW, Gill AB (2006) Fishing, trophic cascades, and the process of grazing on coral reefs. Science 311:98–101
- Munday PL, Jones GP (1998) The ecological implications of small body size among coral-reef fishes. Ocean Mar Biol Ann Rev 36:373–411
- Obura DO (2005) Resilience and climate change: lessons from coral reefs and bleaching in the Western Indian Ocean. Estuary Coast Shelf Sci 63:353–372
- Pratchett MS, Wilson SK, Berumen ML, McCormick MI (2004) Sublethal effects of coral bleaching on an obligate coral feeding butterflyfish. Coral Reefs 23:352–356
- Randall JE, Allen GR, Steene RC (1997) The complete divers' & fishermans' guide to fishes of the Great Barrier Reef and Coral Sea. Crawford House Publishing, Bathurst, Australia
- Robertson DR (1996) Interspecific competition controls abundance and habitat use of territorial Caribbean damselfishes. Ecology 77:885–899
- Rogers CS (1990) Responses of coral reefs and reef organisms to sedimentation. Mar Ecol Prog Ser 62:185–202
- Saji NH, Goswami BN, Vinayachandran PN, Yamagata TA (1999) A dipole mode in the tropical Indian Ocean. Nature 401:360–363
- Sano M (2004) Short-term effects of a mass coral bleaching event on a reef fish assemblage at Iriomote Island, Japan. Fish Sci 70:41–46
- Sheppard CRC (2003) Predicted recurrences of mass coral mortality in the Indian Ocean. Nature 425:294–297
- Sheppard CRC, Spalding M, Bradshaw C, Wilson S (2002) Erosion vs. recovery of coral reefs after 1998 El Niño: Chagos reefs, Indian Ocean. Ambio 31:40–48
- Spalding MD, Jarvis GE (2002) The impact of the 1998 coral mortality on reef fish communities in the Seychelles. Mar Poll Bull 44:309–321
- Turner J, Klaus R (2005) Coral reefs of the Mascarenes, Western Indian Ocean. Phil Trans R Soc A 363:229– 250
- Walther G-R, Post E, Convey P, Menzel A, Parmesan C, Beebee TJC, Fromentin J-M, Hoegh-Guldberg O, Bairlein F (2002) Ecological responses to recent climate change. Nature 416:389–395
- Williams ID, Walsh WJ, Tissot BN, Hallacher LE (2006) Impact of observers' experience level on counts of fishes in underwater visual surveys. Mar Ecol Prog Ser 310:185–191
- Zakai D, Chadwick-Furman NE (2002) Impacts of intensive recreational diving on reef corals at Eilat, northern Red Sea. Biol Cons 105:179–187

Lag Effects in the Impacts of Mass Coral Bleaching on Coral Reef Fish, Fisheries, and Ecosystems

NICHOLAS A. J. GRAHAM,*‡‡ SHAUN K. WILSON,*† SIMON JENNINGS,‡ NICHOLAS V. C. POLUNIN,* JAN ROBINSON,§ JUDE P. BIJOUX,** AND TIM M. DAW*††

*School of Marine Science & Technology, Newcastle University, Newcastle-upon-Tyne, NE1 7RU, United Kingdom †Australian Institute of Marine Science, TMC, Townsville, Queensland 4810, Australia

‡Centre for Environment, Fisheries and Aquaculture Science, Lowestoft Laboratory, Lowestoft, NR33 OHT, United Kingdom §Seychelles Fishing Authority, Victoria, Mahé, Seychelles

**Seychelles Centre for Marine Research & Technology–Marine Parks Authority, Victoria, Mahé, Seychelles ††School of Geography, Politics and Sociology, Newcastle University, Newcastle-upon-Tyne NE1 7RU, United Kingdom

Abstract: Recent episodes of coral bleaching have led to wide-scale loss of reef corals and raised concerns over the effectiveness of existing conservation and management efforts. The 1998 bleaching event was most severe in the western Indian Ocean, where coral declined by up to 90% in some locations. Using fisheries-independent data, we assessed the long-term impacts of this event on fishery target species in the Seychelles, the overall size structure of the fish assemblage, and the effectiveness of two marine protected areas (MPAs) in protecting fish communities. The biomass of fished species above the size retained in fish traps changed little between 1994 and 2005, indicating no current effect on fishery yields. Biomass remained higher in MPAs, indicating they were effective in protecting fish stocks. Nevertheless, the size structure of the fish communities, as described with size-spectra analysis, changed in both fished areas and MPAs, with a decline in smaller fish (<30 cm) and an increase in larger fish (>45 cm). We believe this represents a time-lag response to a reduction in reef structural complexity brought about because fishes are being lost through natural mortality and fishing, and are not being replaced by juveniles. This effect is expected to be greater in terms of fisheries productivity and, because congruent patterns are observed for berbivores, suggests that MPAs do not offer coral reefs long-term resilience to bleaching events. Corallivores and planktivores declined strikingly in abundance, particularly in MPAs, and this decline was associated with a similar pattern of decline in their preferred corals. We suggest that climate-mediated disturbances, such as coral bleaching, be at the fore of conservation planning for coral reefs.

Keywords: climate change, coral bleaching, coral reef ecosystems, coral reef fishes, coral reef resilience, marine protected areas, size spectra analysis

Efectos a Largo Plazo de los Impactos del Blanqueado Masivo de Corales sobre Peces de Arrecifes Coralinos, Pesquerías y Ecosistemas

Resumen: Episodios recientes de blanqueado de corales ban llevado a la pérdida extensiva de arrecifes de coral y ban incrementado la preocupación sobre la efectividad de los esfuerzos actuales de conservación y manejo. El evento de blanqueado de 1998 fue más severo en el occidente del Océano Índico, donde el coral declinó basta en 90% en algunas localidades. Utilizando datos independientes de pesquerías, evaluamos los impactos a largo plazo de este evento sobre especies importantes para las pesquerías en las Seychelles, sobre la estructura de tallas en el ensamble de peces y sobre la efectividad de dos áreas marinas protegidas (AMPs) en la protección de las comunidades de peces. La biomasa de peces capturados por arriba de la talla retenida en las trampas de peces cambió poco entre 1994 y 2005, lo que indica que no bay efectos actuales sobre la protección de las pesquerías. La biomasa fue mayor en las AMPs, lo que indica que fueron eficientes en la protección de

\$\$ email n.a.j.grabam@ncl.ac.uk

1291

Paper submitted November 15, 2006; revised manuscript accepted March 13, 2007.

los peces. Sin embargo, la estructura de tallas de las comunidades de peces, descritas con el análisis del espectro de tallas, cambió tanto en las áreas con pesca como en las AMPs, con una declinación en peces pequeños (<30 cm) y un incremento en peces más grandes (>45 cm). Pensamos que esto representa una respuesta a largo plazo porque se están perdiendo peces debido a la mortalidad natural y no están siendo reemplazados por juveniles. Se espera que este efecto sea mayor en términos de la productividad de las pesquerías y, debido a que se observan patrones congruentes para berbívoros, sugiere que las AMPs no ofrecen resiliencia a largo plazo contra los eventos de blanqueado de arrecifes de coral. La abundancia de coralívoros y planktívoros declinó marcadamente, particularmente en AMPs, y esta declinación se asoció con un patrón de declinación similar en sus arrecifes preferidos. Sugerimos que las perturbaciones debido al clima, como el blanqueado de corales, estén en primer plano en la planificación de la conservación de arrecifes de coral.

Palabras Clave: análisis de espectro de tallas, áreas marinas protegidas, blanqueado de corales, cambio climático, ecosistemas coralinos, peces de arrecifes coralinos, resiliencia de arrecifes coralinos

Introduction

Coral reefs and their associated communities are threatened by anthropogenic and natural disturbances, including overharvesting, sedimentation, pollution, disease, and warming waters (Hughes et al. 2003; Bellwood et al. 2004; Wilson et al. 2006). Although multiple stressors often act in synergy, climate-driven coral bleaching has emerged as one of the greatest threats to coral reef ecosystems (Hughes et al. 2003; Sheppard 2003). The 1998 bleaching event was the largest on record, and in the most heavily affected region, the western Indian Ocean, coral cover declined by up to 90% (Sheppard 2003). Recovery from such severe disturbances is likely to be slow and affect other reef-associated organisms.

The short-term effects of bleaching on fish are mainly manifest in species that specialize on live coral for diet, shelter, or recruitment habitat (reviewed by Wilson et al. 2006). In the medium to long term declines in coral feeders can continue (Pratchett et al. 2006), but the greatest impacts occur if the physical matrix of the reef collapses, reducing overall species richness (Garpe et al. 2006; Glynn 2006; Graham et al. 2006). The medium to long-term impacts of bleaching on the size structure of fish populations and assemblages are currently unknown (Wilson et al. 2006). These impacts are important because they determine the future viability of populations and assemblages and thus interact with fisheries management and conservation measures that may have been proposed or implemented prior to a bleaching event.

Assessments of the impacts of mass bleaching on fisheries and associated socioeconomic factors are currently limited to fisheries-dependant data and are considered small in relation to the direct impacts of fishing (McClanahan et al. 2002; Grandcourt & Cesar 2003). Nevertheless, such assessments have all been made within 5 years of bleaching events. Because loss in structural complexity of the reef framework, which can take over 5 years (Wilson et al. 2006), is likely to affect small individuals and because these may take some time to recruit to the fishery, a lag effect may exist before the full impact of coral bleaching on reef fisheries is realized.

To conserve and manage reefs in the face of unpredictable disturbance, scientists and managers are increasingly proposing that no-take marine protected areas (MPAs) can increase resilience of the reef ecosystem (Hughes et al. 2003; Bellwood et al. 2004). Although it is clear that MPAs cannot prevent coral bleaching, the expected ecological communities in MPAs (e.g., a greater biomass, density, and size of herbivorous fishes in regions where herbivores are fished) should promote coral recovery, thus providing spatial resilience in the form of populations that can reseed depleted areas (Hughes et al. 2003). There is some evidence of an initial build up of fish biomass in MPAs even during habitat degradation (Hawkins et al. 2006); however, both abundance and diversity may subsequently decline (Jones et al. 2004), and it is unclear how the size-structure of the fish assemblage may respond.

Using fisheries-independent data collected across the inner granitic islands of the Seychelles, we assessed the medium to long-term effects of mass coral bleaching on target reef fish above the size retained in fish traps, overall size structure of the whole assemblage and particular feeding groups, and effectiveness of existing no-take MPAs in offering spatial resilience to the disturbance.

Methods

Study Sites

The inner granitic islands of the Seychelles lie on the Mahé Plateau, a shallow, extensive, submarine platform that reaches mean depths of 44-65 m. The fringing reefs of the islands are typically shallow; the reef slope terminates at 6-13 m (Jennings et al. 1995). The 1998 bleaching event reduced live coral cover from 27% to 3%, an overall reduction of approximately 90%. Furthermore, coral mortality extended throughout the depth range of the coral

reefs in this area. Recovery has been extremely slow, with collapse in the physical complexity of the reefs accelerating since 2003 (Engelhardt 2004), and mean coral cover attaining only 7.5% by 2005 (Graham et al. 2006). Other than climate-mediated bleaching mortality of corals, Seychelles reefs experienced relatively little change in other stressors over the study period (Graham et al. 2006).

We conducted reef surveys in seven areas, around Mahé, Praslin, and associated islands, that included most of the shallow fringing reef around the inner islands (for map see Jennings et al. 1995). Five fished areas were subject to similar levels of fishing intensity, whereas the other two areas were long-standing MPAs. Sainte Anne Marine National Park was gazetted by the Government of Seychelles in 1973 because it is suitably located for tourist use. Cousin Island Special Reserve was established by Birdlife International, who bought the island in 1968 to protect an endangered bird (Jennings et al. 1996). Both MPAs are within the same geographic area as the other sites and have similar bathymetry and habitat types. There are significant differences in the diversity and biomass of fish between the two MPAs and the five fished areas but not within the MPAs or fished areas per se (Jennings et al. 1995). Spatial studies of MPA effects are expected to reflect the outcome of temporal studies (Russ et al. 2005); therefore, we believe that the higher levels of diversity and biomass in the MPAs reflect the effect of protection from fishing. Studies conducted within other reef systems highlight the disproportionate effect of small amounts of fishing on fish communities and the more subtle impacts of further increases in fishing effort (Jennings & Polunin 1997; Hawkins & Roberts 2004). For these reasons we assessed the interaction between bleaching impacts and management by comparing the two MPAs with the five fished areas before and after coral bleaching in 1998.

Assessment of Fish Assemblage and Benthic Community Structure

We surveyed 21 sites, covering over 50,000 m² of coral reef habitat, at the same time of year in 1994 and 2005. Three sites were surveyed in each of the seven areas so that one site in each of three different habitat types (Jennings et al. 1995) would be included: carbonate fringing reefs; granitic rocky reefs with coral growth; and patch reef habitats on sand, rubble, or rock base. At each site 16 replicate 7-m radius point counts were completed with underwater visual censuses along the base of the reef slope. This technique maximized area coverage and replication, yet allowed for detailed searching for territorial species so that it provided a quantitative estimate of the number of fish of varying sizes and behavior. We separated replicates by a random number of fin kicks with the proviso that each count was separated by a minimum of 15 m; thus, an approximately 0.5-km stretch of reef was covered at each site.

The number and size of 134 species of reef-associated, diurnally active, noncryptic fish (>8 cm) were estimated within each count area. The time taken to complete a count varied depending on the number and diversity of fish present. Size estimation of fish was to the nearest centimeter, validated by estimating the lengths of a random selection of PVC pipes before the first count at each site. Length estimates were not consistently shorter or longer than actual lengths in both 1994 and 2005, with a mean error of 8- to 35-cm pipes of 3.1% and 2.2%, respectively. Fish counts in 1994 were conducted by S.J. and in 2005 by N.A.J.G. Although small errors can exist among observers (Thompson & Mapstone 1997), bias among experienced divers is the smallest component of variation in fish counts (Williams et al. 2006; McClanahan et al. 2007). We converted data on fish counts to biomass with published length-weight relationships (Letourneur et al. 1998; Froese & Pauly 2006). Species were assigned to feeding groups (herbivores, piscivores, corallivores, planktivores, and mixed-diet feeders [i.e., species consuming animal and plant material or fish and invertebrates]) based on dietary literature and Froese and Pauly (2006).

After a fish count was complete, we assessed the benthic composition and structural complexity of the count area. Percent cover of benthic categories (live branching, plating, massive, corymbose and encrusting coral, soft coral, macroalgae, rock, rubble, sand, and dead branching coral) was estimated visually and was accurate when assessed against the line-intercept method (no significant difference, multivariate analysis of variance (MANOVA) $F_{6,35} = 0.56$, p = 0.76; Wilson et al. 2007). We assessed structural complexity of the benthos with a six-point visual scale and tested the accuracy of this method with the linear versus contour chain method. The two methods were highly correlated (linear regression r = 0.85, p < 0.001; Wilson et al. 2007).

Establishment of Fishery Target Species and Size of First Capture

Fish species that are targeted by the local artisanal fishery were assigned to three groups: primary targets, important targets, and occasional targets following Grand-court (1999). There is a strong relationship between body depth of retained fish and the maximum width of trap meshes (Munro et al. 2003). In Seychelles the minimum legal hexagonal mesh diameter is 4 cm, but fishers often use trap meshes larger than this, and fish are able to squeeze through meshes smaller than their specific body depth (Robichaud et al. 1999). We calculated size at first capture from length frequency data of 5651 trap-caught fish between January 1992 and June 1994 (S.F.A., unpublished data). Ninety-five percent of fish in the sample had a body depth of over 6.0 cm. Data on target fish species from the 1994 and 2005 reef surveys were filtered to

exclude individuals with a body depth of <6 cm for species level and aggregated feeding group analyses to assess the impact of the bleaching event on the dominant inshore trap fishery.

Data Analysis

Along with structural complexity, we categorized live corals into two groups: (1) complex corals that have branching, plating, or corymbose functional forms, which offer the most structure for other organisms to live in (Jones et al. 2004) and are generally the favored corals for diet and habitat specialists (Munday 2004; Pratchett 2005) and (2) simple corals that have massive and encrusting functional forms, which offer limited structure for other organisms to live within (Jones et al. 2004). We assessed differences between years, habitat types, and management status (fished vs. protected) with threeway, crossed fixed-effects orthogonal analysis of variances (ANOVAs). We assessed homogeneity of variances with Levene's test and normality of the data with histograms and normal probability plots of the residuals. Counts of complex corals were square-root transformed to meet assumptions. We used Tukey's post hoc test to identify where differences occurred among habitats.

Changes in the biomass of individual species and aggregated feeding groups of fishery targets above size at first capture were also assessed with the same ANOVA design. At the species level we used log transformation to meet the assumption of homogeneity of variances for a number of species. Ten species that failed to meet assumptions were not analyzed (see Supplementary Material).

The overall size structure of the assemblage at each site (including size below first capture) was described with the slope of the abundance-size relationships of the assemblage (Dulvy et al. 2004; Graham et al. 2005). Slopes of the size spectra were calculated from linear regressions of $\log_{10} (x + 1)$ numbers per size class (5 cm) on the rescaled \log_{10} midpoint of each length class. Centering the independent variable provides values of midpoint height (community abundance) that are comparable among spectra. A steepening of the slope can be the result of a decrease in the number of large fish, an increase in the number of small fish, or both. Change in the slope and midpoint height of the size spectra were assessed with the same ANOVA design described above.

To assess what was driving the observed trends in slopes of the size spectra, changes in the numerical abundance of fishes in individual size bins of 5 cm between 1994 and 2005 were assessed for the entire assemblage and for five key feeding groups: mixed-diet feeders, piscivores, herbivores, corallivores, and planktivores. To partition any effects of marine protection and habitat type, we plotted data separately by management status and within this by habitat type.

Results

Structural complexity of the benthos declined between years ($F_{1,30} = 19.94$, p < 0.001), but did not vary with habitat or protection (Fig. 1a). The cover of live complex corals fell by over 95% (Fig. 1b; $F_{1,30} = 100.22$, p < 0.001), with the greatest reductions on carbonate habitats (significant interaction: $F_{2,30} = 3.71$, p < 0.05) and greater reductions on reefs in MPAs than in fished areas ($F_{1,30} =$ 7.30, p < 0.05). The greater impact in MPAs resulted from a higher initial cover of complex corals within MPAs in 1994, which declined to a similar base level (<1%) in 2005, irrespective of whether the site was in an MPA or fished. Cover of simple corals remained relatively stable



Figure 1. Change in (a) structural complexity, (b) complex corals (coral cover), and (c) simple corals (coral cover) between 1994 and 2005 for three habitat types (carbonate, granite, patch) and two management scenarios (fished, protected).



Figure 2. Change in biomass of fishery target species above size at first capture between 1994 and 2005 for (a) entire assemblage of fishery target species, (b) mixed-diet feeders, (c) piscivores, and (d) herbivores in three habitat types (carbonate, granite, patch) and under two types of management (fished, protected).

between 1994 and 2005, with no significant factors in the model (Fig. 1c).

The biomass of individual target fish species above size at first capture varied between years; some increased, some decreased, and over 70% did not change significantly (see Supplementary Material). The entire target assemblage and mixed-diet feeders showed greater biomass in MPAs than in fished areas ($F_{1,30} = 28.29, p < 0.001$ and $F_{1,30} = 14.44, p = 0.001$, respectively), but no trends between years or among habitat types (Fig. 2a-b). Piscivore biomass did not differ among habitats, but differed between years ($F_{1,30} = 4.69, p < 0.05$) and with protection $(F_{1,30} = 16.65, p < 0.001)$. A significant year-protection interaction term ($F_{1,30} = 5.49$, P < 0.05) showed that the main change between years was associated with a decreased biomass in MPAs (Fig. 2c). Herbivore biomass was greater in 2005 ($F_{1,30} = 4.67, p < 0.05$) and in MPAs $(F_{1,30} = 11.65, p = 0.002)$, and had no interaction or habitat effect (Fig. 2d). These results indicate that although there were some small changes between years for certain groups, MPAs continued to support a higher biomass of targeted reef fish than fished areas (Fig. 2).

The slope of the size spectra became less steep from 1994 to 2005 in all but one fished granite site (Fig. 3a). This trend between years ($F_{1,30} = 18.90$, p < 0.001) did not vary among habitats and was not affected by management status (Fig. 3b). The height of the size spectra did not differ between years or among habitats; however, there was an effect of management status ($F_{1,30} = 17.53$, p < 0.001) that showed a greater abundance of fish in MPAs.

The decreasing steepness of the size spectra slope was a result of a relative decline in smaller fish (<30 cm) and increase in larger fish (>45 cm) in the assemblage. This trend was consistent for both fished areas and MPAs



Figure 3. (a) Change in the slope of size spectra of the fish assemblage for individual survey sites. Sites falling above the 1:1 trend line had a lower slope value in 2005. (b) Mean change in slope of size spectra of the fish assemblage by habitat type (carbonate, granite, patch) and management status (fished, protected).



Figure 4. Change in log abundance of individual size classes of fish for (a) the entire assemblage, (b) mixed-diet feeders, (c) piscivores, (d) herbivores, (e) corallivores, and (f) planktivores by habitat type (carbonate, granite, patch). Plots in the left-hand column are fished sites, and plots in right-hand column are protected sites. Size of first capture range indicated on plot (a) for fishery target species. Maximum size detected indicated with vertical dashed line on plots (e) and (f).

(Fig. 4a). Different size classes in the mixed-diet group showed various trends, and there was no common pattern apparent (Fig. 4b). The piscivores also responded variably; however, medium size classes (20–50 cm) tended to decline, especially in MPAs (Fig. 4c). The herbivores declined in smaller size classes (<30 cm) and increased in larger size classes (>40 cm) in both fished areas and MPAs (Fig. 4d). Corallivores and planktivores consistently and markedly declined, with the greatest decline in the MPAs (Fig. 4e-f). Although there was some variation, particularly for the mixed-diet feeders and piscivores, the trends were generally similar among habitat types.

Discussion

Based on our results an impending recruitment failure to reef-fishery size classes is likely in the Seychelles following a major coral bleaching event. Our results show a decline in juvenile abundance (<30 cm) in the reef-fishery assemblage that will ultimately lead to declines in adult abundance, as has been shown consistently in fisheries (Hilborn & Walters 1992). Although our data predict this effect will happen, the lack of time-series data and knowledge of the growth trajectories of individual species prevent us from projecting the likely time span over which larger size classes will be affected. Our data also highlight a potential decline in the resilience of MPAs due to the decline in smaller size classes of herbivorous fishes in these management areas.

There were only minor changes in the biomass of target species available to the Seychelles artisanal trap fishery following the 1998 mass bleaching event. Nevertheless, these small changes belie apparent system-wide failures of recruitment to fished size classes that are expected to have long-term impacts on the viability of populations, assemblages, and the fishery. Our results suggest that the current biomass and reef fishery are maintained primarily by the growth of fishes that had already recruited to the reefs at the time of the bleaching event, and/or before topographic structure was reduced, and have now grown sufficiently to reach fishable size. This corroborates other evidence that shows there is no short-term change in yield associated with mass bleaching (McClanahan et al. 2002; Grandcourt & Cesar 2003).

The surveyed MPAs supported a higher biomass of target species above size of first capture than fished areas. The greater size-spectra height in the Seychelles MPAs is consistent with the expected effects of reduced fishing mortality on abundance (McClanahan & Graham 2005). Nevertheless, the reduction in slope of the size spectra was consistent across all but one site and similar for both the fished areas and MPAs, which suggests that the same drivers are affecting the size distribution of fish in these areas and that they are unrelated to fishing pressure.

Plotting each individual size class bin by its change in numerical abundance highlights that the change in the slope of the size spectra was driven by both an increase in large individuals (>45 cm) and a decrease in smaller individuals (<30 cm). Because fishing pressure has not changed, the most likely drivers for the increase in largerbodied fishes are increased growth and/or survivorship. The decline in smaller-bodied individuals could be driven by various processes. We consider consistently high mortality of small and juvenile fish following the years because the bleaching event the most likely explanation, based on the expectation that the larger fishes have retained their abundance and have good feeding conditions, and that many smaller species and individuals are most dependent on refuge availability and live coral (Munday & Jones 1998; Dulvy et al. 2004; Graham et al. 2006). Furthermore, the diversity and numerical abundance of fish 10-30 cm in length was correlated with structural complexity in 2005 (Wilson et al. 2007) and showed marked decline between 1994 and 2005 following a loss in structure. Although the existence of several years of high larval supply prior to the bleaching event and several years of poor larval supply after bleaching could also account for the patterns we observed, the latter possibly as a result of reduced live coral as a settlement cue, we consider this unlikely when the effects are manifest for all species and at a large spatial scale. Based on the size-based analyses,

we predict a time lag effect, whereby the full effects of the bleaching event on the fringing-reef fishery species and the fish assemblage as a whole are yet to be realized.

The MPAs seem to offer no long-term resilience to the populations and assemblages. Although the MPAs may meet short-term conservation objectives by reducing fishing mortality on larger fish, future replacement by small fish may be insufficient to maintain abundance over the long term. The collapse of the physical structure of Sevchelles reefs accelerated as recently as 2003 (Engelhardt 2004), so the longer-term consequences of this process are yet to manifest in larger size classes. The lag effect of reduced replenishment will likely be longer in MPAs than in fished areas because mortality rates are likely to be lower and therefore age structures of the populations will be extended. Nevertheless, greater predator biomass inside the MPAs could result in higher rates of predation on smaller individuals (Graham et al. 2003; Mumby et al. 2006), ultimately increasing the severity of the lag effect.

The effects on assemblage productivity and hence on fishery yield are expected to be even more substantial than the effects on biomass because the production to biomass ratios of smaller individuals and species are higher. Therefore a community of a given biomass that is dominated by larger species will be relatively less productive (Kerr & Dickie 2001). The observed changes in the size-spectra therefore suggest that total production will fall faster than biomass, owing to a decline in abundance of smaller fish and smaller size classes.

The responses of mixed-diet feeders and piscivores varied among size classes. Some of the families that make up these groups, for example, lethrinids and lutjanids, are generalist in their juvenile habitat use and often associate with soft-bottom habitats (Dorenbosch et al. 2005). Therefore, they may not be as reliant on the reef structure for predator evasion. Within the piscivores there was a decline in the number of fishes in medium size classes (20-50 cm), which was most pronounced in the MPAs. The consistent nature of this decline among habitats suggests a deterministic driver. Piscivores on coral reefs tend to select prey according to their gape size (Mumby et al. 2006), and reef fish predator-prey dynamics are highly size structured (Dulvy et al. 2004). Thus, it is likely that the substantial decline in smaller size classes of the assemblage, which was most evident in the MPAs, may have reduced prey availability for medium-sized piscivores and thus caused an indirect decline in their numbers.

Of the indirect effects of bleaching that we have identified, one of the most significant for the reef ecosystem as a whole is likely to be the substantial decline in smaller size classes of herbivorous fishes in both fished and protected areas. The surveyed assemblage consisted mainly of surgeonfishes (Acanthuridae) and parrotfishes (Scaridae), but also contained some rabbitfishes (Siganidae) and two species of damselfishes (Pomacentridae). Separate plots of the changes in size classes over time of acanthurids, scarids, or species that span a large number of size classes showed the same patterns of reduction in small size classes. Many of these species use the reef for habitat as juveniles (Dorenbosch et al. 2005), and because the trend was consistent among habitats and management strategies, it is likely that habitat degradation, which leads to greater competition and predation (Hixon & Jones 2005), is the cause of decline in smaller sizes.

Acanthurids can live over 25 years and scarids live 5-20 years (Choat & Robertson 2002), so individuals currently contributing to the increase in numerical abundance of large size classes likely recruited prior to the 1998 bleaching event or the collapse of the reef framework in 2003 (Engelhardt 2004). When disturbances are extensive and occur over large spatial scales, increased abundance of large herbivores can result from faster growth rates (Hart & Russ 1996) and potentially higher survivorship associated with greater food abundance. Nevertheless, fewer fish in smaller size classes are surviving to replace adults, and a subsequent decline in overall biomass of herbivores seems likely. Herbivores are common targets of the trap fishery in the Seychelles (Grandcourt 1999), and yields have remained stable throughout the bleaching event (Grandcourt & Cesar 2003), despite the increase in larger fish we identified. Yields were stable despite increases in larger fish because the decline in small-sized fish extended up to 30 cm, resulting in no substantial increase in biomass above size at first capture.

Herbivores are important to the resilience of coral reefs because they control algae and promote coral recovery (Bellwood et al. 2004; Mumby et al. 2006). Our results suggest that mass bleaching and the loss of structural complexity may ultimately lead to a reduction in the abundance of herbivores, including larger size classes and thus, resilience of reefs may decline over the long term. Because the trend is also apparent in the sampled MPAs, our data suggest the MPAs offer no long-term refuge from the impacts of coral bleaching.

What are the consequences for reef fisheries? In Seychelles 50-60% of trap fishing effort occurs close to the shore and within the depth range of the data collected in this study (T.D., unpublished data), which suggests that a future decline in biomass of target species will affect the trap fisheries. Nevertheless, given that a substantial portion of trap fishing grounds lie on deeper shoals and submerged reefs of the Mahé Plateau, there is potential for a degree of spatial mobility in the fishery if declines in target-species biomass are restricted to the shallow fringing reefs. If other locations suffer coral mortality and collapse on the scale of the Seychelles, target-species assemblages will likely respond in the same way. In locations where the topography does not allow for a diversity of demersal fishery habitats and depths and the entire demersal fishery is restricted to the inshore reef (e.g., Fiji; Jennings & Polunin 1997), the long-term impacts of bleaching on fishers could be more substantial.

The corallivores and planktivores demonstrated very large and consistent declines between years. Declines in corallivores, and even local extinctions, as a result of mass mortality of corals have been documented previously (Graham et al. 2006; Pratchett et al. 2006; Wilson et al. 2006). The planktivores in our study were principally coral-dwelling damselfish, which suffer large declines through coral mortality (Wilson et al. 2006). Furthermore, both groups have small body size, suggesting they are more reliant on the reef matrix to avoid predation (Munday & Jones 1998). The decline in both cases was greatest in the MPAs. Corallivore numbers declined from a mean of 31.7 to 5.3/site in fished areas and from 74.5 to 2.7/site in MPAs. Similarly, planktivore numbers declined from a mean of 90.3 to 44.4/site in fished areas and from 279.8 to 11.2/site in MPAs. These declines are associated with the greater cover of the complex coral category in the MPAs prior to the bleaching event, which is the preferred habitat of many specialist fish (Munday 2004; Pratchett 2005). The result is a subsequent homogenization of the MPAs and fished areas in terms of benthic cover and composition and the numerical abundance of small specialized fish species after bleaching.

In recent decades conservation of marine resources on coral reefs has focused on the use of MPAs. Results of previous studies show that reef fish diversity and abundance can be compromised in MPAs following coral mortality (Jones et al. 2004). Here we provide evidence that the size structure of fish assemblages is subject to the same long-term effects in MPAs and fished areas. Because future bleaching events seem inevitable (Sheppard 2003), the implementation of methods to ameliorate climatemediated disturbance should be treated as a priority in conservation and management plans for coral reefs. We recognize that some areas are less susceptible to climateinduced disturbance and some show greater recovery and therefore support the notion that MPAs should increasingly be sited in areas of resistance or resilience to bleaching to build up spatial resilience in the system (West & Salm 2003). In Seychelles the reefs north of Praslin and south of Mahé, and the granitic habitats in general are currently displaying the most recovery and the most stable fish populations (Engelhardt 2004; Graham et al. 2006), and would be suitable locations for future MPAs. Marine protected areas are not the only management tool available, however, and it is important to manage areas outside MPAs to minimize other stressors, such as overfishing and nutrient enrichment, to create conditions where a recovery may be possible if brood stocks are available.

Acknowledgments

This work was supported through grants from the British Overseas Development Administration (now DFID), the Leverhulme Trust, the Western Indian Ocean Marine Science Association, and the Fisheries Society of the British Isles. We thank the Seychelles Centre for Marine Research & Technology–Marine Parks Authority, Seychelles Fishing Authority, and Nature Seychelles for technical and logistical assistance.

Supplementary Material

Change in biomass and results of univariate, three-factor crossed analysis of variance for primary, important, and occasional target fish species above size at first capture (Appendix S1) are available as part of the on-line article from http://www.blackwell-synergy.com/. The author is responsible for the content and functionality of these materials. Queries (other than absence of the material) should be directed to the corresponding author.

Literature Cited

- Bellwood, D. R., T. P. Hughes, C. Folke, and M. Nyström. 2004. Confronting the coral reef crisis. Nature 429:827-833.
- Choat, J. H., and D. R. Robertson. 2002. Age-based studies. Pages 57– 80 in P. F. Sale, editor. Coral reef fishes: dynamics and diversity in a complex ecosystem. Academic Press, San Diego, California.
- Dorenbosch, M., M. G. G. Grol, M. J. A. Christianen, I. Nagelkerken, and G. van der Velde. 2005. Indo-Pacific seagrass beds and mangroves contribute to fish density and diversity on adjacent coral reefs. Marine Ecology Progress Series **302:**63–76.
- Dulvy, N. K., N. V. C. Polunin, A. C. Mill, and N. A. J. Graham. 2004. Size structural change in lightly exploited coral reef fish communities: evidence for weak indirect effects. Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences 61:466–475.
- Engelhardt, U. 2004. The status of scleractinian coral and reef-associated fish communities 6 years after the 1998 mass coral bleaching event. Final report. Seychelles Marine Ecosystem Management Project, Reefcare International, Townsville, Australia.
- Froese, R., and D. Pauly, editors. 2006. FishBase. World Wide Web electronic publication. Available from www.fishbase.org (accessed October 2006).
- Garpe, K. C., S. A. S. Yahya, U. Lindahl, and M. C. Ohman. 2006. Longterm effects of the 1998 coral bleaching event on reef fish assemblages. Marine Ecology Progress Series 315:237-247.
- Glynn, P. W. 2006. Fish utilization of simulated coral reef frameworks versus eroded rubble substrates off Panama, eastern Pacific. Proceedings of the 10th International Coral Reef Symposium 1:250–256.
- Graham, N. A. J., R. D. Evans, and G. R. Russ. 2003. The effects of marine reserve protection on the trophic relationships of reef fishes on the Great Barrier Reef. Environmental Conservation **30**:200–208.
- Graham, N. A. J., N. K. Dulvy, S. Jennings, and N. V. C. Polunin. 2005. Size spectra as indicators of the effects of fishing on coral reef fish assemblages. Coral Reefs 24:118-124.
- Graham, N. A. J., S. K. Wilson, S. Jennings, N. V. C. Polunin, J. P. Bijoux, and J. Robinson. 2006. Dynamic fragility of oceanic coral reef ecosystems. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 103:8425-8429.
- Grandcourt, E. M. 1999. The population biology of a selection of exploited reef fish from the Seychelles and Great Barrier Reef. MS thesis. James Cook University, Townsville, Australia.
- Grandcourt, E. M., and H. S. J. Cesar. 2003. The bio-economic impact of mass coral mortality on the coastal reef fisheries of the Seychelles. Fisheries Research 60:539–550.
- Hart, A. M., and G. R. Russ. 1996. Response of herbivorous fishes to crown-of-thorns starfish *Acanthaster planci* outbreaks. 3. Age,

growth, mortality and maturity indices of *Acanthurus nigrofuscus*. Marine Ecology Progress Series **136**:25-35.

- Hawkins, J. P., and C. M. Roberts. 2004. Effects of artisanal fishing on Caribbean coral reefs. Conservation Biology 18:215-226.
- Hawkins, J. P., C. M. Roberts, C. Dytham, C. Schelten, and M. M. Nugues. 2006. Effects of habitat characteristics and sedimentation on performance of marine reserves in St. Lucia. Biological Conservation 127:487-499.
- Hilborn, R., and C. J. Walters. 1992. Quantitative fisheries stock assessment; choice, dynamics and uncertainty. Kluwer Academic Publishers, Boston.
- Hixon, M. A., and G. P. Jones. 2005. Competition, predation, and densitydependent mortality in demersal marine fishes. Ecology 86:2847– 2859.
- Hughes, T. P., et al. 2003. Climate change, human impacts, and the resilience of coral reefs. Science 301:929–933.
- Jennings, S., and N. V. C. Polunin. 1997. Impacts of predator depletion by fishing on the biomass and diversity of nontarget reef fish communities. Coral Reefs 16:71–82.
- Jennings, S., E. M. Grandcourt, and N. V. C. Polunin. 1995. The effects of fishing on the diversity, biomass and trophic structure of Seychelles' reef fish communities. Coral Reefs 14:225–235.
- Jennings, S., S. S. Marshall, and N. V. C. Polunin. 1996. Seychelles' marine protected areas: comparative structure and status of reef fish communities. Biological Conservation 75:201-209.
- Jones, G. P., M. I. McCormick, M. Srinivasan, and J. V. Eagle. 2004. Coral decline threatens fish biodiversity in marine reserves. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 101:8251–8253.
- Kerr, S. R., and L. M. Dickie. 2001. The biomass spectrum: a predatorprey theory of aquatic production. Columbia University Press, New York.
- Letourneur, Y., M. Kulbicki, and P. Labrosse. 1998. Length-weight relationships of fishes from coral reefs and lagoons of New Caledonia an update. Naga ICLARM Quarterly **21:**39-46.
- McClanahan, T. R., and N. A. J. Graham. 2005. Recovery trajectories of coral reef fish assemblages within Kenyan marine protected areas. Marine Ecology Progress Series 294:241–248.
- McClanahan, T. R., J. Maina, and L. Pet-Soede. 2002. Effects of the 1998 coral mortality event on Kenyan coral reefs and fisheries. Ambio 31:543-550.
- McClanahan, T. R., N. A. J. Graham, J. Maina, P. Chabanet, J. H. Bruggemann, and N. V. C. Polunin. 2007. The influence of instantaneous variation on estimates of coral reef fish populations and communities. Marine Ecology Progress Series 340:221–234.
- Mumby, P. J., et al. 2006. Fishing, trophic cascades, and the process of grazing on coral reefs. Science 311:98–101.
- Munday, P. L. 2004. Habitat loss, resource specialisation, and extinction on coral reefs. Global Change Biology 10:1642–1647.
- Munday, P. L., and G. P. Jones. 1998. The ecological implications of small body size among coral-reef fishes. Oceanography and marine biology: an annual review 36:373-411.
- Munro, J. L., Z. Sary, and F. R. Gell. 2003. Escape gaps: an option for the management of Caribbean trap fisheries. Proceedings of the Gulf and Caribbean Fisheries Institute 54:28–40.
- Pratchett, M. S. 2005. Dietary overlap among coral-feeding butterflyfishes (Chaetodontidae) at Lizard Island, northern Great Barrier Reef. Marine Biology 148:373-382.
- Pratchett, M. S., S. K. Wilson, and A. H. Baird. 2006. Declines in the abundance of Chaetodon butterflyfishes (*Chaetodontidae*) following extensive coral depletion. Journal of Fish Biology 69:1269–1280.
- Russ, G. R., B. Stockwell, and A. C. Alcala. 2005. Inferring versus measuring rates of recovery in no-take marine reserves. Marine Ecology Progress Series 292:1–12.
- Robichaud, D., W. Hunte, and H. A. Oxenford. 1999. Effects of increased mesh size on catch and fishing power of coral reef fish traps. Fisheries Research 39:275-294.

- Sheppard, C. R. C. 2003. Predicted recurrences of mass coral mortality in the Indian Ocean. Nature 425:294–297.
- Thompson, A. A., and B. D. Mapstone. 1997. Observer effects and training in underwater visual surveys of reef fishes. Marine Ecology Progress Series 154:53-63.
- West, J. M., and R. V. Salm. 2003. Resistance and resilience to coral bleaching: implications for coral reef conservation and management. Conservation Biology 17:956–967.

Williams, I. D., W. J. Walsh, B. N. Tissot, and L. E. Hallacher. 2006. Impact

of observers' experience level on counts of fishes in underwater visual surveys. Marine Ecology Progress Series **310**:185-191.

- Wilson, S. K., N. A. J. Graham, M. S. Pratchett, G. P. Jones, and N. V. C. Polunin. 2006. Multiple disturbances and the global degradation of coral reefs: are reef fishes at risk or resilient? Global Change Biology 12:2220-2234.
- Wilson, S. K., N. A. J. Graham, and N. V. C. Polunin. 2007. Appraisal of visual assessments of habitat complexity and benthic composition on coral reefs. Marine Biology 151:1069–1076.



Supplementary Material

Table S1. Change in biomass and results of univariate three-factor crossed analysis of variance for primary, important, and occasional target fish species above size at first capture.^a

	Size at						
	first	Biomass	Biomass		Year	Habitat	Protection
Species	capture	(g) 1994	(g) 2005	Δ	(1,30 df)	(2,30 df)	(1,30 df)
Primary Targets	25.5						
Aprion virescens	25.5cm	4141	3497	-	0.75	2.01	11.30***
Cephalopholis leopardus	20.1cm	100	0	-	2.10	0.65	0.17
Chlorurus sordidus	19.2cm	7073	7369	+	0.11	0.75	0.03
Lutjanus bohar ^b	18.9cm	966	1308	+	1.63	1.74	1.83
Scarus ghobban	16.7cm	1137	2708	+	4.79*	2.73	6.93*
Scarus rubroviolaceus ^b	18.7cm	871	5079	+	4.16*	0.35	0.32
Siganus sutor ^b	15.4cm	338	0	-	2.79	1.12	0.56
Important targets	15.0						
Acanthurus tennentii	15.3cm	332	2307	+	1.06	0.34	0.08
Anyperodon leucogrammicus ^b	24.2cm	287	37	-	3.64	0.27	0.09
Calotomus carolinus ^b	16.0cm	79	1211	+	3.78	0.03	2.67
Cephalopholis argus ^b	20.9cm	3063	988	-	9.44**	0.32	1.32
Cephalopholis miniata	21.4cm	75	259	+	2.50	1.39	0.03
Cetoscarus bicolour ^b	17.3cm	410	0	-	15.45***	0.20	4.14
Cheilinus fasciatus ^b	19.0cm	219	66	-	4.95*	0.13	0.05
Cheilinus trilobatus	17.7cm	1963	1281	-	1.67	0.55	2.91
Chlorurus gibbus	17.5cm	1282	1138	-	0.07	2.59	0.96
Ctenochaetus striatus	13.8cm	3703	1035	-	6.57*	0.25	5.24*
Epinephelus fasciatus	22.3cm	59	159	+	1.46	0.18	0.07
Epinephelus merra ^b	22.1cm	58	32	-	0.27	2.36	2.00
Leptoscarus vaigiensis	21.8cm	77	478	+	1.45	4.01*	0.70
Lethrinus enigmaticus	16.7cm	13	52	+	0.52	0.96	0.36
Lethrinus harak	18.4cm	2594	2659	+	0.03	0.67	2.90
Lethrinus lentjan ^f	16.7cm	27	93	+	3.03	3.36* ^{, c}	7.61**
Lethrinus mahsena	15.9cm	119	68	-	0.70	0.18	0.02
Lethrinus nebulosus ^b	17.2cm	139	734	+	8.43**	1.62	3.52
Lethrinus obsoletus ^b	18.3cm	1381	421	-	4.20*	0.08	12.71***
Lethrinus olivaceus ^b	20.8cm	70	254	+	0.92	0.11	1.64
Lutjanus fulviflamma ^b	20.2cm	1206	692	-	1.31	3.19	5.45*
Lutjanus gibbus ^b	16.2cm	1257	684	-	0.28	1.07	0.31
Lutjanus kasmira	18.5cm	29	9	-	0.02	1.07	0.02
Lutjanus rivulatus	16.1cm	133	51	-	0.00	0.31	0.00
Macolor niger ^g	16.6cm	478	158	-	3.93	4.02* ^{, c}	0.09
Monotaxis grandoculis	15.7cm	325	723	+	0.93	0.43	0.07
Mulloidichthys flavolineatus ^b	25.5cm	366	31	-	1.82	0.26	3.43
Parupeneus barberinus ^b	21.9cm	1200	529	-	0.64	1.05	1.57
Parupeneus ciliatus ^b	21.8cm	1006	797	-	0.37	0.43	0.11
Parupeneus cyclostomus ^b	22.7cm	196	50	-	1.69	1.13	0.00
Parupeneus macronemus	21.4cm	410	139	-	2.46	1.52	0.10
Parupeneus rubescens ^b	20.2cm	17	25	+	0.24	0.40	1.57
Plectorhinchus orientalis	20.8cm	823	610	-	0.70	1.21	1.44
Plectorhinchus schotaf ^b	18.7cm	397	721	+	0.14	0.06	0.14
					•		•

Scarus caudofasciatus	17.2cm	117	642	+	1.92	1.07	0.19
Scarus falcipinnis ^b	17.4cm	200	291	+	0.01	0.49	0.50
Scarus frenatus ^h	19.1cm	1882	660	-	15.66***	1.17	13.57***
Scarus globiceps	18.3cm	189	667	+	0.74	0.34	0.07
Scarus niger ^{i, j}	17.6cm	3692	5583	+	3.67	2.45	3.16
Scarus prasiognathos	17.8cm	1080	4357	+	5.43*	2.54	0.46
Scarus psittacus	19.4cm	574	840	+	0.42	0.75	3.72
Scarus scaber ^b	19.4cm	784	192	-	4.92*	4.90** ^{, d}	0.02
Scarus tricolour	20.5cm	570	338	-	0.47	0.70	4.50*
Scarus viridifucatus	17.5cm	48	42	-	0.00	0.15	1.10
Siganus argenteus ^b	18.1cm	1482	3238	+	2.63ns	0.33	3.46
Siganus puelloides ^{b, h}	16.4cm	2114	922	-	17.93***	0.84	1.78
Siganus stellatus ^k	14.9cm	477	589	+	0.09	4.33*	9.82**
Occasional targets							
Acanthurus leucosternon	12.1cm	886	393	-	0.45	1.96	0.43
Acanthurus lineatus ^b	14.1cm	247	278	+	0.28	3.43* ^{, e}	1.69
Acanthurus nigrofuscus	15.1cm	511	484	-	0.06	0.43	0.02
Aethaloperca rogaa ^b	17.3cm	210	784	+	0.61	0.35	4.68*
Chlorurus atrilunula ^b	18.4cm	731	2187	+	4.01	1.37	1.40
Ctenochaetus binotatus	13.2cm	20	42	+	0.40	0.24	0.72
Ctenochaetus strigosus ^b	12.8cm	1045	382	-	7.51**	1.41	3.01
Epinephelus caeruleopunctatus	23.2cm	110	227	+	2.51	1.60	2.07
Hipposcarus harid ^b	18.9cm	3621	3160	-	2.91	0.31	2.38
Scolopsis frenatus ^{b, h}	20.7cm	2922	2303	-	7.70**	1.22	0.76

^a Values given for year, habitat and protection are *F* ratios. Probability results: *** p < 0.001; ** p < 0.01; * p < 0.05; no asterisk, not significant. *Cephalopholis urodeta*, *Diagramma pictum*, *Epinephelus hexagonatus*, *E. spilotoceps*, *E. tukula*, *Lethrinus rubrioperculatus*, *L. argentimaculatus*, *Lutjanus monostigma*, *Oxycheilinus diagrammus* and *Paracanthurus hepatus* were not analysed as assumptions could not be met due to too many zero's in counts.

^b Log₁₀ transformation necessary,

^c Tukey's output: Co>Gr, ^d Tukey's output: (Co=Gr)>Pa, ^e Tukey's output:Gr>(Co=Pa),

^f Significant year*habitat interaction due to higher biomass in carbonate reefs in 2005, but lower biomass in granite and patch reefs,

^g Significant year*habitat interaction due to a greater biomass in granite reefs than carbonate and patch reefs in 1994, but similar in 2005.

^h Significant year*protection interaction due to a greater decline in biomass in protected than fished areas between years,

ⁱ Significant three-way interaction due to greater changes in carbonate reefs than granite and patch reefs for both year and protection,

^j Levene's test could only be passed at 0.036, so significance was set at 0.03 for this species.

^k Significant three-way interaction due to a greater biomass in granite and patch reefs than carbonate reefs in protected areas, particularly in 2005.

Climate Warming, Marine Protected Areas and the Ocean-Scale Integrity of Coral Reef Ecosystems

Nicholas A. J. Graham¹*, Tim R. McClanahan², M. Aaron MacNeil^{1,3}, Shaun K. Wilson^{1,4}, Nicholas V. C. Polunin¹, Simon Jennings^{5,6}, Pascale Chabanet^{7,8}, Susan Clark⁹, Mark D. Spalding¹⁰, Yves Letourneur¹¹, Lionel Bigot⁸, René Galzin¹², Marcus C. Öhman¹³, Kajsa C. Garpe¹³, Alasdair J. Edwards¹⁴, Charles R. C. Sheppard¹⁵

1 School of Marine Science & Technology, Newcastle University, Newcastle-upon-Tyne, United Kingdom, 2 Wildlife Conservation Society, Marine Programs, Bronx, New York, United States of America, 3 National Research Council, NOAA Panama City Laboratory, Panama City Beach, Florida United States of America, 4ARC Centre of Excellence for Coral Reef Studies, James Cook University, Townsville, Queensland, Australia, 5 Centre for Environment, Fisheries and Aquaculture Science, Lowestoft Laboratory, Lowestoft, United Kingdom, 6 School of Environmental Sciences, University of East Anglia, Norwich, United Kingdom, 7 Institut de Recherche pour le Développement, Nouméa, New Caledonia, 8 Laboratoire d'Ecologie marine (ECOMAR), Université de La Réunion, Saint-Denis, La Réunion, France, 9 Natural England, Bridgewater House, Whitworth Street, Manchester, United Kingdom, 10 The Nature Conservancy, Newmarket, United Kingdom, 11 Université de la Méditerranée, Centre d'Océanologie de Marseille, UMR CNRS 6540 DIMAR, Campus de Luminy, Case 901, Marseille, France, 12 UMR 5244 CNRS-EPHE-UPVD, Ecosystèmes Coralliens, Université de Perpignan, Perpignan, France, 13 Department of Zoology, Stockholm University, Stockholm, Sweden, 14 School of Biology, Newcastle University, Newcastle-upon-Tyne, United Kingdom, 15 University of Warwick, Department of Biological Sciences, Coventry, United Kingdom

Abstract

Coral reefs have emerged as one of the ecosystems most vulnerable to climate variation and change. While the contribution of a warming climate to the loss of live coral cover has been well documented across large spatial and temporal scales, the associated effects on fish have not. Here, we respond to recent and repeated calls to assess the importance of local management in conserving coral reefs in the context of global climate change. Such information is important, as coral reef fish assemblages are the most species dense vertebrate communities on earth, contributing critical ecosystem functions and providing crucial ecosystem services to human societies in tropical countries. Our assessment of the impacts of the 1998 mass bleaching event on coral cover, reef structural complexity, and reef associated fishes spans 7 countries, 66 sites and 26 degrees of latitude in the Indian Ocean. Using Bayesian meta-analysis we show that changes in the size structure, diversity and trophic composition of the reef fish community have followed coral declines. Although the ocean scale integrity of these coral reef ecosystems has been lost, it is positive to see the effects are spatially variable at multiple scales, with impacts and vulnerability affected by geography but not management regime. Existing no-take marine protected areas still support high biomass of fish, however they had no positive affect on the ecosystem response to large-scale disturbance. This suggests a need for future conservation and management efforts to identify and protect regional refugia, which should be integrated into existing management frameworks and combined with policies to improve system-wide resilience to climate variation and change.

Citation: Graham NAJ, McClanahan TR, MacNeil MA, Wilson SK, Polunin NVC, et al. (2008) Climate Warming, Marine Protected Areas and the Ocean-Scale Integrity of Coral Reef Ecosystems. PLoS ONE 3(8): e3039. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0003039

Editor: Rob P. Freckleton, University of Sheffield, United Kingdom

Received March 31, 2008; Accepted August 4, 2008; Published August 27, 2008

Copyright: © 2008 Graham et al. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License, which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original author and source are credited.

Funding: This research was funded through grants from the Leverhulme Trust, Western Indian Ocean Marine Science Association, World Bank Targeted Research Group on Coral Bleaching, the Fisheries Society of the British Isles, the Eppley and Tiffany Foundations, the National Science and Engineering Research Council of Canada, the British Overseas Development Administration (now DFID) and the British Foreign and Commonwealth Office.

Competing Interests: The authors have declared that no competing interests exist.

* E-mail: n.a.j.graham@ncl.ac.uk

Introduction

Coral reefs are one of the ecosystems most threatened by climate variability and change [1–3]. Reef corals, the building blocks of carbonate reefs, have a restricted thermal tolerance, resulting in 'bleaching' events (loss of symbiotic algae) when sea surface temperatures rise above a given threshold [4]. This has contributed to widespread loss of live coral cover [5–8], the restructuring of benthic community composition [9] and has resulted in dire predictions for the future persistence of coraldominated ecosystems within decadal time scales [10,11]. There is now a need to understand resultant large-scale implications for other components of the ecosystem, which, to date, have received limited attention or been the focus of local studies [12–14]. Assessing ecosystem trends and patterns at regional scales is necessary if informed management choices are to be made that will mitigate the effects of large-scale climate disturbance. Importantly, there is a need to test key paradigms, such as the ability of no-take areas (NTAs) to enhance recovery from climate change impacts [2], and the potential for herbivorous fish to increase in abundance following coral mortality and functionally compensate for increased algal coverage [15].

At large scales, remote pristine areas may have a greater capacity to absorb climate impacts and maintain a coral dominated and diverse ecosystem [16]. However, most coral reef NTAs are small and embedded in heavily fished and degraded

PLOS one

environments [8,17]. Assessing the importance of local management for conserving coral reefs in the context of global change has been identified as a key research challenge for coral reef scientists [18]. Although there are expectations that NTAs will promote resilience and faster recovery from climate disturbance [19], sitespecific studies suggest this may not be the case [12,20,21], and the effectiveness of such management needs to be assessed across regional spatial scales.

Grazing by herbivores, by creating space for invertebrate larval settlement, is thought to be key to maintaining reefs in a coral dominated state [22,8,23]. However, it is increasingly evident that the majority of herbivorous fish in the Indo-Pacific will crop turf algae, but feed less on or avoid erect macroalgae once it has developed [24,25]. Following large-scale disturbances that open up large amounts of space on reefs, such as mass coral bleaching, herbivores may become swamped by the biomass of the new algal resource [26] and reefs can progress on a trajectory to macroalgal dominance [27]. It is therefore important to assess whether herbivorous reef fish increase in abundance following large-scale coral loss and thus have the ability to prevent reefs from becoming dominated by erect macroalgae.

Coral mortality through climate induced bleaching was particularly severe in the Indian Ocean in 1998, with $\sim 45\%$ of coral cover lost across the region [28], although the effects were spatially variable [7,9]. We assess the longer-term effects of this event in fished areas and NTAs across 7 countries, 66 sites and 26 degrees of latitude. Specifically, we conducted a targeted research program whereby the original investigators who collected comprehensive benthic and fish assemblage data from Maldives, Chagos, Seychelles, Kenya, Tanzania, Mauritius, and Réunion in the mid-1990s repeated their surveys post-bleaching, in 2005. We use continuous model Bayesian meta-analysis to quantify effects of changes in live coral cover and physical complexity of reefs on the diversity, size structure, trophic structure and abundance of reef fish. The Bayesian approach not only structures the inherent uncertainty in monitoring data from multiple sources, but also allows belief statements to be made regarding future change [29]. With ever more frequent bleaching events predicted [11], quantitative predictions regarding how fish will respond to future declines in coral cover over large spatial scales are needed to guide regional conservation planning, adaptation and mitigation strategies.

Results

Change in hard coral cover across the region between the mid 1990s and 2005 varied geographically (Figure 1). The changes reported here represent the combined effects of coral loss in 1998 and any subsequent recovery to 2005. The greatest declines were apparent through the low latitude island states of Maldives, Chagos, and Seychelles. Kenyan and Tanzanian nationally protected sites experienced moderate declines, while Mauritius and Réunion sustained the smallest declines, and coral cover increased in Kenyan and Tanzanian fished sites (Figure 1). Assessing change in coral cover at relevant scales, that consider location, management and habitat type, indicates that 10 of our 19 study locations exhibit declines that depart significantly from zero (Figure 2A). The study incorporated nine no-take areas (NTAs) across four countries (two in Seychelles, four in Kenya, two in Tanzania and the long-term de-facto protection of reefs of the Chagos archipelago [30]). A greater proportion of NTAs (71%) than fished (42%) locations showed significant declines in coral cover over the study period. Based on bootstrapped 95% confidence limits, there was no evidence to suggest the percent change in coral cover differed between NTAs and fished areas,

and in some cases declines were significantly greater in NTAs (Figure 2A). Importantly, the NTAs had greater starting coral covers than adjacent fished areas, which, as NTAs and fished areas declined to similar final covers (Table 1)(with the exception of some of the less impacted Tanzanian sites), meant the NTAs had further to fall.

It is clear that the impacts of the 1998 bleaching event were highly variable across the region, and provide a continuum against which to test secondary consequences, such as the effects of coral loss on fish assemblages. Recent developments in assessing the effects of coral disturbance on fish have highlighted the importance of eroding structural complexity in driving responses [13,31], which, as erosion of coral structures can take 5–10 years, explains the much smaller impacts on fish shortly after coral mortality [15]. Structural complexity was quantified at 50 of our 66 sites. Importantly, there was a strong correlation between loss in coral cover and loss in structural complexity across the region (r=0.77, P<0.001, Figure 2B). The strong collinearity in the two measures precludes independent assessment of variables, and therefore the effects of changing coral cover on fish identified in the Bayesian meta-analyses are likely to result from a combination of loss in coral cover and structural complexity.

Coral loss predicted declines in reef-fish species richness, and abundance of obligate corallivores, planktivores and fishes <20 cm throughout the western Indian Ocean (Table 2). We tested five possible trajectory descriptors in each case, but only found evidence for linear fits between coral decline and change in groupings of the fish community. Trends in species richness were significant, but weak, and largely driven by the Seychelles and Mafia Island (Figure 3A). There was substantial evidence for a 1:1 relationship between changes in obligate corallivore abundance and percent coral cover (Figure 3B). From these results we estimate, given any future 50% decline in coral cover, there is a 76% probability of equivalent declines in obligate corallivores at any given site in the western Indian Ocean. The relationship between change in diurnal planktivore abundance and coral cover was relatively strong; given a future 50% decline in coral cover, we estimate a 68% probability of observing declines in planktivore abundance (Figure 3E). We found no relationship between a loss of coral and change in abundance of herbivore and mixed diet feeder groups (Figure 3C,D).

When species were grouped by their maximum attainable size, a clear trend was apparent for species <20 cm total length, but no relationship was observed for 21–40 cm, 41–60 cm or >60 cm groupings (Figure 4A; Table 2). Given a future 50% decline in coral cover, we estimate a 52% probability of observing declines in the abundance of fish species with maximum body lengths <20 cm. Within this size class, planktivores make up a considerable portion of the abundance (44%), and herbivores and mixed diet feeders also contribute substantially (28% and 20% respectively), but corallivores have limited input (8%) (Figure 4B). Separate analyses of trophic groups within the <20 cm size category highlights that, along with obligate corallivores and planktivores, there was also evidence of declines in herbivores (Table 2).

We only found weak evidence for differences between NTAs and fished areas for change in diurnal planktivore abundance and small-bodied herbivore abundance (<20 cm) (Table 3). In both cases the negative relationship between fish abundance and coral decline was greater for the NTAs, however there was equal support for model M_c with no differences between types of management (Table 3). Importantly, irrespective of body size and trophic categorization, NTAs provided no clear benefits for any of the fish groups in terms of their change in response to coral decline.





doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0003039.g001



Figure 2. Change in coral cover and reef structural complexity. (A) Change in live coral cover at meaningful biogeographical aggregations and by management strategy. Three habitat types in Seychelles each replicated in the two NTAs. Kenyan protected represents four NTAs. Bootstrapped 95% confidence intervals indicate whether mean change departs significantly from zero. Locations ordered by magnitude of coral decline. (B) Correlation between change in live coral cover and change in structural complexity across the region. • Mafia Island, 🛇 Seychelles, 🔺 Chagos, ■ Maldives, ♦ Kenya, △ Tanzania. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0003039.g002

PLoS ONE | www.plosone.org

 Table 1. Mean coral cover before (mid-1990s) and after
 (2005) the 1998 bleaching event across the Indian Ocean.

Location	% Coral Cover mid-1990s	±SE	% Coral Cover 2005	±SE
Maldives, North Male (3)	15.5	7.5	10.9	3.2
Maldives, South Male (2)	43.9	3.6	8.0	1.2
Chagos Protected (9)	31.2	4.0	22.8	2.9
Seychelles Carbonate Reefs (5)	34.6	2.7	5.6	3.1
Seychelles Carbonate Protected (2)	44.9	4.8	5.1	4.5
Seychelles Granite Reefs (5)	14.8	2.0	8.2	2.3
Seychelles Granite Protected (2)	30.9	7.6	7.5	6.4
Seychelles Patch Reefs (5)	20.0	1.5	10.9	5.1
Seychelles Patch Protected (2)	46.4	7.8	3.6	3.0
Kenya Fished (4)	18.9	5.2	20.0	4.0
Kenya Protected (4)	34.8	4.5	26.8	8.1
Tanzania Dar (4)	42.6	11.9	70.0	3.2
Tanzania Tanga (4)	23.9	7.5	27.8	6.8
Tanzania Zanzibar (2)	48.5	3.8	48.3	3.3
Tanzania Zanzibar Protected (2)	62.7	11.1	61.5	2.4
Tanzania, Mafia Island, Protected (2)	33.0	N/A	0.1	N/A
Reunion Flat (2)	42.5	24.3	37.0	10.9
Reunion Slope (2)	42.0	5.0	28.4	4.5
Mauritius (5)	45.3	9.5	41.1	6.7

Sites aggregated at representative geographic scales that consider location, management and habitat type. Three habitat types in Seychelles each replicated in the two NTAs. Kenyan protected represents four NTAs. Number of sites per location given in brackets. Note, Tanzania, Mafia Island, received notake status in 2000.

doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0003039.t001

Discussion

We have identified spatially variable declines in coral cover, reef structural complexity, fish species richness and the abundance of various feeding and size groups of reef fish across the Indian Ocean following the 1998 bleaching event. These changes are substantial for some groups, and indicate little insurance offered by current small-scale NTA management across the region. The spatial patterns present in our data provide important information for future conservation planning and generic lessons for managing whole coral reef ecosystems in a changing climate.

There was little difference in the decline of coral cover between NTAs and fished areas across the Indian Ocean, with some evidence for greater declines within NTAs. This result is likely due to NTAs often being sited in areas where the cover of Acropora and other thermally-sensitive and branching coral species is high [20], or may be because fishing gears reduce cover of these coral species in fished areas. Our analysis also indicated little difference between NTAs and fished areas for those fish groups that declined in response to coral loss. The only indication of a differential response was the greater decline in NTAs for planktivores and small bodied herbivores. Large, remote and pristine areas seem to be resilient to a wide range of disturbances [16], which has led to calls to assess the effectiveness of NTAs in conserving coral reefs through climate disturbance [18]. One clear difference to these remote areas is that NTAs on reefs are typically small and surrounded by much larger areas that are modified by exploitation [8,17]. As we do not have repeat temporal data since the initial coral loss in 1998, we can not explicitly infer recovery rates from our data, however the NTAs we studied show no evidence of being more resistant to declines in coral and fish groups following coral bleaching and it seems likely that, over this time scale, recovery rates are no different between NTAs and fished areas, as has been shown for some of the NTAs where temporal data were available [21].

We detected declines in fish species richness across the western Indian Ocean in response to loss of live coral cover. Although only

Table 2. Continuous model Bayesian meta-analysis parameter estimates from the best-fitting models (see Table 3) for reef fish metrics in the western Indian Ocean.

Metric	Model	$\hat{m{eta}}$ (intercept)	$\hat{\beta}_{coral}$ (slope)	$\hat{\beta}_{protected}$ (intercept)	$\hat{\beta}_{protected}$ (slope)
Species richness	Mc	0.00 (0.03) [-0.07, 0.06]	0.10 (0.02) [0.06, 0.14]	-	-
Obligate corallivores	Mc	-0.26 (0.21) [-0.66, 0.16]	1.05 (0.14) [0.77, 1.30]	-	-
Herbivores	Mo	-0.28 (0.08) [-0.45, -0.12]	-	-	-
Mixed-diet feeders	Mo	-0.18 (0.06) [-0.28, 0.08]	-	-	-
Planktivores	M _{cp}	-0.42 (0.16) [-0.74, -0.10]	0.52 (0.16) [0.28, 0.77]	1.02 (0.35) [0.35, 1.69]	0.61 (0.24) [0.10, 1.07]
Planktivores	Mc	-0.15 (0.15) [-0.44, 0.14]	0.68 (0.10) [0.48, 0.87]	-	-
<20 cm	Mc	-0.17 (0.09) [-0.35, 0.00]	0.37 (0.06) [0.28, 0.49]	-	-
21–40 cm	Mo	-0.21 (0.09) [-0.40, -0.05]	-	-	-
41–60 cm	Mo	-0.59 (0.17) [-0.91, -0.26]	-	-	-
>61 cm	Mo	-0.37 (0.21) [-0.77, 0.04]	-	-	-
<20 cm obligate corallivores	Mc	-0.39 (0.19) [-0.77, -0.00]	0.94 (0.13) [0.69, 1.19]	-	-
<20 cm herbivores	Mc	-0.19 (0.16) [-0.51, 0.13]	0.50 (0.10) [0.29, 0.71]	-	-
<20 cm herbivores	M_{cp}	-0.28 (0.18) [-0.65, 0.08]	0.24 (0.14) [-0.05, 0.53]	0.37 (0.35) [-0.33, 1.06]	0.53 (0.21) [0.12, 0.95]
<20 cm mixed diet feeders	Mo	-0.46 (0.06) [-0.58, -0.34]	-	-	-
<20 cm planktivores	Mc	-0.10 (0.16) [-0.43, 0.23]	0.57 (0.110 [0.35, 0.78]	-	-

Estimates for groups with equivalent model fits are provided for both models. Values in parentheses are standard deviations; values in square brackets are 95% credible intervals.

doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0003039.t002



Figure 3. Change in fish groups in response to coral decline. Continuous model Bayesian meta-analysis of relationships between decline in coral cover and change in (*A*) species richness of fish assemblages, and (*B*) abundance of obligate corallivores, (*C*) herbivores, (*D*) mixed diet feeders, (*E*) planktivores. Scale as converted to percent change indicated in top right panel. Linear trend lines only presented where significant model fits were recorded. Green symbols indicate sites in NTAs, blue symbols indicate sites in fished areas. Inner dashed line represents 95% credible interval on the regression and outer dashed line represents the 95% prediction interval. • Mafia Island, \diamond Seychelles, \blacktriangle Chagos, \blacksquare Maldives, \blacklozenge Kenya, \triangle Tanzania, \square Réunion, \bigcirc Mauritius. Movement of points along the x-axis among panels reflects model-structured uncertainty present among studies. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0003039.g003

a small proportion of species are heavily coral dependent, most species are reliant on the reef matrix at some stage in their life history, and change in species richness was likely due to loss in the physical structure of the reef, rather than live coral [13–15,31]. The variability in loss of structural complexity may explain why the trend for species richness was not stronger, with locations such as Chagos, where recovery of coral has been rapid, potentially retaining structural complexity in the interim. Although loss of structural complexity was the most likely driver of the region-wide decline in species richness, some studies have highlighted that live coral can be an important settlement cue for larval fish [12,32] and the nature of this relationship is an important area for future research.

Although previous studies have identified obligate corallivores as a functional group vulnerable to declines in coral cover [14,15], this is the first study to demonstrate declines over such a large spatial scale. We have also identified a 1:1 linear relationship between coral loss and obligate corallivore decline, suggesting their survival on the reef is tightly linked to coral cover and changes in obligate corallivore abundance should be easy to predict based on changes to benthic cover. The diurnal planktivores in the study were largely small-bodied species from the damselfish family



Figure 4. Change in small bodied fish in response to coral decline. (A) Continuous model Bayesian meta-analysis of relationship between decline in coral cover and change in fish <20 cm maximum attainable size. Green symbols indicate sites in NTAs, blue symbols indicate sites in fished areas. Inner dashed line represents 95% credible interval on the regression and outer dashed line represents the 95% prediction interval. • Mafia Island, \diamond Seychelles, \blacktriangle Chagos, \blacksquare Maldives, \diamond Kenya, \triangle Tanzania, \square Réunion, \bigcirc Mauritius. (B) Percent contribution of five trophic groups to the starting (mid-1990's) abundance of fish <20 cm maximum attainable body length across the region. Black=planktivores, dark grey=piscivores (barely present on plot; 0.05%), white = Mixed diet feeders, grey=herbivores, light grey=obligate corallivores.

doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0003039.g004

(>90% contribution to group) that are often closely associated with the reef matrix [33,34]. Their decline is most likely due to predation vulnerability, linked to loss of coral and structural collapse [13,31]. Planktivores and corallivores showed the strongest relationships of all groups to declining coral cover and are likely to be the groups most threatened from the predicted ongoing decline in global reef health [14,15].

Although herbivores are hypothesized to increase in abundance following coral decline due to a greater availability of algal resources, previous studies have reported high variation in this relationship and have often been conducted shortly after disturbances, limiting their ability to detect demographic changes [15]. Here we tested this hypothesis across large spatial and temporal scales where the assemblage had a moderate time to respond. Herbivores are thought to be a key functional group, responsible for the resilience of reef systems by controlling algal growth [8,23,35] and ultimately allowing settlement of new coral recruits [36]. However, our data show that the proliferation of algae that follows extensive coral mortality [12,13,37,38] was unlikely to be controlled by a corresponding increase in herbivorous fish abundance. Changes to size structure and biomass of herbivore stocks cannot be ruled out and may initially encourage increased consumption and control of algae. However, studies from Seychelles suggest such changes may be indicative of future declines in herbivore abundance and biomass due to a loss of refuge from predators, leading to reduced recruitment to adult size classes [20].

The mixed diet feeding group also showed no response to declining coral cover. This group of fish includes species from families such as Lethrinidae, Mullidae, Lutjanidae, and Labridae, many of which are habitat generalists, foraging and recruiting to non-coral reef habitats such as seagrass [39]. Species in these groups also tend to forage over fairly large spatial scales, indicating

Table 3. Model-selection results for continuous modelBayesian meta-analysis in the western Indian Ocean using theBayesian Information Criterion (BIC).

Metric	Mo	Mc	М _{ср}
Species richness	17.53	1.64	6.35
Obligate corallivores	282.90	248.38	256.38
Herbivores	145.83	149.61	157.35
Mixed-diet feeders	83.64	87.40	91.90
Planktivores	237.66	205.27	204.30
<20 cm	165.25	138.72	140.60
21–40 cm	146.91	150.00	158.17
41–60 cm	231.69	231.35	235.95
>61 cm	261.85	266.02	272.32
< 20 cm obligate corallivores	275.96	238.91	246.80
<20 cm herbivores	230.91	214.86	216.53
<20 cm mixed diet feeders	94.93	99.11	106.16
<20 cm planktivores	237.76	218.23	222.13

Models include a null model of no relationship (M₀), a model including a relationship between changes in coral cover and reef fish metrics (M_c), and a fish-coral model that allows for differences between protected and unprotected sites (M_{cp}). Models highlighted in bold have the greatest support, given the data; models with BIC differences of <2 are considered to have equal support. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0003039.t003

a lack of reliance on specific habitat types. Due to this decoupling of reliance on reef habitat and the potential benefits they may glean from increased food resources, this may be the group that will be sustained in the long term, although a large amount of variation can be expected at the species level [15], leading to changes in community composition.

Small-bodied fish are known to be more reliant on the reef matrix, inhabit narrower niches, and be more vulnerable to predation [33,34]. Our analyses highlight the vulnerability of small-bodied species to coral and structural complexity loss. Within this size category, obligate corallivore and planktivore groups showed strong declines. Interestingly, there was also a reduction in abundance of small-bodied herbivores. Although herbivore abundance may not be declining overall (Figure 3C), the reduction of these small-bodied species is of concern as they perform important functional roles on coral reefs [40]. Small mixed diet feeders again showed no trend, demonstrating the resistance of species with generalist life history traits to coral loss.

There are some obvious limitations in our data, such as the timeframe between surveys and the influence of any change in management / fishing pressure. In most cases management and fishing pressure have not changed greatly over the ten years studied. The one main exception is Mombasa Marine National Park, Kenya, where species richness and fish density have increased owing to management action [17]. Although such effects may have a slight influence on the results, the relationship between reef fish and change in coral cover (and its association with loss in physical structure) is a strong signal within the regional data and is consistent with current ecological understanding of disturbance effects on coral reefs [14,15]. A potential problem when conducting meta-analyses is publication bias, whereby data sets are not located or included in the analyses [41]. This is not a problem in the current study as we conducted a targeted research program where all comprehensive studies from the mid 1990's were repeated as part of the study itself. Finally, the study design

does not consider the impact of disturbances after the 1998 coral bleaching event. However, the December 2004 tsunami is thought to have had negligible effects on coral reefs in the western Indian Ocean [42]. Furthermore, any other ensuing disturbances are just as likely to have influenced NTAs as fished areas and reflect increasing disturbance frequencies occurring on coral reefs globally [2,8].

Our analyses highlight great geographic variation in the impact of coral bleaching across the region, with the Seychelles suffering the greatest in terms of coral loss and associated effects on fish, and the Mascarene Islands (Réunion and Mauritius) suffering the least. These trends could be due to several factors: 1) Prevailing currents and variation in temperatures have been identified as key determinants of coral mortality in the region, likely reducing mortality in the Mascarene Islands in particular [11,43]. 2) Well connected reef systems are expected to contain the pockets of refugia required for landscape-scale recovery [44]. This is evident when comparing recovery of the well connected mainland reefs of Kenya and Tanzania and the geographically extensive Chagos and Maldives to the geographically small and isolated inner Seychelles. 3) The inner Seychelles is a shallow continental shelf basin, with most fringing reefs extending to only 7-9 m depth. This 'bathtub effect' likely led to extensive mortality in 1998 and precluded any depth refuge below which corals could survive. Where live coral extends to 40-50 m depth, such as in the atolls of Chagos or the islands of Réunion and Mauritius, a depth refuge of broodstock may encourage faster recovery of corals at shallower depths [45]. 4) Finally, the atolls surveyed in Chagos are uninhabited and off limits to reef fishing. The lack of multiple anthropogenic stresses that most other reef systems endure may have helped promote recovery from the disturbance [16,18].

The 1998 bleaching event had, and is still having, extensive effects across the western Indian Ocean. Although ocean-scale coral reef integrity has been lost, it is positive to see that effects were spatially variable and that in some locations the indirect effects on fish assemblages and likely implications for human society have been small. Geography seems to be a key determinant in the ability of reefs to absorb and recover from such large-scale disturbances and this should be considered for other regions likely to suffer similar large-scale disturbances in the future. Although there was no evidence that existing NTAs are promoting recovery of coral, these NTAs are still supporting a greater biomass of fishery stocks [17,20], indicating long-term fisheries management should not be compromised. There is, however, a need for new NTAs, incorporated into existing networks that protect source reefs resilient to large-scale disturbance, and areas likely to retain their physical structure. This will help sustain the upstream spawning stocks of corals and specialised fish species required for landscape-scale recovery. Such management is likely to be unsuccessful in isolation, and improved management of entire reef systems, reducing the stresses and pressures to areas outside NTAs will be necessary to maximise the capacity for systems to recover from large scale and ongoing disturbance.

Materials and Methods

We identified all field studies that had comprehensively surveyed reef fish assemblages and associated benthic composition and structure from the western Indian Ocean region from 1990 to before the 1998 coral bleaching event (majority 1994–95). This resulted in eight separate large-scale studies (across seven countries). Original investigators returned to their study locations in 2005 to repeat the surveys, using field protocols identical to those used in the original surveys. The protocols were standardised within, rather than among study locations as it is more robust to quantify effect sizes in this way and then standardise when comparing among studies. Where the original investigator could not return, an experienced surveyor from the team repeated the work. An associated field study workshop for the project, which involved many of the researchers from the region, found experienced observer bias to be a very small component of the variation in fish counts [46]. All reef surveys were conducted on the reef flat or shallow reef slope. The abundance of all diurnally active, non-cryptic, reef-associated fish was assessed during each survey, however methods varied among study locations from point counts of differing dimensions to belt transects of differing dimensions. Replication also varied from 3 to 16. This resulted in a survey area per site of $\sim 200 \text{ m}^2$ to $\sim 2500 \text{ m}^2$. Benthic quantification also varied in spatial scale and from visual estimates to line intercept transects, but the results are expected to be comparable [47]. Estimates of change in live coral cover were calculated and plotted on a map by country and management strategy and at a more aggregated level with 95% confidence limits. Measures of structural complexity also varied and included visual assessments of reef topography, the linear versus contour method and measures of reef height. However these measures were found to be strongly correlated [47] and these correlation coefficients were used to standardise them to a common scale. The relationship between percent change in coral cover and percent change in structural complexity was assessed by correlation analysis. The presence of variation in field methods is routine in meta-analytical studies, and thus the choice of effect size calculation and variance weighting is integral to the comparability of study results [48].

Effect size

Meta-analysis frequently employs unitless effect size metrics to standardize the information present among accumulated studies. The potential to observe changes in a before and after comparison can be greatly influenced by initial values at a given location; sites with larger initial values have a greater scope to reveal change than those with low values [48]. To achieve a comparable metric at all locations and to account for initial cover / values, we calculated effect sizes as the percent change between the mid 1990s and 2005 [49];

$$2/difference\Delta = \left[(A_{a,i} - A_{b,i}) / A_{b,i} \right] \times 100 \tag{1}$$

where A_b and A_a were mean values at sites in the mid 1990's and 2005 respectively. We did not account for study duration [48] as we made the informed assumption that the greatest changes occurred in 1998 and our measures in the mid-1990's are an appropriate estimate of pre-bleaching conditions. Furthermore as sampling date was standardised for post-1998 surveys, any incorporation of duration could unduly bias effect sizes based on pre-disturbance study dates. Finally, we are estimating a magnitude of change, rather than a rate of change, which would require a different effect size metric [48]. We calculated individual effect sizes for change in coral cover, structural complexity, fish species richness, and fish density in four functional groups for which data were available at the majority of sites (obligate corallivores, herbivores, planktivores, and mixed-diet fishes assigned using regional fish identification guides, published literature and http://www.fishbase.org), for four size classes of fish species (maximum attainable size <20 cm, 21-40 cm, 41- $60~\mathrm{cm},~\mathrm{and}~>\!\!60~\mathrm{cm})$ and for the same four functional groups listed above within the <20 cm maximum attainable size category. Herbivores include all those species that feed on algae

and or detrital aggregates from the epilithic algal matrix. Because percent-change losses have a strongly right-tailed distribution, i.e. a maximum potential decline of 100%, but a potentially limitless increase, we transformed all of the Δ^{T} values to be balanced around zero following Kaiser et al. [49]:

$$\Delta^{T} = \log_{e}(1 + [\Delta/101]).$$
⁽²⁾

This transformation prevents overestimates of increases and underestimates of declines, where a maximum potential decline has a value of -4.6 and a maximum increase +4.6. The transformation approximately normalises the error distribution and stabilises its variance [49]. Raw data were available for many of the original studies, allowing us to estimate average effect-sizes at some locations. Because data were collected from the same sites but not the same transects, we estimated effect-size means and variances at these sites using non-parametric bootstrapping of the before and after observations ($\mathbf{R} = 9999$) [50] with (1) and (2), by randomly matching before-after pairs at each iteration. This generated sample means and expected variance ranges for many, but not all, of the study locations.

Bayesian meta-analysis

We evaluated evidence for a regional relationship between reef fish and coral cover using an area-variance weighting scheme implemented in a Bayesian meta-analysis framework. The use of area surveyed as a weighting scheme in coral reef meta-analyses has become widespread because actual variance will depend on individual measurement size and replication [48]. The Bayesian approach allowed us to model the hierarchical structure of the data, estimate the magnitude of regional-scale effects, and to specify a level of uncertainty about individual study estimates. By sharing information among studies, this approach maximized the strength of inferences made across the entire range of meta-data used, allowing us to make probability statements about the likelihood of reef fish declines given potential future changes in coral conditions. Although we tested five different ecologically meaningful response trajectories (asymptotic, quadratic, logistic, linear and exponential), we found no model-based evidence for non-linear responses based on Bayesian Information Criterion (BIC) scores among candidate models. We therefore quantified the regional fish community response between the mid 1990s and 2005 using a null model (intercept-only; M₀) and exchangeable linear model (M_c) of coral effect size β_{coral} ,

$$\Delta_{f,j}^T \sim N\left(\theta_{f,j}, \sigma_{jf}^2\right),\tag{3}$$

$$\Delta_{c,j}^T \sim N\Big(\theta_{c,j}, \sigma_{jc}^2\Big),\tag{4}$$

$$\sigma_{j}^{2} = \begin{cases} \left[\frac{\log(area_{\max})}{\log(area_{j})} \right] \sigma_{j^{*}}^{2}, & \text{if original data unavailable} \\ \left[\frac{\log(area_{\max})}{\log(area_{j})} \right] \sigma_{j^{b}}^{2}, & \text{if original data available} \end{cases}$$
(5)

$$\theta_{f,j} \sim N\left(\beta_0 + \beta_{coral}\left(\theta_{c,j}\right), \sigma_\theta^2\right),\tag{6}$$

where $\Delta_{f,j}^{T}$ is the study point estimate of the fish effect size $\theta_{f,j}$ from

the j^{th} study; $\Delta_{c,j}^{T}$ is the study point estimate of coral effect size $\theta_{c,j}$ in the j^{th} study; σ_j^2 is the study fish or coral variance that is assumed known; $\sigma_{j^*}^2$ is the maximum of the known (bootstrap estimated) site-level variances for fish or coral among the studies used; *area_{max}* is the maximum reef area surveyed; $\sigma_{j^b}^2$ is the bootstrap-estimated site-level variance for sites where raw data was available; and σ_{θ}^2 is the estimated regional variance. The area-weighted σ_j^2 's were likely to be conservative because they were scaled down from the largest known study variance, expressing an equal or greater level of uncertainty than any of the known sample variances, thus weighting the variance based on the area of reef surveyed.

This continuous meta-analysis model was fully-specified by noninformative prior distributions for the estimated parameters,

$$\beta_0 \sim N(0, 1000)$$
 (7)

$$\sigma_{\theta}^2 \sim U(0, 1000) \tag{8}$$

$$\beta_{coral} \sim N(0, 1000) \tag{9}$$

In addition to the coral effects model, we included a NTA model to estimate the effects of fishery protection on changes in coral and fish metrics. This protection model (M_{cp}) included a modification of equation (6) to include a dummy variable (*status*) that allowed the slopes ($\beta_{protection}$) and intercepts (β_{prot} 0) of the coral relationship to vary between NTAs and fished areas:

$$\theta_{f,j} \sim N\left(\beta_0 + \beta_{prot\ 0}(status) + \beta_{coral}\left(\theta_{c,j}\right) + \beta_{coral}\left(\theta_{c,j}\right) + \beta_{prot\ ction}(status), \sigma_{\theta}^2\right).$$
(10)

Priors for all slopes and intercepts were as specified by equation (9). We implemented both regional models using the PyMC Markov-Chain Monte Carlo (MCMC) toolkit for the Python programming language. Meta-analytical models were run for 20 000 iterations with a 10 000 iteration burn-in period. We evaluated model convergence using Geweke's method [50]. Model goodness-of-fit (GOF) was assessed using the deviance simulation methods in PyMC, where ideal models yield GOF values near 0.5, providing evidence of equivalence between simulated and observed deviance [51]. Our Bayesian meta-analyses had GOF scores between 0.46 and 0.50 for all fish metrics, confirming good model fits for estimating effect-size relationships, and model convergence was deemed adequate in every instance [51]. Site-level posterior distributions shrunk towards the regional mean, where the extreme high- and low-value effect sizes had a reduced effect on the overall estimates. Relative evidence for each model was evaluated using the Bayesian Information Criterion (BIC) [52] and the uncertainty surrounding each posterior parameter estimate.

From the area of highest posterior density in the posterior distribution of each model parameter we obtained Bayesian credible intervals (CI) that defined a 95% probability of a given parameter lying within the CI range. During each MCMC simulation we also sampled from the full conditional of the model and data to construct predictive intervals (PI) that defined a 95% probability of future observations being within the PI range. The PI interval values allowed us to make probability statements about the response of fish assemblage groups to future coral depletion.

Acknowledgments

Logistical support was received from the Seychelles Centre of Marine Research and Technology-Marine Park Authority, Seychelles Fishing Authority, Nature Seychelles, Mauritius Institute of Oceanography, University of Dar es Salaam, and Kenya Wildlife Service. The paper was improved through comments by Len Thomas, Magnus Nyström and Michael Marnane.

References

- Walther G-R, Post E, Convey P, Menzel A, Parmesan C, et al. (2002) Ecological responses to recent climate change. Nature 416: 389–395.
- Hughes TP, Baird AH, Bellwood DR, Card M, Connolly SR, et al. (2003) Climate change, human impacts, and the resilience of coral reefs. Science 301: 929–933.
- Hoegh-Guldberg O, Mumby PJ, Hooten AJ, Steneck RS, Greenfield P, et al. (2007) Coral reefs under rapid climate change and ocean acidification. Science 318: 1737–1742.
- Brown BE (1997) Coral bleaching: causes and consequences. Coral Reefs 16: S129–S138.
- Gardner TA, Côté IM, Gill JA, Grant A, Watkinson AR (2003) Long-term region-wide declines in Caribbean corals. Science 301: 958–960.
- Bruno JF, Selig ER (2007) Regional decline of coral cover in the Indo-Pacific: timing, extent, and subregional comparisons. PLoS ONE 2(8): e711. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0000711.
- Goreau T, McClanahan T, Hayes R, Strong A (2000) Conservation of coral reefs after the 1998 global bleaching event. Conserv Biol 14: 5–15.
- Bellwood DR, Hughes TP, Folke C, Nyström M (2004) Confronting the coral reef crisis. Nature 429: 827–833.
- McClanahan TR, Ateweberhan M, Graham NAJ, Wilson SK, Sebastian CR, et al. (2007) Western Indian Ocean coral communities: bleaching responses and susceptibility to extinction. Mar Ecol Prog Ser 337: 1–13.
- Hoegh-Guldberg O (1999) Climate change, coral bleaching and the future of the world's coral reefs. Mar Freshw Res 50: 839–866.
- Sheppard CRC (2003) Predicted recurrences of mass coral mortality in the Indian Ocean. Nature 425: 294–297.
- Jones GP, McCormick MI, Srinivasan M, Eagle JV (2004) Coral decline threatens fish biodiversity in marine reserves. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 101: 8251–8253.
- Graham NAJ, Wilson SK, Jennings S, Polunin NVC, Bijoux JP, et al. (2006) Dynamic fragility of oceanic coral reef ecosystems. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 103: 8425–8429.
- Pratchett MS, Munday PL, Wilson SK, Graham NAJ, Cinner JE, et al. (2008) Effects of climate-induced coral bleaching on coral-reef fishes: ecological and economic consequences. Ocean Mar Biol Ann Rev 46: 251–296.
- Wilson SK, Graham NAJ, Pratchett MS, Jones GP, Polunin NVC (2006) Multiple disturbances and the global degradation of coral reefs: are reef fishes at risk or resilient? Global Change Biol 12: 2220–2234.
- Sandin SA, Smith JE, DeMartini EE, Dinsdale EA, Donner SD, et al. (2008) Baselines and degradation of coral reefs in the northern Line Islands. PLoS ONE 3(2): e1548: doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0001548.
- McClanahan TR, Graham NAJ, Calnan JM, MacNeil MA (2007) Toward pristine biomass: reef fish recovery in coral reef marine protected areas in Kenya. Ecol Appl 17: 1055–1067.
- Knowlton N, Jackson JBC (2008) Shifting baselines, local impacts, and global change on coral reefs. PLoS Biol 6(2): e54. doi:10.1371/journal.pbio.0060054.
- Worm B, Barbier EB, Beaumont N, Duffy JE, Folke C, et al. (2006) Impacts of biodiversity loss on ocean ecosystem services. Science 314: 787–790.
- Graham NAJ, Wilson SK, Jennings S, Polunin NVC, Robinson J, et al. (2007) Lag effects in the impacts of mass coral bleaching on coral reef fish, fisheries, and ecosystems. Conserv Biol 21: 1291–1300.
- McClanahan TR (2008) Response of the coral reef benthos and herbivory to fishery closure management and the 1998 ENSO disturbance. Oecologia 155: 169–177.
- Hughes TP (1994) Catastrophes, phase-shifts, and large-scale degradation of a Caribbean coral-reef. Science 265: 1547–1551.
- Mumby PJ, Dahlgren CP, Harborne AR, Kappel CV, Micheli F, et al. (2006) Fishing, trophic cascades, and the process of grazing on coral reefs. Science 311: 98–101.
- Bellwood DR, Hughes TP, Hoey AS (2006) Sleeping functional group drives coral-reef recovery. 16: 2434–2439.
- Ledlie MH, Graham NAJ, Bythell JC, Wilson SK, Jennings S, et al. (2007) Phase shifts and the role of herbivory in the resilience of coral reefs. Coral Reefs 26: 641–653.
- Williams ID, Polunin NVC, Hendrick VJ (2001) Limits to grazing by herbivorous fishes and the impact of low coral cover on macroalgal abundance on a coral reef in Belize. Mar Ecol Prog Ser 222: 187–196.

Author Contributions

Conceived and designed the experiments: NAJG TM NP. Performed the experiments: NAJG TM SKW SJ PC SC MDS YL LB RG MCO KCG AJE CRCS. Analyzed the data: NAJG MAM. Wrote the paper: NAJG TM MAM SKW NP SJ PC SC MDS YL LB RG MCO KCG AJE CRCS.

- Mumby PJ, Hastings A, Edwards HJ (2007) Thresholds and the resilience of Caribbean coral reefs. Nature 450: 98–101.
- Hoegh-Guldberg O (2004) Coral reefs in a century of rapid environmental change. Symbiosis 37: 1–31.
- Clark JS (2005) Why environmental scientists are becoming Bayesians. Ecol Lett 8: 2–14.
- Sheppard CRC (2000) The Chagos Archipelago, central Indian Ocean. In: Sheppard CRC, ed. Seas at the Millennium, a Scientific evaluation Elsevier press, Vol 2, pp 221–232.
- Garpe KC, Yahya SAS, Lindahl U, Öhman MC (2006) Long-term effects of the 1998 coral bleaching event on reef fish assemblages. Mar Ecol Prog Ser 315: 237–247.
- Feary DA, Almany GR, McCormick MI, Jones GP (2007) Habitat choice, recruitment and the response of coral reef fishes to coral degradation. Oecologia 153: 727–737.
- Munday PL, Jones GP (1998) The ecological implications of small body size among coral-reef fishes. Ocean Mar Biol Ann Rev 36: 373–411.
- Wilson SK, Burgess SC, Cheal AJ, Emslie M, Fisher R, et al. (2008) Habitat utilization by coral reef fish: implications for specialists vs. generalists in a changing environment. J Anim Ecol 77: 220–228.
- Hughes TP, Rodrigues MJ, Bellwood DR, Ceccarelli D, Hoegh-Guldberg O, et al. (2007) Phase shifts, herbivory, and the resilience of coral reefs to climate change. Curr Biol 17: 360–365.
- Mumby PJ, Harborne AR, Williams J, Kappel CV, Brumbaugh DR, et al. (2007) Trophic cascade facilitates coral recruitment in a marine reserve. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 104: 8362–8367.
- Aronson RB, Precht WF (2006) Conservation, precaution, and Caribbean reefs. Coral Reefs 25: 441–450.
- Diaz-Pulido G, McCook LJ (2002) The fate of bleached corals: patterns and dynamics of algal recruitment. Mar Ecol Prog Ser 232: 115–128.
- Dorenbosch M, Grol MGG, Christianen MJA, Nagelkerken I, van der Velde G (2005) Indo-Pacific seagrass beds and mangroves contribute to fish density and diversity on adjacent coral reefs. Mar Ecol Prog Ser 302: 63–76.
- Ceccarelli DM, Jones GP, McCook LJ (2001) Territorial damselfishes as determinants of the structure of benthic communities on coral reefs. Ocean Mar Biol Ann Rev 39: 355–389.
- Gurevitch J, Hedges LV (1999) Statistical issues in ecological meta-analyses. Ecology 80: 1142–1149.
- Wilkinson C, Souter D, Goldberg J (2005) Status of coral reefs in tsunami affected countries: 2005. Townsville: Australian Institute of Marine Science. 160
- McClanahan TR, Ateweberhan M, Muhando CA, Maina J, Mohammed MS (2007) Effects of climate change and seawater temperature variation on coral bleaching and mortality. Ecol Monograph 77: 503–525.
- Nyström M, Folke C (2001) Spatial resilience of coral reefs. Ecosystems 4: 406–417.
- Sheppard C, Obura D (2005) Corals and reefs of Cosmoledo and Aldabra atolls: extent of damage, assemblage shifts and recovery following the severe mortality of 1998. J Nat Hist 39: 103–121.
- McClanahan TR, Graham NAJ, Maina J, Chabanet P, Bruggemann JH, et al. (2007) Influence of instantaneous variation on estimates of coral reef fish populations and communities. Mar Ecol Prog Ser 340: 221–234.
- Wilson SK, Graham NAJ, Polunin NVC (2007) Appraisal of visual assessments of habitat complexity and benthic composition on coral reefs. Mar Biol 151: 1069–1076.
- Côté IM, Gill JA, Gardner TA, Watkinson AR (2005) Measuring coral reef decline through meta-analyses. Philos Trans R Soc London [Biol] 360: 385–395.
- Kaiser MJ, Clarke KR, Hinz H, Austen MCV, Somerfield PJ, et al. (2006) Global analysis of response and recovery of benthic biota to fishing. Mar Ecol Prog Ser 311: 1–14.
- Efron B, Tibshirani RJ (1993) An Introduction to the Bootstrap. London: Chapman and Hall. 436 p.
- Gelman A, Carlin JB, Stern HS, Rubin DB (2004) Bayesian data analysis. New York: Chapman and Hall. 696 p.
- Schwartz G (1978) Estimating the Dimension of a Model. Ann Statistics 6: 461–464.